

DECIPHERING THE NEURAL MECHANISMS OF OXYTOCIN'S PROSOCIAL AND ANTIPSYCHOTIC-LIKE EFFECTS

Abigail B Abrahams (BSc Hons)

Thesis submitted to the University of Nottingham for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

July 2021

Professor Kevin C. F. Fone Dr. Madeleine V. King

Abstract

Both clinical and preclinical research has indicated administration of the endogenous neuropeptide oxytocin (OXY) may help restore normal social functioning in patients with social deficits, such as those seen in schizophrenia. In addition, 'antipsychotic-like' effects of OXY have also been reported in rats, through the attenuation of phencyclidine (PCP)-induced hyperactivity. OXY has affinity at both the oxytocin (OXTR) and vasopressin 1a (V1aR) receptors, and evidence suggests both are involved in social behaviour. However, the neural mechanisms underpinning these behavioural effects of OXY remain poorly understood. The overall aims of this thesis are to gain an insight into the neural mechanisms that underlie the prosocial and antipsychotic-like effects of subcutaneous (s.c.) OXY in healthy rats, through the use of selective antagonists and intracranial micro-injections of the OXTR targeting toxin, OXY-saporin, into discrete brain nuclei.

First, we developed an *in vitro* calcium assay to determine whether a conjugation of OXY to a novel cell-penetrating peptide, GET, was biologically active and could be used to enhance intranasal OXY administration. This experiment demonstrated that conjugation of OXY to GET hinders biological activity at the OXTR, and therefore was unsuitable for intranasal administration. A low dose of s.c. OXY was subsequently selected for the behavioural experiments performed, due to the fact it can modulate brain OXY levels without having any profound concomitant peripheral effects, such as hypothermia or sedation.

Second, we demonstrated s.c. OXY can both enhance social interaction between two male rats and attenuate PCP-induced hyperactivity, indicative of an antipsychotic-like effect and consistent with previous work from this laboratory. Utilising selective V1aR and OXTR antagonists, SR 49059 and L-368,899 respectively, we demonstrated activity at the OXTR was responsible for OXY enhancement of social behaviour following systemic administration. In contrast, activity at both the OXTR and V1aR are involved in the ability of OXY to reverse PCP-induced hyperactivity, such that both antagonists reduced OXY-attenuation of PCP-hyperactivity.

Finally, using discrete micro-injections of the OXTR targeted toxin, OXY-saporin, we sought to determine the role of NAc and VTA OXTRs on OXYs prosocial and antipsychotic-like effects. OXY was no longer able to increase social interaction following microinjection of NAc OXY-saporin, however, removal of NAc OXTR expressing neurons had no effect on the ability of OXY to attenuate PCP-induced hyperactivity. In the same way, removal of OXTR expressing neurons in the VTA also prevented OXY enhancement of prosocial behaviours but had no effect on OXY's attenuation of PCP-induced hyperactivity.

Overall, our results suggest that OXYs prosocial and antipsychotic-like effects are modulated by different neural mechanisms. Our findings strongly implicate mesolimbic dopamine in the prosocial effect of s.c. OXY and are consistent with work suggesting mesolimbic dopamine can enhance social reward and social interaction. The antipsychotic-like effects of s.c. OXY are likely modulated by an alternative neural mechanism, such as modulation of the nigrostriatal pathway. Overall, this work has significantly contributed to our understanding of OXYs neural mechanisms, providing robust evidence peripheral OXY can modulate behaviour through central activity. Although further work is required, the use of OXY to treat social deficits in psychiatric disorders remains promising.

Acknowledgements

Firstly, thank you to my supervisors Kevin Fone and Maddy King for providing me with the opportunity to conduct this research and providing me with guidance throughout.

The work in this thesis would not have been possible without the endless help from all the technical staff who have assisted along the way. Thank you to Dave for spending so many hours in the BSU with me, teaching me virtually all the techniques used in this thesis and always being willing to help. Thank you also to Clare and Maxine, whose help and guidance has been invaluable. It has been a pleasure to work alongside you all.

A huge thank you to the wonderful friends I have made in Nottingham, particularly those in E27 who made sure there was never a dull day in the office. Sara, Luke, and Chuk, it has been a lot of fun working with you for the last 4 years. I wish COVID had not robbed us of our final year and a half so we could have gone to more conferences and had many more trips to Costa.

Mum, Dad, and Sophie, thank you so much for your unwavering love and support, and for always being at the end of the phone. I can't wait to go to the pub and celebrate.

Finally, thank you to Stu for making me laugh every single day, and for being my biggest support. Thank you for your endless encouragement and advice, and for always helping me in whatever way you could. I could not have done it without you.

Conference Proceedings

<u>A B Abrahams</u>, S Wong, D G J Watson, M V King, K C F Fone (2020) Peripheral oxytocin administration increases social interaction in the rat through activity at nucleus accumbens oxytocin receptors; *European College of Neuropsychopharmacology Congress, Virtual Conference, 2020.*

<u>A B Abrahams</u>, D G J Watson, C Spicer, S Wong, M V King, K C F Fone (2021) Peripheral oxytocin administration increases social interaction in the rat through activity at nucleus accumbens and ventral tegmental area oxytocin receptors; *British Association of Psychopharmacology Summer Meeting, Virtual Conference, 2021.* Winner of the Non-clinical Poster Prize.

List of Abbreviations

5-HT	5-hydroxytryptamine (serotonin)
ADHD	attention-deficit-hyperactivity-disorder
AM	acetoxymethyl
ANOVA	analysis of variance
AON	anterior olfactory nucleus
ARRIVE	animal Research: Reporting of In Vivo Experiments
ASD	autism spectrum disorders
AWERB	Animal Welfare and Ethical Review Body
BBB	blood brain barrier
BSA	bovine serum albumin
cAMP	cyclic adenosine monophosphate
CNS	central nervous system
CRH	corticotrophin-releasing hormone
CSF	cerebral spinal fluid
D1	Day 1
D2	Day 2
DABCO	1,4-diazabicyclo[2.2.2]octane
DAG	1,2-diacylglycerol
DAPI	4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole
DMEM	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium
DMSO	dimethyl sulfoxide
FCS	foetal calf serum
FM	frequency modulated
fMRI	functional magnetic resonance imaging
GABA	gamma-Aminobutyric acid
GAG	glycosaminoglycan
GDP	guanosine diphosphate
GET	glycosaminoglycan-binding enhanced transduction
GPCR	G-protein coupled receptor

GPe	external globus pallidus
GPi	internal globus pallidus
GRKs	G-protein receptor kinases
GTP	guanosine triphosphate
HBSS	Hanks Balanced Salt Solution
HEK293T	human embryonic kidney 293T cells
HEP	heparin
HEPES	4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid
i.c.v.	intracerebroventricular
i.p.	intraperitoneal
ICj	islands of Calleja
IP ₃	inositol trisphosphate
IU	international units
K _B	equilibrium dissociation constant
kHz	kilohertz
L-368,899	(2S)-2-Amino-N-[(1S,2S,4R)-7,7-dimethyl-1-[[[4-(2-methylphenyl)-1-
	piperazinyl]sulfonyl]methyl]bicyclo[2.2.1]hept-2-yl]-4-
	(methylsulfonyl)butanamide
LDCV	large dense core vesicles
LMA	locomotor activity
MAM	methylazoxymethanol acetate
MCF-7	Michigan Cancer Foundation-7
MDCV	medium dense core vesicles
MDD	major depressive disorder
MDMA	3,4 methylenedioxymethamphetamine
MS	maternal separation
MSN	medium spiny neurons
NAc	nucleus accumbens
nm	nanometres
NMDA	<i>N</i> -methyl-D-aspartate
NMDA-R	NMDA receptor

NTS nucleus tractus solitarius OB olfactory bulb OCT optimal cutting temperature compound OXTR oxytocin receptor OXY oxytocin OXY-GET oxytocin glycosaminoglycan-binding enhanced transduction conjugation PANSS Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale PBS phosphate buffered saline PCP phencyclidine PFA paraformaldehyde PFC prefrontal cortex PIP₂ phosphatidylinositol bisphosphate РКС protein kinase C PLC phospholipase C PVN paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus RAGE receptor for advanced glycation end-products randomised control trial RCT RFU raw fluorescent units RIP ribosome inactivating protein RNA ribonucleic acid RPMI **Roswell Park Memorial Institute** s.c. subcutaneous S1 Schedule 1 SBNN social behaviour neural network SCN suprachiasmatic nucleus SEM standard error of the mean SN substantia nigra SNc substantia nigra pars compacta SNP single nucleotide polymorphism SNr substantia nigra pars reticulata

- SON supraoptic nuclei of the hypothalamus SR 49059 (2S)-1-[[(2R,3S)-5-Chloro-3-(2-chlorophenyl)-1-[(3,4dimethoxyphenyl)sulfonyl]-2,3-dihydro-3-hydroxy-1H-indol-2yl]carbonyl]-2-pyrrolidinecarboxamide STN subthalamic nucleus TMD transmembrane domain Tolvaptan N-[4-[(7-Chloro-2,3,4,5-tetrahydro-5-hydroxy-1H-1-benzazepin-1yl)carbonyl]-3-methylphenyl]-2-methylbenzamide USV ultrasonic vocalisations V1aR vasopressin 1a receptor V1bR vasopressin 1b receptor V2R vasopressin 2 receptor
- VTA ventral tegmental area

Table of Contents

Abstract	i
Acknowledgements	iii
Conference Proceedings	iv
List of Abbreviations	v
Table of Contents	ix
List of Figures	xvi
List of Tables	xxi
COVID-19 Impact Statement	xxii
Statement of Contribution	xxiii
Chapter 1: General Introduction	1
1.1. Thesis overview	1
1.2. Oxytocin	2
1.2.1 Overview and history	2
1.2.2 Oxytocin synthesis and release	4
1.2.3 The oxytocin receptor	10
1.2.3.1 Central expression	10
1.2.3.2 Activation and signalling	12
1.2.4 Behavioural effects in animals	16
1.2.4.1 Peripheral effects of OXY	19
1.2.5 Similarities with vasopressin	20
1.2.5.1 Vasopressin receptors	21
1.2.5.2 Vasopressin synthesis and release	26
1.3. Social behaviour	29
1.3.1 Overview	29

1.3.2 Neuropsychiatric disorders with social deficits	29
1.3.3 Preclinical models used to assess social behaviour	31
1.3.3.1 Behavioural models	31
1.3.3.2 Ultrasonic vocalisations	34
1.4. Oxytocin in social behaviour	38
1.4.1 Preclinical evidence in rodents	38
1.4.2 Clinical evidence	41
1.5. Rationale and aims of the thesis	45
Chapter 2: Development of an Oxytocin Receptor Bioassay	46
2.1 Introduction	46
2.2 Aims	50
2.3 Materials and methods	50
2.3.1 Cell culture	50
2.3.2 Drug preparation	51
2.3.3 Calcium fluorimetry assay	52
2.3.4 Data analysis	53
2.4 Results	55
2.4.1 Selecting a cell line	55
2.4.2 Confirmation of OXY response	57
2.4.3 OXY-GET activity at the OXTR	59
2.5 Discussion	61
2.6 Summary and Future Work	63
Chapter 3: Elucidating the receptors responsible for oxytocin attenuation o	of PCP-
induced hyperactivity and oxytocin enhanced social interaction	64
3.1 Introduction	64
3.2 Aims	68

3.3 Materials and Methods	69
3.3.1 Animals	69
3.3.2 Experimental Design	70
3.3.3 Drugs	70
3.3.4 Locomotor Activity (LMA)	71
3.3.5 Social Interaction	72
3.3.6 Ultrasonic vocalisations (USVs)	74
3.3.7 Data analysis	75
3.4 Results	76
3.4.1 LMA	76
3.4.1.1 Effect of OXY and an OXTR antagonist on LMA	76
3.4.1.2 Effect of OXY and a V1aR antagonist on LMA	79
3.4.2 Social interaction	82
3.4.2.1 Effect of OXTR and OXTR and V1aR antagonists on social behavi	our82
3.4.3 Ultrasonic Vocalisations	88
3.5 Discussion	94
3.5.1 Effect of OXY, and OXTR and V1aR antagonism, on PCP-induced	
hyperactivity	94
3.5.2 Effect of OXY, and OXTR and V1aR antagonism, on social interaction.	96
3.5.3 Effect of OXY, and OXTR and V1aR antagonism, on USVs	99
3.6 Summary and future work	99
Chapter 4: Oxytocin-saporin microinjection into the nucleus accumbens; effe	cts on
social behaviour and LMA activity.	101
4.1 Introduction	101
4.2 Aims	107
4.3 Materials and Methods	107

	4.3.1 Animals	107
	4.3.2 Experimental Design	107
	4.3.3 Drugs	108
	4.3.4 NAc saporin injection	108
	4.3.5 LMA	110
	4.3.6 Social interaction	110
	4.3.7 USVs	110
	4.3.8 Tissue collection	111
	4.3.9 Immunohistochemistry	111
	4.2.9.1 Solution preparation	111
	4.3.10.2 Tissue Preparation	112
	4.3.10.3 Immunohistochemistry protocol	112
	4.3.10.4 Cell Quantification	113
	4.3.10 Data analysis	114
4	.4 Results	115
	4.4.1 LMA	115
	4.4.2 Social interaction	118
	4.4.3 USVs	123
	4.4.4. Immunohistochemistry	130
4	.5 Discussion	132
	4.5.1 Effect of NAc OXY-saporin on OXY attenuation PCP-induced hyperactive	vity
		132
	4.5.2 Effect of NAc OXY-saporin on OXY enhancement of social interaction	134
	4.5.3 Effect of NAc OXY-saporin on production of USVs during social interac	tion
		139
	4.5.3 Summary and future work	140

Chapter 5: Oxytocin-saporin microinjection into the ventral tegmental area; effects
on social behaviour and LMA activity141
5.1 Introduction
5.2 Aims
5.3 Methods145
5.3.1 Animals
5.3.2 Experimental Design145
5.3.3 Drugs146
5.3.4 Saporin injection146
5.3.5 LMA
5.3.6 Social interaction148
5.3.7 USVs
5.3.8 Tissue Collection
5.3.9 Data analysis148
5.3.10 Immunohistochemistry149
5.4 Results
5.4.1 LMA
5.4.2 Social Interaction153
5.4.3 USVs
5.4.4 Immunohistochemistry165
5.5 Discussion
5.5.1 Effect of VTA OXY-saporin on OXY attenuation of PCP-induced
hyperactivity167
5.5.2 Effect of VTA OXY-saporin on OXY enhancement of social interaction 171
5.5.3 Effect of VTA OXY-saporin on production of USVs
5.6 Summary

6. General Discussion	176
6.1 Summary of findings	176
6.2 Future work and limitations	
6.3 Conclusions	
References	
Appendices	239
Appendix 1: Oxytocin receptor immunohistochemistry optimisation	239
A1.1 Introduction	239
A1.2 Aims	241
A1.3 Methods	241
A1.3.1 Tissue preparation	241
A1.3.2 Standard immunohistochemistry protocol	242
A1.3.3 Antigen retrieval	243
A1.3.4 Biotinylated and Avidin Secondary Antibodies	
A1.3.4 Biotinylated and Avidin Secondary Antibodies	243 243
A1.3.4 Biotinylated and Avidin Secondary Antibodies A1.4 Results A1.4.1 ThermoFisher OXTR antibody	243 243 243
A1.3.4 Biotinylated and Avidin Secondary Antibodies A1.4 Results A1.4.1 ThermoFisher OXTR antibody A1.4.2 Abcam OXTR antibodies	243 243 243 243
A1.3.4 Biotinylated and Avidin Secondary Antibodies A1.4 Results A1.4.1 ThermoFisher OXTR antibody A1.4.2 Abcam OXTR antibodies A1.5 Discussion	243 243 243 247 248
A1.3.4 Biotinylated and Avidin Secondary Antibodies A1.4 Results A1.4.1 ThermoFisher OXTR antibody A1.4.2 Abcam OXTR antibodies A1.5 Discussion Appendix 2: LMA ANOVA outputs	243 243 243 243 247 248 251
A1.3.4 Biotinylated and Avidin Secondary Antibodies A1.4 Results A1.4.1 ThermoFisher OXTR antibody A1.4.2 Abcam OXTR antibodies A1.5 Discussion Appendix 2: LMA ANOVA outputs Figure 3.3 Further Detail	243 243 243 247 247 251 251
A1.3.4 Biotinylated and Avidin Secondary Antibodies A1.4 Results A1.4.1 ThermoFisher OXTR antibody A1.4.2 Abcam OXTR antibodies A1.5 Discussion Appendix 2: LMA ANOVA outputs Figure 3.3 Further Detail Figure 3.4 Further Detail	243 243 243 247 247 248 251 251 252
A1.3.4 Biotinylated and Avidin Secondary Antibodies A1.4 Results A1.4.1 ThermoFisher OXTR antibody A1.4.2 Abcam OXTR antibodies A1.5 Discussion Appendix 2: LMA ANOVA outputs Figure 3.3 Further Detail Figure 3.4 Further Detail	243 243 243 247 247 251 251 252 253
 A1.3.4 Biotinylated and Avidin Secondary Antibodies A1.4 Results A1.4.1 ThermoFisher OXTR antibody A1.4.2 Abcam OXTR antibodies A1.5 Discussion Appendix 2: LMA ANOVA outputs Figure 3.3 Further Detail Figure 3.4 Further Detail Figure 3.5 Further Detail Figure 3.6 Further Detail 	243 243 243 247 247 251 251 252 253 254
A1.3.4 Biotinylated and Avidin Secondary Antibodies A1.4 Results A1.4.1 ThermoFisher OXTR antibody A1.4.2 Abcam OXTR antibodies A1.5 Discussion Appendix 2: LMA ANOVA outputs Figure 3.3 Further Detail Figure 3.4 Further Detail Figure 3.5 Further Detail Figure 3.6 Further Detail	243 243 243 243 247 247 251 251 252 253 254 254
A1.3.4 Biotinylated and Avidin Secondary Antibodies A1.4 Results A1.4.1 ThermoFisher OXTR antibody A1.4.2 Abcam OXTR antibodies A1.5 Discussion Appendix 2: LMA ANOVA outputs Figure 3.3 Further Detail Figure 3.4 Further Detail Figure 3.5 Further Detail Figure 3.6 Further Detail Figure 3.7 Further Detail	

	Figure 5.2 Further Det
	Figure 5.3 Further Det
ternship for PhD Students (PIP) Reflective Statement	Appendix 3: Professiona

List of Figures

Figure 1.1: The cyclic structure of OXY, demonstrating the disulphide bridge between
two cysteine residues at positions one and six
Figure 1.2: Key discoveries in OXY research since its discovery in 1909 by Nobel Prize
winner Sir Henry Dale 4
Figure 1.3: The three mechanisms of OXY release from magnocellular and
parvocellular neurons of the PVN and SON; giving rise to endocrine, paracrine and
synaptic release and signalling of OXY
Figure 1.4 : Diagram representing a sagittal slice of the rat brain demonstrating OXTR
expression, and long range oxytocinergic projections from the PVN and SON to
numerous regions of the brain
Figure 1.5: Transcellular transportation of OXY across the BBB by RAGE
Figure 1.6: The structure of the human OXTR, illustrating seven transmembrane
domains, intra- and extra-cellular loops and the N and C terminal tails
Figure 1.7: The amino acid structures of OXY and vasopressin
Figure 1.8: OXTR and V1aR expression in three different coronal sections of an adult
male rat brain
Figure 1.9: Diagrammatic representation of oxytocinergic and vasopressin
projections in the rodent brain, arising from the PVN and SON of the
hypothalamus
Figure 1.10: Pattern analysis of rat 50 kHz prosocial and 22 kHz distress USV
Figure 2.1: Schematic diagram of the intracellular cascade of events leading to Fluo-
4 emission
Figure 2.2: Representative trace obtained from the FlexStation 3 and Softmax Pro
Software, showing a rapid rise in fluorescent emission following drug
administration

Figure 2.3: OXY and carbachol dose-response curves obtained in three different cell lines
Figure 2.4: OXY concentration response curves in the presence and absence of selective vasopressin and OXTR antagonists
Figure 2.5: The effect of increasing concentrations of GET conjugated to $0.1 \mu M$ OXY on fluorescence emission following drug application
Figure 2.6: OXY-GET and OXY responses in the presence and absence of $10\mu g/mL$ heparin
Figure 3.1: Timeline of LMA drug administration and behavioural recording
Figure 3.2: Timeline of social interaction task with dosing schedule
Figure 3.3: Time course of PCP-induced hyperactivity in the presence and absence of OXY and the selective OXTR antagonist L368-899
Figure 3.4: Total ambulation 20 minutes post-PCP administration in the presence and absence of the OXTR antagonist L-368,899
Figure 3.5: Time course of PCP-induced hyperactivity in the presence and absence of OXY and the selective V1aR antagonist SR 49059
Figure 3.6: Total ambulation 20 minutes post-PCP administration in the presence and absence of the V1aR antagonist SR 49059
Figure 3.7: The effect of OXY, and OXTR and V1aR antagonism, upon the duration of prosocial behaviours during social interaction
Figure 3.8: Effect of OXY, and OXTR and V1aR antagonists, on anogenital (A) and body sniffing (B) duration in social interaction
Figure 3.9 : Effect of OXY, and OXTR and V1aR antagonism, on the duration of following in a social interaction paradigm
Figure 3.10: Effect of OXY, and OXTR and V1aR antagonism, on the duration of
aggressive behaviours during social interaction

Figure 3.11: The effect of OXY, and OXTR and V1aR antagonism, on (A) flat, (B) trill,
and (C) step prosocial 50 kHz calls
Figure 3.12 Effect of treatment on (A) % of FM prosocial calls emitted and (B) the
latency until the first USV produced during the social interaction task
Figure 3.13: The correlation between the duration of prosocial behaviours in social
interaction with (A) the percentage of prosocial calls emitted and (B) the latency to first USV
Figure 4.1: Coronal slice showing the NAc OXY-sap stereotaxic injection site 109
Figure 4.2: Time course of PCP-induced hyperactivity in the presence and absence of
OXY, in rats that had received NAc injections of either OXY-saporin or blank-
saporin
Figure 4.3: Total ambulation 15 minutes post-PCP administration, following NAc injection of either blank-saporin (control) or OXY-saporin
Figure 4.4: Total duration of prosocial behaviours in a social interaction task following
NAc injection of either blank-saporin or OXY-saporin and acute OXY
administration
Figure 4.5: Total duration of anogenital and body sniffing during a social interaction
task following NAc injection of either blank-saporin or OXY-saporin and acute OXY
administration
Figure 4.6: The effect of NAc injection OXY-saporin and acute OXY administration on
the durations of lying side by side (A) and following (B) during social
interaction
Figure 4.7: The effect of OXY, and NAc OXY saporin injection, on the duration of total
aggressive behaviours in the social interaction task 123
aggressive behaviours in the social interaction task

Figure 4.9: The effect of NAc OXY-saporin injection and OXY administration on the production of (A) Percentage of FM prosocial calls emitted and (B) the latency to first Figure 4.10: The correlation between the duration of prosocial behaviours in social interaction with (A) the percentage of prosocial calls emitted and B) the latency to Figure 4.11: Images of the NAc taken at magnification x4 (A) and x20 (B) following Figure 4.12: The effect of NAc OXY-sap injection on the number of NeuN positive cells in the NAc on the duration of total aggressive behaviours in the social interaction Figure 5.1: Coronal slice showing the OXY-saporin injection site within the VTA..... 147 Figure 5.2: Time course of PCP-induced hyperactivity in the presence and absence of OXY, in rats that had received VTA injections of either OXY-saporin or blank-Figure 5.3: Total ambulation for the first 15 minutes following PCP administration in rats that had received bilateral VTA injections of either OXY-saporin or blank-Figure 5.4: Total duration of prosocial behaviours during a social interaction task following VTA OXY-saporin injection and acute OXY...... 154 Figure 5.5: Total duration of anogenital and body sniffing behaviours during social interaction, following VTA OXY-saporin injection and acute OXY...... 155 Figure 5.6: The effect of VTA OXY-saporin injection and acute OXY administration on the durations of lying side by side (A) and following (B) during social interaction... 157 Figure 5.7: Total duration of aggressive behaviours during a social interaction task following VTA OXY-saporin injection and acute OXY......158 Figure 5.8: The effect of VTA OXY-saporin on the production of (A) flat, (B) step, and

List of Tables

Table 1.1: The affinities of OXY and vasopressin at the human and rat V1aR, V1bR, V2
receptor and OXTR, as well as the affinities of some commonly used agonists
Table 1.2: Commonly used receptor antagonists that target the OXY and vasopressin
receptors
Table 1.3: Commonly used preclinical models to monitor both reproductive and non-
reproductive social behaviours in rodents
Table 1.4: Studies investigating the effect of both OXY and OXTR knockout on non-
reproductive social behaviours in mice
Table A1.1: Studies published to date with successful OXTR immunohistochemistry in the rodent brain
Table A1.2: Details of blocking sorums and secondary antibodies used with each anti-
OXTR primary antibody trialled in this appendix
Table A2.1: ANOVA outputs from Figure 3.3
Table A2.2: ANOVA outputs from Figure 3.4
Table A2.3: ANOVA outputs from Figure 3.5
Table A2.4: ANOVA outputs from Figure 3.6: 254
Table A2.5: ANOVA outputs from Figure 3.7
Table A2.6: ANOVA outputs from Figure 4.2
Table A2.7: ANOVA outputs from Figure 4.3
Table A2.8: ANOVA outputs from Figure 5.2
Table A2.9: ANOVA outputs from Figure 5.3

COVID-19 Impact Statement

Due to the COVID-19 global pandemic and the U.K. 2020 Lockdown the University of Nottingham was shut for 5 months, with no access to research laboratories. Following re-opening we were subject to shortages of laboratory supplies and delays in getting risk assessments approved. Therefore, during the course of this PhD there was an 8 month period where there was no laboratory access (March 2020 until October 2020).

Statement of Contribution

Abigail Abrahams conceived and designed all the experiments presented in this thesis. Throughout this thesis all data analysis, interpretation, figure preparation, and writing was conducted independently by the author, Abigail Abrahams.

The data presented in Chapter 2 was collected independently, but in parallel, with Sara Wong. During the collection of the data presented in Chapters 3, 4, and 5, technical support was provided by Dr. David Watson and Clare Spicer, specifically during the stereotaxic surgery and social interaction task, under the instruction of Abigail Abrahams.

All immunohistochemical procedures reported in this thesis were independently performed by Abigail Abrahams.

Chapter 1: General Introduction

1.1. Thesis overview

Social withdrawal and social deficits are transdiagnostic, seen across a wide variety of neuropsychiatric disorders including Alzheimer's disease, autism spectrum disorders (ASD), schizophrenia, and major depressive disorder (MDD) (Porcelli et al., 2019). Social dysfunction is often the first symptom seen in these disorders, and is an indication of cognitive deficits and a poorer prognosis (Javed & Charles, 2018). Both clinical and preclinical research has indicated administration of the endogenous neuropeptide, oxytocin (OXY), may help restore normal social functioning in patients with social deficits (Fernandez-Sotos et al., 2018; Jarskog et al., 2017; Keech et al., 2018; Kohli et al., 2019). Endogenous OXY, released both centrally (from the hypothalamus) and peripherally (from the posterior pituitary into the blood stream), plays a critical role in social bonding, reproduction, and parturition in both humans and animals (Caldwell, 2017). When acting within the central nervous system (CNS) OXY has very similar behavioural effects in males and females; enhancing social behaviour (Ross & Young, 2009; Striepens et al., 2011). In contrast, peripheral effects of OXY differ significantly between the sexes, due to OXY receptor (OXTR) expression in the reproductive system (Garrison et al., 2012; Jurek & Neumann, 2018). For example, in females, OXY triggers uterine contraction and milk let-down through contraction of myoepithelial cells in the mammary glands, while in males, peripheral OXY increases the contractility of the seminiferous tubules and epididymis, and enhances sperm motility (Fuchs et al., 1989; Jurek & Neumann, 2018; Thackare et al., 2006). In addition to the prosocial effects of OXY there is also preclinical evidence to suggest OXY may also have antipsychotic-like efficacy (Kohli *et al.*, 2019).

The evidence for both prosocial and antipsychotic-like effects of OXY suggests it has a strong therapeutic potential in the treatment of psychiatric disorders, such as schizophrenia. However, the neural mechanisms underpinning these behavioural effects of OXY remain poorly understood. The overall aims of this thesis are to gain an insight into the neural mechanisms that underlie the prosocial and antipsychoticlike effects of subcutaneous (s.c.) OXY in healthy rats, through the use of selective antagonists and intracranial micro-injections of the OXTR targeting toxin, OXYsaporin, into discrete brain nuclei.

1.2. Oxytocin

1.2.1 Overview and history

OXY was first discovered by Sir Henry Dale in 1909, following the observation that a sample taken from the posterior pituitary gland caused the contraction of a pregnant cat's uterus (Dale, 1909). The structure of OXY was later discovered in 1983, while the protein sequence of the OXTR was deciphered in 1992 (Kimura *et al.*, 1992). OXY is a nonapeptide with a cyclic structure, due to the presence of a disulphide bridge between two cysteine residues at positions one and six; resulting in a six amino acid cyclic structure with a three amino acid C-terminal tail (Figure 1.1) (Gimpl & Fahrenholz, 2001). Structurally, OXY only varies by two amino acids from vasopressin, also a neuropeptide involved in the regulation of social behaviour (Caldwell, 2017). The similarities between OXY and vasopressin are described in more detail in section 1.2.5.



Figure 1.1: The cyclic structure of OXY, demonstrating the disulphide bridge between two cysteine residues at positions one and six; resulting in a six amino acid cyclic structure with a three amino acid C-terminal tail (Gimpl & Fahrenholz, 2001).

OXY is a neuropeptide that can act both centrally and peripherally to impact a huge variety of behaviours and physiological functions. When released into the synapse OXY acts as a neurotransmitter, influencing neuronal activity. In addition, OXY can also act as a neurohormone, acting at peripheral receptors distant from the site of release (Dölen, 2015; Ludwig & Leng, 2006). Dual action of OXY as a neurohormone and neurotransmitter gives OXY a great amount of flexibility in its actions (Donaldson & Young, 2008).

Early research indicated a role for OXY in parturition and lactation, through the contraction of smooth muscle cells in the myometrium and mammary gland alveoli (Augustine *et al.*, 2017; Gimpl & Fahrenholz, 2001; Kota *et al.*, 2013). More recently research has demonstrated a critical role of OXY in promoting social behaviours and reproduction (Donaldson & Young, 2008; Ross & Young, 2009). This discovery has promoted more recent research on whether OXY can be utilised in the treatment of disorders with socio-behavioural deficits (Dumais & Veenema, 2016; Kanat *et al.*, 2014; Kosfeld *et al.*, 2005; Love, 2014). The most significant advances in OXY research are shown in Figure 1.2, from its discovery through to the present day.



Figure 1.2: Key discoveries in OXY research since its discovery in 1909 by Nobel prize winner Sir Henry Dale (Dale, 1909), through to the present day (Baskin *et al.*, 2010; Beets *et al.*, 2012; Dölen *et al.*, 2013; Du Vigneaud *et al.*, 1953; Garrison *et al.*, 2012; Guastella *et al.*, 2010; Kimura *et al.*, 1992; Kohtz *et al.*, 2018; Kosfeld *et al.*, 2005; Land *et al.*, 1983; Ott & Scott, 1910; Pedersen & Prange, 1979; Rose *et al.*, 1996; Singh & Hofer, 1978; Weber *et al.*, 2018; Yamamoto *et al.*, 2019).

1.2.2 Oxytocin synthesis and release

Both OXY and vasopressin are primarily synthesised in the paraventricular nucleus (PVN) and the supraoptic nuclei (SON) of the hypothalamus. OXY is produced by two different cell types in the hypothalamus; parvocellular and magnocellular, which can be distinguished through their differing cell body diameter (15 μ m and 25 μ m respectively) and structure (magnocellular neurons have thicker axons with numerous varicosities, while parvocellular neurons are thin with few varicosities) (Dölen, 2015; Ludwig & Leng, 2006). While magnocellular neurons are found in both the SON and PVN, parvocellular neurons are found only in the PVN. As OXY is a neuropeptide it can act as both a hormone and a neurotransmitter; reflected in the three mechanisms of OXY release (Figure 1.3).



Figure 1.3: Three mechanisms of OXY release from magnocellular and parvocellular neurons of the PVN and SON; giving rise to endocrine, paracrine, and synaptic signalling of OXY. Top; the expression and projections of parvocellular and magnocellular neurons in the PVN and SON. Bottom; endocrine (left), paracrine (middle), and synaptic (right) methods of OXY transmission. 5-HT, 5-hydroxytryptamine (serotonin); 5-HT1bR, 5-HT1B receptor subtype; glu, glutamate; MSN, medium spiny neuron; OT, OXY; OTR, OXY receptor; SSVs, small synaptic vesicles. Image taken from Dölen (2015).

Magnocellular neurons are responsible for the endocrine function of OXY, releasing OXY into the peripheral circulation through projections to the posterior pituitary. In magnocellular neurons OXY is stored in large dense core vesicles (LDCV), which are distributed throughout their axons, dendrites, and soma (Dölen, 2015; Jurek & Neumann, 2018). OXY is synthesised as a 'prohormone'; consisting of the OXY peptide attached to a carrier protein, neurophysin (Mitre *et al.*, 2018). The neurophysin carrier protein is critical to ensure OXY is targeted and stored within neurosecretory granules. Once within the neurosecretory granules OXY is cleaved to form the OXY nonapeptide (Brownstein *et al.*, 1980). The posterior pituitary is a circumventricular organ; a structure in the brain that has highly permeable capillaries, unlike other brain regions which have a BBB (Felten *et al.*, 2016). The highly fenestrated capillary

bed in the posterior pituitary means magnocellular neuron axon terminals are in close contact to neurohypophysial capillaries. Therefore, exocytosis of OXY from these LDCVs, triggered by increased intracellular calcium, releases OXY directly into the peripheral circulation (Dölen, 2015; Jurek & Neumann, 2018; Ludwig & Leng, 2006). Physiological effects of peripheral OXY include myometrial contraction in labour and milk let down (Jurek & Neumann, 2018). To enable this neuroendocrine role the posterior pituitary has an extremely high concentration of OXY; 1000x higher than in the rest of the brain (Ludwig & Leng, 2006), totalling 0.5-1µg in rats and 28µg in humans (Leng & Ludwig, 2016).

Magnocellular neurons also give rise to paracrine signalling. Dendritic release of OXY from LDCVs releases OXY directly into the cerebral spinal fluid (CSF) and third ventricle, where OXY can diffuse through the brain having modulatory effects (Jurek & Neumann, 2018; Ludwig & Leng, 2006). Dendritic release of OXY is dependent upon local increases in intracellular calcium, either by entry of extracellular calcium, or following release from intracellular stores (Ludwig et al., 2016). Interestingly, although action potentials can propagate into the dendrites and trigger exocytosis (Bains & Ferguson, 1999), dendritic OXY release can also occur independently of action potentials (Ludwig et al., 2005; Ludwig et al., 2002). For example, alpha melanocyte-stimulating hormone can bind to melanocortin 4 receptors on OXY magnocellular neurons, causing the release of calcium from intracellular stores and subsequent dendritic OXY release, but simultaneously inhibiting the electrical activity of the neuron, preventing OXY release into the periphery from axon terminals (Sabatier et al., 2003). Within the CSF OXY has a much longer half-life than in the blood (20 minutes in the CSF, compared to 5 minutes in the blood); allowing for more sustained action of OXY in the CSF and brain following dendritic release (Leng & Ludwig, 2008; Mens et al., 1983). Areas such as the ventromedial nucleus have dense OXTR expression but contain very low levels of OXY fibres. Therefore, these receptors are likely activated following paracrine OXY release from magnocellular neurons from the SON and PVN (Leng & Sabatier, 2017). Dendritic release of OXY can also potentiate its own release, through acting back on OXTRs expressed on dendrites, enabling dendritic release to be self-sustaining (Striepens et al., 2011). This allows OXY to have its actions over a sustained period that outlasts the events that initiate its release. For example, in sheep high OXY concentrations in the CSF are present for up to several hours after they give birth, contributing to the formation of social bonds with their offspring, which is critical in the first two hours (Kendrick, 2000).

While magnocellular neurons trigger paracrine and endocrine signalling, parvocellular neurons are primarily responsible for OXY synaptic release, where OXY exerts its affects as a neurotransmitter following release from medium dense core vesicles (MDCV) in axon terminals. Exocytosis of OXY occurs following depolarisation of terminals by action potentials, opening voltage sensitive calcium channels, resulting in rapid rises in intracellular calcium, triggering exocytosis (Ludwig & Leng, 2006). Parvocellular PVN OXY neurons have long range axonal projections which project to numerous regions of the brain, including the NAc, ventral tegmental area (VTA), hippocampus, spinal cord, and amygdala, where they make monosynaptic connections with other neurons (Figure 1.4) (Dölen, 2015; Hung et al., 2017; Ludwig & Leng, 2006; Stoop, 2012). For example, OXY release from parvocellular neurons that terminate in the VTA activate mesolimbic dopamine neurons (Hung et al., 2017). Magnocellular neurons also contribute to synaptic OXY release in a few specific areas, such as the arcuate nucleus (Ludwig & Leng, 2006). In contrast to endocrine and paracrine OXY release, synaptic OXY release is rapid and releases much lower concentrations than during paracrine and endocrine release (Dölen, 2015).



Figure 1.4: Diagram representing a sagittal slice of the rat brain demonstrating OXTR expression, and long range oxytocinergic projections from the PVN and SON (black lines) to numerous regions of the brain. Those highlighted in orange are regions in which OXY release has been directly measured through microdialysis. Abbreviations: AON anterior olfactory nucleus, BLA basolateral amygdala, BNST bed nucleus of the stria terminalis, CC cingulate cortex, CeA central amygdala, CPu caudate putamen, DRN dorsal raphe nucleus, HDB nucleus of the horizontal limb of the diagonal band, HPC hippocampus, LC locus coeruleus, LS lateral septum, MeA medial amygdala, MPOA medial preoptic area, NAc nucleus accumbens, OB olfactory bulb, OT olfactory tubercle, OVLT organum vasculosum laminae terminalis, PAG periaqueductal gray, PBN parabrachial nucleus, PFC prefrontal cortex, PP posterior pituitary, PV periventricular nucleus of the thalamus, PVN paraventricular nucleus, SON supraoptic nucleus, SN substantia nigra, VTA ventral tegmental area. Image adapted from Jurek and Neumann (2018) and Grinevich *et al.* (2016).

The BBB is highly effective at preventing the majority of circulating OXY from reentering the brain following release from the posterior pituitary (Ludwig & Leng, 2006). However, Yamamoto *et al.* (2019) recently demonstrated that a receptor expressed on neurovascular units in the brain of humans and rodents can enable the transport of circulating OXY into the brain, across the BBB (Cheng *et al.*, 2005; Yamamoto & Higashida, 2020; Yamamoto *et al.*, 2019). The receptor is known as the Receptor for Advanced Glycation End-products (RAGE) (Yamamoto & Higashida, 2020; Yamamoto *et al.*, 2019). Therefore, circulating OXY in the blood can re-enter the brain, influencing OXY paracrine and synaptic transmission. However, OXY has a lower affinity for RAGE than it does for the OXTR (Yamamoto *et al.*, 2019). Under normal physiological conditions with very low levels of circulating OXY the RAGE is unlikely to be engaged, meaning OXY does not re-enter the brain. However, during childbirth, lactation, or following systemic OXY administration the levels of peripheral OXY in the blood are significantly increased. This enables OXY to bind to RAGE and be subsequently transported across the BBB (Yamamoto *et al.*, 2019). As such, Yamamoto *et al.* (2019) demonstrated significant increases in OXY in the third ventricle and PVN following s.c. OXY administration in mice. The precise mechanisms through which RAGE transports OXY across the BBB are unknown, however it is likely to involve endocytosis and transcytosis (Figure 1.5) (Yamamoto *et al.*, 2019).



Figure 1.5: Transcellular transportation of OXY across the BBB by RAGE. Although the precise mechanisms through which OXY is transported across the BBB by RAGE is currently unknown, it is thought to involve a vesicular trafficking system, using endocytosis and transcytosis mechanisms. Image adapted from Leerach *et al.* (2021).

1.2.3 The oxytocin receptor

1.2.3.1 Central expression

OXTRs are extensively expressed throughout the brain of both animals and humans, with marked differences in expression between species (Gimpl & Fahrenholz, 2001; Wang *et al.*, 2013; Young *et al.*, 1996). It is thought differential expression of OXTRs are what contribute to the natural diversity and variations in social behaviours both within, and between, species (Keebaugh *et al.*, 2015; Olazábal & Sandberg, 2020; Ross *et al.*, 2009b).

In rats OXTRs are highly expressed in multiple brain regions, including the olfactory system, the mesolimbic system, the hypothalamus, and the spinal cord (Dumais *et al.*, 2013; Smith *et al.*, 2017a; Smith *et al.*, 2019). Notably, higher densities are often found in areas of the brain associated with social behaviours and reward (Smith *et al.*, 2017a). Indeed, OXTRs are expressed in all seven nodes of the rat social behaviour neural network (SBNN); an interconnected set of brain regions thought to regulate social behaviour in rats (Newman, 1999; Smith *et al.*, 2019).

As well as OXTR expression varying between species, expression also varies throughout development, and between the sexes (Smith *et al.*, 2017a). Age differences in OXTR densities in rats have been observed when looking at OXTR expression throughout development. Juveniles, defined as 22-35 day-old rodents, have significantly higher OXTR density in fifteen brain areas, including the olfactory nucleus, hypothalamus, and hippocampus, when compared to adult rats (defined as 55 days old and above). In contrast, adult rats have higher OXTR density in ten brain regions, including the perirhinal cortices and medial amygdala (Lukas *et al.*, 2010; Smith *et al.*, 2017a). Interestingly, the regions in which juveniles have higher OXTR density are directly implicated in mediating socially rewarding behaviours, as shown through increased social conditioned place preference and partner preference following OXTR activation in these areas (Dölen *et al.*, 2013; Smith *et al.*, 2017a; Song *et al.*, 2016). In contrast, the regions in which adults have higher OXTR density are

implicated in the processing of social odour cues, facilitating social recognition (Dumais *et al.*, 2016; Gur *et al.*, 2014; Lukas *et al.*, 2013). This suggests the role of OXTRs may change throughout development, switching from a predominant role in social reward to a primary role in social recognition during ageing.

Prominent differences in OXTR expression are also observed between the sexes. Sex differences are present during the juvenile period and become more pronounced at adulthood (Smith et al., 2017a). In rats females have a higher OXTR density in areas such as the perirhinal cortex, while males have higher levels in the nucleus accumbens (NAc) and medial amygdala (Dumais & Veenema, 2016; Smith et al., 2017a). Differences in OXTR expression between sexes suggests behaviours modulated by OXTR activity may exhibit sexual dimorphism. For example, intracerebroventricular (i.c.v.) OXY enhances social recognition in male but not female rats (Benelli et al., 1995; Engelmann et al., 1998). In addition, social defeatinduced social avoidance in male rats can be reversed through i.c.v. OXY administration, but not in female rats (Lukas et al., 2011). The sex differences in OXTR expression between males and females can be attributed, at least in part, to modulation by circulating gonadal hormones (Dumais & Veenema, 2016; Smith et al., 2017a). For example, gonadectomy in both male and female adult rats reduces OXTR expression in regions such as the Islands of Calleja and ventromedial hypothalamus, and administration of testosterone or oestrogen following gonadectomy can return OXTR expression back to normal levels (Tribollet et al., 1990). Furthermore, oestrogen can increase the affinity of OXY for the OXTR in the medial preoptic area, and increase OXTR expression in the ventromedial hypothalamus (Caldwell et al., 1994). Consistent with this, in female rats OXTR mRNA expression in the ventromedial hypothalamus fluctuates during the oestrous cycle (Bale et al., 1995). Therefore, regions of the brain that are sensitive to gonadal hormones, such as the ventromedial hypothalamus, are likely to have differing levels of OXTR expression between males and females (Patchev et al., 1993).

Environmental factors can also influence OXTR expression. Early-life stress, such as maternal separation (MS), causes significant changes in social behaviours later in life and is a risk factor for the onset of psychiatric disorders in man (Bales & Perkeybile,

11

2012; Lukas *et al.*, 2010). Exposing rats to MS for three hours daily for a fortnight post-weaning significantly alters OXTR expression in multiple forebrain regions during different stages of development (Lukas *et al.*, 2010). Changes include reduced OXTR binding in the striatum at adulthood, and increased OXTR binding in the agranular cortex during both the juvenile and adult period (Lukas *et al.*, 2010). Typical changes in OXTR densities throughout development are thought to be vital in the onset of normal social behaviours, thus changes in OXTR densities are likely to account for the aberrant changes in social behaviour often seen following MS (Lukas *et al.*, 2010).

1.2.3.2 Activation and signalling

The OXTR is a class I G-protein coupled receptor (GPCR) comprising of seven, highly conserved, transmembrane α -helices; connected by three intracellular and three extracellular loops (Gimpl & Fahrenholz, 2001) (Figure 1.6). The seven transmembrane domains (TMDs) of GPCRs are highly conserved, suggesting there are common residues within these regions critical for receptor activation and signalling (Zingg & Laporte, 2003). Across all GPCRs agonist binding induces conformational changes, and receptor activation requires specific changes in the orientation of TMD III and VI, exposing a G-protein binding site (Zingg & Laporte, 2003). Conserved residues within the TMDs play vital roles in the activation and transduction of the receptor. For the OXTR the asparagine residue in transmembrane II (D85) is critical (Gimpl & Fahrenholz, 2001); exchanging the OXTR D85 with other residues leads to significantly impaired agonist binding and signal transduction (Wheatley et al., 1998). Peptide ligands, such as OXY, bind close to the receptor surface, forming interactions with the extracellular loops and the N-terminal tail (Figure 1.6). Specifically, the arginine residue at position 34 (R34) in the N-terminal tail is critical in the high affinity binding of OXY to the human OXTR; removal of R34 causes a 2000-fold reduction in the affinity of OXY for the OXTR (Wesley et al., 2002). Other OXTR residues important in receptor activation and selectivity include the phenylalanine at position 103 (F103) in the first extracellular loop of the OXTR (Chini et al., 1995). These residues are believed to interact with the C-terminus tail of OXY, where vasopressin and OXY differ
at position 8, allowing receptor specificity and high affinity for OXY (Zingg & Laporte, 2003). Other OXTR residues thought to be important in ligand interactions include tyrosine at position 209 (Y209) and phenylalanine at position 284 (F284), believed to interact with OXYs isoleucine at position 3 within the cyclical part of OXY. This is the second amino acid that differs between vasopressin and OXY, suggesting Y209 and F284 may also contribute to the ligand specificity of the OXTR (Zingg & Laporte, 2003).



Figure 1.6: The structure of the human OXTR, illustrating seven transmembrane domains, intra- and extra-cellular loops, and the N- and C-terminal tails. The OXY binding site at the receptor is illustrated and thought to involve interactions with both the transmembrane domains and extracellular loops. Key residues involved in the activation of the OXTR, and OXY binding, are detailed: the arginine residue at positions 34 (R34), asparagine at position 85 (D85), phenylalanine residues at positions 103 and 284 (F103 and F284), and tyrosine at position 209 (Y209). Image adapted from Zingg and Laporte (2003).

The OXTR, as with all other GPCRs, is composed of G α , G β and G γ subunits. The OXTR is predominantly coupled to a G α_q subunit, which is ubiquitously expressed throughout the brain (Milligan, 1993). In the resting state the G α_q subunit contains a guanosine 5' diphosphate (GDP) unit. Ligand binding to the OXTR stimulates the

release of GDP from the $G\alpha_q$ subunit, and subsequent binding of guanosine 5'triphosphate (GTP). GTP binding causes the dissociation of the G $\beta\gamma$ subunit from the OXTR, resulting in conformational changes within the TMDs. This initiates an excitatory signalling pathway involving phospholipase C (PLC) and protein kinase C (PKC), enhancing neuronal firing (discussed in more detail in Chapter 2.1) (Gimpl & Fahrenholz, 2001; Stoop, 2012; Xiao *et al.*, 2017).

Although the OXTR is predominantly coupled to the $G\alpha_q$ subunit, evidence has also shown the OXTR can also couple to the $G\alpha_i$ subunit. In contrast to $G\alpha_q$ signalling, activation of $G\alpha_i$ coupled receptors leads to inhibition of adenylyl cyclase, reducing activation of cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) and intracellular calcium release (Kim *et al.*, 2016). Coupling to both $G\alpha_q$ and $G\alpha_i$ adds a layer of complexity to OXTR signalling. In human embryonic kidney-293 cells (HEK293) with stable OXTR expression $G\alpha_q$ coupling can stimulate cell growth, whist $G\alpha_i$ coupling inhibits cell growth (Busnelli *et al.*, 2012; Rimoldi *et al.*, 2003). In addition, $G\alpha_q$ and $G\alpha_i$ coupling have opposing effects upon neuronal excitability *in vitro* (Gravati *et al.*, 2010).

Interestingly, intracellular concentrations of OXY are thought to contribute to the coupling of the OXTR to either $G\alpha_q$ or $G\alpha_i$. Busnelli *et al.* (2012) demonstrated that $G\alpha_q$ signalling is activated by OXY with an EC₅₀ of 2.16 nM, while in contrast, activation of the $G\alpha_i$ coupled OXTR requires an EC₅₀ value of 11.5-91.8 nM. This suggests that $G\alpha_i$ coupled OXTRs are activated at higher OXY concentrations than $G\alpha_q$ coupled OXTRs, indicating the local concentration of OXY is crucial in determining OXTR coupling and subsequent physiological effects (Busnelli & Chini, 2018). Despite coupling of OXTRs to both $G\alpha_q$ and $G\alpha_i$ in the brain, OXTRs are likely to be predominantly $G\alpha_q$ coupled. The concentration of OXY in the brain is extremely low, around 1nm, and $G\alpha_q$ is expressed throughout the brain, unlike $G\alpha_i$ (Busnelli & Chini, 2018; Milligan, 1993). However, coupling to $G\alpha_i$ is likely to be present and important in specific regions of the brain and central nervous system (CNS). Indeed, OXTR- $G\alpha_i$ signalling has been demonstrated to have analgesic effects in the spinal cord of Wistar rats through administration of the bias OXTR- $G\alpha_q$ antagonist/OXTR- $G\alpha_i$ agonist atosiban (Eliava *et al.*, 2016).

Consistent with other Class I GPCRs, both persistent and acute agonist exposure leads to the desensitisation and internalisation of the OXTR in vitro, in a process mediated by β-arrestin and protein kinases (Berrada et al., 2000; Smith et al., 2006; Wilson et al., 2005). During OXTR activation conformational changes expose PKC-consensus sites in the C-terminus tail of the OXTR, allowing phosphorylation of the OXTR by Gprotein receptor kinases (GRKs) or PKC. Hasbi et al. (2004) showed GRK phosphorylation of the OXTR occurs within four seconds of ligand binding, and allows the binding of arrestin proteins, e.g. β -arrestin, to the OXTR (Gimpl & Fahrenholz, 2001). Recruitment of arrestin to the OXTR causes subsequent uncoupling of the Gprotein subunits from the receptor (Berrada et al., 2000; Smith et al., 2006), causing receptor desensitisation, meaning the OXTR can no longer signal. The presence of βarrestin allows the OXTR to interact with clatherin, allowing internalisation of the receptor through the formation of clatherin coated pits. Dynamin, a GTPase, then pinches of the clatherin coated pit, fully internalising the OXTR (Goodman et al., 1996). Internalisation of the OXTR can either lead to recycling of the receptor to the cell membrane, which occurs after four hours in transfected HEK293 cells (Conti et al., 2009), or degradation by lysosomes (Smith et al., 2006). Recycling of the OXTR back to the cell membrane removes the β -arrestin protein, allowing the OXTR to recouple to G-proteins and enable signalling again. However, lysosomal degradation of OXTRs following internalisation causes downregulation of the OXTR (Conti et al., 2009). Downregulation reduces the availability of the receptor on the cell surface, ultimately reducing signalling.

OXTR downregulation and desensitisation is an important process with significant clinical implications. Desensitisation and downregulation of the mu-opioid GPCR underlies the onset and maintenance of tolerance to mu-opioid receptor targeting analgesic medication, such as morphine and fentanyl (Bailey *et al.*, 2009). Therefore, prolonged or repeated OXY administration may lead to reduced OXTR expression. This would limit the clinical efficacy of OXTR targeting medication and interfere with other endogenous OXTR mediated processes. In mice, chronic OXY administration (twice daily, 14 days) reduces both the expression of social behaviours in a social interaction paradigm and OXTR expression throughout the brain (Huang *et al.*, 2014).

15

In addition, Bales *et al.* (2013) demonstrated acute intranasal OXY increased social behaviours in prairie voles, while chronic intranasal OXY (once daily, 21 days) impaired the formation of partner preference in prairie voles, and they attributed this reduction to possible receptor downregulation. However, Calcagnoli *et al.* (2015a) showed no OXTR desensitisation in the brain following acute or chronic intranasal OXY (once daily, 7 days) administration in male rats. Whether OXTR desensitisation occurs in the brain following OXY administration or not, it is an important aspect to consider when administering chronic OXY *in vivo*.

1.2.4 Behavioural effects in animals

Following early work indicating a clear role for peripheral OXY in parturition and lactation, research began to focus more on the behavioural effects of OXY, arising from central OXY containing neurons. The actions of OXY within the CNS are primarily mediated by OXTR receptor distribution. As previously stated, OXTRs are located extensively throughout the brain, from areas such as the hypothalamus and amygdala, to the prefrontal cortex (PFC) and NAc (Smith *et al.*, 2017a). The location in which OXTRs are located directly influences the role OXY has on behaviour. For example, OXTRs in the hippocampus primarily mediate learning and memory, whereas OXTRs in the PVN are involved in maternal and reproductive behaviours, although this is not exclusive (Viero *et al.*, 2010). OXY also has affinity at vasopressin 1a receptors (V1aR), therefore the expression of V1aRs in the brain also contributes to the behavioural effects of OXY and is discussed in more detail in section 1.2.5.

Amongst the first evidence indicating a role for OXY in the modulation of behaviour was the observation that central OXY could co-ordinate the onset of maternal behaviours immediately following parturition, resulting in mother-infant bonding. One of the pivotal papers demonstrating this was Pedersen and Prange (1979), showing i.c.v. OXY administered to virgin rats produced maternal behaviour towards pups within two hours. This has been further supported by studies showing oestrogen priming alongside OXY administration can increase the probability of virgin rats exhibiting short-term spontaneous maternal care, and OXTR antagonism by CNS penetrant antagonists can block the onset of maternal behaviours in rats following parturition (Fahrbach et al., 1984; 1985; van Leengoed et al., 1987). Although OXY appears critical in the onset of maternal behaviours, it is unlikely to play a role in their maintenance, as administration of an OXTR antagonist five days post-partum does not block maternal behaviours (Fahrbach et al., 1985). In support of a role for central OXY in maternal behaviour OXY knockout mice display reduced levels of licking and grooming compared to wild type mice, and mice expressing dysfunctional OXTRs in the forebrain have impaired maternal behaviours, including lack of nursing and nest building (Pedersen et al., 2006; Wettschureck et al., 2004). OXTRs expressed in brain regions such as the NAc have been heavily implicated in maternal behaviours, with higher levels of NAc OXTRs associated with an increased likelihood of exhibiting alloparental care; the act of displaying parenting behaviour in non-descendant young (Olazabal & Young, 2006). There is some evidence to suggest OXY may also be involved in the formation of pup to mother interactions. In fifteen day old rat pups OXTR antagonists can block the preference for maternal odours (Nelson & Panksepp, 1996), and both OXY and OXTR knockout pups emit significantly fewer ultrasonic vocalisations (emitted as part of maternal-pup interaction repertoire) following MS than wild type pups (Insel & Winslow, 1991).

Not only is OXY involved in the formation of mother-infant bonds, but it also plays a prominent role in the formation of reproductive relationships. Throughout OXY research prairie voles have become a popular choice to study the effects of OXY upon the formation of pair bonds; a social bond between two mating animals. Unlike many rodents, prairie voles are monogamous and are therefore used as a model to study the effects of OXY on pair bonding (Ross & Young, 2009). Williams *et al.* (1994a) demonstrated i.c.v. OXY induced pair bonding in female prairie voles, which can be prevented through pre-limbic cortex and NAc injections of an OXTR antagonist $(d(CH_2)_5,[Tyr(Me)^2,Thr^4,Tyr-NH_2^9]OVT)$ (Young *et al.*, 2001). In addition, central OXY can trigger pair bonding in male prairie voles, which is prevented by i.c.v. administration of both an OXTR and V1aR antagonist $(d(CH_2)_5,[Tyr(Me)^2,Thr^4,Tyr-NH_2^9]OVT)$ and $[d(CH_2)^5-[Tyr(Me)]AVP$, respectively) (Cho *et al.*, 1999). As

monogamous voles have significantly higher OXTR density in the NAc than nonmonogamous voles (Insel & Shapiro, 1992) this region has been implicated in the differential response. In addition, OXTR antagonists injected into the NAc can inhibit partner preference, and microdialysis has shown increased NAc OXY release during mating (Ross *et al.*, 2009a). While some confounding results have been observed, particularly surrounding the role of OXY in male pair bonding, it is generally accepted that the OXY and vasopressin system plays an important role in pair bonding (Donaldson & Young, 2008; Winslow *et al.*, 1993; Young & Wang, 2004).

OXY is also implicated in feeding and appetite. OXTR knockout mice are heavier than wild type mice, and OXTR antagonism in rodents increases meal sizes (Blouet et al., 2009; Camerino, 2009). In addition, OXY administration can reduce feeding and improve gastric motility (Blevins & Baskin, 2015; Petring, 1989). Effects of OXY on feeding are likely due to OXY synthesis in the PVN, an area heavily involved in food regulation (Leibowitz et al., 1981). OXY release in the nucleus tractus solitarius (NTS) from PVN OXY neurons can reduce food intake through increasing the satiety response to cholecystokinin (Baskin et al., 2010). In a somewhat similar mechanism OXY can also reduce the intake of drugs of abuse through interactions with the mesolimbic system, increasing the feelings of reward associated with drugs of abuse (Weber et al., 2018). OXY administration in rodents can reduce alcohol selfadministration (King et al., 2017; MacFadyen et al., 2016), reduce morphine tolerance and withdrawal (Sarnyai & Kovács, 2014), and reduce methamphetamine and cocaine seeking behaviours (Weber et al., 2018; Zhou et al., 2014). The ability of OXY to enhance NAc dopamine activity and give feelings of reward is thought to prevent the need for further reward seeking, thus reducing the seeking and administration of drugs of abuse (Weber et al., 2018). Other effects of central OXY include its analgesic effects through activation of inhibitory gamma-Aminobutyric acid (GABA) circuits in the spinal cord (Xin et al., 2017), and antipsychotic-like effects; demonstrated through reversal of phencyclidine (PCP)-induced hyperactivity in rats (Kohli et al., 2019) and facilitation of latent inhibition (Feifel *et al.*, 2015).

Another central effect of OXY, which has important implications upon dose selection, is the observation that high dose OXY (1-2mg/kg i.p.) has 'sedative-like' effects upon

locomotor activity (Hicks *et al.*, 2012; Hicks *et al.*, 2014; Klenerova *et al.*, 2009), which likely results from OXY activity in the nigrostriatal pathway (Angioni *et al.*, 2016). Lower doses of OXY (0.3mg/kg s.c. and below) have no effect on locomotor activity, therefore should be used when examining the behavioural effects of OXY (Kohli *et al.*, 2019). In addition to the aforementioned roles, central OXY also plays a prominent and important role in platonic and non-reproductive social behaviours, such as social recognition and social reward, and is to be discussed in detail in section 1.4.1 (Dölen *et al.*, 2013; Hung *et al.*, 2017; Raam, 2020).

1.2.4.1 Peripheral effects of OXY

In addition to the CNS effects of OXY, and its peripheral effects upon lactation and uterine contraction, OXY may also lower body temperature and heart rate. These are important factors to consider when delivering OXY by systemic administration, as the prosocial effects of OXY may also result in unwanted side effects through peripheral activity of OXY.

In male Wistar rats administration of both OXY and vasopressin (0.1-1mg/mg i.p.) cause dose-dependent reductions in body temperature and heart rate, and are prevented through V1aR antagonism (Costa-e-Sousa *et al.*, 2005; Hicks *et al.*, 2014). Similarly, Kohli *et al.* (2019) found a significant hypothermic effect of 0.3mg/kg s.c OXY in male Lister-hooded rats which was also attenuated through prior administration of the V1aR antagonist SR 49059. Therefore, it is likely the V1aR mediates the peripheral effects of high dose OXY. Due to the lower affinity of OXY at the V1aR, its effects at the V1aR may become apparent following high doses of peripheral OXY, making dose selection in behavioural studies extremely important.

1.2.5 Similarities with vasopressin

Like OXY, vasopressin is also a nonapeptide with a cyclic structure. Structurally, vasopressin only varies by two amino acids from OXY, and is also a neuropeptide involved in the regulation of social behaviour (Caldwell, 2017) (Figure 1.7). While the neutral isoleucine amino acid at position 3 within the structure of OXY is critical for OXTR activation, arginine, a basic amino acid in position 8 of vasopressin, is required for vasopressin receptor activation (Gimpl & Fahrenholz, 2001). The difference in polarity of these amino acids is believed to be responsible for the specificity of OXY and vasopressin for their respective receptors, described in detail in below (Barberis *et al.*, 1998; Gimpl & Fahrenholz, 2001).



Figure 1.7: The amino acid structures of OXY and vasopressin, differing at positions and 3 and 8, with a disulphide bridge connecting the two cysteine residues; allowing the formation of a 6 amino acid cyclical stricture with a 3 amino acid tail (Gimpl & Fahrenholz, 2001).

Both OXY and vasopressin are thought to have arisen from an ancestral gene duplication during evolution. Both genes are on found the same chromosome (20 in humans), and are orientated in opposing transcriptional directions (Caldwell, 2017).

Homologs of OXY and vasopressin existed at least 700 million years ago (Donaldson & Young, 2008) and are still present in ancient organisms such as fresh water hydra (Caldwell et al., 2008; Grimmelikhuijzen & Spencer, 1984). Analogues of OXY and vasopressin can be found across almost all vertebrates and invertebrates in at least one form (Donaldson & Young, 2008), and have very similar biological functions, including: involvement in sexual and nurturing behaviours, water balance control (Ukena et al., 2008), and changing behaviours in response to environmental changes (Quintana & Guastella, 2020). An example of the crucial role OXY and vasopressin homologs play in even simple organisms has been elegantly demonstrated by simple learning paradigms in flat worms (Caenorhabditis elegans). Flat worms can associate particular environments with aversive properties, whilst roundworms that lack an OXY/vasopressin homolog are unable to display the same level of associative learning (Beets et al., 2012). Other behavioural effects of OXY and vasopressin homologs in non-mammalian species include egg laying in snails (Van Kesteren et al., 1995), reproductive behaviours in earthworms (Satake et al., 1999), and pair bonding and aggression in birds (Kelly & Goodson, 2014; Klatt & Goodson, 2013). Both OXY and vasopressin homologs show strong functional and structural stability throughout evolution, reinforcing how important these peptides are in social functioning and reproduction across a huge, varying range of species.

1.2.5.1 Vasopressin receptors

In contrast to OXY which has only one known receptor in mammals, there are three forms of vasopressin receptors: the V1aR, the vasopressin 1b receptor (V1bR), and vasopressin 2 receptor (V2R) (Song & Albers, 2018). While the V1aR and V1bRs are both expressed in the brain and periphery, the V2R is only expressed peripherally; predominantly in the kidney tubules where it mediates water reabsorption (Renaud, 2007). Although the V1bR is expressed in the brain, its expression is very limited and highly restricted to pyramidal cells in the CA2 region of the hippocampus (Pagani *et al.*, 2015; Young *et al.*, 2006). Therefore, behavioural effects arising from OXY and vasopressin activity in the brain are most likely to arise from either activity at OXTRs or V1aRs. Like the OXTR, V1aRs and V1bRs are also coupled to the $G\alpha_q$ G-protein. In contrast, the V2 receptor is $G\alpha_s$ coupled; stimulating adenylyl cyclase and activating protein kinase A (Schöneberg *et al.*, 1998).

In addition to the structural similarities between vasopressin and OXY, their receptors are also structurally very similar, with approximately 25% of amino acids conserved between the mammalian receptors (Gimpl & Fahrenholz, 2001). Due to their high sequence homology it is possible for OXY to signal through the V1aR, and for vasopressin to signal through the OXTR. For example, hypothermic effects observed in rats following high dose s.c. OXY are reversed through a selective V1aR antagonist (SR 49059), while vasopressin can modulate social reward in Syrian hamsters through the OXTR in the VTA, but not V1aR activity (Kohli et al., 2019; Song et al., 2016). In terms of selectivity for their respective receptors it appears OXY has a significantly higher affinity for the OXTR over vasopressin receptors, while vasopressin has a similar affinity for both OXTRs and vasopressin receptors (Table 1.1). This means it is more likely to see vasopressin signalling through the OXTR, than OXY signalling through the V1aR. OXY and vasopressin agonists been developed, with varying levels of specificity between the receptors; some of which have clinical uses, for example in the treatment of diabetes insigidus and in the induction of labour (Table 1.1). The high sequence homology between OXY and vasopressin, and their receptors, has hindered the initial development of selective agonists and antagonists. However, recent progress has resulted in the availability of selective antagonists for these receptors, progressing OXY and vasopressin research (Table 1.2). Selective antagonists have since been used to determine the specific receptors responsible for different OXY mediated behaviours.

	OXTR		V1a		V1b		V2		
	(K _i (r	nM))	(K _i (r	nM))	(K _i (r	nM))	(K _i (nM))		Clinical use?
	Human	Rat	Human	Rat	Human	Rat	Human	Rat	
ОХҮ	0.8	0.6	120.0	71.0	>1000	294.0	3500.0	89.0	Used in the induction of labour, and control of postpartum haemorrhage
Vasopressin	1.7	1.7	1.1	2.6	0.7	0.3	1.2	0.4	Used in the treatment of diabetes insipidus
[Thr ⁴ Cly ⁷]OT	4.0		158.0						
	4.0		138.0						
vasotocin	0.4		3.2	3.2	10.0		6.3		
Carbetocin	7.1	1.9		7.2*		7.2*	>1000	61.3	Used to prevent excessive bleeding after childbirth following Cesarean section
d[Cha⁴]AVP	20.0		79.4		0.2		316.2		
d[Leu ⁴ ,Dap ⁸] vasopressin		1259.0		3162.3		0.4		251.2	
d[Leu⁴]LVP		63.1		>1000	0.2			100.0	
Desmopressin	200.0			2512.0		10.0		2.0	Used in the treatment of diabetes insipidus and bedwetting
Oxypressin	1.6			501.1			79.4		
WAY 267,464		51.6							

Table 1.1: The affinities of OXY and vasopressin at the human and rat V1aR, V1bR, V2 receptor and OXTR, displayed as K_i values (nM), as well as the affinities of some commonly used agonists. A smaller K_i value indicates a higher affinity for the receptor. *This paper did not discriminate between V1aR and V1bRs (Alexander *et al.*, 2019; Hicks *et al.*, 2012; Manning *et al.*, 2012; Passoni *et al.*, 2016; Ring *et al.*, 2010; Song & Albers, 2018)

	OXTR	V1aR	V1bR	V2
	(K _i (nM))	(K _i (nM))	(K _i (nM))	(K _i (nM))
[d(CH ₂) ⁵ -[Tyr(Me)]AVP	5.0	0.6	100.0	79.0
[Phaa ¹ ,D-Tyr(Et) ² ,Lys ⁶ ,des- Gly ⁹]AVP		0.8	31.6	251.0
Atosiban*	25.1	5.0	251.0	>1000
Compound 25	9.5	>1000.0		
Conivaptan		4.0		0.4
d(CH ₂) ₅ ,[Tyr(Me) ² ,Thr ⁴ ,Tyr- NH2 ⁹]OVT	0.1	0.2		
d(CH ₂) ₅ [D-Ile ² ,Ile ⁴ ,Tyr-NH ₂ ⁹]AVP				0.3
d(CH ₂) ₅ [Tyr(Me) ₂ ,Thr ⁴ ,Orn ⁸ ,Phe(3 I,4N ₃)-NH ₂ ⁹]vasotocin	1.0	1.3	>1000.0	199.5
d(CH ₂) ₅ [Tyr(Me) ² ,Thr ⁴ ,Tyr- NH ₂ ⁹]OVT	0.1	4.0	>1000	>1000
desGly-NH ₂ ,d(CH ₂) ₅ - [Tyr(Me) ² ,Thr ⁴]OVT	0.3	1.3		
L-368,899	7.9			
Retosiban	1.0			
SR 49059	316.2	0.5	50.1	125.9
SSR149415	1.6	100.0	0.5	
Tolvaptan		12.6		0.4

Table 1.2: Commonly used antagonists that target the OXY and vasopressin receptors. A smaller K_i value indicates a higher affinity for the receptor. *While atosiban acts as an antagonist at the $G\alpha_q$ coupled OXTR, it acts as an agonist at the $G\alpha_i$ coupled OXTR (Alexander *et al.*, 2019; Eliava *et al.*, 2016; Manning *et al.*, 2012; Manning *et al.*, 2008).

Despite high sequence homology between the OXTR and V1aR it is important to note that their expression in the rodent brain is very different (Smith *et al.*, 2017a; Smith *et al.*, 2019) (Figure 1.8). Although there are some regions in which they are co-expressed, such as all seven nodes of the SBNN, they are expressed at different densities (Smith *et al.*, 2019). Co-expression of OXTR and V1aRs in certain brain regions provides the possibility that crosstalk between the OXY and vasopressin systems could occur, potentially enabling OXY and vasopressin to act promiscuously to influence behaviour.



Figure 1.8: OXTR and V1aR expression in three different coronal sections of an adult male rat brain, showing the variations in OXTR (red) and V1aR (blue) expression. Receptor expression measured through autoradiography and distance from bregma shown in mm. Image adapted from Smith *et al.* (2017a). Abbreviations: aAcbC anterior nucleus accumbens core, aAcbSh anterior nucleus accumbens shell, Arc arcuate nucleus of hypothalamus, avThal anteroventral thalamic nucleus, BLA basolateral amygdala, CeA central amygdala, Cl claustrum, Ddg dorsal dentate gyrus, DP dorsal peduncular cortex, Icj islands of Calleja, IL infralimbic cortex, LSi intermediate part of the lateral septal nucleus, mCPu medial caudate putamen, mThal medial thalamic nucleus, pAcbSh posterior nucleus accumbens shell, PIR piriform cortex, PRL prelimbic cortex, S1 primary somatosensory cortex, VMH ventromedial nucleus of hypothalamus, vmThal medial thalamic nucleus, VP ventral pallidum.

1.2.5.2 Vasopressin synthesis and release

Similar to OXY, vasopressin is also synthesized in a distinct set of neurons in the magnocellular and parvocellular neurons of SON and PVN, and can undergo endocrine, paracrine, and synaptic release (Ludwig & Leng, 2006). Following synthesis in magnocellular neurons vasopressin is axonally transported in LDCVs to the posterior pituitary, where it is released into the peripheral circulation and has effects on renal function (Buijs et al., 2021). As with OXY, vasopressin can also undergo both dendritic release from magnocellular neurons, resulting in diffusion through the brain to sites distal to release, and synaptic release from magnocellular and parvocellular long range projections (Ludwig, 1998; Ludwig & Leng, 2006; Meyer-Lindenberg et al., 2011; Smith et al., 2019). While vasopressin and OXY are synthesised and released from distinct populations of PVN and SON neurons, there is some evidence to suggest that some PVN magnocellular neurons can co-express both vasopressin and OXY under certain physiological conditions (Otero-García et al., 2016). For example, during lactation neurons that co-express vasopressin and OXY produce additional vasopressin, hypothesized to compensate for the loss additional fluids associated with lactation (Mezey & Kiss, 1991; Otero-García et al., 2016). The expression of vasopressin neurons in the brain that contribute to synaptic release are different to that of OXY (Figure 1.9). However, as with receptor expression, there are some regions in the rat brain which receive both OXY and vasopressin neuronal projections, albeit at different densities, such as all seven nodes of the SBNN (Smith et al., 2019).



Figure 1.9: Diagrammatic representation of oxytocinergic and vasopressin projections in the rodent brain, arising from the PVN and SON of the hypothalamus, demonstrating differences in the neuronal expression of OXY and vasopressin projections. Represented is a compilation of major OXY and vasopressin projections from several rodent species including rat, mouse, and hamster. Exact vasopressin and OXY projections can vary to some extent between species and from those depicted above. Abbreviations: AMY amygdala, BST bed nucleus of the stria terminalis, CPU caudate putamen, CC Cingulate cortex, DR dorsal raphe, HPC hippocampus, LS lateral septum, LC locus coeruleus, MPO AH medial preoptic area of the anterior hypothalamus, NAc nucleus accumbens, OB Olfactory bulb, OT olfactory tubercle, OVLT organum vasculosum laminae teriminalis, PBN parabrachial nucleus, PVN paraventricular nucleus, PAG periaqueductal grey, PFC prefrontal cortex, SN substantia nigra, SCN suprachiasmatic nucleus, SON supraoptic nucleus, VP ventral pallidum and VTA ventral tegmental area (VTA). Image from (Song & Albers, 2018).

The expression of OXY and vasopressin projections in the brain contributes to the ability of OXY and vasopressin to signal through both their own, and each other's, receptors (Ludwig & Leng, 2006; Smith *et al.*, 2019). Most sites that receive dense

vasopressin projections have high V1aR expression, likewise, most brain regions receiving dense OXY innervation have high OXTR expression. However, there are some regions where there is a mismatch between receptor expression and neuronal innervation (Ludwig & Leng, 2006; Smith *et al.*, 2019). For example, regions such as the posterior medial amygdala receive dense vasopressin neuron innervation but have low V1aR expression. However, they have dense OXTR expression. In contrast, areas such as the periaqueductal grey have dense OXY neuron expression alongside dense V1aR expression, but sparse OXTR expression (Smith *et al.*, 2019). This mismatch in density patterns between OXY fibres and OXY receptors, and vasopressin fibres and V1aRs, in some regions of the brain likely contributes to promiscuous action of OXY at the V1aR and vice versa.

In addition to vasopressin parvocellular and magnocellular neurons, the PVN also contains a population of smaller parvocellular neurons that co-release vasopressin and corticotrophin-releasing hormone (CRH) in the hypophyseal-portal bed; a system of blood vessels connecting the hypothalamus with the anterior pituitary (Buijs et al., 2021). CRH release contributes to the synthesis and release of adrenocorticotropic hormone from the anterior pituitary, subsequently stimulating the release of cortisol and glucocorticoids from the adrenal cortex (Buijs et al., 2021). Another important population of vasopressin neurons in the brain are those in the suprachiasmatic nucleus (SCN), which help mediate circadian rhythms (Ludwig & Leng, 2006). Within the SCN vasopressin is both synthesised and released in a circadian pattern and has an excitatory role through activity at V1aRs; increasing SCN activity and increasing SCN outputs (Buijs et al., 2021; Ingram et al., 1998; Reghunandanan & Reghunandanan, 2006). The circadian activity of SCN vasopressin neurons results in daily fluctuations of CSF vasopressin levels, which start to rise during early morning (Buijs et al., 2021). Although the precise role of vasopressin in the control of circadian rhythms is unknown, it is not thought to be critical, but rather serve more of a modulatory role (Buijs et al., 2021; Kalsbeek et al., 2010).

1.3. Social behaviour

1.3.1 Overview

As the focus of this thesis is to examine the neural mechanisms that contribute to the prosocial effects of OXY, due to its potential to be used in the treatment of social dysfunction, this section explores social behaviour in more detail. Social behaviours are any form of communication or interaction between two conspecifics and have been observed in microorganisms as well as humans and animals (Chen & Hong, 2018; Crespi, 2001). Social cognition and social behaviours are highly complex processes that allow us to acquire, process, store, and interpret information about people/animals around us, and are critical for survival (Patin & Hurlemann, 2015). Social behaviours are needed for the formation of relationships, the survival of offspring, reproduction, and general health and wellbeing. Disruptions to these processes can be detrimental. In humans this can result in interpersonal problems and social deficits, including social withdrawal, which in turn worsens other psychiatric symptoms (Porcelli et al., 2019). Social deficits are a primary symptom in a range of neuropsychiatric disorders, including schizophrenia, ASD, Alzheimer's disease, and MDD (NICE, 2014; Porcelli et al., 2019). The transdiagnostic nature of social deficits across multiple disorders makes the neural mechanisms underlying typical and atypical social cognition of great interest and highlights the need for successful treatments to ameliorate these social deficits.

1.3.2 Neuropsychiatric disorders with social deficits

Social dysfunction is a primary diagnostic criteria for numerous neuropsychiatric disorders, including schizophrenia, ASD, and MDD, and is often one of the first symptoms observed in these disorders (Bilderbeck *et al.*, 2019). It is unknown whether the social dysfunction observed in multiple disorders have a common neural mechanism, or whether despite similar symptoms, they have different biological

causes. Disorders with social deficits also often share some cognitive deficits, which are likely to also contribute to interpersonal behaviours (Bowie *et al.*, 2008). OXTR single nucleotide polymorphisms have been associated with social deficits in disorders such as schizophrenia and ASD and are discussed in more detail in section 1.4.2.

Schizophrenia, a psychiatric disorder affecting 1 in 100 of the world's population (Royal College of Psychiatrists, 2018), has prominent deficits in social cognition. The severity of patient's negative symptoms, including social deficits, are predictors of functional recovery in schizophrenia. Only 13.5% of patients with schizophrenia achieve full recovery; recovery defined as improvements in both 'clinical and social domains' sustained for over 2 years (Jaaskelainen et al., 2013). Social cognitive deficits are strongly associated with a poorer prognosis, including a greater likelihood of hospital admission and longer stays in hospital (Aleman et al., 2017). Patients with schizophrenia suffer impairments across many aspects of social cognition, from their perception of facial expressions to aberrant emotional responses and empathy (Green et al., 2015). These impairments can lead to the misinterpretation of social cues, often resulting in social withdrawal and isolation. In addition, social deficits are thought to exacerbate other symptoms of schizophrenia, such as paranoia (Millan & Bales, 2013). Despite changes in social cognition often preceding the onset of psychotic symptoms, social deficits in schizophrenia remain constant throughout the course of the disease and are often left untreated by existing drugs; antipsychotics show no efficacy in improving social impairments (Kucharska-Pietura & Mortimer, 2013; Roberts et al., 2010).

ASDs are also characterised by prominent impairments in social cognition, such as impaired interpretation and understanding of social behaviours, as well as atypical communication (Barlati *et al.*, 2020; Chisholm *et al.*, 2015). As with schizophrenia, these symptoms can often result in social withdrawal and isolation. Although viewed as separate disorders, levels of social cognitive dysfunction are very similar across schizophrenia and ASD diagnoses, with no significant differences seen between schizophrenia and ASD groups in numerous clinical tasks assessing multiple aspects of social cognition (Fernandes *et al.*, 2018). This raises the possibility that the social

deficits in both disorders may share a common mechanism, and interventions that may work to treat social dysfunction in one disorder could likely work in the other.

Other disorders that show deficits in social cognition include MDD, attention-deficithyperactivity-disorder (ADHD), and neurodegenerative disorders such as Alzheimer's disease and Parkinson's disease (Besag & Vasey, 2019; Bilderbeck *et al.*, 2019; Jankovic, 2008). With changes in social behaviour being transdiagnostic, and often one of the first symptoms to arise across a spectrum of disorders, the neurobiological causes of these changes may give great insights into the aetiology of these disorders. Disrupted social cognition can have great impacts on quality of life and functional recovery, highlighting the need for research into potential treatments for social deficits.

1.3.3 Preclinical models used to assess social behaviour

1.3.3.1 Behavioural models

Rodents are highly social animals with well documented patterns of social behaviour. There are numerous rodent paradigms that can be utilised to advance our understanding of social behaviour and enable the identification of the neural substrates involved. Studying social behaviour in rodents can also be a useful paradigm to monitor social changes that may arise from environmental and pharmacological manipulations (Fernández *et al.*, 2018; Meaney & Stewart, 1981).

There are many preclinical paradigms that can be used to look at different clinically relevant aspects of social behaviour, from social motivation and social recognition, to partner preference and alloparental care, detailed in Table 1.3. Numerous preclinical models of schizophrenia, both pharmacological and neurodevelopmental, produce deficits in social behaviour in a variety of these tasks, supporting their face validity for studying symptoms such as social withdrawal in schizophrenia (Jones *et al.*, 2011). However, it is important to note that no single paradigm used in rodents captures the complex, multidimensional nature of human social behaviour.

	Model	Details
Reproductive	Alloparental care	This is the display of parenting behaviours towards a non-descendant young. It allows the study of maternal behaviours in the absence of physiological changes associated with parturition and pregnancy (Ross & Young, 2009). To measure alloparental care pups can either be placed into home cages with adult rodents, or both can be placed in an experimental apparatus and behaviours monitored (Garner <i>et al.</i> , 2016; Perry <i>et al.</i> , 2016).
	Partner preference	Allows the study of pair bonding, an indicator of social monogamy. Typically involves an arena with three chambers: one neutral chamber, one with a familiar opposite sex 'partner', and the other with an unfamiliar opposite sex conspecific, with the test subject able to move freely between the chambers. The time that the test rodent spends in each chamber is measured, as well as the behaviours, affiliative, or aggressive, displayed (Carp <i>et al.</i> , 2016).
	Social interaction	Social interaction refers to behaviours that occur between two animals of the same species. The task can provide an index of social motivation; the desire to interact. For this task, two novel weight and treatment (if applicable) matched animals are placed into an arena and social interaction behaviours quantitatively measured, including both playful and aggressive behaviours such as anogenital sniffing, body sniffing, and boxing. It is imperative the two conspecifics have never met before to ensure comparable results. Animals are often housed singly for 24 hours prior to undertaking the task to enhance interaction (Kohli <i>et al.</i> , 2019; Wilson & Koenig, 2014).
Non- reproductive	Social recognition	This task determines the ability of rodents to differentiate between a novel and a familiar conspecific which it has previously been exposed to, i.e. a litter or cage mate. The time and/or number of each component exploratory behaviour in each individual is recorded. Increased exploration of the novel conspecific is used as evidence of social discrimination and recognition. There are multiple ways in which this task can be designed, such as using juveniles in place of a conspecific, or allowing rodents to interact or restraining the non-test animals in mesh cage (Millan & Bales, 2013).
	Social Stress	Also known as the resident/intruder paradigm, this test is the standard model for assessing aggression and social stress. This task involves introducing an experimental mouse or rat into the territory/home cage of an aggressive conspecific of a higher weight. Rodents are left to interact for a given time period, with the behaviours recorded. This interaction generally results in

	social conflict, leading to social defeat of the experimental male. It is important to have a predefined definition of social defeat, such as the display of submissive behaviour, to ensure the welfare of the animals. The protocol can be repeated depending on the experimental protocol, for example for models of chronic social stress the experimental rat can be kept in the residents cage, but separated by a wire screen, or the procedure can be repeated recurrently; to model recurrent social stress (Koolhaas <i>et al.</i> , 2013; Patel <i>et al.</i> , 2019).
Social preference/ sociability	This compares the rodent's preference between a conspecific and a socially neutral stimuli and is a good measure of social reward. This task has two identical chambers, one containing a social stimuli (conspecific) or a non-social stimuli (a toy), and measures the motivation to engage in social interaction (Millan & Bales, 2013). Similar to the classic 'conditioned place preference' task, often used to measure rewarding properties of drugs of abuse.

Table 1.3: Commonly used preclinical tasks used to monitor both reproductive andnon-reproductive social behaviours in rodents (Millan & Bales, 2013; Ross & Young,2009).

When using preclinical models to study social behaviour of relevance to neuropsychiatric disorders it is important to make a distinction between reproductive and non-reproductive social behaviours, and ensure the preclinical paradigm used is translatable to the human condition. In rodents most research looking at social behaviours has typically focussed on reproductive and maternal social relationships, and it is only in the last decade more research has been conducted into the neural circuits underlying same-sex, platonic interactions (Dölen *et al.*, 2013; Gunaydin *et al.*, 2014; Hung *et al.*, 2017; Kohli *et al.*, 2019; Ramos *et al.*, 2013; Williams *et al.*, 2020). It is the neural circuitry that underlies same-sex, non-reproductive interactions that is of most relevance when studying social behaviours in relation to human disorders with aberrant social functioning. Therefore, rodent models looking at reproductive and maternal behaviours should be avoided when studying social behaviours of relevance to psychiatric disorders, and when examining the therapeutic potential of novel treatments for social deficits as seen in schizophrenia and ASD (Fernández *et al.*, 2018; Gunaydin *et al.*, 2014).

The social interaction task (Table 1.3), to be used throughout the experimental chapters of this thesis, has high construct validity for determining social deficits in models of schizophrenia. The amygdala, hippocampus, and PFC have all been implicated in specific roles in both social interaction and negative symptoms of schizophrenia (Wilson & Koenig, 2014). Additionally, both dopaminergic and glutamatergic systems have been implicated in both schizophrenia aetiology and social interaction (Carlsson *et al.*, 2001; Wilson & Koenig, 2014). Although a simple behavioural model the social interaction task is strongly representative of naturally occurring rodent social interactions; rodents are left to freely explore and interact with one another, giving the task high ethological validity. Furthermore, social interaction is disrupted in many rodent models that aim to replicate the genetic, neurological, or developmental aspects of schizophrenia, making the social interaction task translationally relevant to schizophrenia (Hida *et al.*, 2013; Sams-Dodd, 1998; 1999).

1.3.3.2 Ultrasonic vocalisations

Much like human social interaction, those between rodents are not solely based on physical touch and contact. Rodents can communicate through the emission and perception of ultrasonic vocalisations (USVs) (Kagawa *et al.*, 2017; Matsumoto *et al.*, 2016). USVs are thought to be a social communication signal for both juvenile and adult rats, with rodents emitting USVs during a huge variety of social encounters, from social play and mating to aggression (Brudzynski, 2015; Burgdorf *et al.*, 2008). Analysis of emitted USVs in both natural situations and following pharmacological and environmental manipulations can give great insights into the neural mechanisms underlying social behaviours and social communication in rodents.

There are multiple types of USVs produced by rats, and the type of calls emitted are reflective of their affective state. In adult rats 50 kilohertz (kHz) calls represent a positive affective state and are associated with rewarding stimuli, and have been suggested to be an evolutionary homolog of laughter in humans (Panksepp, 2007).

Increased emission of 50 kHz calls occurs during positive social encounters, such as social play, rat play with human hands (tickling), and in response to playback of 50 kHz calls (Brudzynski, 2015; Panksepp & Burgdorf, 2000; Wöhr & Schwarting, 2009). In addition, increases in 50 kHz calls are also seen during rewarding processes such as self-administration of sweet foods, such as sucrose (Browning et al., 2011). Interestingly, rats with a higher natural production of 50 kHz calls make more social contacts than those with lower emissions of prosocial calls, demonstrating a clear association between 50 kHz calls and social behaviour (Brudzynski, 2015). 50 kHz calls can be further classified into three different subtypes based upon call features, such as duration and modulation of frequency (Figure 1.10). Although all 50 kHz calls are associated with positive affective states, they are thought to be emitted in different contextual situations. For example, frequency modulated (FM) 50 kHz calls appear to be emitted in highly rewarding situations, such as sexual interactions, while 50 kHz calls of a constant frequency with no modulation are thought to be emitted in social contact situations and feeding behaviours, and serve more of a communicative purpose (Brudzynski, 2015; Burgdorf et al., 2008).



50 kHz pro-social calls:



Contrary to the production of 50 kHz calls, production of 22 kHz calls reflect a negative affective state, and are typically called 'distress' calls (Brudzynski, 2015). 22 kHz calls are produced in response to a range of aversive stimuli, including: mild foot

shocks (Wöhr et al., 2005), loud startling acoustic stimuli (Kaltwasser, 1990), the presence of a predator such as a cat (Blanchard et al., 1991), encounters with dominant rats (Assini et al., 2013), and unexpected puffs of air (Brudzynski & Holland, 2005). In addition, 22 kHz calls are also produced during isolation and chronic pain (Calvino et al., 1996; Francis, 1977). Whilst 50 kHz calls have been seen following the administration of drugs with rewarding properties, withdrawal from addictive agents such as opiates, alcohol, and benzodiazepines result in 22 kHz calls being emitted (Covington & Miczek, 2003; Mutschler & Miczek, 1998). Playback of 22 kHz calls to rats causes behavioural changes such as freezing responses and reduced locomotor activity, suggesting 22 kHz calls are alarm calls and evoke a fear response in rats (Brudzynski & Chiu, 1995). 22 kHz calls can also be classified into two further subtypes: long and short. Although both of these calls are associated with distress and aversion, long calls are thought to be expressed when there is an external threat or danger, such as a predator, while short calls represent internal distress or discomfort, for example during drug withdrawal (Barker et al., 2010; Brudzynski, 2015).

Rat USVs are sensitive to pharmacological manipulation, giving an insight into the neural mechanisms involved in USV production. Both systemic and NAc microinjections of dopamine agonists cause 50 kHz call emission in rats, suggesting NAc dopamine may be involved in the production of prosocial 50 kHz USVs (Burgdorf *et al.*, 2001; Thompson *et al.*, 2006). Administration of drugs associated with feelings of reward, such as cocaine and amphetamines, also increase the production of 50 kHz prosocial calls (Burgdorf *et al.*, 2001; Ma *et al.*, 2010; Simola *et al.*, 2012). Further to this, in alcohol dependent rats the number of 50 kHz calls emitted positively correlated with the amount of alcohol drunk (Buck *et al.*, 2014). In contrast, administration of carbachol increases the production of 22 kHz aversive and 'distress' calls (Brudzynski & Bihari, 1990), as does administration of drugs with aversive effects, such as lithium chloride and naloxone (Burgdorf *et al.*, 2001).

Given USVs are reflective of affective state in rodents, and the strong association between rewarding stimuli and 50 kHz emission, the neural mechanisms underlying 50 kHz prosocial calls may give an insight into the neural basis of social behaviours

37

and emotion, advancing our understanding of psychiatric disorders with aberrant emotional processing and social cognition. Emission of 50 kHz calls during social interaction was therefore investigated in the current thesis as a potentially relevant index of changes in social communication.

1.4. Oxytocin in social behaviour

1.4.1 Preclinical evidence in rodents

Despite an abundance of work looking at the effects of exogenous OXY administration on reproductive and maternal social behaviour in rodents, there is a surprising lack of research into its effects on non-reproductive social behaviours between two animals of the same sex. Our understanding of the role the OXY system plays in non-reproductive social behaviours has largely been advanced through the availability of OXY and OXTR knockout mice. These models have demonstrated robust deficits in social interaction and recognition; clearly implicating the oxytocinergic system in these social behaviours (Table 1.4) (Ferguson *et al.*, 2000; Pobbe *et al.*, 2012; Sala *et al.*, 2013; Sala *et al.*, 2011).

Knockout	Author	Behavioural findings			
OXTR (-/-)	Pobbe <i>et al.</i> (2012)	Robust decreases in social interaction and social recognition			
	Sala <i>et al.</i> (2011); Sala <i>et al.</i> (2013)	Impaired social recognition and reduced social interaction			
	Dhakar <i>et al.</i> (2012)	Elevated levels of aggression to intruders and greater c-Fos reactivity in the medial amygdala compared to wild type			
	Hattori <i>et al.</i> (2015)	Greater aggression to intruders of the same strain and impaired social recognition			
OXY (-/-)	DeVries <i>et al.</i> (1997)	Reduced duration of aggressive behaviours between two males			
	Ferguson <i>et al.</i> (2000)	Impaired social memory, but intact spatial memory			
	Winslow <i>et al.</i> (2000)	Increased aggression towards intruders compared to wild type			
	Crawley <i>et al.</i> (2007)	Normal social recognition and normal sociability			
	Lazzari <i>et al.</i> (2019)	Reduced aggression and increased social interaction compared to wild-type			

Table 1.4: Studies investigating the effect of both OXY and OXTR knockout on non-reproductive social behaviours in mice.

Central OXY administration has also been utilised to determine the role of OXY in social behaviour. Clear anti-aggressive and prosocial effects of OXY have been observed in male rats following both acute and chronic i.c.v. OXY administration (Calcagnoli *et al.*, 2013). In addition, i.c.v. OXY can restore deficits in social preference that arise from social defeat in rats (Lukas *et al.*, 2011). Central administration of OXTR antagonists (desGly-NH₂,d(CH₂)₅[Tyr(Me)²,Thr⁴]OVT and vasotocin) have also demonstrated a prominent role for OXY in social behaviours. I.c.v. administration of OXTR antagonists can impair social memory when administered immediately after memory acquisition, reduce social interaction between novel male rats and mice, and impair social recognition (Lukas *et al.*, 2011; Lukas *et al.*, 2013; Samuelsen & Meredith, 2011). In addition, i.c.v. infusion of the OXTR antagonist, tocinoic acid, can attenuate 3,4-methylenedioxymethamphetamine (MDMA)-induced increases in social behaviour in Wistar rats, although it had no effect when administered alone (Thompson *et al.*, 2007).

Although there is controversy and debate over the extent of BBB penetration, systemic OXY administration has been widely utilised to examine the effects of OXY on social behaviour, and intranasal, intraperitoneal (i.p.), and s.c. OXY administration have all been shown to increase brain OXY levels (Neumann et al., 2013; Yamamoto et al., 2019). Justifying this approach in the current thesis, both s.c. and i.p. OXY can increase social interaction between two male rats (Kent et al., 2016; Kohli et al., 2019; Ramos et al., 2013). In addition, in rats i.p. OXY increases social huddling in response to threat stimuli and enhances social preference (Bowen & McGregor, 2014; Ramos et al., 2016). Following intranasal administration OXY can increase social interaction between two male Sprague Dawley rats, primarily increasing sniffing and following behaviours (Kent et al., 2016). Similarly, Calcagnoli et al. (2015a) demonstrated increased social interaction between two novel male rats, as well as reduced aggression following intranasal OXY. Furthermore, Gulevich et al. (2019) demonstrated reduced aggression in rats deemed to be naturally aggressive following five days intranasal OXY administration. Intranasal OXY can also restore social deficits that arise from a single prolonged stressor in male rats, used as a model for post-traumatic stress disorder (Wang et al., 2019).

OXY is also thought to play a role in development and contributes to the expression of normal social behaviours in adulthood (Lukas *et al.*, 2010; Nardou *et al.*, 2019). During development GABAergic activity shifts from being excitatory to inhibitory, due to reduction in the concentration of intracellular chloride during parturition (Tyzio *et al.*, 2014; Zhang *et al.*, 2020). It is thought OXY activity may contribute to this shift, through increasing the stability of the potassium-chloride transporter KCC2 and upregulating its activity, in order to maintain low intracellular chloride (Leonzino *et al.*, 2016; Tyzio *et al.*, 2006; Tyzio *et al.*, 2014). Pre-treating maternal rats with an OXTR antagonist before parturition abolishes the excitatory to inhibitory GABA shift and produces some behavioural changes in their off-spring associated with ASD models, such as increased USV emission upon maternal separation (Tyzio *et al.*, 2014). However, this paper did not determine whether these changes persisted beyond the first developmental stage, or whether abolishing the excitatory to inhibitory GABA shift impacted on platonic social interaction. It is of interest this excitatory-inhibitory shift is abolished in two rodent models of ASD (valproate and fragile X) (Roux *et al.*, 2018; Tyzio *et al.*, 2006), both of which have profound deficits in social behaviour (Bambini-Junior *et al.*, 2011; de Esch *et al.*, 2015; Gantois *et al.*, 2013; Mines *et al.*, 2010; Nicolini & Fahnestock, 2018). Administration of bumetanide, which potentiates GABA activity and alters the balance of excitatory-inhibitory activity in the brain, can reduce the core symptoms of ASD in both children and animal models of ASD (Tyzio *et al.*, 2014; Zhang *et al.*, 2020). Therefore, OXY likely plays an important role in development, with deficits leading to impaired social behaviour, as well as contributing to the aetiology of ASD.

1.4.2 Clinical evidence

Clinical OXY research has been slow given the fact OXY does not easily cross the BBB and i.c.v. administration in humans is not ethically viable. The discovery that intranasal administration of neuropeptides can achieve direct access to the CSF sparked significant interest in the OXY field and has paved the way for numerous clinical studies investigating the effect of intranasal OXY on social cognition and behaviour (Born et al., 2002). However, the nasal epithelium and BBB are highly effective at preventing large quantities of OXY entering the brain following intranasal administration. As such, supramaximal doses of OXY are often administered to counteract the poor penetration (Leng & Ludwig, 2016). The first study demonstrating a prosocial effect of OXY in humans was by Kosfeld et al. (2005). This paper showed intranasal OXY increased the willingness to trust others in a money game and was supported by another group later that year (Kosfeld et al., 2005; Zak et al., 2005). Furthermore, Baumgartner et al. (2008) demonstrated those treated with OXY remain trusting even after having their trust betrayed on multiple occasions. However, a recent, large, double-blinded placebo-controlled replication of Kosfeld's 2005 study found no effect of OXY on trusting behaviours (Declerck et al., 2020). Other OXY research in healthy individuals has shown both males and females judge faces to be more attractive and trustworthy following OXY administration (Theodoridou et al., 2009), and Mikolajczak et al. (2010) reported OXY treated

participants rate happy faces as more trustworthy than participants who received placebo.

OXY has also been implicated in feelings of empathy. Elevated levels of OXY are seen in those watching videos of emotional scenes compared to those watching emotionally neutral scenes (Barraza & Zak, 2009), and intranasal OXY can enhance emotional empathy by altering visual attention towards emotional faces, as opposed to other contextual cues (Le et al., 2020). However, other groups have found little effect of OXY on feelings of empathy in healthy individuals (Bartz et al., 2019). Potential anxiolytic actions of OXY have also been reported from clinical studies (Dou et al., 2021). Numerous functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) studies have shown reduced amygdala activation in response to fearful faces following intranasal OXY (Domes et al., 2007; Gamer et al., 2010; Kirsch et al., 2005). More recently, Radke et al. (2017) demonstrated intranasal OXY administration to healthy males reduces amygdala activation in response to threatening social stimuli, again supporting a potential anxiolytic effect of OXY. As with preclinical work, social recognition has also been studied in humans following OXY administration. Although findings are inconsistent, generally intranasal OXY is thought to facilitate the recognition of human facial expressions and emotions (Guastella et al., 2008a; Lischke et al., 2012; Rimmele et al., 2009). For example, Savaskan et al. (2008) found intranasal OXY increased the identification of angry and neutral faces, while in contrast, Marsh et al. (2010) only found a positive effect of intranasal OXY upon the identification of happy faces. Similarly, Guastella et al. (2008b) found healthy males that had received intranasal OXY were more likely to recall previously seen pictures of happy faces compared with angry and neutral faces.

The relationship between OXY and psychiatric disorders has also been explored. In females with schizophrenia higher levels of plasma OXY are associated with less severe positive symptoms, as well as increased prosocial behaviours (Rubin *et al.*, 2010). In male patients with schizophrenia a correlation between CSF OXY levels and negative symptoms has also been observed (Sasayama *et al.*, 2012). In addition, some genetic links have also been identified. Two single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNP) (rs53576 and rs2740204) within the OXTR gene are associated with schizophrenia,

where carriers exhibit fewer social skills (Montag *et al.*, 2013). The rs53576 and rs2254298 OXTR SNPs have also been associated with ASD (Jacob *et al.*, 2007; Wu *et al.*, 2005). With the abundance of preclinical evidence, genetic associations, and work in healthy human populations, numerous randomised control trials (RCTs) have studied the effect of OXY in schizophrenia and ASD patient populations to determine whether OXY has any therapeutic effects upon social deficits.

Despite extensive work examining the effects of intranasal OXY upon social deficits in patient groups, findings have been inconsistent. A meta-analysis of seven doubleblind, placebo-controlled, RCTs found that intranasal OXY did not differ from placebo in regards to positive and negative symptoms, however it was able to reduce scores on the Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale (PANSS) general psychopathology subscale in patients with schizophrenia, which includes items such as depression and anxiety (Oya et al., 2016). However, a later meta-analysis of the same RCTs, plus an additional RCT published after Oya et al. (2016), found daily intranasal OXY did not improve positive symptoms, negative symptoms, or general psychopathology in patients with schizophrenia, as measured by the PANSS (Williams & Bürkner, 2017). A further meta-analysis by Zheng et al. (2019) also found no effect of intranasal OXY on positive, negative, and general symptom scores, although they did find a positive effect of high dose (80 international units (IU)) intranasal OXY; improving general psychopathology and positive symptoms (Zheng et al., 2019). Consistent with this, a 2021 meta-analysis looking at the effect of intranasal OXY on schizophrenia negative symptoms found no effect of treatment, though there was moderate effect of high dose intranasal OXY (40-80 IU) on the improvement of negative symptoms. However, this effect disappeared after the exclusion of one study (Sabe et al., 2021). A recent meta-analysis by Martins et al. (2021) also examined the effect of repeated intranasal OXY on the core symptoms of schizophrenia and ASD. This group also found no significant effect of intranasal OXY treatment, asides from a small effect on general psychopathology in schizophrenia patients, again measured by the PANSS (Martins et al., 2021). Interestingly, they found increased variance in the response of schizophrenia negative symptoms to intranasal OXY, suggesting there maybe subgroups of patients with schizophrenia that may successfully respond to OXY treatment and improve social deficits, while other subgroups are non-responsive. This would explain some of the inconsistent findings across numerous RCTs.

When looking at the effect of intranasal OXY on specific aspects of social cognition in patients with neurodevelopmental disorders, such as schizophrenia, as opposed to general negative symptoms, two meta-analyses have found intranasal OXY has large effects on 'high-level' social cognition (theory of mind and metalizing; both of which involve inferring and understanding the emotions of others) (Bürkner et al., 2017; Keech et al., 2018). This suggests OXY may improve certain aspects of social cognition in specific subgroups of populations; making it hard to draw consistent conclusions about the effects of intranasal OXY in clinical populations. The variances in findings could also be attributed to a variety of other reasons. Firstly, the poor penetration of OXY across the BBB and nasal epithelium may prevent consistent doses of OXY being administered across groups. To overcome this conjugation of OXY to novel cellpenetrating peptides has been trialled in rats, aiming to improve OXY penetration of the nasal epithelium and BBB (Wong et *al.*, unpublished). However, it is unknown whether OXY remains biologically active following conjugation to cell-penetrating peptides. Therefore, the first chapter in this thesis focuses on whether OXY conjugates are biologically active and have the potential to be used for the remainder of the behavioural work in this thesis; examining the neural mechanisms that underlie the behavioural effects of systemic OXY. Secondly, OXYs effects on behaviour may be moderated by contextual or individual factors. For example, the trusting effects of OXY are diminished if the other person is not portrayed as trusting (Declerck et al., 2010), and OXY differentially effects both males and females on social perception tasks (Fischer-Shofty et al., 2013). Finally, a 2016 review concluded that clinical studies looking at intranasal OXY are generally statistically underpowered, thus meaning it is possible published findings do not represent the true effects of intranasal OXY on behaviour (Walum et al., 2016).

1.5. Rationale and aims of the thesis

Disorders with social deficits, such as schizophrenia, currently have no effective treatment that targets the social symptoms of these disorders. Social deficits have great effects on patients' abilities to integrate into society and have huge impacts on functional recovery. There is a huge unmet clinical need for the development of drugs to treat these symptoms, as well as gaps in our understanding of the neural mechanisms that contribute to both healthy and aberrant social behaviour.

OXY has shown promise in both clinical and preclinical studies; increasing social recognition, reward, and interaction. In addition, OXY can have antipsychotic-like effects in preclinical models, making it a prime candidate for the treatment of schizophrenia, either alone or as an adjunct with antipsychotics. However, numerous preclinical studies have used i.c.v. OXY administration, lacking translational relevance. The neural mechanisms through which OXY has these behavioural effects are also poorly understood. Therefore, primary studies in this thesis will determine whether a novel OXY conjugate is biologically active, and whether it can be used to enhance intranasal OXY administration, which avoids the systemic effects of OXY. Subsequent chapters will use selective antagonists and a selective toxin to determine the receptors and brain regions involved in the prosocial and antipsychotic-like effects of systemic OXY administration. Thus, the overall aims of this thesis are to gain a deeper understanding of the neural mechanisms which modulate OXYs prosocial and antipsychotic-like effects in rats following systemic administration.

Chapter 2: Development of an Oxytocin Receptor Bioassay

2.1 Introduction

Both preclinical and clinical research has shown intranasal OXY administration can enhance prosocial behaviours, gaining interest for its use as a potential adjunctive therapy for treating social deficits in disorders such as schizophrenia and ASD. Intranasal administration is significantly less invasive than other methods of OXY administration, making it a highly favourable clinical option. However, both the nasal epithelium and BBB are highly effective at preventing the penetration of large molecules (>400 Daltons), hindering the therapeutic utility of intranasal OXY (Dal Monte et al., 2014; Ermisch et al., 1985; Fisher et al., 1987; McMartin et al., 1987; Meisenberg & Simmons, 1983). Whether OXY enters the brain following intranasal administration remains controversial, with studies showing as little as 0.002% of intranasally administered OXY successfully reaching the brain (Leng & Ludwig, 2016; Mens et al., 1983). In both clinical and preclinical research supramaximal doses of OXY are administered in an attempt to elevate brain OXY in regions implicated in social behaviour, such as the VTA and NAc (Dolen et al., 2013; Smith et al., 2017b). Recent studies in rats have administered intranasal doses as high as 20µg OXY in an attempt to elicit behavioural changes; 20 times the total OXY content of the rat posterior pituitary (Joushi et al., 2021; Leng & Ludwig, 2016; Neumann et al., 2013; Yang et al., 2019). For intranasal OXY to become a viable clinical option in the treatment of social deficits the efficacy of intranasal administration needs improving, to allow more targeted and efficient delivery of OXY to the brain. For intranasally administered drugs to successfully reach the brain they must first cross the nasal epithelium (Kamei & Takeda-Morishita, 2015). Therefore, one method to improve intranasal OXY administration is the conjugation of OXY to cell-penetrating peptides, to increase penetration of the nasal epithelium. Glycosaminoglycan (GAG)-binding enhanced transduction (GET; P21-LK15-8R) is a novel cell penetrating peptide that can enhance small molecule transduction across epithelial layers, such as the nasal epithelium (Dixon *et al.*, 2016).

GET carrier peptides electrostatically conjugate to OXY to form an OXY-GET conjugation, which aims to enhance penetration across membranes such as the nasal epithelium and the BBB. P21, a 21 amino acid sequence from heparin-binding epidermal growth factor, interacts with cell membrane heparan sulphates to increase cell interaction, while the arginine-rich GET domain mediates high-efficiency transduction (Thiagarajan et al., 2017). Following interactions with cell membrane heparan sulphates, the cationic arginine-rich domain of GET interacts with anionic phospholipids of cell membranes (Layek et al., 2015). This causes invagination of the cell membrane; leading to endocytosis of the conjugated cell-penetrating peptide (Rehmani & Dixon, 2018). Endocytosis is the first step of transcytosis; the transfer of molecules from one side of the cell to the other, i.e. apical to basolateral (Rehmani & Dixon, 2018). However, the precise mechanisms through which GET conjugations cross the cell membrane is unknown, including the processes that mediate vesicular transfer and exocytosis. Although the mechanisms are unknown, multiple variants of GET peptides have been shown to increase the transduction of insulin across the intestinal epithelium and alveolar epithelium (Liang & Yang, 2005; Patel et al., 2009; Rehmani & Dixon, 2018). In addition, cell-penetrating peptides have also demonstrated successful insulin delivery across the nasal epithelium to the brain following intranasal administration, with the insulin-complex accumulating in areas such as the olfactory bulb and brainstem (Kamei & Takeda-Morishita, 2015). Thus, conjugation of OXY to GET (OXY-GET) shows promise as a potential mechanism to improve the uptake and delivery of intranasal OXY to the brain, thereby increasing CNS penetration and behavioural effects. However, a previous in vivo test in rats demonstrated no significant effect of either intranasally administered OXY, or OXY-GET, on locomotor activity (LMA) or body temperature (Wong et.al, unpublished). Having an assay to monitor in vitro OXTR activation following the application of drugs can allow us to determine the biological activity of unknown compounds, such as the OXY-GET conjugations, and compare these to selective receptor agonists with known receptor affinity and efficacy. Determining whether the OXY-GET compounds are biologically active and able to stimulate the OXTR will give greater insights into the potential therapeutic utility of OXY-GET conjugates.

To measure in vitro OXTR activation calcium fluorimetry assays can be utilised due to the rapid rise in intracellular calcium that occurs following $G\alpha_q$ coupled OXTR activation. Calcium is a ubiquitous intracellular messenger that controls, or influences, almost every cellular process. Following rises in cytosolic calcium a variety of cellular events are initiated. In neurosecretory cells rapid rises in intracellular calcium control cell excitability, modulating firing patterns and neurotransmitter release (Delaney & Lin, 2020). In contrast, calcium release over a longer period of time can promote gene transcription (Augustine, 2001; Berridge, 1995; Greer & Greenberg, 2008). Prolonged high concentrations of free intracellular calcium are cytotoxic, therefore the resting intracellular calcium concentration in cells is tightly controlled and remains low; maintained through activity of the plasma membrane calcium ATPase and the sodium/calcium exchanger (Bagur & Hajnóczky, 2017). Due to the tight control of intracellular calcium it is a very sensitive cellular indicator; small changes in concentration in either direction have large effects upon the cell. Following $G\alpha_q$ coupled OXTR activation inositol trisphosphate (IP₃) and 1,2diacylglycerol (DAG) are produced (Gimpl & Fahrenholz, 2001), activating IP₃ receptors on the endoplasmic reticulum; in turn causing the release of calcium into the cytosol (Kania et al., 2017). Thus, calcium fluorimetry assays can be utilised to quantify OXTR-activated rises in intracellular calcium.

Calcium-sensitive fluorescent dyes, such as Fluo-4 acetoxymethyl (AM), are used to detect intracellular calcium. The lipid-soluble AM ester group enables diffusion across the cell membrane (Caers *et al.*, 2014). Once in the cytoplasm esterases cleave the AM group, leaving a negatively charged fluorophore inside the cell. Upon OXTR activation, and subsequent intracellular calcium release, positively charged calcium ions bind to the negative fluorophore. When Fluo-4 is bound to calcium, excitation at 485 nanometres (nm) causes a fluorescent emission at 525nm. Thus, the measurement of emissions at 525nm can be used as a quantitative index of the rise in cytoplasmic calcium (Figure 2.1) (Caers *et al.*, 2014). Calcium responses observed following OXY application are transient; typically reaching a peak after a few seconds,
then steadily declining. However, the time to the peak emission is variable, and dependent on the degree of receptor activation; higher agonist concentrations typically achieving peak responses more rapidly. Generally, the peak emission is used as a reflection of receptor activation; a greater peak in emission reflecting greater receptor activation (Charlton & Vauquelin, 2010).



Figure 2.1: Schematic diagram of the intracellular cascade of events leading to Fluo-4 emission. OXY activation of the $G\alpha_q$ coupled OXTR causes a conformational change, converting GDP to GTP. Binding of GTP dissociates the $G\alpha_q$ subunit from the OXTR, activating PLC, which in turn hydrolyses phosphatidylinositol bisphosphate (PIP₂) to DAG and IP₃. IP₃ then activates IP₃ dependent channels on the endoplasmic reticulum, causing rapid release of calcium into the cytoplasm. Binding of calcium to the negatively charged Fluo-4 molecule causes a change in fluorescent emission, from 480nm to 525nm, as measured by the FlexStation 3. Image adapted from Caers *et al.* (2014).

Determining whether OXY-GET conjugations can activate the OXTR *in vitro* may provide an explanation as to why no *in vivo* effect of the OXY-GET conjugations was observed. Intranasal administration is a clinically preferred route of administration, therefore determining whether OXY-GET conjugations can agonise the OXTR will help determine whether intranasal OXY-GET application is a viable method for future studies in this thesis, aiming to determine the neural mechanisms of OXYs behavioural effects.

2.2 Aims

The aim of this chapter was to A) develop a sensitive *in vitro* calcium fluorimetry assay to determine biological activity at the OXTR and to B) determine whether OXY-GET conjugations are able to activate the OXTR and can be utilised in future *in vivo* studies to determine the neural mechanisms of OXY.

2.3 Materials and methods

2.3.1 Cell culture

Multiple cell lines expressing the functional OXTR were initially selected and trialled to determine the best *in vitro* method to evaluate OXTR activity. HEK293T cells stably expressing the OXTR were obtained from The Centre of Membrane Proteins and Receptors, University of Nottingham, School of Life Sciences. Cells were cultured in high glucose Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium serum (DMEM; Sigma Aldrich, Poole, UK) supplemented with 10% foetal calf serum (FCS).

Michigan Cancer Foundation-7 (MCF-7) cells were obtained from the Mongan Laboratory, University of Nottingham, School of Veterinary Medicine and Science. Cells were cultured in Roswell Park Memorial Institute 1640 (RPMI-1640) medium with L-glutamine and sodium bicarbonate (Sigma Aldrich, Poole, UK), supplemented with 10% FCS.

Hs 578T cells were obtained from the Grabowska Laboratory, University of Nottingham, School of Medicine. Cells were cultured in DMEM, supplemented with 10% FCS and 0.01mg/mL bovine insulin (Sigma Aldrich, Poole, UK). Both MCF-7s and Hs 578T cells were selected due to their endogenous expression of the OXTR (Amico *et al.*, 2002; Copland *et al.*, 1999).

All cells were grown at 37°C with 5% CO_2 in a humidified atmosphere and passaged regularly once 80% confluent. Twenty-four hours prior to undertaking the calcium fluorimetry assay cells were seeded into a black walled, clear bottomed, 96 well plate at a density of 80,000 cells per well, in a volume of 100µL. Cells were left to grow overnight.

2.3.2 Drug preparation

All drugs were added (20μ L drug to 100μ L cell suspension) to cells from a 96 well compound plate. Drugs were made up to six times the final concentration to account for a 1 in 6 dilution upon administration to cells.

OXY acetate (Bachem, St Helens, UK) was diluted from powder in assay buffer (1X Hanks Balanced Salt Solution (HBSS), 20mM 4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid (HEPES) with 0.1% BSA) and serial dilutions performed to give required concentrations based on the known EC₅₀ of OXY in HEK293 cells, ~2.1nM (Tahara *et al.*, 2000).

GET peptides (10mM) and heparin (10mg/mL) were obtained from Dr. James Dixon, University of Nottingham, School of Pharmacy. Both were diluted in assay buffer to the desired concentration. For OXY-GET peptides GET was always conjugated to 0.1µM OXY, regardless of the GET concentration.

Carbachol was used as a positive control to activate the muscarinic M_3 receptor, endogenously expressed in HEK293T cells and MCF-7 cells (Vetter & Lewis, 2010). As with the OXTR, the muscarinic M_3 receptor is also coupled to the $G\alpha_q$ G-protein and activates intracellular calcium release upon activation (Robert *et al.*, 2020). Carbachol (Sigma Aldrich, Poole, UK) was diluted from solid in assay buffer.

The OXTR (2S)-2-Amino-N-[(1S,2S,4R)-7,7-dimethyl-1-[[[4-(2antagonist, methylphenyl)-1-piperazinyl]sulfonyl]methyl]bicyclo[2.2.1]hept-2-yl]-4-(methylsulfonyl)butanamide (L-368,899), was obtained from Tocris Bioscience, Bristol, UK, and the V1aR antagonist (2S)-1-[[(2R,3S)-5-Chloro-3-(2-chlorophenyl)-1-[(3,4-dimethoxyphenyl)sulfonyl]-2,3-dihydro-3-hydroxy-1H-indol-2-yl]carbonyl]-2pyrrolidinecarboxamide (SR49059) and V2 receptor antagonists N-[4-[(7-Chloro-2,3,4,5-tetrahydro-5-hydroxy-1H-1-benzazepin-1-yl)carbonyl]-3-methylphenyl]-2methylbenzamide (Tolvaptan) were obtained from Sigma Aldrich, Poole, UK. All antagonists were initially diluted from solid in 5% dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO, Sigma Aldrich, UK) and assay buffer. Further dilutions were undertaken with assay buffer. The DMSO concentration that the cells were subjected to was antagonist concentration dependent, but never exceeded 0.005%. All antagonists were selected due to specificity at their respective receptors, and doses were selected based around their known K_i (see Table 1.2), obtained from The Concise Guide to Pharmacology: G protein-coupled receptors 2017/2018 (Akerlund et al., 1999; Alexander et al., 2017; Jasper et al., 1995; Yamamura et al., 1998).

Cells were incubated with antagonist for 40 minutes prior to the addition of agonists, allowing equilibrium between the receptor and antagonist to be attained. Concentrations and incubation times were based upon previous literature (Pont *et al.*, 2012).

2.3.3 Calcium fluorimetry assay

To assess whether the OXY-GET peptides were biologically active a calcium fluorimetry assay was used to measure intracellular calcium responses following administration of selected test peptides. The Fluo-4 No Wash Calcium Assay Kit F36206 (ThermoFisher Scientific, UK) was used to measured calcium mobilisation on the FlexStation 3 machine (Molecular Devices, UK) because the fluorescent dye, Fluo-

4 AM, has high affinity for calcium, therefore allowing the detection of subtle changes in calcium concentration.

One bottle of Fluo-4 NW dye mix was equilibrated to room temperature and combined with 12mL of assay buffer and 120µL probenecid stock solution, contained within the Fluo-4 kit; giving a final probenecid concentration of 2.5mM. Presence of probenecid prevents the active transport of Fluo-4 dye out of the cells (Caers *et al.*, 2014). Medium was removed from the cell culture 96 well plate. Care was taken to only aspirate media and not to disrupt adhered cells. 100µL of the Fluo-4 calcium assay buffer was added to each well and incubated at 37°C for 40 minutes prior to commencing the assay.

Agonists were added via a computer using the FlexStation 3 and Softmax Pro Software (Molecular Devices, UK). Emitted fluorescence was measured every 1.6 seconds for 90 seconds. 20µL of drug (or assay buffer in control wells) was added after 16 seconds. Emission was measured at 525nm in either duplicates or triplicates, with excitation at 485nm. Each experiment repeated at least three times, unless otherwise stated.

2.3.4 Data analysis

All data is shown as mean with standard error of the mean (SEM), unless otherwise stated. Maximal emission was calculated as the maximum minus the minimum raw fluorescent units (RFU), as obtained from the Softmax Pro Software readout (Figure 2.2).

Where stated, data in dose-response curves were normalised, using the control OXY data to define 0% and 100%. Data was normalised in order to increase the accuracy of EC₅₀ estimates (Weimer *et al.*, 2012). Data were fitted to sigmoidal dose-response curves by GraphPad Prism (Version 7.04 for Windows), and curves were fitted to a Hill Slope of 1. A Hill Slope of 1 was selected as the antagonists used in this chapter, SR 49059, L-368,899 and tolvaptan, are thought to display independent binding at

the OXTR and are not known to display any positive or negative receptor cooperativity (Alexander *et al.*, 2019; Manning *et al.*, 2012; Manning *et al.*, 2008).

One-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was selected to analyse data; aiming to determine whether there were any statistically significant differences between the five independent treatment groups.

Prior to analysis it was confirmed that all one-way ANOVA test assumptions were satisfied: one dependent variable that is measured at the continuous level (fluorescence, RFU), one independent variable that consists of two or more categorical, independent groups (treatment), independence of observations, no significant outliers, homogeneity of variance (using Levene's test), and the dependent variable is normally distributed for each group of the independent variable (using Shapiro-Wilk's test). Following the one-way ANOVA, if there was a significant interaction, Dunnett's post-hoc test was performed. Dunnett's post-hoc was selected to determine which different treatment groups (OXY-GET conjugations) significantly differed from the single control group (OXY alone). Both the one-way ANOVA and subsequent post-hoc tests were performed on GraphPad Prism. *p*<0.05 was considered statistically significant.



Figure 2.2: Representative trace obtained from the FlexStation 3 and Softmax Pro Software, showing a rapid rise in fluorescent emission following drug administration, caused by increased cytosolic calcium, which reaches a peak after a few seconds and then steadily declines.

2.4 Results

2.4.1 Selecting a cell line

Preliminary studies developed the calcium assay on both transiently and stably transfected HEK293 cells overexpressing the OXTR. A large response to carbachol was seen in all HEK293 cells ($EC_{50} = 8.45 \times 10^{-7}$ M), confirming a functional calcium assay signalling response could be obtained. No response was seen to OXY on any strain of HEK293 cells (see representative data, Figures 2.3A and 2B).

Breast cancer tumour MCF-7 cells were therefore selected for further use due to endogenous OXTR and muscarinic M_3 receptor expression (Ito *et al.*, 1996; Negroni *et al.*, 2010). A dose-related rise in intracellular calcium was evoked by both carbachol (EC₅₀ = 1.47 x 10⁻⁵M) and OXY (EC₅₀ = 1.17 x 10⁻⁶M). However, the carbachol response was much smaller and less potent than seen in HEK293 cells, possibly due to low endogenous expression of the muscarinic receptors and OXTRs (Figures 2.3C and 2D).

Due to the small response observed in MCF-7 cells, Hs 578T cells were subsequently obtained; another breast cancer tumour cell line also known to endogenously express the OXTR, with published evidence suggesting an operant calcium signal (Gimpl & Fahrenholz, 2001). A potent response was seen following OXY administration in Hs 578T cells (EC₅₀ = 2.6 x 10⁻⁸M), with double the maximum emission seen in MCF-7 cells, thus were selected for use throughout the rest of the *in vitro* calcium assay (Figures 2.3E and 2F).



Figure 2.3: OXY and carbachol dose-response curves obtained in three different cell lines, with Hs 578T cells demonstrating the greatest response to OXY (N=1, mean of triplicate recordings). **(A)** A large and dose-related to carbachol was seen in HEK293T cells overexpressing the OXTR ($EC_{50} = 8.45 \times 10^{-7}$ M). **(B)** No response to OXY was seen in OXTR expressing HEK293T cells. **(C+D)** Small responses to both carbachol (left, $EC_{50} = 1.47 \times 10^{-5}$ M) and OXY (right, $EC_{50} = 1.17 \times 10^{-6}$ M) were seen in MCF-7 cells. **(E+F)** No response to carbachol was seen in Hs 578T cells at the highest dose of carbachol, but a large and potent response to OXY was seen ($EC_{50} = 2.6 \times 10^{-8}$ M). Data shown as raw fluorescent units (RFU) from the Flexstation3 readout, measured at 525nm.

2.4.2 Confirmation of OXY response

To ensure the response to OXY observed in Hs 578T cells was due to OXTR activation a highly selective OXTR antagonist was used, L-368,899 (Alexander *et al.*, 2019; Williams *et al.*, 1994b). L-368,899 produced a dose-related and significant rightward shift in the dose-response curve (One-way ANOVA, $F_{(3, 142)}$ =24.48, *p*<0.001), typical of a competitive antagonist and as expected with L-368,899 (Figure 2.4A). The EC₅₀ value for OXY alone was 228 ± 50nM.

With OXY also having affinity at both V1a and V2 receptors (Alexander *et al.*, 2019; Bichet D *et al.*, 2017), highly selective V1a and V2 receptor antagonists (SR 49059 and tolvaptan, respectively) were used to determine if activity at either, or both, of these receptors were contributing to the OXY-induced calcium response. Doses were selected based upon the K_i of both antagonists (Alexander *et al.*, 2017). No effect of either SR 49059 or tolvaptan was seen on the OXY-induced calcium response, confirming our calcium response was due to OXTR activation (One-way ANOVA of EC₅₀ values, $F_{(2, 8)}$ =1.01, *p*=0.406) (Figure 2.4B).



Figure 2.4: OXY dose response curves in the presence and absence of selective vasopressin and OXTR antagonists (mean \pm SEM, n=3). **(A)** OXY dose response curves in the presence of increasing concentrations of L-368,899, a selective OXTR antagonist. Increasing concentrations of L-368,899 caused significant rightward shifts in the dose response curve. One-way ANOVA revealed EC₅₀ \pm SEM values were significantly different between treatment groups ($F_{(3, 11)}$ =445.6, p<0.001). Dunnett's post-hoc revealed all concentrations of L-368,899 significantly increased the EC₅₀ values when compared to OXY alone (p<0.001). **(B)** OXY dose response curves in the presence of V1aR and V2 receptor antagonists, SR 49059 and Tolvaptan. There was no significant effect of either antagonist on EC₅₀ values, and no shift in dose response curves (One-way ANOVA of EC₅₀ values, $F_{(2, 8)}$ =1.01, p=0.406). Data normalised to the OXY control fitted to a sigmoidal dose-response curve with a Hill Slope of 1.

2.4.3 OXY-GET activity at the OXTR

Following confirmation of OXTR activity in Hs 578T cells, calcium responses after addition of both OXY (0.1μ M) and OXY 0.1μ M conjugated to increasing concentrations of the GET peptide were assessed. OXY-GET 1 refers to a ratio of 0.1μ M OXY conjugated to 5nM GET, with each increased OXY-GET conjugation referring to a 10-fold increase in the concentration of GET conjugated to 0.1μ M OXY; OXY-GET 5 being 0.1μ M OXY conjugated to 50 μ M GET.

Increasing concentrations of GET conjugated to 0.1 μ M OXY significantly reduced the peak calcium response ($F_{(5,21)}$ =12.33, p<0.001, Figure 2.5A). GET alone had no effect on calcium release at any concentration; indicating no endogenous OXTR activity (Figure 2.5B).



Figure 2.5: The effect of GET, and GET conjugated to 0.1µM OXY, on fluorescence emission following drug application (mean + SEM, n=3-5). A) The effect of increasing concentrations of GET conjugated to 0.1µM OXY on fluorescence emission following drug application. Increasing concentrations of GET conjugated to 0.1µM OXY significantly reduced the calcium response. One-way ANOVA analysis of OXY-GET concentrations showed a significant difference in peak emissions between treatment groups ($F_{(5,21)}$ =12.33, p<0.001). There was a significant progressive reduction in peak fluorescence following conjugation of 0.1µM OXY to increasing concentrations GET, when compared to OXY alone. *** p<001. ** p<0.01 and * p<0.05 compared to 0.1µM OXY; Dunnett's post-hoc. B) The effect of increasing concentrations of GET on fluorescence was observed following application. No fluorescence was observed following application of GET alone to OXTR expressing cells.

Heparin prevents the conjugation of OXY to GET by displacing OXY and preferentially electrostatically binding to GET (Dixon *et al.*, 2016). The effect of OXY-GET on evoked calcium release was repeated in the presence of $10\mu g/mL$ heparin. As expected, heparin reversed the GET-induced attenuation of the OXY response, returning the calcium response back to the level of OXY alone (Figure 2.6), with no effect of heparin on the OXY response.



Figure 2.6: OXY-GET and OXY responses in the presence and absence of $10\mu g/mL$ heparin (HEP) (mean + SEM, n=4). One-way ANOVA showed a significant difference between treatment groups ($F_{(11,32)}$ =9.281, p<0.001), with Dunnett's post-hoc showing the presence of heparin alongside OXY-GET 3, OXY-GET 4 and OXY-GET5 prevented GET conjugation from significantly reducing the fluorescence emission following application. ** p<0.01 and *** p<0.001 compared to 0.1 μ M OXY.

2.5 Discussion

These results demonstrated that Hs 578T cells produced a significant transient increase in intracellular calcium upon application of OXY, with the response being attenuated through the application of the selective OXTR antagonist L-368,899;

demonstrated by a significant parallel rightward shift in the dose-response curve. Although OXY can have concomitant action at vasopressin receptors, due to high sequence homology of both the peptides and their receptors, no effect of the selective V1aR and V2 receptor antagonists were seen on the calcium response to OXY (Gimpl & Fahrenholz, 2001; Rae et al., 2021). This confirmed that the calcium response observed following OXY application was due the specific activation of the OXTR. This is consistent with previous literature, with Hs 578T cells showing no expression of either V1aR or V2 receptors (Copland et al., 1999). Confirmation with both OXY and vasopressin receptor antagonists allowed us to be confident in concluding we had a sensitive assay to measure *in vitro* biological activity at the OXTR. Our observed OXY EC₅₀ of 186 ± 50nM was 100-fold higher than previous literature conducting OXY calcium fluorimetry assays in Hs 578T cells (Schiffmann & Gimpl, 2018). However, this group were using a calcium dye with a lower affinity for calcium, reducing sensitivity to small changes in calcium concentrations, and were manipulating serum ionic concentrations, making direct comparisons difficult (Schiffmann & Gimpl, 2018).

This assay was subsequently used to determine the biological activity of the OXY-GET peptides at the OXTR. Increasing concentrations of GET conjugated to 0.1µM OXY significantly reduced the calcium response when compared to OXY alone; suggesting the GET peptides were inhibiting OXTR activation. This reduction in biological activity could explain the lack of behavioural response seen *in vivo* (Wong *et al.*, unpublished). GET peptides have previously been shown to enhance transduction across cell membranes through encapsulation of the target peptide (Thiagarajan *et al.*, 2017), in this case OXY. Biological activity of GET conjugations have not previously been assessed. GET encapsulation of OXY could be hindering the binding of the conjugate to the OXTR and reducing receptor activation, by blocking the key area of the OXY peptide needed for receptor activation; the isoleucine amino acid at position 3 (Gimpl & Fahrenholz, 2001). For OXTR activation the cyclical part of OXYs structure must interact with the second transmembrane domain of the OXTR, where the amino acid critical for activation, Asp-85, is located (Gimpl & Fahrenholz, 2001). If the GET peptide was preventing the cyclical part of OXY from interacting with the Asp-85

62

residue of the OXTR, this would prevent receptor activation, thus explaining the reduced response seen upon OXY conjugation to GET.

The presence of heparin alongside OXY-GET conjugations showed the reversal of the OXY-GET attenuated response, increasing OXTR activation back to levels seen with OXY alone. Heparin prevents coupling of OXY to GET; thus, providing indirect evidence that OXY does conjugate to the GET molecule, something we previously had no evidence for. However, separating the OXY-GET conjugation once in the brain to allow receptor activation would be difficult, if impossible, to replicate *in vivo*.

Limitations of our calcium fluorimetry assay to assess biological activity include the lack of information about receptor affinity and efficacy. Our assay can only provide information regarding the levels of receptor activation. To gain greater information about the pharmacological profile of OXY-GET conjugates, other *in vitro* assays, such as ligand binding assays and bioluminescence resonance energy transfer, should be developed for the OXTR.

2.6 Summary and Future Work

It was concluded we had developed a sensitive assay to assess biological activity at the OXTR, and that conjugation of OXY to GET reduces OXTR activation. Future studies, undertaken by Sara Wong, will determine if the OXY-GET conjugation can enhance the transduction across a cell membrane preparation akin to the nasal epithelium. However, for the purpose of this thesis it was concluded that intranasal administration of OXY-GET conjugates is not a viable method to administer OXY *in vivo* and cannot be used to determine the neural mechanisms of OXY, due to the lack of OXTR activation. Thus, s.c. OXY was selected as the route of administration for the remainder of the *in vivo* experimental work in this thesis, which will aim to decipher the neural mechanisms underlying OXYs prosocial and 'antipsychotic-like' effect in rats. Chapter 3: Elucidating the receptors responsible for oxytocin attenuation of PCP-induced hyperactivity and oxytocin enhanced social interaction

3.1 Introduction

Oxytocin (OXY) has affinity at both central and peripheral OXTR and V1aRs and is well documented to enhance social behaviour following acute and repeated central administration. Despite incredibly low BBB penetration, acute peripheral OXY administration can also alter social behaviour in rodents (Kohli *et al.*, 2019; Ramos *et al.*, 2013).

For peripheral OXY to enter the brain it must cross the BBB. As described in chapter 1.2.2, the RAGE is expressed on the cell surfaces of endothelial cells within neurovascular units in the brain of humans and rodents, and serves as a transporter of OXY to the brain across the BBB (Cheng *et al.*, 2005; Yamamoto & Higashida, 2020; Yamamoto *et al.*, 2019). *In vitro* models of the BBB have shown dose dependent transport of OXY across cultured endothelial cells by RAGE, and *in vivo* studies have shown knockout mice lacking RAGE do not have an increase in CSF OXY following s.c. administration, as seen in wild type mice (Munesue *et al.*, 2021; Yamamoto *et al.*, 2019). Following s.c. OXY administration Yamamoto *et al.* (2019) also found increased OXY in the third ventricle and PVN. Evidence for peripherally administered OXY to act centrally is also supported by microdialysis studies. In rats s.c OXY increases NAc dopamine, and i.p. OXY potentiates methylphenidate induced dopamine release in the NAc shell (Kohli *et al.*, 2019; Lee *et al.*, 2019a), while in mice s.c OXY significantly increases OXY in the amygdala, PVN, and CSF (Yamamoto *et al.*, 2019).

Previous research has shown peripherally administered OXY can act at both OXTRs and V1aRs in rats. High dose OXY (>0.3mg/kg) causes hypothermia when administered s.c. and i.p., and hypoactivity when administered i.p. (Hicks *et al.*, 2012; Hicks *et al.*, 2014; Klenerova *et al.*, 2009; Kohli *et al.*, 2019). While the CNS penetrant

selective OXTR antagonist L-368,899 can attenuate OXY-induced hypoactivity, the V1aR selective antagonist SR 49059 is able to reverse OXY-induced hypothermia, with no effect of L-368,899 (Klenerova *et al.*, 2009; Kohli *et al.*, 2019). In addition, regional c-Fos expression arising from a high dose of peripheral OXY administration (1mg/kg, i.p.) can be prevented through V1aR antagonism; clearly demonstrating the cross signalling between these receptors at high OXY doses (Hicks *et al.*, 2016). With affinity at both OXTRs and V1aRs it is likely that both receptor systems are contributing to the behavioural effects observed following peripheral OXY administration.

It is of significance that peripherally administered OXY can modulate social behaviour in rats. 0.1 mg/kg s.c. OXY increases social interaction in male Lister-hooded rats, primarily through increased anogenital and body sniffing (Kohli *et al.*, 2019). Similarly, 5µg i.p. OXY can also increase social interaction in male Sprague Dawley rats, again predominantly through increased sniffing behaviours (Kent *et al.*, 2016). In addition, Ramos *et al.* (2013) found 0.5mg/kg i.p. OXY reduced anogenital sniffing but increased lying side-by-side in male Long-Evans rats. Interestingly, increased adjacent lying was reversed by the co-administration of the V1aR antagonist, SR 49059 (Ramos *et al.*, 2013). In contrast, co-administration of the OXTR antagonist Compound 25 (C25) had no effect; suggesting OXY was likely mediating these social behaviours, at least in part, by V1aR activation. The same dose of OXY (0.5mg/kg i.p) also increases social huddling in rats in response to threat stimuli, such as cat fur (Bowen & McGregor, 2014). Similarly, pre-treatment with the selective V1aR antagonist SR 49059 reversed OXYs effect on social huddling, suggesting the V1aR mediates OXYs prosocial response to threat (Bowen & McGregor, 2014).

Activity at OXTRs can also modulate social behaviour in rats. Ramos *et al.* (2016) demonstrated 0.5mg/kg i.p. OXY can increase social preference in male Long-Evans rats, and pre-treatment with an OXTR antagonist (C25), but not V1aR antagonist (SR 49059), can prevent OXY-induced social preference. In addition, i.c.v. infusion of a selective OXTR antagonist (desGly-NH₂,d(CH₂)₅[Tyr(Me)²,Thr⁴]OVT) in male Wistar rats reduces social exploration of a novel conspecific, with no effect of a V1aR antagonist (Lukas *et al.*, 2011). Furthermore, OXTR knockout mice have impaired social memory (Ferguson *et al.*, 2000; Lee *et al.*, 2008; Takayanagi *et al.*, 2005).

During social behaviour rodents emit USVs as a means of social communication (Burgdorf et al., 2008) which are reflective of their affective state (Brudzynski, 2015). Frequency modulated (FM) 50 kHz calls are thought to reflect a positive affective state, with rats emitting these during rewarding behaviours such as social play and mating (Brudzynski, 2015; Wöhr et al., 2017). Flat 50 kHz calls without FM are still classified as prosocial, although thought to serve more of a social co-ordination function (Brudzynski, 2015). Thus, recording and analysing rat USVs during social tasks can give a greater insight into social behaviour and an objective measure of social communication. Peripheral s.c. OXY administration causes dose-dependent effects upon 40 kHz 'distress' calls emitted by maternally separated rat pups (Insel & Winslow, 1991). 1µg s.c. OXY increased call emission, whilst 100µg decreased the amount of calls emitted by separated pups; implicating the OXTR system in USVs (Insel & Winslow, 1991). However, the only study looking at the effect of OXY on 50 kHz prosocial calls in adult rats found no effect of 0.1mg/kg s.c. OXY, despite an increase in social behaviour (Kohli et al., 2019). The V1aR also affects rat USV emission; central infusion of a V1aR antagonist reduced both social play and 50 kHz call emission in male Wistar rats (Lukas & Wohr, 2015). However, administration of synthetic vasopressin did not further increase 50 kHz USVs or social play. The above suggests both receptors are likely involved in USV emission, yet the precise mechanisms are yet to be understood. More recently, Potasiewicz et al. (2020) found decreased social behaviour and reduced emission of 50 kHz USVs during social encounters of rats who were prenatally exposed to methylazoxymethanol acetate (MAM); used as a rodent model for schizophrenia. MAM rats were also found to have reduced concentrations of OXY, vasopressin, OXTRs, and V1aRs in the hypothalamus, as well as reduced OXY and OXTRs in the PFC (Potasiewicz et al., 2020). Taken together, this again suggests that the OXY/vasopressin system is likely to be at least partially involved in the neural mechanisms underlying social behaviour and social communication.

As well as effects on social behaviour, peripheral OXY (0.1mg/kg s.c.) reduces PCPinduced hyperactivity in a locomotor activity assay (Kohli *et al.*, 2019). PCP, an *N*methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor antagonist, is associated with producing schizophrenia-like symptoms in healthy humans, such as hallucinations and cognitive deficits, and can trigger relapse in patients with schizophrenia (Yui *et al.*, 1999). NMDA receptor (NMDA-R) hypofunction has long been associated with the aetiology of schizophrenia (Balu, 2016; Coyle, 2012). For example, anti-NMDA-R antibodies have been observed in patients with schizophrenia which significantly reduce the expression of the NMDA-R (Tong *et al.*, 2019), and genetic variants of NMDA-R genes are associated with an increased risk of schizophrenia (Balu, 2016; Coyle, 2012). Furthermore, D-serine, required for NMDA-R activation, is significantly reduced in the CSF of patients with schizophrenia (reviewed in Balu (2016)).

In rodents, PCP primarily alters horizontal motor behaviour and can induce stereotypic behaviours such as repetitive head movements (Hackler et al., 2010; Sturgeon *et al.*, 1979). These dysfunctional locomotor behaviours are analogous to stereotyped behaviours seen in patients with schizophrenia (Morrens et al., 2006). PCP-induced hyperactivity in rodents is associated with limbic striatal function, with PCP and other NMDA receptor (NMDA-R) antagonists causing increased NAc dopamine release in rodents (Takahata & Moghaddam, 2003). Limbic abnormalities in humans are associated with psychosis and thought disorders, with D₂ receptors in the mesolimbic system being the primary target of current antipsychotic medications (Grace & Gomes, 2019; Meltzer, 1991). As well as hyperactivity, acute PCP and other NMDA-R antagonists can disrupt prepulse inhibition (Bakshi et al., 1994; Mansbach & Geyer, 1989), cause social withdrawal (Sams-Dodd, 1995), and cause working memory deficits in rodents (Egerton et al., 2005; Verma & Moghaddam, 1996); similar to the effects of NMDA-R antagonists in humans (Adler et al., 1998; Krystal et al., 1999). Acute PCP can therefore resemble some of the psychotic, cognitive, and negative symptoms of schizophrenia. Similarities between the behavioural effects of NMDA-R antagonists in humans and rodents suggest similar neural mechanisms may cause these effects. As a consequence, reversal of PCP-induced hyperactivity in rodents has long been used to assess antipsychotic efficacy, with antipsychotics including: olanzapine, haloperidol, risperidone, cariprazine, clozapine, and aripiprazole all successfully reversing PCP-induced hyperactivity (Dedic et al., 2019; Gleason & Shannon, 1997; Gyertyán et al., 2011; Jentsch & Roth, 1999; Kehr et al.,

2018; Li *et al.*, 2010; Maurel-Remy *et al.*, 1995; Millan *et al.*, 1999). As well as altered limbic function PCP-hyperactivity is also associated with increased PFC dopamine and 5-hydroxytryptamine (5-HT; serotonin) release (Jentsch & Roth, 1999), and increased PFC glutamatergic activity (Takahata & Moghaddam, 2003), which all likely contribute to the behavioural effects of acute PCP. Although Kohli *et al.* (2019) is the only study to date to demonstrate OXY reversal of PCP-hyperactivity, other preclinical work has shown antipsychotic-like effects of OXY through the restoration of pharmacologically disrupted prepulse inhibition of acoustic startle (Feifel & Reza, 1999). As with OXY effects on social behaviour, it is unknown how OXY is altering this antipsychotic-like effect, and through which receptors it is acting.

It is clear both the OXTR and V1aR contribute to the behavioural effects observed following OXY administration. However, it is also worth noting fMRI data suggests that systemic OXY administration does not activate the same areas as i.c.v. administration (Ferris *et al.*, 2015). It may be possible that the mechanisms underlying OXYs behavioural effects differ according to the route of administration, and between sex and strain of rat. Peripherally administered OXY is significantly less invasive than centrally administered OXY, thus more likely to find clinical use. To fully understand the prosocial and antipsychotic-like effects of s.c. OXY it is imperative we understand the mechanisms and receptors through which it provokes these effects. The recent availability of selective antagonists for the V1aR and OXTR that can penetrate the BBB have been used herein to determine the receptors responsible for specific behaviours (Boccia *et al.*, 2007; Kohli *et al.*, 2019). As both V1aR and OXTRs have differential expression in the brain (Smith *et al.*, 2019), determining the receptors responsible for these behavioural changes can also help identify possible brain regions involved in the antipsychotic-like and prosocial effects of s.c. OXY.

3.2 Aims

The aim of this study was to determine the involvement of the OXTR and V1aR in the enhancement of social behaviour following peripheral s.c. OXY administration. We

also aimed to decipher the roles of the OXTR and V1aR in attenuation of PCP-induced hyperactivity following peripheral s.c. OXY administration.

3.3 Materials and Methods

3.3.1 Animals

120 male Lister-hooded rats (Aged 42-48 days; Charles River UK) were housed in groups of three or four in individually ventilated 'double decker' cages (462mm x 403mm x 404mm; Techniplast, UK) with their litter mates. Male rats were used in order to enable comparisons to previous literature (Kohli et al., 2019), as some behaviours modulated by the OXTR exhibit sexual dimorphism (Benelli et al., 1995; Engelmann et al., 1998; Lukas et al., 2011). Furthermore, the sensitivity of the OXTR to gonadal steroids means OXTR expression is likely to fluctuate throughout the oestrus cycle in female rats, potentially impacting the effects of OXY on behaviour (Bale et al., 1995; Patchev et al., 1993). Food and water were provided ad libitum (Teklad global 18% protein diet, Harlan, UK), and cages were maintained at consistent temperature and humidity $(21^{\circ}C \pm 2, 45\%$ humidity $\pm 15)$ with a 12-hour light-dark cycle (lights on 07.00h). Rats were gently handled for seven days prior to beginning behavioural tests to reduce anxiety and enhance animal welfare (LaFollette et al., 2017). All procedures were performed in the light phase and were conducted in line with the Animal Research: Reporting of In Vivo Experiments (ARRIVE) guidelines, and with approval of the Animals (Scientific Procedures) Act 1986 and The University of Nottingham Animal Welfare and Ethical Review Body (AWERB). At the end of the study all rats were killed by the Schedule 1 (S1) method of euthanasia with carbon dioxide, and death was immediately confirmed with cervical dislocation.

3.3.2 Experimental Design

In order to reduce the risk of a type II error, an *a priori* power analysis calculation was conducted to estimate a sufficient sample size. In this analysis the sample size is calculated as a function of the power level, the pre-specified significance level, and the effect size. Power analysis was conducted with GPower 3.1 (Faul *et al.*, 2007), ensuring sufficient power to allow statistically significant findings to be obtained, if such differences exist, while still adhering to the 3R's principle. Based on previous studies in this lab a large effect was expected (Kohli *et al.*, 2019). For that reason, an eta squared (η^2 , the measure of effect size for ANOVA models) of 0.14 was selected; indicating a large effect size (Cohen, 1988). The conventional value of power as 80% was selected, which considers a Type I error to be four times more serious than the cost of a Type II error, when the significance level is also set to a conventional value of 0.05 (Perugini *et al.*, 2018). Therefore, group sizes of n=10 would give a power of >80% to detect significant differences between groups, using a significance threshold of *p*=0.05 (when using a repeated measures, between factors ANOVA).

Within each litter all treatments were randomly allocated, ensuring all litters received all treatments. All treatment groups were also balanced across the 10 locomotor activity (LMA) arenas (in a random order) and the average body weight was checked for equivalence across all treatment groups. The experimenter was unaware of drug treatment.

3.3.3 Drugs

OXY acetate was purchased from Bachem (St. Helens, UK), the selective OXY antagonist L-368,899 from Tocris Bioscience (Bristol, UK), and the selective V1aR antagonist SR 49059 and PCP from Sigma Aldrich (Poole, UK). OXY and PCP were dissolved in sterile saline (0.154 M), while the antagonists and their respective vehicle were dissolved in saline containing 5% DMSO (Sigma Aldrich, UK). Drugs were administered at a volume of 1mL/kg s.c. (OXY) or 2mL/kg (i.p.; Antagonists and PCP).

The antagonists in this study were carefully selected for high affinity and selectivity for their respective receptors, and good BBB penetration (Alexander *et al.*, 2017; Manning *et al.*, 2012). Antagonist doses were selected based upon previous *in vivo* research, demonstrating an onset of less than 15 minutes and a duration of 2-4 hours in rodents (Hicks *et al.*, 2014; Ramos *et al.*, 2013; Smith *et al.*, 2013a). The dose of OXY (0.1mg/mg) was selected from a previous report that enhanced social behaviour and attenuated PCP-induced hyperactivity, without supressing LMA or causing hypothermia in Lister-hooded rats (Kohli *et al.*, 2019).

3.3.4 Locomotor Activity (LMA)

LMA assessment was used to measure reversal of PCP-induced hyperactivity; widely used to determine potential antipsychotic efficacy (Jentsch & Roth, 1999). LMA assessment was undertaken in computerised, individual, Perspex arenas (39 x 23.5 x 24.5cm) surrounded by a dual-level infrared beam system (San Diego instruments, California, USA) with a removable wire roof under low light conditions (40 LUX). The lower level contained 8 beams along the length, with an additional 4 across the width. The upper level contained 8 beams upon the length only. Ambulation was recorded in 5-minute time bins. One ambulatory count was defined as two consecutive lowerlevel infrared beam breaks. Rears were defined as a break of a single upper-level beam, and fine movements as the breaking of a single lower level beam.

Rats were placed into the LMA arena for 120 min; 30 min habituation followed by 90 min behavioural testing. Typically, rats placed in a novel environment will show increased levels of activity which decreases over time as rats become familiarised to the novel environment, therefore the habituation phase ensured rats had habituated to the arena prior to behavioural testing. Antagonist (L-368,899 at 2mg/kg, or SR 49059 at 1mg/kg) or vehicle (1mL/kg with 5% DMSO) were administered i.p. 15 minutes into the habituation phase, followed by s.c. OXY (0.1mg/kg) or saline (1mL/kg) 15 minutes later. PCP (5.6mg/kg) or saline (2mL/mg) were then administered i.p. 30 minutes later; 30 minutes into behavioural testing (Figure 3.1). Dosing schedules were based upon previous research in this laboratory, ensuring the peak effect of OXY and PCP occurred simultaneously (Kohli *et al.*, 2019). Following

recording animals were returned to their home cage. LMA and rearing events were calculated as mean + SEM of the cumulative counts across each consecutive 5-minute epoch, and the total counts for 20 minutes after PCP or vehicle (Kohli *et al.*, 2019; McIntosh *et al.*, 2013; Watson *et al.*, 2012; Watson *et al.*, 2016). LMA arenas were cleaned with soap and water, followed by 20% ethanol between each trial to remove scent, faecal pellets, and hairs to ensure a homogenous environment and the accuracy of recording.



Figure 3.1: Timeline of LMA drug administration and behavioural recording, based on Kohli *et al.* (2019).

3.3.5 Social Interaction

Social interaction analysis can be used to determine the effect of drug administration on social behaviour in rodents, and can be used as a measure of negative symptoms of schizophrenia (Watson *et al.*, 2016; Wilson & Koenig, 2014). Six to seven days after LMA rats undertook the social interaction task. Two rats of matched weight and drug treatment, and from different cages and litters, were paired together for social interaction assessment so that their pair was novel to them. Rats were weight matched as close as possible to prevent dominance. Rats were singly housed overnight prior to undertaking social interaction to enhance behavioural interaction during the task (Niesink & van Ree, 1982). 60 minutes prior to undertaking the social interaction task rats received a dose of either L-368,899 (2mg/kg), SR49059 (1mg/kg) or saline (1mL/mg with 5% DMSO). Fifteen minutes later rats received a dose of either OXY (0.1mg/kg) or saline (1mL/kg). Half an hour before undertaking social interaction rats were sprayed on the nape with either blue or red hair spray (Superdrug instant hairspray, Superdrug Stores, UK), to enable colour-tracking by Ethovision and independent scoring of behaviour for each rat in the pair. Forty-five minutes after receiving the OXY or vehicle dose paired rats were placed into an unfamiliar circular arena (75 cm diameter, 45 cm walls). Social interaction behaviours were recorded by software (Ethovision XT v8.5, Noldus) for 10 minutes in low light (40 LUX, Figure 3.2) to enhance the extent of interaction (Watson *et al.*, 2016).



Figure 3.2: Timeline of the social interaction task and drug administration, based on Kohli *et al.* (2019).

Recorded prosocial behaviours were body sniffing, anogenital sniffing, following, crawling over and under, and lying side-by-side. The aggressive behaviours recorded were pinning, and boxing and biting. As the behaviour of each rat is dependent on that of its partner mean values for every component were calculated for each pair (Kohli *et al.*, 2019). Following recording rats were returned to their home cage. Between each trial the arena was cleaned with 20% ethanol to remove any scent, ensuring a homogenous environment.

From resultant video recordings behaviours were scored manually using the Ethovision software with the experimenter blinded to treatment. The experimenter was trained to score behavioural videos from an experienced individual, using previously obtained experimental videos from an unrelated study. To ensure interrater reliability the scores obtained from practice videos were compared to scores obtained from experienced individuals, ensuring both scorers were within one percent of each other for the total duration and there were no discrepancies. To ensure intra-rater reliability on each day of behavioural scoring two random videos from the previous day of analysis were selected to be rescored, ensuring consistency during scoring.

3.3.6 Ultrasonic vocalisations (USVs)

USVs were recorded during the social interaction task using an electret microphone (Emkay, Avisoft Bioacoustics, Germany) linked to an ultrasound detection unit (Ultrasound Gate, customised model, Avisoft Bioacoustics, Berlin) that was placed above the arena. As rat USVs were dependent upon their partner, and it was not possible to identify which rat emitted the call, USV calls were analysed and reported for that of the pair.

To enable analysis USV recordings were digitalised and saved as a .wav file. Avisoft analysis software (SAS-Laboratory Pro, v. 4.38, Avisoft Bioacoustic, Berlin) extracted the time and frequency characteristics of every call. A spectrograph was created using the following parameters: 488 Hz frequency resolution, 512 FFT length, 75% frame size and 93.75% time window overlap. Cut off frequencies of 22 kHz (lower limit) and 85 kHz (upper limit) were used to reduce the level of background noise.

Once calls were identified, they were manually characterised into either 22 kHz aversive calls or 50 kHz pro-social calls. 50 kHz calls were subsequently further classified into either trill, flat or step calls based on their pattern analysis (Brudzynski, 2015). Flat calls had frequency changes of less than 5 kHz, however if there was an upward or downward direction in the flat call the difference in start and end frequency could be greater than 5 kHz. Step calls contained a minimum of one short element that was more than 5 kHz higher or lower than the main call. Trill calls had a minimum of one longer frequency modulation than step calls and/or a zig-zag shape or a series of inverted-u shapes (See Chapter 1.3, Figure 1.10).

3.3.7 Data analysis

Data were analysed using GraphPad Prism (Version 7.04 for Windows) and JASP (Version 0.12.1). To analyse the LMA data a 4-way repeated measures ANOVA was selected. This enabled the examination of the group differences over time, when groups are formed by a combination of the between-subject factors. Between subject factors were OXY, PCP, and antagonist, with time as the within-subjects variable. Before conducting the four-way ANOVA it was ensured that all the assumptions required for a 4-way repeated measures ANOVA were satisfied: one dependent variable that is measured at the continuous level, three within-subjects factors that consists of two or more categorical levels, no significant outliers, homogeneity of variance (using Levene's test), the dependent variable is normally distributed for each group of the independent variable (using Shapiro-Wilk's test), and sphericity of the data (using Mauchly's sphericity test). To determine which specific groups significantly differed from each other, if applicable, a Tukey's post-hoc was run. Tukey's post-hoc was selected as it compares all groups to each other and corrects for multiple comparisons; reducing the risk of type 1 errors (Lee & Lee, 2018; Moore et al., 2012; Whitlock & Schluter, 2015).

To analyse the social interaction data a two-way ANOVA was selected. A two-way ANOVA was used to determine whether there was an interaction effect between two independent variables (OXY and antagonist) on a continuous dependent variable (social interaction duration). Similarly, a Tukey's post-hoc was selected to determine which specific groups significantly differed from each other, if applicable.

3.4 Results

3.4.1 LMA

3.4.1.1 Effect of OXY and an OXTR antagonist on LMA

To assess the impact of OXY on PCP-induced hyperactivity in the presence and absence of the OXTR antagonist L-368,899, rat activity was monitored in computerised, Perspex arenas for two hours; allowing both habituation to the novel environment and the assessment of LMA following drug administration. Two rats were excluded from LMA analysis; one due to it receiving the wrong drug combination during the trial, and the other because of an equipment fault during recording.

For analysis, data was divided into three sections and analysed separately: the habituation phase (0-30min, data not shown), the 30 min following OXY administration (30-60 min) and then the post-PCP phase (60-120 min). Mauchly's test of sphericity indicated the assumption of sphericity had been violated for all interactions (p<0.05), therefore a Greenhouse-Geisser correction was used. There was no significant difference between treatment groups in the habituation phase ($F_{(1.835, 113)}$ =0.557, p=0.559; four-way repeated measures ANOVA), nor any effect of treatment on LMA prior to PCP administration ($F_{(4.135, 266)}$ =1.105, p=0.402; four-way repeated measures ANOVA), therefore all treatment groups had the same level of basal activity before PCP administration. Data analysis subsequently focussed on the data accrued following PCP administration (60 min onwards).

ANOVA revealed a significant four-way interaction between time * antagonist * OXY * PCP ($F_{(3.44, 240.5)}$ =2.896, p=0.029). There were also significant interactions between time * antagonist * OXY ($F_{(3.44, 240.5)}$ =3.158, p=0.020), time * OXY ($F_{(3.44, 240.5)}$ =2.734, p=0.037), time * PCP ($F_{(3.44, 240.5)}$ =13.77, p<0.001), and a significant main effect of time ($F_{(3.44, 240.5)}$ =39.55, p<0.001) (all details in Appendix 2). As expected, PCP significantly increased hyperactivity (p<0.001, Tukey's post-hoc) and this was significantly attenuated by OXY; although this only reached significance at time point 75 and 80 min (p<0.05, Tukey's post-hoc). Administration of L-368,899 stopped OXY significantly attenuating PCP-induced hyperactivity, although it did not fully reverse this effect. Interestingly, administration of L-368,899 alongside PCP also appeared to attenuate PCP-induced hyperactivity, but this was not significantly different from PCP alone, and PCP was still able to significantly increase LMA at time point 75 (Figure 3.3). The effect of treatment on rears was also assessed, however four-way repeated measures ANOVA revealed no significant effect of treatment on the number of rears (F(4.448, 311.3)=0.969, p=0.431, data not shown).



Figure 3.3: Time course of PCP-induced hyperactivity in the presence and absence of OXY and the selective OXTR antagonist L368-899 (mean + SEM, n=9 (saline_OXY_PCP and saline_OXY_veh) or 10 (all other groups) per group). L-368,899 was administered 15 minutes into the habituation phase (data not shown), 15 minutes prior to s.c. OXY administration. Four-way ANOVA revealed a significant four-way interaction between time * L-368,899 * OXY * PCP ($F_{(3.44, 240.5)}=2.896$, p=0.029), as well as significant interactions between time * L-368,899 * OXY ($F_{(3.437, 240.5)}=2.734$, p=0.037), time * PCP ($F_{(3.437, 240.5)}=3.158$, p=0.020), time * OXY ($F_{(3.437, 240.5)}=2.734$, p=0.037), time * PCP ($F_{(3.437, 240.5)}=13.77$, p<0.001). PCP significantly increased LMA from time points 70-90min when compared to all control groups that did not receive PCP (p<0.001), and was attenuated by OXY administration, reaching significance 15-20 minutes after PCP injection (p<0.05). *** p<001. ** p<0.01 and * p<0.05 compared to saline_saline_veh and # p<0.05 compared to saline_Saline_PCP, Tukey's post-hoc.

Further analysis specifically focussed on the cumulative ambulation twenty minutes post-PCP administration; where PCP was having its peak effect (Takahata & Moghaddam, 2003). A three-way ANOVA revealed a significant interaction between antagonist * OXY * PCP ($F_{(1,70)}$ =3.89, p=0.05), and a significant two-way interaction between OXY * antagonist ($F_{(1,70)}$ =5.164, p=0.026). There was also a significant main effect of PCP on LMA ($F_{(1,70)}$ =47.96, p<0.001), such that PCP significantly increased LMA (p<0.001) and this was significantly attenuated by OXY administration (p<0.05, Tukey's post-hoc). Although administration of L-368,899 alone appeared to reduce PCP-hyperactivity (by 36 ± 12%), this did not reach statistical significance and LMA was not significantly less than that seen with PCP alone (p=0.16, Tukey's post-hoc). In contrast, L-368,899 prevented significantly increase activity (p<0.05, Tukey's post-hoc) and LMA PCP could significantly increase activity (p<0.05, Tukey's post-hoc). Although administration OXY-induced attenuation of PCP-hyperactivity, such that PCP could significantly increase activity (p<0.05, Tukey's post-hoc). In contrast, L-368,899 prevented significantly increase activity (p<0.05, Tukey's post-hoc) and LMA was no longer significantly less than that seen with PCP alone (Figure 3.4).



Figure 3.4: Total ambulation 20 minutes post-PCP administration in the presence and absence of the OXTR antagonist L-368,899 (mean + SEM, n= 9 (saline_OXY_PCP and saline_OXY_veh) or 10 (all other groups) per group). Three-way ANOVA revealed a significant three-way interaction between antagonist * OXY * PCP ($F_{(1,70)}$ =3.89 p=0.05), a significant two-way interaction between OXY * antagonist ($F_{(1,70)}$ =5.164. p=0.026), and a significant main effect of PCP on LMA ($F_{(1,70)}$ =47.96, p<0.001). Tukey's post-hoc revealed PCP significantly increased LMA (p<0.001). OXY administration significantly attenuated PCP-induced hyperactivity (p<0.05). Administration of L-368,899 alongside OXY prevented OXY significantly reducing PCP-hyperactivity but did not return LMA back to the level of PCP alone. * p<0.05, *** p<0.001, compared to sal_sal_veh, # p<0.05, ### p<0.001 compared to sal_sal_PCP, Tukey's post-hoc.

3.4.1.2 Effect of OXY and a V1aR antagonist on LMA

The effect of OXY on PCP-induced hyperactivity was also examined in the presence and absence of the selective V1aR antagonist, SR 49059. Three rats were excluded from all LMA analysis: one due to human error and receiving the wrong drug combination during the trial and two due to an equipment fault mid assessment. Mauchly's test of sphericity indicated the assumption of sphericity had been violated for all interactions (p<0.05), therefore a Greenhouse-Geisser correction was used. There was no significant difference between treatment groups in the habituation phase (0-30 min, $F_{(1.76, 112)}$ =0.356, p=0.674; four-way repeated measures ANOVA), nor any effect of OXY on LMA prior to PCP administration ($F_{(3.73, 238)}$ =0.223, p=0.916; four-way repeated measures ANOVA), therefore all treatment groups had the same level of basal activity before PCP administration. Data analysis subsequently focussed on the data accrued following PCP administration (60 min onwards).

Four-way repeated measures ANOVA revealed a significant main interaction between time * antagonist * OXY * PCP ($F_{(3.60, 248.6)}$ =2.839, p=0.030) and significant interactions between time * antagonist * OXY ($F_{(3.60, 248.6)}$ =4.216, p=0.004), time * PCP ($F_{(3.60, 248.6)}$ =11.262, p<0.001), and a significant main effect of time ($F_{(3.60, 248.6)}$ =34.91, p<0.001). Once again, PCP significantly increased LMA for 25 minutes postadministration (p<0.001, Tukey's post-hoc) in saline control rats, and in the presence of SR 49059 (at 75min, p<0.05, Tukey's post-hoc). OXY appeared to attenuate PCPinduced hyperactivity, such that PCP no longer significantly increased activity in the presence of OXY, however the OXY and PCP group was not significantly different from PCP alone at any time point (Figure 3.5). Administration of SR 49059 alongside OXY and PCP enabled PCP to significantly increase LMA again (at 75-80min, p<0.001, Tukey's post-hoc). The effect of treatment on rears was also assessed, however fourway repeated measures ANOVA revealed no significant effect of treatment on the number of rears ($F_{(3.62, 257.9)}$ =0.347, p=0.828, data not shown).



Figure 3.5: Time course of PCP-induced hyperactivity in the presence and absence of OXY and the selective V1aR antagonist SR 49059 (mean ± SEM, n=9 (SR 49059_OXY_veh, saline_OXY_PCP and saline_OXY_veh) or 10 (all other groups) per group.). Four-way repeated measures ANOVA revealed a significant four-way main interaction between time * antagonist * OXY * PCP ($F_{(3.60, 248.6)}$ =2.839, p<0.05). There were also significant interactions between time * antagonist * OXY ($F_{(3.60, 248.6)}$ =4.216, p<0.01), time * PCP ($F_{(3.60, 248.6)}$ =11.262, p<0.01), and a significant main effect of time ($F_{(3.60, 248.6)}$ =34.91, p<0.001). PCP administration significantly increased LMA for 25 minutes following administration (p<0.001). PCP was also able to significantly increase LMA in the presence of SR 49059, and SR 49059 + OXY. OXY administration attenuated PCP-hyperactivity, such that PCP could no longer significantly increase hyperactivity. *** p<0.001. ** p<0.01, * p<0.05, compared to saline_saline_veh, Tukey's post-hoc.

When looking at the total ambulation for 20 minutes following PCP administration, a three-way-ANOVA showed no significant three-way interaction between OXY * antagonist * PCP ($F_{(1,69)}$ =2.24, p=0.142), however there was a significant two-way interaction between antagonist * OXY ($F_{(1, 69)}$ =42.16, p=0.045) and a significant main effect of PCP ($F_{(1, 69)}$ =4.179, p<0.001) (Figure 3.6). Post-hoc comparisons on the significant two-way interaction between antagonist * OXY ($F_{(1, 69)}$ =4.179, p<0.001) (Figure 3.6). Post-hoc comparisons on the significant two-way interaction between antagonist * OXY revealed no significant effect of SR 49059 on OXY.



Figure 3.6: Total ambulation 20 minutes post-PCP administration in the presence and absence of the V1aR antagonist SR 49059 (mean + SEM, n=9 (SR 49059_OXY_veh, saline_OXY_PCP and saline_OXY_veh) or 10 (all other groups) per group.). Three-way-ANOVA showed a significant two-way interaction between antagonist and OXY ($F_{(1, 69)}$ =42.16, p=0.045), and a significant main effect of PCP ($F_{(1, 69)}$ =4.179, p<0.001), such that PCP appeared to increase LMA in all groups. Post-hoc comparisons on the significant two-way interaction showed no significant effect of SR 49059 on OXY.

3.4.2 Social interaction

3.4.2.1 Effect of OXTR and OXTR and V1aR antagonists on social behaviour

To determine the effect of OXY on social behaviour, and the role of the OXTR and V1aR antagonists, social interaction was assessed in an open-field arena. OXY and antagonist administration had no significant effect upon the distance moved during

social interaction ($F_{(2, 54)}$ =0.066, p=0.936; detailed in Appendix 2). ANOVA analysis of the total duration of prosocial behaviours revealed a significant interaction between OXY * antagonist ($F_{(2, 54)}$ =12.40, p<0.001), and significant main effect of both OXY ($F_{(1, 54)}$ =33.49, p<0.001) and antagonist ($F_{(2, 54)}$ =13.92, p<0.001). OXY significantly increased the total duration of prosocial behaviours (p<0.001, Tukey's post-hoc), which was prevented by L-368,899, such that OXY no longer significantly increased prosocial behaviours. In marked contrast, pre-treatment with SR 49059 had no effect on the OXY enhancement of social behaviour, which was still significantly greater than in saline + saline control rats (p<0.001, Tukey's post-hoc). Neither antagonist had any effect upon social behaviour when administered alone in the absence of OXY (Figure 3.7).



Figure 3.7: The effect of OXY, and OXTR and V1aR antagonism, upon the duration of prosocial behaviours during social interaction (mean + SEM, n=10/group). A two-way ANOVA revealed a significant interaction between OXY * antagonist ($F_{(2, 54)}$ =12.40, p<0.001), and a significant main effect of both OXY ($F_{(1, 54)}$ =33.49, p<0.001) and antagonist ($F_{(2, 54)}$ =13.92 p<0.001). OXY significantly increased the total duration of prosocial behaviours (p<0.001, Tukey's post-hoc), which was completely prevented by L-368,899 but not by SR 49059. ***p<0.001 compared to vehicle controls (saline + saline) and ### p<0.001 compared to saline + OXY (Tukey's post-hoc).

Olfactory cues play a crucial role in rodent interactions, therefore the effect of OXY on both anogenital and body sniffing were examined (Wacker & Ludwig, 2012). A two-way ANOVA revealed a significant main effect of OXY ($F_{(1, 54)}$ =4.148, p=0.046) on anogenital sniffing, but no effect of either antagonist (Figure 3.8A). When looking at body sniffing duration, there was a significant interaction between antagonist and OXY ($F_{(2, 54)}$ =9.44, p<0.001), as well as a significant main effect of both OXY ($F_{(1, 54)}$ =31.42, p<0.001) and antagonist ($F_{(2, 54)}$ =15.38, p<0.001). OXY significantly increased body sniffing duration (p<0.001, Tukey's post-hoc) and was attenuated by the selective OXTR antagonist L-368,899, such that OXY no longer significantly increased body sniffing duration. No effect of the V1aR antagonist, SR49059, was observed (Figure 3.8B).


Figure 3.8: Effect of OXY, and OXTR and V1aR antagonists, on anogenital and body sniffing duration in social interaction (mean + SEM, n=10/group). A) A two-way ANOVA revealed a significant main effect of OXY ($F_{(1, 54)}$ =4.148, p=0.046) on anogenital sniffing, but no effect of antagonist. B) A two-way ANOVA found a significant interaction between antagonist and OXY ($F_{(2, 54)}$ =9.44, p<0.001), as well as a significant main effect of both OXY ($F_{(1, 54)}$ =31.42, p<0.0001) and antagonist ($F_{(2, 54)}$ =15.38, p<0.0001) on body sniffing duration. OXY significantly increased body sniffing (p<0.001; Tukey's post-hoc) and was attenuated by the selective OXTR antagonist L-368,899. SR 49059 had no effect on social behaviours. ***p<0.001 when compared to the control group (saline + saline) and ### p<0.001 compared to saline + OXY (Tukey's post-hoc).

In contrast, neither OXY nor either antagonist altered the duration or frequency of lying side-by-side and crawling over and under (data not shown). However, analysis of following duration showed a significant interaction between antagonist and OXY ($F_{(2,54)}$ =4.716, p=0.013), and a significant main effect of OXY ($F_{(2,54)}$ =4.716, p=0.004) and antagonist ($F_{(2,54)}$ =4.304, p=0.018). OXY significantly increased the duration of following (p<0.01, Tukey's post-hoc) and pre-treatment with both SR 49059 and L-368,899 prevented an OXY-induced increase in following duration (Figure 3.9).



Figure 3.9: Effect of OXY, and OXTR and V1aR antagonism, on the duration of following in a social interaction paradigm (mean + SEM, n=10/group). A two-way ANOVA revealed a significant interaction between antagonist and OXY ($F_{(2, 54)}$ =4.716, p=0.013), and a significant main effect of OXY ($F_{(2, 54)}$ =4.716, p=0.004) and antagonist ($F_{(2, 54)}$ =4.304, p=0.018). OXY significantly increased following duration (p<0.01; Tukey's post-hoc) and was prevented through administration of both antagonists. **p<0.01 from the vehicle control group (saline + saline), and # p<0.05, ## p<0.01, and ### p<0.001 compared to saline + OXY (Tukey's post-hoc).

The total duration of aggressive behaviours was also assessed (the sum of boxing and biting, and pinning) (Figure 3.10). ANOVA revealed no significant interaction between OXY * antagonist ($F_{(2, 54)}$ =2.27 p=0.113). However, there was a significant main effect of OXY on the total duration of aggressive behaviours ($F_{(1, 54)}$ =16.03, p<0.001), with OXY reducing aggressive behaviours in all groups, regardless of antagonist administration. No main effect of the antagonists upon aggressive behaviours was observed.



Figure 3.10: Effect of OXY, and OXTR and V1aR antagonism, on the duration of aggressive behaviours during social interaction (mean + SEM, n=10/group). Two-way ANOVA revealed no significant interaction between OXY * antagonist ($F_{(2, 54)}$ =2.27 p=0.113). However, there was a significant main effect of OXY on the total duration of aggressive behaviours ($F_{(1, 54)}$ =16.03, p<0.001), with OXY reducing the duration of aggressive behaviours in all groups, regardless of antagonist administration.

3.4.3 Ultrasonic Vocalisations

To determine if OXY had any effect on the emission of USVs during social behaviour, USVs were recorded during social interaction and analysed following recording with the experimenter blinded to treatment. One day of USV recordings were not recorded due to a fault with the recording equipment, therefore n=7 (saline + OXY and SR 49059 + OXY) or 8 (all other groups). No 22 kHz calls were seen in any of the files recorded. 50 kHz calls were classified into three subtypes: flat, step and trill, and data was log₁₀ transformed to meet the assumption of normality. A two-way ANOVA for each call type revealed no significant effect of treatment on the number of calls emitted during social interaction (Figure 3.11) ($F_{(1, 35)}=2.89$, p=0.10; $F_{(1, 35)}=0.56$, p=0.46 and $F_{(1, 35)}=3.46$, p=0.071 for flat, trill, and step calls respectively).



Figure 3.11: The effect of OXY, and OXTR and V1aR antagonism, on (A) flat, (B) trill, and (C) step prosocial 50 kHz calls (log₁₀ mean + SEM, n= n=7 (saline + OXY and SR 49059 + OXY) or 8 (all other groups)). Data was log₁₀ transformed to produce a normal distribution for analysis. Analysis with a two-way ANOVA revealed no effect of either OXY, or OXTR and V1aR antagonists, upon either trill, flat, or step calls.

FM prosocial 50 kHz calls (step and trill) are considered to be particularly reflective of a positive affective state and emitted during social interaction (Brudzynski, 2015), therefore the effect of the treatment upon the percentage of FM calls emitted was assessed (Figure 3.12). Two-way ANOVA revealed no significant effect of treatment on the percentage of FM prosocial calls emitted during social interaction ($F_{(2,}$ $_{40}$)=2.432, p=0.10). In addition, the effect of treatment on the latency to first call was also analysed; reduced latency to first call has been observed in conjunction with increased emission of 50 kHz calls following pharmacological manipulation (Mulvihill & Brudzynski, 2019). Two-way ANOVA revealed a significant main effect of OXY on the latency to first call ($F_{(1, 40)}$ =4.614, p=0.037), such that OXY appeared to increase the duration to first call in the presence of both antagonists. However, no significant main effect of antagonist, nor an interaction between OXY and antagonist, was observed.



Figure 3.12 Effect of treatment on (A) the percentage of FM prosocial calls emitted and (B) the latency until the first USV produced during the social interaction task (log₁₀ mean + SEM, n=7 (saline + OXY and SR 49059 + OXY) or 8 (all other groups)). Data was log₁₀ transformed to produce a normal distribution for analysis. Two-way ANOVA revealed no significant effect of treatment upon the % prosocial calls emitted during social interaction ($F_{(2, 40)}$ =2.432, p=0.10). However, a significant main effect of OXY was revealed on the latency to first call ($F_{(1, 40)}$ =4.614, p=0.037), such that OXY appeared to increase the latency to first call in the presence of both SR 49059 and L-368,899. No significant main effect of antagonist, or an interaction between OXY and antagonist, was observed.

In addition to analysing the effect of treatment upon USV emission, the relationship between the production of FM prosocial USVs and the duration of prosocial behaviours during social interaction was also assessed (Figure 3.13A). A Pearson's correlation was run, however there was no significant correlation between the duration of prosocial behaviours and the percentage of FM prosocial USVs emitted during the social interaction task (r(44) = 0.082, p=0.59). In addition, a Pearson's correlation was also used to assess the relationship between the duration of prosocial behaviours and the latency to first call during social interaction (Figure 3.13B). Again, there was no statistically significant correlation between the duration of prosocial behaviours and the latency to first call during the social interaction task (r(44) = -0.099, p=0.51).



Figure 3.13: The correlation between the duration of prosocial behaviours in social interaction with (A) the percentage of prosocial calls emitted and (B) the latency to first USV (data was log_{10} transformed to produce a normal distribution for analysis). A Pearson's correlation found no statistically significant correlation between the duration of prosocial behaviours and % prosocial USVs emitted during the social interaction task (r(44) = 0.082, *p*=0.59), nor the latency to first call during social interaction (r(44) = -0.099, *p*=0.51).

3.5 Discussion

3.5.1 Effect of OXY, and OXTR and V1aR antagonism, on PCPinduced hyperactivity

In the LMA assessment we demonstrated OXY administration can reduce PCPinduced hyperactivity, consistent with previous work in this laboratory (Kohli et al., 2019), and is suggestive of an OXY-induced antipsychotic-like effect. An antipsychotic-like effect of OXY has previously been noted in brown male Norway rats, with s.c. OXY facilitating latent inhibition in a dose dependent manner (Feifel et al., 2015) and restoring prepulse inhibition in rats that had been disrupted by dizocilpine, a non-competitive NMDA-R antagonist (Feifel & Reza, 1999). Interestingly, as well as OXY reducing PCP-hyperactivity, administration of the OXTR antagonist L-368,899 also appeared to attenuate PCP-induced hyperactivity, although this did not reach significance. Administration of L-368,899 alongside OXY prevented OXY from significantly attenuating PCP-induced hyperactivity, suggesting a role for the OXTR in OXYs antipsychotic-like effect. However, L-368,899 did not fully reverse OXY-induced attenuation of PCP-hyperactivity back to the levels seen with PCP alone. In addition, PCP was able to significantly increase LMA in the presence of SR 49059 and OXY; suggesting the V1aR is also likely involved in OXY attenuation of PCP-hyperactivity. High doses of peripheral OXY (0.3mg/kg – 1.0mg/kg s.c.) can reduce LMA in the absence of any other drugs (Wolfe et al., 2018). However, our low dose of OXY, nor SR 49059 and L-368,899, did not have any effect on LMA in the absence of PCP, suggesting the attenuation of PCP-induced hyperactivity was not due to the sedative effect of OXY often observed at higher doses (Angioni et al., 2016; Wolfe et al., 2018).

Other than this laboratory, no other group has studied the effect of OXY on NMDA-R antagonist-induced hyperactivity. However, OXY (2mg/kg i.p.) can decrease methamphetamine-induced hyperactivity in male Sprague Dawley rats (Carson *et al.*, 2010a), which was accompanied by reduced c-Fos expression in the NAc core and

subthalamic nucleus (Carson *et al.*, 2010b). Cocaine-induced hyperactivity in mice can also be attenuated following s.c. OXY administration, which occurred in conjunction with reduced NAc dopamine content (Kovacs *et al.*, 1990); these studies may implicate the NAc in the reversal of PCP-induced hyperactivity seen in this study. PCP administration dose dependently increases dialysate levels of both dopamine and 5-HT in the NAc, striatum, and frontal cortex in male Wistar rats (Millan *et al.*, 1999), and dopamine antagonism in the NAc can reduce NMDA antagonist-induced LMA (Del Arco *et al.*, 2008). However, given both PCP and our dose of OXY are known to increase NAc dopamine (Kohli *et al.*, 2019), it would seem unlikely reduced NAc dopamine could be responsible for OXY attenuation of PCP-induced hyperactivity. Indeed, NMDA-R antagonists are still able to cause hyperactivity following chemical lesions of NAc projecting dopaminergic neurons (Carlsson & Carlsson, 1989).

Several papers have implicated the PFC in NMDA-R antagonist-induced hyperactivity (Li et al., 2010; Takahata & Moghaddam, 2003). PFC glutamatergic efferents project to the VTA, an area with dopaminergic outputs to motor areas, such as the supplementary motor area and premotor cortex (Hosp et al., 2019; Tan et al., 2019). It is hypothesised that PCP can cause hyperactivity through NMDA-R antagonism on PFC GABA neurons. This disinhibits cortico-cortical glutamatergic neurons, raising the concentration of extracellular glutamate in the PFC (Kehr et al., 2018; Li et al., 2010). Synaptic glutamate can then bind to non-NMDA receptors on glutamatergic PFC efferents, which project to areas such as the NAc and VTA (Qi et al., 2012; Takahata & Moghaddam, 2003); increasing excitatory outputs to connected motor nuclei (Groenewegen & Uylings, 2000; Hosp et al., 2019; Taha et al., 2007). In support of this theory, AMPA antagonism in the PFC, NAc, and VTA can all inhibit PCP-induced hyperactivity, without modulating NAc dopamine (Takahata & Moghaddam, 2003). In the VTA OXTRs are located on excitatory dopaminergic and glutamatergic neurons (Peris et al., 2017). Peris et al. also identified OXTRs present on neurons that were neither glutamatergic nor dopaminergic; hypothesising the other OXTRs may be present on GABAergic interneurons, known to be abundant in the VTA (Morales & Root, 2014). Therefore, OXY agonism on GABA interneurons in the VTA may be able to explain how OXTR agonism can attenuate PCP-induced hyperactivity, through inhibiting VTA outputs to motor areas. OXTR expression on VTA glutamatergic neurons may also explain why we saw reduced PCP-hyperactivity following OXTR antagonism, albeit not significant, and why OXTR antagonism did not fully reinstate PCP-induced hyperactivity. These results may suggest there is a fine balance of OXTR activity needed to attenuate PCP-induced hyperactivity. V1aRs are also expressed in the VTA (Johnson *et al.*, 1993; Song *et al.*, 2016). Although the phenotype of the neurons they are expressed on is unknown, if V1aRs are also expressed on GABA interneurons, OXY agonism of V1aRs would reduce excitatory VTA outputs to motor areas, thus also reducing PCP-induced hyperactivity; explaining how PCP could still increase LMA in the presence of SR 49059 and OXY.

3.5.2 Effect of OXY, and OXTR and V1aR antagonism, on social interaction

This study demonstrated a significant increase in social interaction following s.c. OXY administration; predominantly due to increased body sniffing, consistent with previous work in our laboratory (Kohli *et al.*, 2019). Prior administration of the selective OXTR antagonist, L-368,899, prevented OXY enhancement of social interaction, while in contrast the V1aR antagonist had no effect. This suggests OXYs ability to enhance social behaviour in rats is likely modulated through activity at the OXTR, with no effect of the V1aR system in this paradigm. Interestingly, OXY administration also appeared to reduce the duration of aggressive behaviours (boxing and biting, and pinning), consistent with Calcagnoli *et al.* (2013).

The increase in social interaction seen in this study was mainly due to increased sniffing behaviours; unsurprising given olfactory cues play a crucial role in rodent interactions. Social recognition in rodents relies heavily upon pheromonal odour cues (Wacker & Ludwig, 2012), with the olfactory system being necessary for the processing of social stimuli (Marlin & Froemke, 2017). In fact olfactory stimuli are thought to the primary form of communication in rodents, and are evolutionarily older than USVs (Potasiewicz *et al.*, 2020). In this paradigm increased sniffing

following OXY administration may facilitate the social recognition process, allowing the conspecific to be recognised as 'novel' more rapidly, thus increasing social exploration and social interaction (Millan & Bales, 2013).

The precise brain regions involved in OXYs prosocial effects are unknown, with many OXTR expressing regions being implicated in different aspects of social behaviour. For example, the main olfactory bulb (OB) plays a key role in social recognition (Oettl et al., 2016). OXY modulation of the olfactory system may explain the increase in sniffing duration seen in this study following s.c. OXY administration. The main OB is critical in processing olfactory information in rodents and lesions of the main OB impair conspecific recognition (Sanchez-Andrade & Kendrick, 2009). The processing of olfactory cues in the main OB are modulated by GABAergic granule cell interneurons, which receive glutamatergic inputs from the anterior olfactory nucleus (AON). The AON has high levels of OXTR expression and receives oxytocinergic inputs from the PVN (Knobloch et al., 2012; Lee et al., 2019b; Oettl & Kelsch, 2018). Activity of OXY in the AON can increase interneuron activity in the main OB, increasing the overall inhibitory tone. By decreasing the background activity within the OB, the peak response to odours is increased (Oettl & Kelsch, 2018). This improves the signal to noise ratio in the main OB, thereby facilitating social recognition (Oettl & Kelsch, 2018; Oettl et al., 2016). Genetic deletion of AON OXTRs in adult mice impairs exploration of a conspecific, and optogenetically evoked OXY release in the AON increases the social investigation of same-sex conspecifics (Oettl et al., 2016). In this study s.c. OXY increased exploration of conspecifics, and was prevented through OXTR antagonism, therefore OXY activity at AON OXTRs may explain this finding. OXTR expression in other brain regions may also enhance social recognition, such as those in the medial amygdala. The medial amygdala receives inputs from the accessory OB, which receives olfactory inputs (Ferguson et al., 2000; Keverne, 1999; Scalia & Winans, 1975). In mice OXTR antagonism in the medial amygdala disrupts social recognition, while in OXY knockout mice direct OXY administration to the medial amygdala can rescue disrupted social recognition (Ferguson *et al.*, 2001).

However, other brain regions are also likely to be heavily implicated in OXY enhancement of social behaviour. The dose and route of OXY given in this study is

known to cause dopamine overflow in the NAc (Kohli et al., 2019), suggesting that OXY-induced increases in social interaction may be, at least in part, mediated by NAc activity; a brain region that has been implicated in social approach (the time spent near an novel conspecific) and social reward (Dölen et al., 2013; Williams et al., 2020). Increases in extracellular NAc dopamine have also been demonstrated following OXY injection into the VTA and PVN of male Sprague Dawley rats, both of which were reversed by prior OXTR antagonist injection (Melis *et al.*, 2007). The NAc is part of the mesocorticolimbic system and contains mesolimbic dopaminergic nerve terminals (Floresco, 2015). The cell bodies of these neurons are located in the VTA and are understood to play a key role in reward; reinforcing behaviours such as social interaction (Melis et al., 2007). Fiber photometry in mice has demonstrated the role of mesolimbic circuits in social behaviour; VTA projections to the NAc are able to encode and predict social interaction, and optogenetic modulation of these neurons can bidirectionally alter social behaviour (Gunaydin et al., 2014). Furthermore, OXY in the VTA can alter mesolimbic neuronal activity and social behaviour through OXTR activity (Hung et al., 2017; Xiao et al., 2017); demonstrated through reduced social conditioned place preference following ablation of OXTRs expressed on VTA dopaminergic neurons (Hung et al., 2017). Maternal behaviour is also regulated by OXY facilitation of mesolimbic dopamine (Insel, 1997; Love, 2014; Shahrokh et al., 2010). During social interaction there is an increase in VTA-projecting PVN oxytocinergic neuronal activity (Hung et al., 2017). Optogenetic activation of these neurons during social interaction can increase social behaviour, whilst inhibition decreases social behaviours (Hung et al., 2017). Additionally, research has shown OXTRs in the NAc itself may also play a prominent role in social behaviour, from modulating partner preference (Young et al., 2001) and pair bonding in female prairie voles (Keebaugh & Young, 2011), to social conditioned place preference in mice (Dolen et al., 2013). The above provides good evidence that OXY modulation of mesocorticolimbic dopamine can alter social behaviour through OXTR activity; providing a possible explanation of the OXTR sensitive OXY enhancement of social behaviours observed in this chapter.

3.5.3 Effect of OXY, and OXTR and V1aR antagonism, on USVs

This study demonstrated no effect of OXY administration on the production of USVs during social interaction, nor a correlation between the number of FM 50 kHz calls and duration of social behaviours. These results suggest the OXY dose and route of administration used in this study, and the V1aR and OXTR, have no effect on the production of 50 kHz calls in male Lister-hooded rats. This is consistent with previous reports finding no OXY effect on USVs during a social interaction task in rats (Kohli *et al.*, 2019) and no effect of vasopressin administration on rat USV emission (Lukas & Wohr, 2015). Although previous research has shown USVs occur in unison with social behaviours, our research suggests they are likely to be modulated by a different neurocircuitry system.

Previous work has shown both peripheral and intracerebral NAc injections of dopamine agonists are able to reliably increase the emission of 50 kHz calls, in comparison to vehicle (Barker *et al.*, 2010; Burgdorf *et al.*, 2001; Burgdorf *et al.*, 2007; Thompson *et al.*, 2006; Williams & Undieh, 2010). Given our dose of OXY increases NAc dopamine it is surprising no effect on the production of prosocial 50 kHz USVs was observed (Kohli *et al.*, 2019). The lack of change in USV production observed during social interaction, despite the increase in social behaviours, suggests changes to social behaviour arising from OXY administration are not the result of increased social communication, but an alternative neural mechanism.

3.6 Summary and future work

During this chapter we demonstrated s.c. OXY can enhance prosocial behaviours during social interaction through OXTR activity, with no effect of the V1aR, in male Lister-hooded rats. However, we observed no effect of OXY or either antagonist upon the emission of prosocial 50 kHz calls during social interaction; suggesting changes to social behaviour arising from OXY administration are not the result of increased social communication, but of an alternative neurocircuitry mechanism. We also demonstrated activity of OXY at both the OXTR and V1aR contributes to OXY attenuation of PCP-induced hyperactivity. OXYs ability to enhance non-reproductive social behaviours, such as social interaction, are thought to be brain region specific, with variations in OXTR expression in different regions controlling specific differences in social behaviours (Yu *et al.*, 2016). To further understand the mechanisms of this behavioural effect the precise brain regions involved need to be deciphered. The use of selective toxins, such as OXY-saporin, can be utilised to delineate the OXTR expressing regions involved and responsible for behavioural changes upon OXY administration, and will be explored in subsequent chapters.

Chapter 4: Oxytocin-saporin microinjection into the nucleus accumbens; effects on social behaviour and LMA activity.

4.1 Introduction

In Chapter 3 we demonstrated that OXTRs are responsible for enhancing social behaviour following systemic OXY administration and also play a role in the 'antipsychotic-like' effect of OXYs attenuation of PCP-induced hyperactivity. OXYs affects upon social behaviour are site specific, with differential activation of OXTRs in various regions of the brain leading to distinct forms of social behaviour (Newman, 1999; O'Connell & Hofmann, 2012; Smith et al., 2019; Yu et al., 2016). For example, NAc OXTR antagonist infusion can block partner preference in female prairie voles, whilst infusion into the adjacent caudate putamen has no effect (Young et al., 2001). Furthermore, while i.c.v. OXY can enhance social preference in rats following social defeat, selective application of OXY and an OXTR antagonist into different sub-nuclei of the amygdala have no effect upon stress-induced social preference (Lukas et al., 2011). In addition, in rats OXTR antagonist infusion (desGly-NH₂,d(CH₂)₅- $[Tyr(Me)^2, Thr^4]OVT)$ reduced social novelty preference when injected into the NAc, but not when infused into the lateral septum or basolateral amygdala (Smith et al., 2017b). Therefore, to fully understand the mechanisms through which OXY-induced behavioural changes occur, we need to decipher the brain regions involved.

The NAc is located within the ventral striatum, part of the of the mesocorticolimbic system and composed of two distinct subdivisions: the NAc shell and NAc core. The majority (>90%) of cells in the NAc are D₁ or D₂ dopamine receptor expressing GABAergic medium spiny neurons (MSNs) (Floresco, 2015; Li *et al.*, 2018) that exert balanced, opposing effects in the NAc (Lobo *et al.*, 2010; Lobo & Nestler, 2011). NAc MSNs receive excitatory glutamatergic inputs from numerous brain regions, including the PFC and hippocampus, and are connected by gap junctions and GABA-A containing synapses (Bamford & Wang, 2019; Zahm, 2000). The NAc also receives dopaminergic inputs from the VTA (Ikemoto, 2007), and abundant oxytocinergic

input from parvocellular neurons of the PVN, which release OXY into the NAc (Dolen & Malenka, 2014; Ferretti *et al.*, 2019; Knobloch *et al.*, 2012).

The NAc has high levels of OXTR expression in rats (Smith et al., 2019; van Leeuwen et al., 1985), and both central and peripheral OXY administration can enhance NAc dopamine release (Kohli et al., 2019; Melis et al., 2007; Melis et al., 2009). In rats, OXTR expression in the NAc core reduces during development from juvenile to adulthood, but remains high (Smith et al., 2017a). In contrast, OXTR expression in the NAc shell remains constant across age (Nardou et al., 2019). Interestingly, in contrast to other brain regions, NAc OXTR shell expression is consistent between males and females (Smith et al., 2017a). High NAc OXTR expression across multiple species, and between males and females, suggests NAc OXTRs have a translational, key role in social behaviour (Dolen et al., 2013; Insel & Shapiro, 1992; Lee et al., 2017; Ross et al., 2009b; Schorscher-Petcu et al., 2009; Smith et al., 2017a). In fact, the NAc is considered a key node in the social decision-making network (O'Connell & Hofmann, 2011) and plays an important role in social reward (Dolen et al., 2013; Resendez et al., 2013), social novelty preference (Smith et al., 2017b), pair bond formation (Keebaugh et al., 2015; Ross et al., 2009a), and alloparental care (Keebaugh et al., 2015). Preclinical evidence has also suggested natural variations in NAc OXTR expression may contribute to individual variations in social behaviour seen within species (Keebaugh et al., 2015; Olazábal & Sandberg, 2020; Ross et al., 2009b).

While there is an abundance of research to suggest NAc OXTRs play an important role in reproductive social behaviours, such as pair bonding, maternal bonding, and alloparental care (Keebaugh & Young, 2011; Liu & Wang, 2003; Olazabal & Young, 2006; Ross et al., 2009b; Young et al., 2001), there is much less research investigating the role of NAc OXTRs in non-reproductive social behaviours. However, research has shown bilateral infusion of OXY into the NAc can increase social preference between same sex prairie voles, which is dose dependently reduced by NAc OXTR antagonist infusion ([d(CH₂)₅,Tyr(Me)²,Thr⁴,Tyr-NH₂⁹]-OVT) (Yu *et al.*, 2016). NAc OXTRs can also drive social recognition in male rats; increasing the time spent interacting with a novel conspecific, as opposed to a familiar cage mate, demonstrated by NAc microinjections OXTR antagonist desGly-NH₂,d(CH₂)⁵of the selective

102

[Tyr(Me)²,Thr⁴]OVT (Smith *et al.*, 2017b). In mice, NAc OXTR expression influences social hierarchies; socially dominant males have higher NAc core OXTR densities than subordinate males (Lee *et al.*, 2019b). Similarly, following chronical social defeat voles have reduced levels of both OXY and OXTRs in the NAc, and social withdrawal arising from chronic social defeat can be reversed by NAc OXY administration, causing OXTR activation (Hou *et al.*, 2020; Wang *et al.*, 2018).

The rewarding nature of social interactions is what drives social behaviour in both rodents and humans, and is essential for the formation of hierarchical, reproductive, and non-reproductive social relationships, and if impaired can result in profound psychiatric disorders (Dölen et al., 2013; Fone & Porkess, 2008; Hany et al., 2021; Nardou et al., 2019; Song et al., 2016). Social reward likely evolved to motivate social behaviours, as they are essential for survival, reproduction, and neural development. Mesolimbic dopamine has long been associated with reward; therefore it is likely that the oxytocinergic system interacts with the mesolimbic system to influence social behaviour (Dölen et al., 2013; Lobo & Nestler, 2011). Consistent with this hypothesis, the dose of s.c. OXY used in this thesis to reliably increase social interaction through OXTR activity also increased dopamine overflow in the NAc of male Lister-hooded rats (Kohli et al., 2019). Voltammetry studies in rats have demonstrated significant increases in NAc dopamine during conspecific interaction (Robinson et al., 2002), and optogenetic activation of mesolimbic VTA-NAc projections increased social interaction in mice (Gunaydin et al., 2014). In addition, electrophysiological recordings in mice show increased NAc activity during social interaction, but not novel objection exploration (Gunaydin et al., 2014). Interestingly, the prosocial effect observed following optogenetic activation of VTA-NAc dopaminergic projections in mice is attenuated by a NAc micro-infusion of the D_1 receptor antagonist SCH23390 (Gunaydin et al., 2014). Furthermore, optogenetic activation of NAc D1 expressing cells significantly increased social interaction; indicating dopamine signalling through the NAc D₁ receptor is involved in non-reproductive social behaviours (Gunaydin et al., 2014). Activation of D₁ MSNs has long been associated with increasing the effects of rewarding stimuli (reviewed by Lobo and Nestler (2011)), therefore demonstrating a role for NAc dopamine and reward circuitry in the enhancement of social behaviour. OXTRs are expressed on MSNs within the NAc (Williams *et al.*, 2020), making it likely NAc OXTRs contribute to social reward. As such, NAc OXTR blockade inhibits social conditioned place preference but not cocaine conditioned place preference in mice, and selective ablation of presynaptic NAc OXTRs inhibits social conditioned place preference preference (Dolen *et al.*, 2013).

The mesolimbic dopamine system may also be involved in the communication of rats during social interaction. The NAc, in particular, appears to be critically involved in the production of 50 kHz prosocial USVs. Emission of prosocial USVs are increased following injection of dopamine agonists both systemically and directly into the NAc (Brudzynski, 2015; Burgdorf *et al.*, 2001; Mulvihill & Brudzynski, 2019; Simola *et al.*, 2012; Thompson *et al.*, 2006), and synaptic release of dopamine in the NAc from VTA mesolimbic dopaminergic neurons can initiate emission of 50 kHz USVs (Scardochio *et al.*, 2015). Furthermore, playback of 50 kHz calls to freely moving rats initiates both social approach towards the speaker and phasic NAc dopamine release (Willuhn *et al.*, 2014), and 50 kHz call emission induced by tickling in adolescent rats is blocked through NAc administration of both D₁ and D_{2/3} receptor antagonists (SCH23390 and raclopride, respectively) (Hori *et al.*, 2013). However, in Chapter 3 we saw no effect of s.c. OXY on prosocial USV emission during social interaction, consistent with Kohli *et al.* (2019), despite the observation that the dose of OXY used increases NAc dopamine efflux (Kohli *et al.*, 2019).

Interestingly, the NAc OXTRs involvement in social behaviours appear to be translational. Human fMRI studies have shown carriers of an OXTR SNP (rs237915) have aberrant ventral striatum activation in response to viewing angry emotions, and report increased emotional and peer problems in low stress environments (Loth *et al.*, 2014). Although this polymorphism is not currently associated with ASD or schizophrenia, people with ASD have demonstrated reduced NAc neural activity during social play (Assaf *et al.*, 2013).

The OXTR is also involved in the attenuation of PCP-induced hyperactivity. As discussed in Chapter 3, PCP administration dose dependently increased dialysate levels of both dopamine and 5-HT in the NAc (Millan *et al.*, 1999), and dopamine antagonism in the NAc can reduce NMDA-R antagonist induced LMA (Del Arco *et al.*,

2008). However, NMDA-R antagonists are still able to cause hyperactivity following chemical lesions of NAc projecting dopaminergic neurons (Carlsson & Carlsson, 1989). We previously demonstrated OXY administration was able to significantly attenuate PCP-induced hyperactivity, and pre-treatment with an OXTR and a V1aR antagonist could prevent the OXY attenuation of PCP-induced hyperactivity, although not returning the response fully back to that of PCP alone (Chapter 3). With both PCP and OXY increasing NAc dopamine it would seem paradoxical that attenuation of PCP-hyperactivity could be achieved through changes in NAc dopamine activity. However, within the NAc OXTRs are primarily expressed upon MSNs (Williams *et al.*, 2020), with a population of D₁ MSNs directly projecting to the VTA (Baimel *et al.*, 2019). The VTA has dopaminergic outputs to motor areas, such as the supplementary motor area and premotor cortex (Hosp *et al.*, 2019; Nguyen *et al.*, 2018), making it plausible OXTR activity within the NAc could in some way be contributing to OXY attenuation of PCP-hyperactivity.

Saporin is a cytotoxic compound derived from the soapwort plant that causes cell death through ribosome inhibition, preventing protein synthesis (Baskin *et al.*, 2010). Saporin has been conjugated to a number of ligands to take advantage of this mechanism to selectively destroy neurons expressing the ligand binding site, such as 192 IgG-saporin to selectively destroy cholinergic neurons (Book *et al.*, 1994). In an analogous manner, conjugation of saporin to OXY confers specific binding of the conjugate to OXTR expressing cells, selectively destroying OXTR expressing neurons (Angioni *et al.*, 2016; Baskin *et al.*, 2010).

Saporin is a ribosome inactivating protein (RIP) which inhibits protein synthesis and causes cell death (Bagga *et al.*, 2003; Baskin *et al.*, 2010). Saporin achieves this by cleaving the *N*-glycosidic bond, which connects ribonucleic acid (RNA) bases to the sugar phosphate backbone of a specific adenine in 28 S ribosomal RNA, a structural component of the ribosome large subunit. This cleavage prevents the binding of elongation factors to ribosomes, preventing protein synthesis (Bagga *et al.*, 2003; Walsh *et al.*, 2013). There are two types of RIPs: type 1 and type 2, with saporin falling into the type 1 category. Type 1 RIPS are monomeric proteins, which have RNA *N*-glycosidase enzymatic activity. In contrast, type 2 RIPSs consist of two disulphide-

105

linked polypeptides; an A-chain which has RNA *N*-glycosidase activity and one or more lectin-like B-chains. While the *N*-glycosidase activity promotes the cytotoxic effects of RIPs, the B-chains of type 2 RIPs promote cell entry, through interacting sugars expressed on cell surfaces, promoting cell entry (Bagga *et al.*, 2003; Walsh *et al.*, 2013). As saporin is a type 1 RIP, and therefore lacks a B-chain, it is unable to enter cells on its own. However, when conjugated to a cell receptor ligand penetration of the cell membranes expressing the ligand receptor can selectively occur (Walsh *et al.*, 2013). In this case conjugation to OXY, forming OXY-saporin, results in internalisation into OXTR expressing neurons, selectively destroying OXTR expressing neurons whilst minimising unwanted side-effects (Baskin *et al.*, 2010).

OXY-saporin has previously been used to determine the specific brain regions involved in OXY modulated behaviours, such as LMA (Angioni *et al.*, 2016) and satiety (Baskin *et al.*, 2010). Work in the next two chapters takes advantage of the selective destruction of OXTR expressing neurons that occurs following OXY-saporin microinjection to discrete brain nuclei, to decipher the role of specific OXTR expressing neuronal populations on behaviours, including social interaction and attenuation of PCP-hyperactivity.

As well as high OXTR expression in the NAC, OXTRs are expressed within the VTA on glutamatergic and dopaminergic neurons that project to the NAC (Peris *et al.*, 2017). The NAc also receives innervation from oxytocinergic PVN neurons, making the NAC highly susceptible to modulation by OXY (Dölen *et al.*, 2013; Gunaydin *et al.*, 2014; Melis *et al.*, 2007; Song *et al.*, 2016). In addition, the NAc also receives inputs from other brain regions associated with social behaviour, including the hypothalamus and PFC (Gunaydin & Deisseroth, 2014). It is therefore likely that OXY activity in the NAc contributes to some of the behavioural effects seen following s.c. OXY in rodents, such as increased social interaction and attenuation of PCP-induced hyperactivity, which are reported herein.

106

4.2 Aims

No studies to date have examined the role of NAc OXTRs in rats during nonreproductive social behaviours. To decipher the role of NAc OXTRs this study will use a bilateral micro-injection of the OXTR targeting toxin, OXY-saporin, to destroy OXTR expressing neurons in the NAc. The aim of this study is to determine the role of NAc OXTRs in OXY enhancement of social interaction and OXY attenuation of PCP-induced hyperactivity in male Lister-hooded rats.

4.3 Materials and Methods

4.3.1 Animals

80 male Lister-hooded rats (42-48 days; Charles River UK) were housed in groups of four in individually ventilated cages with their litter mates. Upon ordering rats were specifically requested to be caged and transported with their litter mates. Rats were gently handled for seven days prior to beginning behavioural studies to reduce anxiety enhance animal welfare (LaFollette *et al.*, 2017). Housing details and ethical requirements are as described in section 3.3.1. At the end of the study all rats were killed by the S1 method of concussion, and death was confirmed by exsanguination.

4.3.2 Experimental Design

As detailed in Chapter 3.3.2, group sizes of n=10 was aimed for. This gives the statistical test >80% power to detect an effect size of η^2 =0.14 at a significance threshold of *p*=0.05, when using a when using a repeated measures, between factors ANOVA. Power analysis was conducted with GPower 3.1 (Faul *et al.*, 2007), ensuring sufficient power to allow statistically significant findings to be obtained, while still adhering to the 3R's principle.

All treatments were randomly allocated so that all litters received all treatment groups. During LMA assessment all treatment groups were randomly allocated across multiple runs to all 10 LMA arenas, to prevent any extraneous bias, and the experimenter was blinded to treatment.

4.3.3 Drugs

OXY was obtained from Bachem (St. Helens, UK) and PCP from Sigma Aldrich (Poole, UK). The toxins OXY-saporin and blank-saporin (Kit-46) were obtained from Advanced Targeting Systems (Amsterdam, The Netherlands). All drugs were dissolved in sterile saline (0.154M) to the desired concentration.

4.3.4 NAc saporin injection

Rats were anaesthetised with isoflurane (AnimalCare, UK) delivered in oxygen and nitrous oxide (induced at 5% and maintained at 1.5-3%; flow rate of 500cc/min oxygen and 1L/min nitrous oxide), before being transferred to a stereotaxic frame. The local anaesthetic EMLA (AstraZeneca, UK) was applied to the ear bars to minimise discomfort, and Lacri-Lube eye gel (Lubrithal; Dechra, UK) was applied to prevent the eyes drying out during surgery.

A craniotomy was performed, and two Burr holes drilled at predetermined coordinates relative to bregma. Using a 25 gauge, flat tipped, 1µL Hamilton syringe, 0.5μ L of 0.06μ g/µL OXY-saporin or blank saporin was injected into the NAc (AP: +1.6, L: -1.0, V: -7.0, Figure 4.1) according to the rat brain (Paxinos & Watson, 2007). Blanksaporin is comprised of the toxin saporin conjugated to a missense protein with no known biological targets, thus providing a suitable control (Baskin *et al.*, 2010). Dosing concentrations and volumes were based upon previous published literature using OXY-saporin (Angioni *et al.*, 2016; Baskin *et al.*, 2010). A volume of 0.5μ L (thought to diffuse less than 1mm) was used to prevent off target effects of saporin

in the brain, although spread is dependent on diffusion properties (Bast & Feldon, 2003; Myers, 1966). Saporin was injected slowly over 3 minutes and the syringe was left in place for 3 minutes following injection to prevent loss of injected saporinconjugate during removal of the injector (Angioni *et al.*, 2016). The wound was sutured using braided silk W502 suture (Mersilk, UK), followed by topical administration of 2% lignocaine (AnimalCare, UK) and administration of 1mL s.c. saline (0.154M) to prevent dehydration. Carprofen (4mg/kg, AnimalCare, UK) was administered s.c. pre-surgery, and for 4 days post-surgery. No further analgesia was administered for the duration of the study. Following surgery rats were monitored daily and received a highly palatable diet. OXY-saporin neurotoxicity is reported to reach a maximal effect 14 days post-surgery, which is maintained for at least 28 days (Angioni *et al.*, 2016). Therefore, no behavioural testing was conducted until a minimum of 15 days post-surgery which also allowed for full recovery from surgery, including regaining their pre-surgical weight and complete analgesic drug washout.



Figure 4.1: Coronal slice showing the saporin injection site at AP: +1.6, L: -1.0, V: -7.0, in the NAc on the boundary of the NAc shell and core (Image adapted from Paxinos and Watson (2007).

109

4.3.5 LMA

LMA was undertaken 15-17 days post-surgery as previously described in chapter 3.3.4 (Figure 3.1), excluding the administration of any antagonist. Recording was taken for 120 minutes; 30 minutes habituation and 90 minutes after OXY administration. After testing animals were returned to their home cage. Rats received OXY (0.1mg/kg s.c.) 30 minutes into testing, followed by PCP (5.2mg/kg i.p.) 30 minutes later. Cumulative activity data counts were calculated as mean + SEM for each 5-minute epoch.

4.3.6 Social interaction

Social interaction was undertaken 22-25 days post-surgery, as described in chapter 3.3.5 (Figure 3.2), without antagonist administration. 24 hours prior to undertaking the social interaction task rats were singly housed to enhance their motivation to interact during the task (Niesink & van Ree, 1982). Rats were treatment and weight matched with a novel rat from a different litter, so that they had never met their conspecific before. Each rat was sprayed with either red (Superdrug UK) or green (Claire's Accessories, UK) hairspray on the nape to enable identification during tracking and behavioural scoring. 0.1mg/kg of OXY was administered 45 minutes before undertaking the task. After the trial rats were removed from the arena and returned to their cage.

4.3.7 USVs

During the social interaction task USVs were recorded and analysed as described in chapter 3.3.6. After analysis calls were characterised into either flat, trill, or step calls (further detailed in chapter 3.3.6).

4.3.8 Tissue collection

Rats were killed by the S1 method of concussion, accompanied by immediate exsanguination to confirm death following social interaction. Rat brains were immediately removed from the skull, placed on a cool tray, and divided down the coronal midline using anatomical structures into left and right hemispheres.

The left hemisphere was stored in 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) and left at 4°C for 24 hours, before being transferred into sucrose for an additional 24 hours, to remove water from the brain. Following 24 hours in sucrose, brains were blotted dry, and submersed in 2-methylbutane (Isopentane Solution, Sigma Aldrich, UK) cooled to - 20°C, and left for 2 minutes. Once frozen, brains were placed into labelled bags to allow identification, and stored at -80°C until slicing.

At the time of dissection, the right hemisphere was dissected into the NAc, hypothalamus, and medial amygdala for future *in vitro* analysis using tissue punctures. All brain regions were immediately placed into an Eppendorf, and placed into liquid nitrogen, before being transferred into a -80°C freezer.

4.3.9 Immunohistochemistry

4.2.9.1 Solution preparation

0.1M Phosphate buffered saline (PBS) was prepared by adding 1 Dulbecco 'A' Oxoid PBS tablet (ThermoFisher Scientific, UK) to 100mL of distilled water and stirred until dissolved and stored at 4°C until use.

To prepare Day 1 (D1) buffer for immunohistochemistry, 1.25g Bovine Serum Albumin (BSA) (Sigma Aldrich, UK) and 750µL Triton-X100 (Sigma Aldrich, UK) were dissolved in 250mL 0.1M PBS, and stored at 4°C. To prepare Day 2 (D2) buffer for immunohistochemistry 375mg BSA (Sigma Aldrich, UK) and 250µL Triton-X100 (Sigma Aldrich, UK) were dissolved in 250mL 0.1M PBS, and stored at 4°C.

Anti-freeze solution was prepared to store brain slices in prior to immunohistochemistry. 600mL 1,2-Ethanediol (Ethylene glycol; Sigma Aldrich, UK), 600mL 1,2,3-Propanetriol (Glycerol; Sigma Aldrich, UK) and 800mL 0.1M PBS were added to a glass beaker and stirred until dissolved, and then stored at 4°C.

4.3.10.2 Tissue Preparation

For immunohistochemistry 60µm coronal brain slices were made on a freezing microtome (Anglia Scientific, Cambridge, UK), rinsed in PBS, and stored in antifreeze solution (-20°C) until use.

4.3.10.3 Immunohistochemistry protocol

To confirm the OXY-saporin injection site and neuronal loss immunohistochemistry was performed on brain slices using an anti-NeuN primary antibody. It was initially planned the loss of OXTR neurons would be confirmed using an anti-OXTR primary antibody. Initial trials obtained successful staining with the ThermoFisher anti-OXTR antibody, however this was discontinued before staining could be completed on tissue from this experiment. Subsequent pilot studies with two different anti-OXTR primary antibodies, and numerous optimisations, failed to obtain any specific staining so it was not possible to confirm specific OXTR neuronal loss. Optimisations tried included antigen retrieval, using biotinylated secondary antibodies, varying concentrations of blocking serum and Triton-X100, as well as varying incubation times and temperatures at all stages. Optimisations were also performed on uterine control tissue due to extremely high expression of the OXTR. However, no specific staining was found (further detailed in Appendix 1). Therefore, NeuN was selected as it is a neuron specific nuclear protein expressed in the majority of neuronal cell types in the CNS, with the immunohistochemical staining localised to the neuronal nucleus (Mullen et al., 1992).

Slices to be stained were identified using Paxinos and Watson's stereotaxic rat brain atlas (Paxinos & Watson, 2007). Well volumes were kept at 1mL, with five slices per well. Slices were washed in 0.1M PBS and non-specific background blocked using 2% donkey serum (Sigma Aldrich, UK) diluted in D1 buffer (1 hour, room temperature). Slices were then incubated with the primary anti-NeuN antibody (twenty-four hours at 4°C, 1:1000 dilution in D1 buffer, MAB377, Merck Millipore, UK).

After twenty-four hours slices were washed in D2 buffer, before incubation with the secondary antibody, Donkey Anti-Mouse IgG H&L Alexa Fluor® 555 (A-31570 (ThermoFisher Scientific, UK), one hour at room temperature). Slices were kept covered during incubation to avoid bleaching of the light sensitive secondary antibody. Following incubation slices were then washed in D2 buffer twice, followed by two washes in 0.1M PBS, before being mounted onto gelatinised slides. Once dry slides were rinsed with PBS, counterstained with 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI dilactate, 1:1000 in distilled H₂O, Sigma Aldrich, UK) and rinsed with distilled water. Slides were then cover slipped with 1,4-diazabicyclo[2.2.2]octane (DABCO) fluorescent mounting medium. During immunohistochemistry no primary and no secondary controls were performed alongside staining, to ensure all staining was specific for the NeuN nuclear protein.

4.3.10.4 Cell Quantification

During imaging the NAc location was confirmed according to Paxinos and Watson's stereotaxic atlas (Paxinos & Watson, 2007). Images (Nikon E200 microscope x20 and saved as .Tiff files) were taken within the NAc at the location of the micro-injection. Exposure and gain settings were selected for each filter and kept constant throughout imaging, ensuring all images were comparable. All photos were taken within 24 hours of staining with the secondary antibody. SPOT Advanced[™] imaging software (Diagnostic Instruments Inc., Michigan, USA) was used to take, merge, and add scale bars to photos.

ImageJ software was used to count NeuN positive cells. Images were converted to 16-bit greyscale, with the threshold adjusted to highlight all NeuN positive cells. Highlighted cells were then counted automatically with the ImageJ software, with the minimum size adjusted to 120 pixels (Schneider *et al.*, 2012).

4.3.10 Data analysis

Data were analysed using GraphPad Prism (Version 7.04 for Windows) and JASP (Version 0.12.1). To analyse the LMA data a 4-way repeated measures ANOVA was selected. This enabled the examination of the group differences over time, when groups are formed by a combination of the between-subject factors. Between subject factors were OXY, PCP, and saporin, with time as the within-subjects variable. Before conducting the four-way ANOVA it was ensured that all the assumptions required for a 4-way repeated measures ANOVA were satisfied: one dependent variable that is measured at the continuous level, three within-subjects factors that consists of two or more categorical levels, no significant outliers, homogeneity of variance (using Levene's test), the dependent variable is normally distributed for each group of the independent variable (using Shapiro-Wilk's test), and sphericity of the data (using Mauchly's sphericity test). To determine which specific groups significantly differed from each other, if applicable, a Tukey's post-hoc was run. Tukey's post-hoc was selected as it compares all groups to each other and corrects for multiple comparisons; reducing the risk of type 1 errors (Lee & Lee, 2018; Moore *et al.*, 2012; Whitlock & Schluter, 2015).

To analyse the social interaction data a two-way ANOVA was selected. A two-way ANOVA was used to determine whether there was an interaction effect between two independent variables (OXY and saporin) on a continuous dependent variable (social interaction duration). Similarly, a Tukey's post-hoc was selected to determine which specific groups significantly differed from each other, if applicable.

NeuN positive cells were counted by ImageJ and were analysed using an unpaired Student's t-test. A student's t-test was used to determine whether a difference exists

between the means of two the independent groups, OXY-saporin and blank-saporin, on the continuous dependent variable (NeuN positive cell counts). All assumptions for the student's t-test were satisfied: independence of observations, one dependent variable measured at the continuous level, one independent variable that consists of two categorical, independent groups, homogeneity of variance and normally distributed data.

4.4 Results

4.4.1 LMA

To determine the role of NAc OXTRs on OXY-attenuation of PCP-induced hyperactivity, widely used to determine potential antipsychotic efficacy (Jentsch & Roth, 1999), a LMA task was performed following NAc OXY-saporin injection and OXY administration. During stereotaxic surgery one rodent died under anaesthesia, and during LMA one rodent received the incorrect dose, so both were excluded from analysis. For analysis data was divided into three sections and analysed separately: the habituation phase (0-30min, data not shown), the 30 min following OXY administration (30-60 min) and then the post-PCP phase (60-120 min). Mauchly's test of sphericity indicated the assumption of sphericity had been violated for all interactions (p<0.05), therefore a Greenhouse-Geisser correction was used. There was no significant difference between treatment groups in the habituation phase $(F_{(4.299, 301)}=0.124, p=0.300;$ four-way repeated measures ANOVA), nor any effect of OXY on LMA prior to PCP administration ($F_{(3.806, 266)}$ =0.555, p=0.687; four-way repeated measures ANOVA), therefore all treatment groups had the same level of basal activity before PCP administration. Data analysis subsequently focussed on the data accrued following PCP administration (60 min onwards).

A four-way repeated measures ANOVA on the 60 minutes post PCP administration revealed a significant three-way interaction between time * PCP * OXY ($F_{(4.793, 335)}$ =5.69, p<0.001), as well as between time * PCP ($F_{(4.793, 335)}$ =28.97, p<0.001) and time * OXY ($F_{(4.793, 335)}$ =7.141, p<0.001) (all details in Appendix 2). There was also a

115

significant main effect of time upon LMA ($F_{(4.793, 335)}$ =78.37, p<0.001). Tukey's posthoc on the 3-way time * PCP * OXY interaction confirmed PCP significantly increased activity for 25 minutes following administration (P<0.001 for 65-80 min, p<0.01 at 85 min) when compared to control groups, regardless of NAc saporin administration. In addition, OXY significantly attenuated PCP-induced hyperactivity for 15 minutes following PCP administration (p<0.01) in both blank-saporin and OXY-saporin groups, such that there was no alteration by the NAc OXY-saporin injection (Figure 4.2). The effect of treatment on rears was also assessed, however a four-way repeated measures ANOVA revealed no significant effect of treatment on the number of rears ($F_{(4.243, 301)}$ =0.782, p=0.544, data not shown).



Figure 4.2: Time course of PCP-induced hyperactivity in the presence and absence of OXY in rats that had received NAc injections of either OXY-saporin or blank-saporin (mean ± SEM, n=9 (blank-sap_OXY_veh, and blank-sap_saline_PCP) or 10 (all other groups)). Four-way ANOVA (on the post-PCP data from 60 min post-test) revealed a significant three-way interaction between time * PCP * OXY ($F_{(4.793, 335)}$ =5.69, p<0.001), as well as time * PCP ($F_{(4.793, 335)}$ =28.97, p<0.001) and time * OXY ($F_{(4.793, 335)}$ =7.141, p<0.001), and a significant main effect of time ($F_{(4.793, 335)}$ =78.37, p<0.001). PCP significantly increased activity for 25 minutes following administration (p<0.001 for 65-80 min, p<0.01 at 85 min, Tukey's post-hoc), and was significantly attenuated by OXY administration for 15 minutes following PCP administration (p<0.01, Tukey's post-hoc), with no effect of the NAc saporin injection. *** p<0.001 compared to saline_PCP, Tukey's post-hoc.

In this experiment the peak effect of PCP only lasted 15 minutes, similar to but 5 minutes shorter than in Chapter 3; likely attributed to batch differences in PCP and a different batch of rats. Therefore, the effect of OXY on the total ambulation in the 15 minutes post-PCP was assessed (Figure 4.3). Three-way ANOVA analysis revealed a significant two-way interaction between OXY * PCP ($F_{(1, 70)}$ =9.349, p=0.003), and a significant main effect of both OXY ($F_{(1, 70)}$ =18.39, p<0.001) and PCP ($F_{(1, 70)}$ =97.52, p<0.001). Regardless of whether rats had received the NAc saporin injection or

control, PCP significantly increased LMA (p<0.001, Tukey's post-hoc), and was significantly attenuated by OXY administration (p<0.001, Tukey's post-hoc) (Figure 4.3).



Figure 4.3: Total ambulation 15 minutes post-PCP administration, following NAc injection of either blank-saporin (control) or OXY-saporin (mean + SEM, n=9 (blank-sap_OXY_veh, and blank-sap_saline_PCP) or 10 (all other groups) per group). Three-way ANOVA revealed a significant interaction between OXY * PCP ($F_{(1, 70)}$ =9.349, p=0.003), and a significant main effect of both OXY ($F_{(1, 70)}$ =18.39, p<0.001) and PCP ($F_{(1, 70)}$ =97.52, p<0.001). PCP significantly increased LMA (p<0.001, Tukey's post-hoc), which was significantly attenuated by OXY administration (p<0.001, Tukey's post-hoc). NAc saporin injection had no effect on the ability of OXY to attenuate PCP-hyperactivity. *** p<0.001 compared to saline_veh, and ### p<0.001 compared to saline_PCP, Tukey's post-hoc.

4.4.2 Social interaction

To determine the effect of NAc OXY-saporin micro-injection on OXY changes in social behaviour, social interaction was performed in an open field arena. During recording one video was not recorded due human error, thus resulting in an n=8 for one

treatment group (Blank-saporin and OXY). A two-way ANOVA of the total duration of prosocial behaviours (body sniffing, anogenital sniffing, following, crawling over and under and lying side-by-side) was performed. This revealed a significant interaction between OXY * saporin ($F_{(1, 34)}$ =8.923, p=0.005), and a significant main effect of OXY ($F_{(1, 34)}$ =4.381, p=0.044). OXY significantly increased the total duration of prosocial behaviours (p<0.01, Tukey's post-hoc), which was not seen following injection of OXY-saporin into the NAc (Figure 4.4).



Figure 4.4: Total duration of prosocial behaviours in a social interaction task with a treatment and weight matched conspecific, following NAc injection of either blank-saporin or OXY-saporin and acute OXY administration (mean + SEM, n=8 (blank-sap and OXY) or 10 (all other groups) per group). Two-way ANOVA showed a significant interaction between OXY and saporin ($F_{(1, 34)}$ =8.923, p=0.005), and a main effect OXY ($F_{(1, 34)}$ =4.381, p=0.044). OXY significantly increased the total duration of prosocial behaviours (p<0.01, Tukey's post-hoc) in the blank-sap controls but this was not observed in rats given NAc injection of OXY-saporin. ** p<0.01 compared to blank-sap and saline, Tukey's post-hoc.

A more comprehensive breakdown of the individual behavioural components during social interaction showed that the majority of prosocial behaviours were anogenital

and body sniffing; used by rodents to determine familiarity through odour cues (Marlin & Froemke, 2017; Wacker & Ludwig, 2012). Two-way ANOVA analysis of body sniffing showed a significant OXY * saporin interaction ($F_{(1, 34)}$ =7.18, p=0.011). OXY administration significantly increased the duration of body sniffing (p<0.05, Tukey's post-hoc) in control rats, and this did not occur following injection of OXY-saporin into the NAc. No significant effect of treatment was seen upon anogenital sniffing duration ($F_{(1, 34)}$ =1.25, p=0.27). (Figure 4.5).



Figure 4.5: Total duration of anogenital and body sniffing during a social interaction task following NAc injection of either blank-saporin or OXY-saporin, and acute OXY administration (mean + SEM, n=8 (blank-sap and OXY) or 10 (all other groups) per group). Two-way ANOVA revealed no significant effect of OXY or OXY-saporin on anogenital sniffing duration ($F_{(1, 34)}$ =1.25, p=0.27). However, analysis of body sniffing showed a significant interaction between OXY and saporin ($F_{(1, 34)}$ =7.18, p=0.011), with OXY significantly increasing the duration of body sniffing (p<0.05, Tukey's posthoc). OXY enhancement of body sniffing was not seen following NAc OXY-saporin, and was comparable in time to that in the saline control. *p<0.05 compared to blank-sap and saline, Tukey's posthoc.
All other prosocial behaviours (crawling over and under, lying side by side and following) were also analysed individually. There was no effect of treatment upon either the duration or frequency of crawling over and under (data not shown), with less than 10% of pairs exhibiting this behaviour. However, when analysing the durations of lying side-by-side, two-way ANOVA revealed no significant interaction between OXY and saporin, but a significant main effect of OXY ($F_{(1, 34)}$ =6.23, p=0.012), with OXY appearing to increase lying side-by-side duration (Figure 4.6A). Two-way ANOVA of following duration also showed a significant interaction of OXY * saporin ($F_{(1, 34)}$ =4.62, p=0.039) but no main effect of OXY or saporin (Figure 4.6B). Tukey's post-hoc revealed no significant differences between groups.



Figure 4.6: The effect of NAc injection OXY-saporin and acute OXY administration on the durations of lying side by side (A) and following (B) during social interaction (mean + SEM, n=8 (blank-sap and OXY) or 10 (all other groups) per group). (A) Two-way ANOVA of lying side by side durations revealed a significant main effect of OXY ($F_{(1, 34)}$ =6.231, p=0.012); OXY appearing to increase the duration of lying side by side in control conditions (B) Two-way ANOVA of following duration showed a significant interaction between OXY * saporin ($F_{(1, 34)}$ =4.62, p=0.039) but no significant main effect of either OXY or saporin.

Aggressive behaviours were also assessed; the summation of boxing and biting and pinning durations. Two-way ANOVA indicated no significant interaction between OXY and saporin ($F_{(1, 34)}$ =0.5638, p=0.45). However, there was a significant main effect of OXY ($F_{(1, 34)}$ =4.235, p=0.047), such that OXY decreased the duration of aggressive behaviours (Figure 4.7).



Figure 4.7: The effect of OXY, and NAc OXY-saporin injection, on the duration of total aggressive behaviours in the social interaction task (mean + SEM, n=8 (blank-sap and OXY) or 10 (all other groups) per group). Two-way ANOVA showed there was no significant interaction between OXY and saporin ($F_{(1, 34)}$ =0.5638, p=0.45). However, there was a significant main effect of OXY ($F_{(1, 34)}$ =4.235, p=0.047), such that OXY appeared to decrease the duration of aggressive behaviours.

4.4.3 USVs

To determine the role of NAc OXTRs on communication during social behaviours, USVs emitted by the rats were recorded during the social interaction task. As with

social interaction data mean values were calculated for each pair as it is not possible to identify which rat produced each USV. In addition, the behaviour and USVs of each rat is also, at least in part, dependent upon its pair.

Following identification of each call, every 50 kHz call was further classified into flat, step and trill subtypes (see Chapter 1.3, Figure 1.10). All USV data were log_{10} transformed to satisfy Shapiro-Wilks test for normality. A two-way ANOVA was performed to determine the effect of treatment upon the production of each call subtype (Figure 4.8), however no significant effect of treatment was found on any call subtype ($F_{(1, 35)}$ =0.87, p=0.35, $F_{(1, 35)}$ =2.62, p=0.11 and $F_{(1, 35)}$ =0.55, p=0.46 for flat, step, and trill calls respectively).



Figure 4.8: The effect of NAc OXY-saporin injection and OXY administration on the production of (A) flat, (B) step, and (C) trill 50 kHz calls (\log_{10} mean + SEM, n=9 (blank-sap and OXY) or 10 (all other groups) per group). Data was \log_{10} transformed to produce a normal distribution for analysis. Two-way ANOVA revealed no significant effect of treatment on the production of either flat, step, or trill calls ($F_{(1, 35)}$ =0.87, p=0.35, $F_{(1, 35)}$ =2.62, p=0.11 and $F_{(1, 35)}$ =0.55, p=0.46 for flat, step, and trill calls respectively).

Frequency modulated (FM) 50 kHz calls are considered to be especially prosocial and strongly indicative of a positive affect, therefore the effect of the treatment upon only FM calls emitted was assessed (Figure 4.9A) (Brudzynski, 2015). In addition, the effect of treatment on the latency to first call was also analysed, as reduced latency to first call has been observed in combination with increased emission of 50 kHz calls following drug administration (Mulvihill & Brudzynski, 2019) (Figure 4.9B). However, two-way ANOVA revealed no significant effect of treatment upon either the percentage of prosocial calls emitted ($F_{(1, 35)}$ =0.95, p=0.33), or the latency to the first call ($F_{(1, 35)}$ =0.18, p=0.67).



Figure 4.9: The effect of NAc OXY-saporin injection and OXY administration on (A) the percentage of FM prosocial calls emitted and (B) the latency to first call (mean + SEM, n=9 (blank-sap and OXY) or 10 (all other groups) per group). Two-way ANOVA revealed no significant effect of treatment upon either the percentage prosocial calls ($F_{(1, 35)}$ =0.95, p=0.33), or the latency to first call ($F_{(1, 35)}$ =0.18, p=0.67, data was log₁₀ transformed to produce a normal distribution for analysis).

In addition to determining the effect of treatment upon USV emission, the relationship between duration of prosocial behaviours and USVs was also assessed. A Pearson's correlation was run to assess the relationship between the duration of prosocial behaviours during social interaction, and the percentage of prosocial calls emitted during the social interaction task (Figure 4.10A). However, there was no statistically significant correlation between the duration of prosocial behaviours and % prosocial FM USVs emitted during the social interaction task (r(36)=0.06, p=0.73). In addition, a Pearson's correlation was also used to assess the relationship between the duration of prosocial behaviours and the latency to first call during social interaction (Figure 4.10B). Again, there was no statistically significant correlation behaviours and the latency to first call during the social interaction task (r(36)=0.05, p=0.74).



Figure 4.10: The correlation between the duration of prosocial behaviours in social interaction with (A) the percentage of prosocial calls emitted and (B) the latency to first USV. A Pearson's correlation found no significant correlation between the duration of prosocial behaviours and the percentage of prosocial FM USVs emitted during the social interaction task (r(36)=0.06, p=0.73), nor between the duration of prosocial behaviours with the latency to first call during social interaction (r(36)=0.05, p=0.74) (latency to first call data was log₁₀ transformed to produce a normal distribution for analysis).

4.4.4. Immunohistochemistry

In order to confirm the saporin injection placement, and neuronal loss, immunohistochemistry was performed using an anti-NeuN primary antibody; a neuronal nuclear antigen that can be used as a neuronal biomarker (Mullen *et al.*, 1992). Immunohistochemistry was performed on NAc slices around the planned injection site (Figure 4.11). Counting NeuN positive cells from images taken at x20 magnification (Figure 4.11B) revealed a significant reduction of neurons in the NAc of rats receiving OXY-sap injection compared to blank-sap control (105.4 ± 4.96 and 182.3 ± 3.26; mean ± SEM respectively, *p*<0.001; Student's unpaired *t*-test (Figure 4.12)). Three brains were excluded due to damage upon removal.



Figure 4.11: Representative images (showing approximately the group mean) of the NAc taken at magnification x4 (A) and x20 (B) following immunohistochemical staining of cell bodies (DAPI; blue) and neuronal nuclei (NeuN; red). Images were taken on $60\mu m$ coronal sections in the location of NAc saporin injection (AP: +1.6, L: -1.0, V: -7.0), and show a visible loss of neurons in the OXY-sap condition. Scale bar represents $250\mu m$ in x4 images and $50\mu m$ in x20 images.



Figure 4.12: The effect of NAc OXY-sap injection on the number of NeuN positive cells in the NAc (mean + SEM, n=37 (OXY-sap)/39 (blank-sap). NAc OXY-sap injection caused a significant reduction in the number of neurons in the NAc (mean = 105.4 ± 4.96), compared to the blank-sap control injection (mean = 182.3 ± 3.26; $t_{(74)}$ =13.08, p<0.001; Student's unpaired *t*-test).

4.5 Discussion

4.5.1 Effect of NAc OXY-saporin on OXY attenuation PCP-induced hyperactivity

As well as enhancing social interaction, OXY can attenuate PCP-induced hyperactivity; thought to be indicative of an antipsychotic-like effect. As discussed in chapter 3, PCP administration dose dependently increases NAc dopamine in male Wistar rats (Millan *et al.*, 1999). NAc dopamine release was initially thought to be responsible for NMDA-R antagonist induced hyperactivity, since it can be prevented through dopamine antagonism in the NAc (Del Arco *et al.*, 2008). However, NMDA-R antagonists are still able to increase LMA following lesions of NAc projecting dopaminergic neurons (Carlsson & Carlsson, 1989). In this chapter we demonstrated no effect of NAc OXY-saporin injection upon either PCP-induced hyperactivity, nor OXY attenuation of PCP-induced hyperactivity. As previously stated, 58% of NAc OXTRs are thought to be

expressed upon D₁ or D₂ expressing MSNs (Williams *et al.*, 2020), therefore OXYsaporin injection would cause destruction of these neurons. The loss of dopamine receptors in the NAc in this experiment suggests it is unlikely that PCP-induced hyperactivity, and OXY attenuation of this locomotor effect, is directly caused by NAc dopamine or NAc OXTR activity.

As well as modulating NAc dopamine, PCP is also associated with increased PFC glutamatergic activity (Takahata & Moghaddam, 2003), so the effect of PCP on NAc dopamine may be secondary to increased glutamatergic neurotransmission. AMPA antagonism in multiple brain regions including the PFC, NAc, and VTA can inhibit PCPinduced hyperactivity (Takahata & Moghaddam, 2003). In addition, the antipsychotics cariprazine and aripiprazole both attenuate PCP-induced hyperactivity, as well as also simultaneously attenuating PCP-induced increases in mPFC glutamate, dopamine, and 5-HT (Kehr et al., 2018). As discussed in chapter 3, PCP NMDA-R antagonism in the PFC can disinhibit cortico-cortical glutamatergic neurons (Kehr et al., 2018; Li et al., 2010). This increases PFC extracellular glutamate (Li et al., 2010), which consequently binds to non-NMDA receptors on glutamatergic PFC efferents (Qi et al., 2012; Takahata & Moghaddam, 2003) and increases excitatory outputs to the VTA and connected motor sites (Groenewegen & Uylings, 2000; Hosp et al., 2019; Tan et al., 2019). Therefore, it is possible OXY may be altering glutamatergic neurotransmission within the PFC to attenuate PCP-induced hyperactivity. Within the PFC OXTRs are expressed on both GABAergic interneurons and glutamatergic neurons that project to mesolimbic areas such as the NAc and VTA (Li et al., 2016; Marlin et al., 2015; Nakajima et al., 2014; Tan et al., 2019). PFC OXY microinjections and optogenetic activation of OXTR expressing GABAergic interneurons can increase the concentration of synaptic GABA in the PFC (Qi et al., 2012; Tan et al., 2019). Therefore, it seems plausible that OXY-induced increases in mPFC GABA transmission could reduce PFC glutamatergic efferent activity to the VTA and connected motor sites, reducing PCP-induced hyperactivity. However, OXTRs in the mPFC are also expressed on glutamatergic neurons, which project to areas such as the VTA and NAc (Tan et al., 2019). Therefore, excitatory OXY activity on glutamatergic PFC neurons may counteract the inhibitory effects of OXTR expressing GABAergic neurons.

OXTRs are also expressed on glutamatergic terminals in the substantia nigra, an area heavily involved in the regulation of movement (Angioni *et al.*, 2016). Using OXY-saporin to identify key regions involved in OXY control of LMA, Angioni *et al.* (2016) hypothesised OXY can influence movement through activity on presynaptic OXTRs expressed on nigral glutamatergic nerve terminals. OXTR agonism on these neurons would lead to increased glutamate release, synapsing onto GABAergic efferents projecting to the brain stem, thus decreasing LMA through increased inhibitory outputs. This could provide an explanation as to how s.c. OXY can attenuate PCP-induced hyperactivity.

4.5.2 Effect of NAc OXY-saporin on OXY enhancement of social interaction

Consistent with previous work in this laboratory this chapter demonstrated s.c. OXY significantly increases social interaction, predominantly due to increased duration of body sniffing, and reduces aggressive behaviours (Kohli *et al.*, 2019). We also demonstrated that following NAc injection of OXY-saporin s.c. OXY can no longer enhance social interaction; suggesting NAc OXTR expressing neurons are required for s.c. OXY enhancement of social behaviour. However, NAc saporin injection had no effect upon OXY attenuation of aggressive behaviours. Consistent with our findings, NAc OXTR blockade reduced social novelty preference in juvenile rats (Smith *et al.*, 2017b) and social approach in voles (Yu *et al.*, 2016). In addition, NAc OXTRs are required for social conditioned place preference in mice (Dölen *et al.*, 2013), and NAc OXTR activation can reverse social withdrawal arising from chronic social defeat in voles (Hou *et al.*, 2020; Wang *et al.*, 2018).

Fluorescent *in situ* hybridization has shown that in adult mice the majority (58%) of NAc OXTRs are expressed on MSNs, and OXY is able to modulate their activity (Moaddab *et al.*, 2015; Peris *et al.*, 2020; Williams *et al.*, 2020). Despite high

dopaminergic input from the VTA, NAc OXTRs are not thought to be expressed on dopaminergic neurons; lesions of VTA dopaminergic neurons projecting to the NAc have no effect on NAc OXTR expression (Young et al., 2001). NAc dopamine release and activity of D₁ dopamine receptors on MSNs are strongly associated with feelings of reward (reviewed by Lobo and Nestler (2011)). Mesolimbic dopamine is well known to regulate motivational behaviour, and changes in NAc dopamine transmission can alter behavioural responses to multiple stimuli associated with reward, such as self-administration of drugs of abuse (Willuhn et al., 2010). The rewarding properties of social interaction has been demonstrated through its ability to be used as motivation for place conditioning (Calcagnetti & Schechter, 1992; Dölen et al., 2013) and learning in the T maze paradigm (Ikemoto & Panksepp, 1992). Indeed, consociate interactions in adolescent and adult male rats lead to increased NAc dopamine activity, as measured by fast scan cyclic voltammetry (Robinson et al., 2002; Robinson et al., 2011). In addition, the Fischer 344 strain of rat, known to be significantly less playful than other inbred strains, show less NAc dopamine release when compared to Sprague Dawley rats during social play (Siviy et al., 2011). Furthermore, during brief consociate interactions fast-scan cyclic voltammetry has shown increased frequency and amplitude of NAc core dopamine transients in male Long-Evans rats (Robinson *et al.*, 2011). Increased NAc activity is also seen when mice preferentially chose to explore a chamber with a novel conspecific, in contrast to a neutral chamber; again, suggesting increased NAc neural activity is associated with enhancement of prosocial behaviour (Gunaydin & Deisseroth, 2014; Gunaydin et al., 2014). Additionally, NAc dopamine release is seen in Lister-hooded rats following s.c. OXY, alongside increased social interaction (Kohli et al., 2019), and NAc infusions of both the dopamine agonist apomorphine and the dopamine reuptake inhibitor amphetamine increase social play in male Wistar rats (Manduca et al., 2016). Therefore, s.c. OXY enhancement of social behaviour is likely to involve its ability to modulate NAc dopamine; increasing the rewarding properties of social interaction, thus enhancing the motivation to engage in this behaviour (Kohli et al., 2019).

Dopamine transmission in the NAc can be classified into two distinct modes: phasic and tonic. Phasic dopamine release is rapid (<1 second) and arises from synchronised

burst firing of dopaminergic neurons, resulting in a large increase in NAc synaptic dopamine (µM to mM levels) (Floresco, 2015; Grace, 1991; Soares-Cunha et al., 2016b). In contrast, tonic release maintains low steady-state levels of synaptic dopamine in the NAc (10-20 nM), which is tightly regulated (Keefe et al., 1993; Soares-Cunha et al., 2016b). Following NAc dopamine release, dopamine acts at both D₁ and D₂ receptors in the NAc; expressed on GABAergic MSNs (Gerfen & Surmeier, 2011; Manduca *et al.*, 2016). The D_1 receptor has a lower affinity for dopamine in comparison to the D₂ receptor (μ M vs. nM) (Richfield *et al.*, 1989). Therefore, phasic dopamine release primarily activates D₁ receptors, while tonic release primarily activates D₂ receptors (Goto & Grace, 2005; Hikida et al., 2016). As our dose of OXY causes phasic NAc dopamine release it is likely the behavioural effects are due to D₁ receptor modulation of MSN activity (Kohli et al., 2019). NAc D₁ receptors are understood to be responsible for feelings of reward in drugs of abuse (Smith et al., 2013b), and are also critical for the expression of social behaviours in mice (Gunaydin et al., 2014; Kopec et al., 2018). Agonism of $G\alpha_q$ coupled OXTRs on D₁ expressing MSNs would further increase excitability of D1 MSNs, through PLC activation and subsequent release of Ca²⁺ from intracellular stores, thus driving the rewarding nature of social interactions; potentially explaining how s.c. OXY can signal through NAc OXTRs to increase the duration of social interaction observed in this study. However, expression of OXTRs upon D₁ MSNs in the NAc means the NAc injection of OXY-saporin would be expected to cause destruction of D₁ MSNs, removing D₁ receptors as well as OXTRs from the NAc. Removal of MSNs in the NAc would have great effects upon the mesolimbic neural circuity, therefore, it is possible that the inability of OXY to increase social interaction in OXY-saporin rats could be attributed to loss of D₁ expressing MSNs, and not the loss of NAc OXTRs.

It is also possible OXY is acting elsewhere in the mesolimbic system to increase social behaviour, such as the VTA; an area which contains abundant dopaminergic neurons projecting to the NAc (Gunaydin *et al.*, 2014; Hung *et al.*, 2017). As well as expression within the NAc, OXTRs are expressed upon the cell bodies of NAc-projecting dopaminergic neurons within the VTA (Hung *et al.*, 2017). Following s.c. OXY administration and RAGE dependent transportation across the BBB, OXY levels in the

CSF and PVN are increased (Yamamoto et al., 2019). As well as direct projections to the NAc, the PVN has an abundance of oxytocinergic projections to the VTA, releasing OXY onto VTA cell bodies. Immunohistochemical studies have demonstrated these oxytocinergic fibres in the VTA are in close contact to and surround mesolimbic dopaminergic fibres that project to the NAc (Melis et al., 2007). Both D₁ and D₂ expressing MSNs in the NAc receive direct dopaminergic inputs from the VTA, thus OXY activity in the VTA can initiate dopamine release in the NAc (Fallon & Moore, 1978; Melis et al., 2007; Nauta et al., 1978). Detailed studies in mice by Hung et al. (2017) revealed OXY release in the VTA from PVN oxytocinergic neurons is necessary for social reward, and these neurons have increased activity during social interaction. Furthermore, activation of both PVN oxytocinergic neurons and their terminals in the VTA are sufficient to increase prosocial behaviours, while inhibiting oxytocinergic PVN terminals in the VTA decreases prosocial behaviours (Hung et al., 2017). Consistent with this, Song et al. (2016) demonstrated VTA OXTRs are critical for the rewarding properties of social interaction in male hamsters. Therefore, loss of NAc D₁ receptors through NAc OXY-saporin injection could also explain how s.c. OXY was unable to increase social interaction following NAc OXY-saporin. It is of interest that Peris et al. (2017) found that fibres of VTA OXTR expressing neurons were predominantly found on the border of the NAc shell and core; the location at which we targeted our OXY-saporin injection. Although it is unknown whether these specific neurons terminated in the NAc, if they were to release dopamine in this location, where there is likely to have been a loss of D₁ MSNs, the ability of OXY to enhance to rewarding nature of social interaction would have been lost. This may explain how s.c. OXY could no longer increase social interaction following administration. It is very likely that OXTR activation in multiple mesolimbic sites is involved in OXY enhancement of social behaviour, including the NAc and VTA, and may interact with other neural circuits to enhance social interaction by as yet unknown mechanisms. For example, Melis et al. (2007) demonstrated OXY in the VTA can not only increase NAc dopamine, but also dopamine in the PVN, suggesting VTA OXY activity can also influence hypothalamic circuits.

It is also worth noting OXTRs are likely also expressed on D₂ expressing MSNs. Although D₁ and D₂ expressing MSNs were originally thought to have opposing effects on behaviour and neuronal activity, brief stimulation of both D₁ and D₂ MSNs can drive reward and cocaine induced conditioned place preference, suggesting both D₁ and D₂ activity can increase motivation for natural rewards, such as social interaction (Soares-Cunha *et al.*, 2016a; Soares-Cunha *et al.*, 2020). In addition, Manduca *et al.* (2016) demonstrated blockade of both NAc D₁ and D₂ receptors can reduce social play in male Wistar rats, and in mice Dölen *et al.* (2013) demonstrated OXY can generate long-term depression on both D₁ and D₂ expressing MSNs, both of which are needed for social reward. It is also worth noting D₂ receptors are also expressed on NAc cholinergic interneurons, with receptor activation leading to phasic dopamine release in the NAc (Aubry *et al.*, 1993; Cachope *et al.*, 2012). Therefore, it is possible activity of these cholinergic interneurons may also enhance social interaction.

There are a few other important aspects to consider when discussing the role of NAc OXTRs in social behaviour. Firstly, the role of NAc OXTRs appears to change across development, thus the effects of the OXTR demonstrated here may not be consistent with what would be observed in pups. In young male mice Dölen et al. (2013) found OXTRs expressed on axon terminals of dorsal raphe neurons in the NAc core, with social reward requiring coordinated activity of both OXY and 5-HT to generate long term depression of excitatory synapses onto D₁ and D₂ MSNs in the NAc. However, this is not the case in adult mice (Nardou et al., 2019; Williams et al., 2020). Secondly, the NAc shell and core may have differing roles in social behaviour. Yang et al. (2018) demonstrated different sub regions of the NAc shell innervate different VTA neurons. The medial NAc shell primarily synapses to VTA GABA receptors on dopaminergic neurons, through GABA_B receptors (Edwards *et al.*, 2017; Yang *et al.*, 2018). In contrast, the NAc lateral shell projects to VTA GABAergic neurons, synapsing with GABA_A receptors (Edwards et al., 2017; Yang et al., 2018). Therefore, to fully understand the role of NAc OXTRs in social behaviour role of OXTRs in different regions of the NAc need to be considered. Finally, although NAc saporin prevented OXY enhancement of social behaviour, it had no effect on OXYs attenuation of aggressive behaviours during social interaction. Therefore, OXY is likely to be exerting

its effects elsewhere to reduce aggression. For example, OXY may be acting in the central amygdala to reduce aggression, as shown by Calcagnoli *et al.* (2015b).

Due to the lack of a commercially available anti-OXTR antibody and other constraints it was not possible to identify the phenotype of the neurons destroyed by OXYsaporin injection. Identifying the phenotype of the OXTR expressing neurons involved would shed further light on the mechanisms through which s.c. OXY can increase social interaction. However, as NeuN is a nuclear stain it enabled us to count the cells; enabling us to quantify the neuronal loss following OXY-saporin. Following NAc OXYsaporin we saw a 42% reduction of neurons in the NAc. Baskin et al. (2010) found a greater than 50% reduction in OXTR mRNA in the NTS following injection of OXYsaporin at the same volume and dose used in this chapter. In addition, Angioni et al. (2016) found a significant reduction in substantia nigra neurons immunoreactive for tyrosine hydroxylase (50% and 90% for the pars compacta and pars reticulata respectively) and the VGlut1 glutamate transporter (73% and 75% for the pars compacta and pars reticulata respectively) following bilateral OXY-saporin at the same dose and volume used in this chapter. However, it is difficult to compare draw comparisons between these figures as the extent of neuronal loss is dependent on OXTR expression, thus widely varies between brain regions.

4.5.3 Effect of NAc OXY-saporin on production of USVs during social interaction

Consistent with Kohli *et al.* (2019) and findings from chapter 3, we saw no effect of OXY, nor NAc OXY-saporin injection, upon the production of USVs during the social interaction task. Although there is an abundance of research suggesting NAc dopamine is heavily involved in the USV production, as detailed in the introduction (Chapter 4.1), contrasting results have been observed following peripheral administration of some selective dopamine agonists. For example, peripheral administration of D₁ (A68930), D₂ (quinpirole) and D₃ (PD 1289072) agonists inhibited 50 kHz emission when given alone (Scardochio & Clarke, 2013), and while systemic

amphetamine (which binds to monoamine transporters, increasing dopamine and noradrenaline transmission) increases the rate of 50 kHz USVs, systemic administration of dopamine and noradrenaline reuptake inhibitors (GBR 12909 and nisoxetine, respectively) have no effect upon 50 kHz calls (Wright *et al.*, 2013). As the current dose of s.c. OXY increases NAc dopamine, and OXY-saporin injection likely removed OXTR expressing D₁ and D₂ MSNs, it is unlikely NAc OXTR activity is involved in the production of 50 kHz USVs. It is possible glutamatergic signalling is involved in the production of USVs. Injection of glutamate to the into the anterior hypothalamic-preoptic area in rats can dose-dependently initiate 50 kHz emission, which is antagonised by the NMDA-R antagonist, MK-801 (Fu & Brudzynski, 1994). In addition, PCP administration can reduce the emission of 50 kHz USVs in rats during tickling and the presentation of a visual stimulus (Boulay *et al.*, 2013; Swalve *et al.*, 2016). Therefore, future work should look at the role of the NMDA-R in the production of 50 kHz calls during social interaction.

4.5.3 Summary and future work

To summarise, the work in this chapter confirmed that OXTR expressing neurons in the NAc are critical for OXY enhancement of social behaviour following s.c. administration, consistent with work in mice showing NAc OXTRs are needed for social reward and social approach (Dolen *et al.*, 2013; Williams *et al.*, 2020). In addition, this study confirmed that NAc OXTR expressing neurons are not critical for OXYs 'antipsychotic-like effect', having no effect on OXYs ability to attenuate PCPinduced hyperactivity. However, the question still remains, does OXY increase social behaviours through activity at OXTRs on D₁ and D₂ expressing MSNs, enhancing NAc MSN activity and driving the rewarding aspects of social interaction, or, does OXY act elsewhere in the mesolimbic circuit, such as the VTA, to increase NAc dopamine, thereby enhancing social interaction. Therefore, the next chapter aims to gain more of an insight into the role of OXTR expressing neurons in the mesolimbic circuit through OXY-saporin injection into the VTA, and the effects this has upon social behaviour and reversal of PCP-induced hyperactivity.

Chapter 5: Oxytocin-saporin microinjection into the ventral tegmental area; effects on social behaviour and LMA activity.

5.1 Introduction

In Chapter 4 it was established NAc OXY-saporin prevents OXY enhancement of social interaction but does not alter OXY attenuation of PCP-induced hyperactivity. Within the NAc OXTRs are expressed upon MSNs (Williams *et al.*, 2020), therefore the behavioural effects following NAc OXY-saporin injection may have been due to either depletion of D₁ MSNs, or depletion of NAc OXTRs, or a combination of both. Thus, this chapter seeks to further understand the role of OXTRs in OXYs enhancement of social interaction, and OXY attenuation of PCP-induced hyperactivity.

The VTA is located towards the floor of the midbrain and is comprised of predominantly dopaminergic neurons (Xiao *et al.*, 2017). The VTA is a key component of the mesolimbic system and has been implicated in a variety of behaviours, such as cognition, motivation, and addiction (Lammel *et al.*, 2014; Morales & Margolis, 2017). The primary projections of the VTA are to the ventral striatum, primarily serving a role in reward learning (Howe & Dombeck, 2016; Xiao *et al.*, 2017). It is well documented that the VTA is highly susceptible to modulation by OXY. Within the VTA OXTRs are expressed on dopaminergic, GABAergic, and glutamatergic neurons (Peris *et al.*, 2017; Xiao *et al.*, 2017). Axonal projections of magnocellular and parvocellular PVN OXY neurons project to the VTA where they release OXY, with their terminals in close proximity to OXTR expressing dopaminergic neurons (Beier *et al.*, 2015; Hung *et al.*, 2017; Melis *et al.*, 2007; Tang *et al.*, 2014; Xiao *et al.*, 2017).

Similar to the NAc, early work indicating a role for the VTA in social behaviour came from studies of maternal and reproductive behaviours. Lesions of NAc projecting VTA dopaminergic neurons and VTA OXTR antagonism both impair maternal behaviour (Hansen *et al.*, 1993; Pedersen & Prange, 1979). Furthermore, injection of OXY into the VTA and subsequent OXTR activation causes penile erection in male Sprague

Chapter 5: VTA OXTRs

Dawley rats through activation of mesolimbic dopaminergic neurons and NAc dopamine release (Melis *et al.*, 2007; Succu *et al.*, 2008). As well as effects on reproductive social behaviours OXY can also influence non-reproductive social behaviours through VTA activity. Both OXY and vasopressin VTA administration in hamsters can enhance social conditioned place preference through OXTR activation, suggesting a role for VTA OXTRs in social reward (Song *et al.*, 2016).

Complex experiments by Hung et al. (2017) showed OXY release in the VTA from PVN neurons can enhance the activity of NAc projecting dopaminergic neurons that control social behaviours and social reward. Inhibiting OXY activity in the VTA, through either inhibition of VTA-projecting PVN neurons or selective ablation of OXTRs from VTA dopamine neurons, prevents social conditioned place preference but not cocaine conditioned place preference in mice (Hung et al., 2017). Furthermore, PVN oxytocinergic neuron activity markedly increases during social interaction, and optogenetic activation of these neurons is sufficient to increase social behaviours (Hung et al., 2017). Consistent with this work, Xiao et al. (2017) also demonstrated parvocellular PVN oxytocinergic neurons project to the VTA in mice, with OXTRs expressed upon both VTA dopaminergic and GABAergic neurons. Furthermore, OXY can increase the firing rates of VTA dopaminergic neurons through OXTR activity, with no effect of numerous GABAergic and glutamatergic antagonists; suggesting a monosynaptic effect of OXY release onto VTA dopaminergic neurons (Xiao et al., 2017). This is likely to be consistent in rats as well as mice, since Melis et al. (2007) demonstrated OXY activity in the VTA in rats can increase NAc dopamine. Further evidence in support of VTA dopaminergic neurons and their role in social behaviours comes from Gunaydin et al. (2014). During social interaction fiber photometry has revealed marked increases in VTA dopaminergic neuronal activity which coincide with the start of social interaction. Peak calcium activity in these neurons can encode and predict the onset of social interaction, and optogenetic activation of these neurons can significantly increase interaction with a novel same sex mouse during a social interaction task in both males and females (Gunaydin et al., 2014). Furthermore, inhibition of these neurons significantly decreases social interaction, suggesting activation of VTA dopaminergic neurons is sufficient to drive

Chapter 5: VTA OXTRs

social interaction, and disruption of this signalling pathway can disrupt normal social interaction (Gunaydin et al., 2014). In addition, Gunaydin et al. (2014) et al. also demonstrated D₁ receptors within the NAc mediate the effects of VTA stimulation. Infusion of SCH23390, a D₁ receptor selective antagonist, into the NAc before social interaction prevents the prosocial effect of VTA dopaminergic neuron stimulation; suggesting NAc D₁ receptor activity is critical for the prosocial effects of VTA-NAc dopaminergic projections. As such, optogenetic activation of NAc D₁ expressing cells is sufficient to increase social interaction in mice (Gunaydin et al., 2014). Numerous other groups have also shown both OXY and optogenetic activation of VTA dopaminergic neurons can evoke NAc dopamine release (Jing et al., 2019; Melis & Argiolas, 2011; Melis et al., 2007; Shahrokh et al., 2010; Succu et al., 2008). In addition to the wealth of preclinical research implicating VTA OXTR activity in the control of social behaviour, fMRI studies have shown intranasal OXY administration in humans can enhance blood oxygen level–dependent activity in the VTA, suggestive of a common role for VTA OXTRs across species (Groppe et al., 2013; Paloyelis et al., 2016).

While there is conflicting evidence surrounding the expression and role of V1aRs in the VTA in rodents (Caldwell *et al.*, 2008; Dubois-Dauphin *et al.*, 1996; Insel *et al.*, 1994; Johnson *et al.*, 1993; Ostrowski *et al.*, 1994; Tribollet *et al.*, 1988; Xiao *et al.*, 2017), recent work has suggested that the V1aR is also expressed on VTA dopaminergic and GABAergic neurons (Xiao *et al.*, 2017). OXY can signal through the V1aR to modulate behaviour (Smith *et al.*, 2019). However, due to its low affinity at the V1aR it is estimated that OXY activation of V1aRs only results in 1% of its full activity (Manning *et al.*, 2008; Tribollet *et al.*, 1988; Xiao *et al.*, 2017). We previously showed a selective V1aR antagonist had no effect on OXY enhancement of social interaction (Chapter 3), and Song *et al.* (2016) demonstrated social reward is modulated through VTA OXTR activity, and not V1aR activity, through administration of selective V1aR ant OXTR antagonists to the VTA (desGly-NH²-d(CH₂)⁵[D-Tyr²,Thr⁴]OVT and d(CH₂)₅[Tyr(Me)²]AVP, respectively), therefore it is unlikely the V1aR is involved in OXYs prosocial effects.

As shown in chapters 3 and 4, a low dose of s.c. OXY increases social interaction between two male Lister-hooded rats. S.c. OXY is transported into the brain across the BBB via the RAGE protein and is able to elevate OXY levels in the PVN (Yamamoto *et al.*, 2019). We hypothesised that OXY may be increasing PVN oxytocinergic drive onto VTA dopaminergic neurons, increasing social interaction through increased mesolimbic dopaminergic activity. Thus, using OXY-saporin injected into the VTA, we sought to determine the role of VTA OXTRs in social interaction.

The production of USVs may also be influenced by VTA activity, although we are yet to see any evidence for OXY modulation of USVs during social interaction. Studies have shown NAc dopamine from neurons originating the in VTA can initiate 50 kHz call emission (Hori *et al.*, 2013; Scardochio *et al.*, 2015; Willuhn *et al.*, 2014). Interestingly, the synthetic μ -opioid receptor agonist DAMGO can initiate 50 kHz call emission during conditioned place preference when injected directly into the VTA, while both 6-hydroxydopamine and electrolytic lesions of the VTA reduce 50 kHz call emission during tickling (Burgdorf *et al.*, 2007). It is therefore likely dopaminergic activity within the VTA may contribute, at least in part, to the emission of prosocial calls during social interaction.

OXTRs in the VTA may also be involved in OXY attenuation of PCP-induced hyperactivity. Retigabine, a KCNQ channel opener, can reduce PCP-induced hyperactivity in rats following acute administration into the VTA and substantia nigra (Hansen *et al.*, 2007; Sotty *et al.*, 2009). When administered in the VTA retigabine dose dependently reduces basal dopaminergic activity and PCP-induced c-Fos expression in the primary motor cortex (Hansen *et al.*, 2007; Sotty *et al.*, 2009), thus reductions in dopamine activity in the VTA can attenuate PCP-induced hyperactivity. In addition, Jing *et al.* (2019) found selective activation and inhibition of VTA dopaminergic neurons have a direct influence on LMA. OXY can indirectly inhibit VTA dopaminergic activity through OXTR activation of VTA GABAergic interneurons (Xiao *et al.*, 2017), thereby possibly attenuating PCP-induced hyperactivity through reduced excitatory VTA projections to motor areas.

Chapter 5: VTA OXTRs

5.2 Aims

Using VTA micro-injections of the selective OXTR toxin OXY-saporin, this chapter aimed to determine the role of VTA OXTRs on OXY enhancement of social interaction and OXY attenuation of PCP-induced hyperactivity.

5.3 Methods

5.3.1 Animals

80 male Lister-hooded rats (175-200 grams; Charles River UK) were housed in groups of three or four in individually ventilated cages with their litter mates and were specifically requested to be caged and transported with their litter mates. Cages were kept at a 12-hour light-dark cycle with all cages maintained at identical parameters, as detailed in Chapter 3.3.1. All rats were handled for seven days prior to beginning behavioural studies to reduce anxiety enhance animal welfare (LaFollette *et al.*, 2017). Housing details and ethical requirements are as described in section 3.3.1. At the end of the study all rats were killed by the S1 method of concussion, and death was confirmed by exsanguination.

5.3.2 Experimental Design

As detailed in Chapter 3.3.2, group sizes of n=10 was aimed for. This gives the statistical test >80% power to detect an effect size of η^2 =0.14 at a significance threshold of *p*=0.05, when using a when using a repeated measures, between factors ANOVA. Power analysis was conducted with GPower 3.1 (Faul *et al.*, 2007), ensuring sufficient power to allow statistically significant findings to be obtained, while still adhering to the 3R's principle.

All treatments were randomly allocated so that all litters received all treatment groups. During LMA assessment all treatment groups were randomly allocated across multiple runs to all 10 LMA arenas, to prevent any extraneous bias, and the experimenter was blinded to treatment.

5.3.3 Drugs

OXY was obtained from Bachem (St. Helens, UK) and PCP from Sigma Aldrich (Poole, UK). The toxins OXY-saporin and blank-saporin (Kit-46) were obtained from Advanced Targeting Systems (Amsterdam, The Netherlands). OXY, PCP and OXY-saporin were prepared as described in Chapter 4.3.3.

5.3.4 Saporin injection

The saporin injection was performed as described in Chapter 4.3.4, with the additional application of Gluture (Zoetis, Leatherhead, UK) to the incision following surgery, aiming to reduce the likelihood of having to re-suture animals during the recovery window. OXY-saporin was targeted to the VTA instead of the NAc, specifically co-ordinates AP: -5.8, L: \pm 0.5, V: -8.2, according to the rat brain atlas (Figure 5.1) (Paxinos & Watson, 2007). A volume of 0.5µL was used to target to the whole VTA, consistent with other groups performing VTA stereotaxic injections in rats (Maccioni *et al.*, 2018; Tabbara & Fletcher, 2019). Following surgery rats were monitored daily and healthcare checks were performed. To allow OXY-saporin to reach its maximal effect no behavioural testing was conducted until a minimum of 15 days post-surgery (Angioni *et al.*, 2016), which also allowed for full recovery from surgery, including regaining their pre-surgical weight and analgesic drug washout.



Figure 5.1: Coronal slice showing the saporin injection site located centrally within the VTA (AP: -5.8, L: ±0.5, V: -8.2), according to the rat brain atlas (Paxinos & Watson, 2007).

5.3.5 LMA

LMA was undertaken 15-17 days post-surgery, and performed as previously described in chapter 3.3.4, excluding the administration of selective antagonists. Recording was taken for 120 minutes; comprising of 30 minutes habituation and 90 minutes behavioural testing. After testing animals were returned to their home cage. Rats received a single dose of OXY (0.1mg/kg s.c.) 45 minutes into testing, followed a single dose of PCP (5.2mg/kg i.p.) 15 minutes later. Data were calculated as mean with SEM for each five-minute epoch.

5.3.6 Social interaction

Social interaction was undertaken as described in chapter 3.3.5, excluding the administration of selective antagonists, and performed 7 days after LMA allowing for drug washout. 0.1mg/kg of OXY was administered 45 minutes before undertaking the task, and rats were sprayed with either red or green hairspray (Claire's Accessories, UK) on the nape to enable identification during tracking and behavioural scoring.

5.3.7 USVs

USVs were recorded during social interaction and analysed as described in chapter 3.3.6. After analysis, calls were further characterised into either flat, trill or step calls (further detailed in chapter 3.3.6).

5.3.8 Tissue Collection

Rats were S1 killed by concussion following social interaction, and death was immediately confirmed with exsanguination. Rat brains were then removed from the skull. Using a razor blade, brains were sliced down the midline into left and right hemispheres. Brains were fixed and frozen as described in chapter 4.3.8.

5.3.9 Data analysis

Data were analysed using GraphPad Prism (Version 7.04 for Windows) and JASP (Version 0.12.1). To analyse the LMA data a 4-way repeated measures ANOVA was selected. This enabled the examination of the group differences over time, when groups are formed by a combination of the between-subject factors. Between subject factors were OXY, PCP, and saporin, with time as the within-subjects variable. Before

Chapter 5: VTA OXTRs

conducting the four-way ANOVA it was ensured that all the assumptions required for a 4-way repeated measures ANOVA were satisfied: one dependent variable that is measured at the continuous level, three within-subjects factors that consists of two or more categorical levels, no significant outliers, homogeneity of variance (using Levene's test), the dependent variable is normally distributed for each group of the independent variable (using Shapiro-Wilk's test), and sphericity of the data (using Mauchly's sphericity test). To determine which specific groups significantly differed from each other, if applicable, a Tukey's post-hoc was run. Tukey's post-hoc was selected as it compares all groups to each other and corrects for multiple comparisons; reducing the risk of type 1 errors (Lee & Lee, 2018; Moore *et al.*, 2012; Whitlock & Schluter, 2015).

To analyse the social interaction data a two-way ANOVA was selected. A two-way ANOVA was used to determine whether there was an interaction effect between two independent variables (OXY and saporin) on a continuous dependent variable (social interaction duration). Similarly, a Tukey's post-hoc was selected to determine which specific groups significantly differed from each other, if applicable.

NeuN positive cells were counted by ImageJ and were analysed using an unpaired Student's t-test. A student's t-test was used to determine whether a difference exists between the means of two the independent groups, OXY-saporin and blank-saporin, on the continuous dependent variable (NeuN positive cell counts). All assumptions for the student's t-test were satisfied: independence of observations, one dependent variable measured at the continuous level, one independent variable that consists of two categorical, independent groups, homogeneity of variance and normally distributed data.

5.3.10 Immunohistochemistry

Immunohistochemistry using the primary anti-NeuN antibody (MAB377, Merck Millipore, UK) and all subsequent image analysis was performed as described in

Chapter 4.3.9, with all immunohistochemistry being performed on the left hemisphere.

5.4 Results

5.4.1 LMA

To determine whether VTA OXTRs are involved in OXY attenuation of PCPhyperactivity, a model commonly used to assess antipsychotic efficacy (Jentsch & Roth, 1999; Jones et al., 2011), a LMA task was performed 15-16 days following administration of OXY-saporin in the VTA. LMA was recorded in computerised, Perspex arenas areas for two hours; allowing habituation to the novel environment and the assessment of LMA following drug administration. One rodent was S1 killed following surgery due to adverse effects (possible stroke during surgery) and 5 rats were not included in the analysis due to human error during drug administration. For LMA analysis data was divided into three sections and analysed separately: the habituation phase (0-30min, data not shown), the 30 min following OXY administration (30-60 min), and then the post-PCP phase (60-120 min). Mauchly's test of sphericity indicated the assumption of sphericity had been violated for all interactions (p < 0.05), therefore a Greenhouse-Geisser correction was used. There was no significant difference between the treatment groups in the habituation phase $(F_{(4.326, 285)}=0.411, p=0.815;$ four-way repeated measures ANOVA), nor any effect of OXY on LMA prior to PCP administration ($F_{(5, 330)}$ =0.716, p=0.612; four-way repeated measures ANOVA), therefore all treatment groups had the same level of basal activity before PCP administration. Data analysis subsequently focussed on the data accrued following PCP administration (60 min onwards).

A four-way repeated measures ANOVA of the 60 minutes following PCP administration was performed and revealed a significant three-way interaction between time * OXY * PCP ($F_{(4.141, 273)}$ =2.45, p=0.045), as well as significant two-way interactions between time * OXY ($F_{(4.141, 273)}$ =2.99, p=0.018) and time * PCP ($F_{(4.141, 273)}$ =2.99, p=0.018)

 $_{273)}$ =23.11, *p*<0.001). There was also a significant main effect of time (*F*_(4.141, 273)=49.27, *p*<0.001) (all details in Appendix 2). Regardless of OXY-saporin administration, PCP was able to significantly increase LMA for 25 minutes following administration (Tukey's post-hoc; 65-80mins P<0.001, 85min *p*<0.01). Furthermore, OXY administration attenuated PCP-hyperactivity regardless of black-saporin control or OXY-saporin administration, although this only reached significance at the 70min time point (Tukey's post-hoc; *p*<0.05) (Figure 5.2).



Figure 5.2: Time course of PCP-induced hyperactivity in the presence and absence of OXY, in rats that had received bilateral VTA injections of either OXY-saporin or blank-saporin (mean + SEM, n=9 (blank_sap_saline_veh, blank-sap_OXY_veh, blank-sap_saline_PCP, OXY-sap_saline_veh, OXY-sap_saline_PCP and OXY-sap_OXY_veh) or 10 (all other groups)). Four-way ANOVA revealed significant interactions between time * OXY * PCP ($F_{(4.141, 273)}$ =2.45, p=0.045), time * OXY ($F_{(4.141, 273)}$ =2.99, p=0.018) and time * PCP ($F_{(4.141, 273)}$ =23.11, p<0.001). There was also a significant main effect of time ($F_{(4.141, 273)}$ =49.27, p<0.001). Tukey's post-hoc on the three-way interaction showed PCP was able to significantly increase LMA from 65-85 minutes, regardless of saporin administration (Time point 65-80mins p<0.001, time point 85min p<0.01). Administration of OXY alongside PCP was able to attenuate PCP-hyperactivity regardless of saporin administration, although this only reached significance at time point 70min (p<0.05). * p<0.05 compared to saline_PCP, Tukey's post-hoc.

Consistent with LMA experiments in chapter 4, the peak effect of PCP administration on LMA lasted for 15 minutes, therefore further analysis focussed specifically on this window. Analysis with a three-way ANOVA revealed no significant interactions; only a significant main effect of PCP ($F_{(1, 66)}=76.71$, p<0.001) and OXY ($F_{(1, 66)}=9.66$, p=0.003). PCP administration increased LMA counts (864 ± 67.2 and 703.6 ± 127, for blank-sap and OXY-saporin respectively) compared to the control group (247 ± 10.9), while administration of OXY seemed to attenuate this, regardless of VTA OXY-saporin (527 ± 98.7 and 566 ± 65.8, for blank-sap and OXY-saporin respectively) (Figure 5.3).



Figure 5.3: Total ambulation for the first 15 minutes following PCP administration in rats that had received bilateral VTA injections of either OXY-saporin or blank-saporin (mean + SEM, n=9 (blank_sap_saline_veh, blank-sap_OXY_veh, blank-sap_saline_PCP, OXY-sap_saline_veh, OXY-sap_saline_PCP and OXY-sap_OXY_veh) or 10 (all other groups)). Analysis with a three-way ANOVA revealed no significant interactions; only a significant main effect of PCP ($F_{(1, 66)}$ =76.71, p<0.001) and OXY ($F_{(1, 66)}$ =9.66, p=0.003). PCP appeared to increase LMA, with administration of OXY seeming to attenuate this.

Chapter 5: VTA OXTRs

5.4.2 Social Interaction

To determine whether OXTRs in the VTA play a role in OXY enhancement of social interaction, we performed a social interaction task 22-24 days following surgery. Social interaction was performed in an open field arena with a novel weight- and treatment-matched rat. Behaviours were analysed on video following recording. The total duration of prosocial behaviours (body sniffing, anogenital sniffing, following, crawling over and under, and lying side-by-side) were analysed using a two-way ANOVA. Analysis revealed a significant interaction between OXY and saporin ($F_{(1, 35)}$ =12.66, p=0.001), and a significant main effect saporin ($F_{(1, 35)}$ =23.01, p<0.001). OXY significantly increased the total duration of prosocial behaviours in blank-saporin controls (p<0.01, Tukey's post-hoc), but this not seen following VTA injection of OXY-saporin (Figure 5.4).



Figure 5.4: Total duration of prosocial behaviours during a social interaction task following VTA OXY-saporin injection and acute OXY (mean + SEM, n=9 (blank-sap and OXY) or 10 (all other groups) per group). Two-way ANOVA showed a statistically significant interaction between OXY and saporin ($F_{(1, 35)}$ =12.66, p=0.001), and a significant main effect saporin ($F_{(1, 35)}$ =23.01, p<0.001). OXY significantly increased the total duration of prosocial behaviours (p<0.01, Tukey's post-hoc), which was not seen following VTA injection of OXY-saporin. ** p<0.01 compared to blank-sap and saline, ### p<0.001 and ## p<0.01 compared to blank-sap and OXY, Tukey's post-hoc.

Sniffing behaviours made up the biggest proportion of prosocial behaviours observed. Therefore, the effect of treatment upon both body sniffing and anogenital sniffing was further examined. Two-way ANOVA of body sniffing duration showed a significant interaction between OXY and saporin ($F_{(1, 35)}$ =5.42, p=0.026), as well a significant main effect of saporin ($F_{(1, 35)}$ =11.79, p=0.002), such that OXY significantly increased body sniffing in blank-saporin rats (p<0.05) but in contrast failed to increase the duration of body sniffing following VTA OXY-saporin. Similarly, two-way ANOVA of anogenital sniffing revealed a significant interaction between OXY and saporin ($F_{1, 35}$ =11.35, p<0.01), as well as a significant main effect saporin ($F_{(1, 35)}$ =13.79, p<0.001). As with body sniffing, OXY significantly increased the total duration of anogenital

sniffing (*p*<0.05), but this was not observed following VTA injection of OXY-saporin (Figure 5.5).



Figure 5.5: Total duration of anogenital and body sniffing behaviours during social interaction, following VTA OXY-saporin injection and acute OXY (mean + SEM, n=9 (blank-sap and OXY) or 10 (all other groups) per group). Two-way ANOVA of anogenital sniffing duration showed a significant interaction between OXY and saporin ($F_{(1, 35)}$ =11.35, p<0.001), and a significant main effect saporin ($F_{(1, 35)}$ =13.79, p<0.001). OXY significantly increased the duration of anogenital sniffing (p<0.05, Tukey's post-hoc), which was not observed following VTA injection of OXY-saporin. Similarly, two-way ANOVA of body sniffing revealed a significant interaction between OXY and saporin ($F_{(1, 35)}$ =5.42, p=0.026), as well a significant main effect of saporin ($F_{(1, 35)}$ =11.79, p=0.002), such that OXY could no longer significantly increase the duration of body sniffing following VTA OXY-saporin (p<0.05, Tukey's post-hoc). * p<0.05 compared to blank-sap and Saline, # p<0.05, ## p<0.01, and ### p<0.001 compared to blank-sap and OXY.

The other prosocial behaviours analysed during social interaction included crawling over and under, lying side by side, and following. There was no significant effect of treatment upon the duration of crawling over and under, with less than 50% of pairs exhibiting this behaviour (Two-way ANOVA, $F_{(1, 35)}$ =0.88, p=0.35, data not shown). However, two-way ANOVA of lying side by side durations revealed a significant interaction between OXY and VTA saporin ($F_{(1, 35)}$ =4.85, p=0.034), though Tukey's post-hoc indicated no significant differences between groups. Analysis of following duration also showed a significant interaction between OXY and VTA saporin (Twoway ANOVA; $F_{(1, 35)}$ =4.39, p=0.044), with OXY-saporin and saline showing significantly less following behaviours than blank-saporin and saline (p<0.05, Tukey's post-hoc) (Figure 5.6).


Figure 5.6: The effect of VTA OXY-saporin injection and acute OXY administration on the durations of lying side by side (A) and following (B) during social interaction (mean + SEM, n=9 (blank-sap and OXY) or 10 (all other groups) per group). (A) Two-way ANOVA of lying side by side durations revealed a significant interaction OXY and VTA saporin ($F_{(1, 35)}$ =4.85, p=0.034), however Tukey's post-hoc showed no significant differences between groups. (B) Analysis of following duration also showed a significant interaction between OXY and VTA saporin (Two-way ANOVA; ($F_{(1, 35)}$ =4.39, p=0.044), with OXY-saporin + saline showing significantly less following behaviours than blank-saporin + saline (p<0.05, Tukey's post-hoc). * p<0.05 compared to blanksap and saline.

Two of the behaviours scored during social interaction are considered aggressive behaviours (boxing and biting and pinning), therefore the effect of treatment on the duration of aggressive behaviours was examined. However, analysis with a two-way ANOVA indicated no significant effect of treatment upon the duration of aggressive behaviours ($F_{(1, 35)} = 0.10$, p = 0.75).



Figure 5.7: Total duration of aggressive behaviours during a social interaction task following VTA OXY-saporin injection and acute OXY (mean + SEM, n=9 (blank-sap and OXY) or 10 (all other groups) per group). Two-way ANOVA showed no significant effect of treatment upon the duration of aggressive behaviours ($F_{(1, 35)}$ =0.10, p=0.75).

5.4.3 USVs

During social interaction rats emit USVs as a means of communication, with 50 kHz prosocial calls being indicative of a positive affect (Brudzynski, 2015). Following identification 50 kHz calls were classified into three different types of prosocial call:

flat, trill, and step, and the effect of treatment upon each call type was examined. One day of USV recordings were lost due to a technical fault with the recording equipment, therefore n=6 (blank-sap and saline), 7 (OXY-saporin and saline) or 8 (all other groups) per group. As with previous USV data, call counts were log_{10} transformed to produce a normal distribution for analysis. A two-way ANOVA for each call type revealed no significant main effects of treatment on any type of call emitted during social interaction ($F_{(1, 25)} = 1.61$, p=0.21, $F_{(1, 25)} = 4.16$, p=0.06, $F_{(1, 25)}$ =0.97, p=0.33 for flat, step, and trill calls respectively) (Figure 5.8).



Figure 5.8: The effect of VTA OXY-saporin on the production of (A) flat, (B) step, and (C) trill 50 kHz calls (\log_{10} mean ± SEM, n=6 (blank-sap and saline), 7 (OXY-saporin and saline)/ or 8 (all other groups) per group). Data was \log_{10} transformed to produce a normal distribution for analysis. Two-way ANOVA revealed there was no significant effect of treatment upon either flat ($F_{(1, 25)}$ =1.61, p=0.21), step ($F_{(1, 25)}$ =4.16, p=0.06), or trill ($F_{(1, 25)}$ =0.97, p=0.33) call production.

Further analysis specifically focussed on the percentage of FM 50 kHz calls emitted, as these are strongly associated with a positive affect and rewarding situations, such as social interaction (Brudzynski, 2015). Two-way ANOVA revealed no significant

effect of treatment upon the percentage of FM 50 kHz calls emitted during social interaction ($F_{(1, 25)}$ =3.10, p=0.091) (Figure 5.9A). The latency to first USV was also analysed, as Mulvihill and Brudzynski (2019) demonstrated reduced latency to first call occured in conjunction with increased emission of 50 kHz calls following pharmacological manipulation. However, no effect of treatment was observed upon the latency to first USV (Two-way ANOVA; $F_{(1, 25)}$ =1.14, p=0.30) (Figure 5.9B).



Figure 5.9: The effect of VTA saporin and acute OXY on (A) the percentage of FM 50 kHz calls emitted during social interaction and (B) the latency to first USV (mean + SEM, n=6 (blank-sap and saline), 7 (OXY-saporin and saline)/ or 8 (all other groups) per group). (A) Two-way ANOVA of the percentage FM 50 kHz calls emitted during social interaction revealed no significant effect of treatment ($F_{(1, 25)}$ =3.10, p=0.091) (B) Two-way ANOVA of the latency to first call also revealed no significant effect of treatment ($F_{(1, 25)}$ =1.14, p=0.30, data was log₁₀ transformed to produce a normal distribution for analysis).

Finally, to determine whether there was any relationship between the duration of prosocial behaviours and percentage of FM prosocial calls emitted during social interaction, a Pearson's correlation was conducted (Figure 5.10A). A Pearson's correlation was also used to determine whether there was a significant correlation between the duration of prosocial behaviours and the latency to first USV (Figure 5.10B). However, Pearson's correlation found no significant correlation between either the duration of prosocial behaviours and the percentage of prosocial FM USVs emitted during the social interaction task (r(27)=0.18, p=0.35), nor the duration of prosocial behaviours with the latency to first call (r(27)=-0.06, p=0.75).



Figure 5.10: The correlation between the duration of prosocial behaviours in social interaction with (A) the percentage of FM prosocial calls emitted and (B) the latency to first USV. A Pearson's correlation found no statistically significant correlation between either the duration of prosocial behaviours and percentage prosocial FM USVs emitted during the social interaction task (r(27)=0.18, p=0.35), nor the duration of prosocial behaviours with the latency to first call during social interaction (r(27)=0.05, p=0.79, latency to first call data was log_{10} transformed to produce a normal distribution).

Chapter 5: VTA OXTRs

5.4.4 Immunohistochemistry

In order to confirm the saporin injection placement was within the VTA and to determine whether there had been any loss of neurons following the OXY-saporin micro-injection, immunohistochemistry was performed using an anti-NeuN primary antibody. Slices containing the planned VTA injection site, as determined using the Rat Brain Atlas (Paxinos & Watson, 2007), were used for immunohistochemistry. One brain was excluded due to damage upon removal from the skull. Images revealed a visual loss of neurons within the VTA (Figure 5.11). Counting VTA NeuN positive cells in images taken at x20 magnification revealed there was a significant reduction in neurons following OXY-saporin injection to the VTA (mean = 20.95 ± 1.78), when compared to blank-saporin control injection (mean = 60.2 ± 2.56 ; $t_{(76)}$ =12.61, p<0.001; Student's unpaired *t*-test) (Figure 5.12).



Figure 5.11: Representative images (showing the group mean) taken of the VTA after VTA OXY-saporin injection, taken at magnification x4 (A) and x20 (B) following immunohistochemical staining of cell bodies (DAPI; blue), neuronal nuclei (NeuN; red), and both images merged (Merge; blue and red). Images were taken on $60\mu m$ coronal sections in the location of VTA saporin injection (AP: -5.8, L: ±0.5, V: -8.2) and show a visible loss of neurons in the OXY-saporin condition. Scale bar represents 250 μ m in x4 images and 50 μ m in x20 images.



Figure 5.12: The effect of a VTA OXY-sap injection on the number of NeuN positive cells in the VTA (mean \pm SEM, n=39/group). VTA OXY-sap injection caused a significant reduction in the number of neurons in the VTA (mean = 20.95 \pm 1.78), compared to the blank-sap control injection (mean = 60.2 \pm 2.56; t₍₇₆₎=12.61, *p*<0.001; Student's unpaired *t*-test).

5.5 Discussion

5.5.1 Effect of VTA OXY-saporin on OXY attenuation of PCPinduced hyperactivity

During this study we saw no effect of VTA saporin on OXY attenuation of PCPhyperactivity. Despite the fact previous work has suggested reducing VTA dopaminergic activity can prevent PCP-induced hyperactivity (Hansen *et al.*, 2007; Sotty *et al.*, 2009), it is very unlikely this is the mechanism through which OXY achieves this. Although OXY can indirectly inhibit VTA dopaminergic activity through OXTR activation of VTA GABAergic interneurons, this is likely counteracted by direct OXY action on dopamine neurons. This would result in an overall increase in dopaminergic activity, the proposed mechanism through which OXY enhances social

Chapter 5: VTA OXTRs

interaction (Peris *et al.*, 2017; Xiao *et al.*, 2017). Furthermore, OXTRs are also expressed on glutamatergic neurons in the VTA (Peris *et al.*, 2017). As no effect of VTA OXY-saporin was observed upon PCP-hyperactivity, or on OXY attenuation of PCP-hyperactivity, it is unlikely VTA glutamatergic neurotransmission is involved. However, although there was a 66% reduction in the number of VTA neurons following OXY-saporin administration, due to the absence of any commercially available selective OXTR antibody we were unable to determine whether there were still OXTR expressing neurons remaining following OXY-saporin micro-injection. Therefore, it is possible there may be sufficient expression of OXTR-neurons remaining to enable OXY to reduce PCP-hyperactivity through modulation of VTA activity, despite preceding toxin administration.

It is of note that as well as the PVN sending axonal oxytocinergic projections to the VTA, it also sends monosynaptic projections to the substantia nigra (SN) (Watabe-Uchida et al., 2012). The SN is part of the nigrostriatal dopamine pathway; connecting the SN with the dorsal striatum through dopaminergic connections (Björklund & Dunnett, 2007). The nigrostriatal pathway is critical in the modification of movement, with reduced dopaminergic activity associated with impairments in normal movement, as seen in Parkinson's disease (Hodge & Butcher, 1980). SN dopaminergic projections to the dorsal striatum synapse onto two separate populations of neurons; D₁ and D₂ expressing MSNs (Gerfen & Surmeier, 2011; Lobo, 2009). D₁ neurons form the 'direct pathway' of the basal ganglia, sending inhibitory projections to the internal globus pallidus (GPi), while the D₂ pathway forms the 'indirect pathway', indirectly stimulating the GPi through the external globus pallidus (GPe) and subthalamic nucleus (STN). The GPi then sends inhibitory projections to the ventral anterior and ventral lateral nuclei of the thalamus and, depending upon the balance between the stimulatory indirect pathway and inhibitory direct pathway, will then either inhibit or disinhibit motor outputs through stimulation of the motor cortex (Figure 5.13). Within the SN pars compacta (SNc) OXY can decrease the firing of dopamine neurons (Xiao et al., 2017). OXTRs are primarily expressed on a population of local GABA neurons in the dorsolateral region of the SNc, an area that also receives the majority of PVN to SNc oxytocinergic projections (Xiao et al., 2017). Therefore, OXY activity in

168

Chapter 5: VTA OXTRs

the SNc can indirectly inhibit SNc dopamine neurons, through OXTR activity on GABA neurons, reducing movement (Xiao et al., 2017). Consistent with this hypothesis, increasing oxytocinergic activity in the SNc through direct OXY infusions results in decreased LMA, while decreasing oxytocinergic activity through either OXY-saporin injection or OXTR antagonism in the SNc increases LMA in rats (Angioni et al., 2016). Therefore, it is possible OXY could reduce PCP-hyperactivity through facilitating GABAergic activity and reducing dopaminergic tone in the nigrostriatal pathway following s.c. OXY (Figure 5.13). However, it should be noted that in contrast to Xiao et al. (2017), Angioni et al. (2016) found OXTR expression on both dopaminergic and glutamatergic neurons in the SN. OXTR activity on dopamine neurons is unlikely to account for reduced LMA seen following OXY administration, given OXY facilitates dopaminergic activity in the SNc (Xiao et al., 2017). However, Angioni hypothesised that OXY may reduce movement by facilitating GABAergic efferents to the thalamus and motor cortex. Stimulating OXTRs on glutamatergic terminals in the SN pars reticulata (SNr) releases glutamate to GABAergic neurons, increasing the inhibitory tone and reducing excitatory thalamic projections to the motor cortex (Figure 5.13). It is well documented that glutamatergic activity in the SN can modulate GABAergic and dopaminergic projections to the thalamus, therefore this may also explain how OXY can reduce PCP-hyperactivity (Angioni et al., 2016). The V1aR is also expressed in the SN (Vaccari *et al.*, 1998). Although the phenotype of the neurons it is expressed on are unknown, it may be possible OXY is also acting through the V1aR to attenuate PCP-induced hyperactivity; potentially explaining why OXY was no longer able to attenuate PCP-hyperactivity following administration of the V1aR antagonist SR 49059. It is likely that the mechanisms mentioned above are not mutually exclusive, and all contribute to OXY reductions of LMA following PCP.



Figure 5.13: Diagram demonstrating the potential mechanisms through which OXY could inhibit PCP-hyperactivity through substantia nigra activity. Following s.c. administration OXY levels increase in the PVN, an area with oxytocinergic projections to the substantia nigra. Within the SNc OXTRs are expressed on local GABA neurons. This inhibits nigrostriatal dopamine neurons (DOPA) projecting to the dorsal striatum (dStri). Reduced dopaminergic activity in the dStri then disinhibits the GPi, resulting in increased inhibition of the thalamus (Thal). Inhibition of the thalamus reduces excitatory outputs to the motor cortex; explaining how OXY could act in the SN pars compacta (SNc) to reduce PCP-hyperactivity. OXTRs are also expressed in the SN pars reticulata (SNr) on glutamatergic (GLUT) terminals originating from the subthalamic nucleus (STN). Stimulation of OXTRs on glutamatergic terminals increases glutamatergic tone, increasing GABAergic efferents to the thalamus, reducing excitatory outputs to the motor cortex.

5.5.2 Effect of VTA OXY-saporin on OXY enhancement of social interaction

During this study we again showed s.c. OXY can enhance social interaction between two novel conspecifics, predominantly through increased body sniffing and anogenital sniffing, consistent with previous work in this thesis and Kohli *et al.* (2019). Immunohistochemistry confirmed OXY-saporin injections in the VTA caused significant neuronal loss. Following VTA OXY-saporin injection s.c. OXY elevation of social interaction was not seen, suggesting a critical role for VTA OXTR expressing neurons in OXY enhancement of social interaction. Although VTA OXY-saporin prevented OXY enhancement of social interaction, it did not reduce levels to lower than that of the control groups.

Given previous findings in this thesis it is very likely OXY is enhancing social interaction through modulation of mesolimbic dopamine, with removal of OXTR expressing neurons in both the VTA and NAc preventing OXY enhancement of social behaviour. S.c. OXY administration increases OXY in the PVN; an area which has oxytocinergic axonal projections to the VTA (Hung et al., 2017; Xiao et al., 2017; Yamamoto et al., 2019). PVN oxytocinergic neurons that project to the VTA form monosynaptic connections with mesolimbic dopamine neurons, acting at post synaptic $G\alpha_q$ coupled OXTRs to increase mesolimbic neuron activity. These dopaminergic neurons then project to the NAc, causing phasic dopamine release and acting upon D_1 NAc MSNs (Hung et al., 2017; Xiao et al., 2017). Activation of D_1 MSNs in the NAc signals reward, reinforcing behaviours and driving longer periods of social interaction (Gunaydin et al., 2014). Xiao et al. (2017) found approximately 55% of VTA dopaminergic neurons express the OXTR. Therefore, removal of OXTRs in the VTA would remove a large proportion of OXTR expressing NAc projecting dopamine neurons, reducing NAc dopamine release, and thus reducing the rewarding aspects of social interaction. This is supported by previous work in our laboratory that showed 0.1mg/kg s.c. OXY increased NAc dopamine microdialysates (Kohli et al., 2019). Resendez et al. (2020) also recently demonstrated that activation of PVN oxytocinergic neurons is sufficient to increase social preference in mice, and endogenous activity of these neurons is required for the normal expression of social behaviours. In addition, the presentation of a social stimulus activates PVN oxytocinergic neurons in a distinct manner from when presented with a non-social stimulus, suggesting OXY PVN neurons play a critical role in encoding social behaviour (Resendez *et al.*, 2020).

As well as expression on dopaminergic neurons in the VTA, Peris *et al.* (2017) also found OXTR expression on glutamatergic neurons in mice, although this is in contrast to Xiao *et al.* (2017). VTA glutamatergic neurons project to a variety of regions including the NAc, amygdala, and PFC, as well locally within the VTA (Dobi *et al.*, 2010; Taylor *et al.*, 2014). Dobi *et al.* (2010) demonstrated local VTA glutamatergic transmission can alter the activity of VTA dopamine projection neurons. Therefore, OXTR activation of glutamatergic neurons in the VTA may be another mechanism through which OXY can modulate social behaviour via mesolimbic activity.

It is of note that neither VTA OXY-saporin nor NAc OXY-saporin reduced basal levels of social interaction in control conditions. This may suggest although OXY can increase social interaction through mesolimbic dopamine, this is not the neural mechanism that underlies social interaction in the absence of administered OXY. Numerous other brain regions have been implicated in the neural mechanisms controlling social interaction. For example, the medial amygdala is part of a neural network that processes olfactory cues in rodents and can regulate behaviours such as social recognition and social memory (Bergan et al., 2014; Guthman & Vera, 2016; Halpern & Martínez-Marcos, 2003; Noack et al., 2015). The medial amygdala is also part of the SBNN, a group of interconnected brain regions thought to regulate a diverse range of social behaviours in rodents, such as aggression, sexual, and parental behaviours (Newman, 1999). Other brain regions in this network include the lateral septum, medial preoptic area, and the ventromedial and anterior hypothalamus. Differential activation of different nodes within the SBNN are thought to lead to the expression of different forms of social behaviours (Dumais & Veenema, 2016; Newman, 1999; O'Connell & Hofmann, 2012). Therefore, the administration of s.c. OXY in Lister-hooded rats is likely to be enhancing the rewarding aspects of social behaviours and subsequently driving longer periods of interaction, while activity in

the SBNN likely contributes to normal social interaction in the absence of exogenous OXY application.

To further validate our findings and gain a greater insight to OXTR activity in the VTA it would be of interest to decipher the phenotype of neurons lost following VTA OXYsaporin injection and confirm whether they are dopaminergic or otherwise. Financial constraints prevented further immunohistochemical analysis of brains and the conduction of other experiments, such as PCR analysis, which could have been used to determine neuronal phenotypes. These experiments would give more of an insight into the activity of OXY within the VTA, and either strengthen or contradict the aforementioned hypothesis.

While there is an abundance of evidence demonstrating the prosocial role of mesolimbic dopamine and OXY interactions, aversive experiences such as foot shocks and social defeat also increase dopamine release in the NAc and VTA dopaminergic activity (Brischoux et al., 2009; Greenberg et al., 2015; Tidey & Miczek, 1996). In addition, aggressive interactions between two rats can significantly increase NAc dopamine release and VTA dopamine firing patterns (Anstrom et al., 2009). Therefore, phasic dopamine neurotransmission in the mesolimbic pathway may also be involved in non-prosocial interactions, through modulating the salience of social interactions and heightening the processing of social stimuli. It may be that OXY is able to enhance the salience of both positive and negative social interactions through mesolimbic activity, having differential effects upon social behaviours depending on the context. For example, OXY may increase prosocial behaviours in a positive environment such as the social interaction task, but also increase aggression in negative environments, such as models of social stress. This would have important translational implications, with personality traits and environmental factors all contributing to the behavioural effects of OXY. For example, although OXY may enhance the salience of positive, prosocial interactions, it may also enhance the prominence of negative social interactions, having undesirable and negative effects upon social behaviour, for example increasing aggression in anti-social situations (Shamay-Tsoory & Abu-Akel, 2016).

5.5.3 Effect of VTA OXY-saporin on production of USVs

In this chapter we saw no effect of either OXY or VTA OXY-saporin on the production of 50 kHz prosocial USVs during social interaction; consistent with both previous work in this thesis and Kohli *et al.* (2019). There was also no significant correlation between the duration of prosocial behaviours and the emission of FM prosocial calls, consistent with work in both Sprague Dawley and Wistar rats (Manduca *et al.*, 2014a). Interestingly, Manduca *et al.* (2014b) found 50 kHz calls emitted during social interaction do not necessarily correlate with the performance of social behaviours, and are also emitted during grooming and exploration of the arena. This may explain why no correlation was observed in this thesis.

As discussed in chapter 4.5.2, emission of USVs are likely to be controlled by a distinct neural mechanism to the one that controls OXY enhancement of social behaviour, for example by modulation by glutamatergic neurotransmission (Hamed & Kursa, 2020). If s.c. OXY does increase prosocial behaviours by enhancing mesolimbic dopamine, it is unlikely FM 50 kHz USVs are also modulated in this manner, due to the lack of treatment effects and lack of correlation between emission and prosocial behaviours in this thesis.

5.6 Summary

In summary, this chapter has demonstrated OXTR expressing neurons in the VTA are critical for OXY enhancement of social interaction in male Lister-hooded rats; likely through enhancing mesolimbic dopamine and subsequent social reward. In addition, neither OXY nor VTA OXY-saporin had any effect upon USVs during social interaction. This suggests emission of 50 kHz USVs during social interaction are unlikely to be modulated by OXY and the mesolimbic system. This chapter also repeated previous findings showing s.c. OXY can attenuate PCP-hyperactivity in rats. In contrast to the effect on social behaviour, injection of OXY-saporin into the VTA had no effect on the ability of OXY to attenuate PCP-hyperactivity; suggesting OXY enhancement of social

behaviour and attenuation of PCP-hyperactivity are controlled by distinct neural mechanisms.

6. General Discussion

6.1 Summary of findings

The work in this thesis has contributed to improve our understanding of the neural mechanisms which promote s.c. OXYs prosocial and antipsychotic-like effects in male Lister-hooded rats. Firstly, in chapter two we established that conjugation of OXY to the novel cell-penetrating peptide, GET, hinders biological activity at the OXTR, and therefore was unsuitable for intranasal administration or for use in this thesis. A low dose of s.c. OXY was subsequently selected for the behavioural experiments performed, due to the fact it can modulate brain OXY levels without having any profound concomitant peripheral effects, such as hypothermia or sedation (Kohli *et al.*, 2019; Yamamoto *et al.*, 2019).

In chapter 3 we demonstrated s.c. OXY can both enhance social interaction between two male rats, and attenuate PCP-induced hyperactivity; indicative of an antipsychotic-like effect and consistent with previous work from this laboratory (Kohli *et al.*, 2019). Utilising selective V1aR and OXTR antagonists, SR 49059 and L-368,899 respectively, we demonstrated activity at the OXTR was responsible for OXY enhancement of social behaviour following systemic administration. However, neither OXY, nor either antagonist, had any effect upon USVs and social communication during the social interaction task. In contrast, activity at both the OXTR and V1aR are involved in the ability of OXY to reverse PCP-induced hyperactivity, such that both antagonists reduced OXY-attenuation of PCPhyperactivity. Future work could examine the effect of combined administration of OXTR and V1aR antagonists on the OXY attenuation of PCP-hyperactivity to see if this could totally prevent this effect.

Having established the receptors involved in each behaviour we identified the NAc as an area in which OXY may be acting to enhance both social behaviour and reverse PCP-hyperactivity, due to its role in maternal behaviours, pair bonding, and the ability of OXY to increase NAc dopamine overflow (Kohli *et al.*, 2019; Lei *et al.*, 2017; Ross *et* *al.*, 2009a; Shahrokh *et al.*, 2010). In addition, the NAc has high OXTR expression, as well as outputs to the VTA and subsequent motor areas (Hosp *et al.*, 2019; Nguyen *et al.*, 2018; Smith *et al.*, 2017a). To explore the effect of NAc OXTRs on social behaviour and PCP-induced hyperactivity we used bilateral micro-injections of the OXTR targeted toxin, OXY-saporin, to remove NAc OXTRs. OXY was no longer able to increase social interaction following toxin micro-injection, presumably due to the removal of NAc OXTRs; strongly implicating mesolimbic dopamine in the prosocial effect of s.c. OXY and consistent with work suggesting mesolimbic dopamine can enhance social reward and social interaction (Dölen *et al.*, 2013; Gunaydin *et al.*, 2014). However, removal of NAc OXTR expressing neurons had no effect on the ability of OXY to attenuate PCP-hyperactivity, suggesting that NAc OXTRs are not involved in OXYs antipsychotic-like effects. This is consistent with previous work demonstrating NMDA-R antagonists are still able to cause hyperactivity following chemical lesions of NAc projecting dopaminergic neurons (Carlsson & Carlsson, 1989).

The final experiment in this thesis aimed to determine the role of VTA OXTR expressing neurons on social interaction and OXY attenuation of PCP-hyperactivity; another brain region with high OXTR expression and a key node in the mesolimbic system (Peris *et al.*, 2017; Xiao *et al.*, 2017). Removal of OXTR expressing neurons in the VTA also prevented OXY enhancement of prosocial behaviours but had no effect on USVs during social interaction or on OXY's attenuation of PCP-induced hyperactivity. The involvement of the VTA in OXY-mediated social behaviours further supports the role of mesolimbic dopamine in the enhancement of social behaviour following s.c. OXY. However, as with the NAc, the VTA is unlikely to be involved in OXY-attenuation of PCP-hyperactivity.

In summary, we demonstrated s.c. OXY increases social interaction between two male rats through OXTR activity in the NAc and VTA. A possible explanation for this is that following s.c. administration OXY is likely transported into the brain by RAGE, as increased levels of OXY are observed in the PVN following s.c. OXY administration (Yamamoto & Higashida, 2020; Yamamoto *et al.*, 2019). Although the PVN is inside the BBB it is highly vascularised, which may aid RAGE-dependant entry of OXY to the

PVN (Badaut et al., 2000; Duan & Ju, 1998). The PVN has axonal projections to both the NAc, where it can modulate OXTR expressing MSNs (Dolen & Malenka, 2014; Moaddab et al., 2015; Peris et al., 2020; Williams et al., 2020), and the VTA, where it releases OXY onto dopaminergic neurons (Xiao et al., 2017). Thus, s.c. OXY is likely to increase the activity of PVN OXY projections to both the NAc and VTA. VTA dopaminergic neurons project to the NAc, where they release dopamine onto D₁ and D₂ expressing MSNs (Figure 6.1) (Gunaydin et al., 2014; Hung et al., 2017; Melis et al., 2007). Increased activity of D₁ MSNs are associated with increased reward and can modulate and increase social behaviours (Gunaydin *et al.*, 2014; Kopec *et al.*, 2018). Our experiments with OXY-saporin likely produced toxic apoptosis to either OXTR expressing NAc MSNs (following NAc OXY-saporin injection) or VTA-NAc dopaminergic projections (following VTA OXY-saporin injection); both of which prevented OXY enhancement of social behaviour. In addition, our dose of s.c. OXY is known to increase NAc dopamine efflux (Kohli et al., 2019). The associations of NAc dopamine with reward suggest that OXY may enhance social interaction by increasing the feelings of reward associated with social interaction. Increased feelings of reward are therefore likely to drive longer bouts of interaction, explaining how the dose of OXY used increased social interaction. However, there are likely to be other neural mechanisms that modulate social interaction in the absence of OXY, given removal of VTA and NAc OXTR expressing neurons did not reduce social interaction in control conditions, such that rats displayed normal levels of social behaviours.



Figure 6.1: The proposed mechanisms though which s.c. OXY can increase social behaviours and attenuate PCP-induced hyperactivity, as demonstrated in this thesis. Following s.c. administration OXY is likely transported into the brain by the RAGE, increasing OXY at the PVN. The PVN has axonal projections to both the NAc, where it can increase MSN activity, and the VTA, where it releases OXY onto dopaminergic neurons. VTA dopaminergic neurons project to the NAc, where they release dopamine onto D₁ and D₂ expressing MSNs. Increased activity of D₁ MSNs is associated with increased reward, and can modulate and drive social behaviours. As well as PVN projections to the VTA, the PVN also has direct OXY axonal projections to the SN; an area heavily involved in movement. OXY activity in the SN can reduce movement through increasing GABAergic efferents to the thalamus and reducing outputs to the motor cortex; a possible mechanism through which OXY attenuates PCP-hyperactivity.

Although this thesis found robust evidence for s.c. OXY increasing social interaction, there was no effect upon the emission of 50 kHz prosocial calls during social interaction, nor an effect of either NAc or VTA OXY-saporin injection, nor a correlation between the duration of prosocial behaviours and 50 kHz call emission. This suggests that USVs during social interaction are modulated by an alternative neural mechanism to social interaction, and that the increased social interaction we saw following OXY was not the result of increased communication. It is therefore unlikely USVs emitted during social interaction are modulated by mesolimbic activity. However, glutamatergic activity may contribute to USV emission. Recent research has shown social interaction-induced 50 kHz USVs coincide with changes in glutamate levels in the amygdala and VTA (Hamed & Kursa, 2020). However, it is of note that Manduca *et al.* (2014b) found 50 kHz calls emitted during social interaction also occur in the absence of social behaviours during social interaction tasks; such as when selfgrooming. Therefore, this may explain why we saw no correlation between 50 kHz call emission and the duration of prosocial behaviours.

In addition to the prosocial effects of OXY, we also robustly demonstrated that s.c. OXY can attenuate PCP-induced hyperactivity, likely through activity at both the OXTR and V1aR. NAc and VTA OXY-saporin injections had no effect on attenuation of PCP-induced hyperactivity; therefore, suggesting mesolimbic dopamine is unlikely to be involved. Furthermore, as OXTRs are also expressed on VTA glutamatergic neurons it is unlikely VTA glutamatergic activity is responsible for OXY attenuation of PCP-induced hyperactivity (Peris *et al.*, 2017). However, although we saw a 43% and 66% reduction in the number of neurons following OXY-saporin administration into the NAc and VTA respectively, due to the absence of any commercially available selective OXTR antibody we were not able to determine whether there were still OXTR expressing neurons remaining following OXY-saporin micro-injection. Therefore, it is possible there may be sufficient expression of OXTR neurons remaining to enable OXY to reduce PCP-hyperactivity through modulation of VTA and NAc activity, despite preceding toxin administration.

As previously discussed, s.c. OXY can increase OXY in the PVN. As well as PVN projections to the VTA, the PVN also has direct OXY axonal projections to the SN; an area heavily involved in the modulation of movement (Xiao *et al.*, 2017). OXY activity in the SN can decrease LMA (Angioni *et al.*, 2016), therefore the dose of OXY used may be reducing PCP-hyperactivity through promoting PVN to SN OXY activity and reducing movement by increased GABAergic activity in the nigrostriatal pathway (Figure 6.1). The V1aR is also expressed in the SN (Vaccari *et al.*, 1998). Although the phenotype of the neurons that V1aRs are expressed on are unknown, it may be possible OXY is also acting through the V1aR to attenuate PCP-induced hyperactivity in the SN. It should be noted that although we have hypothesised that increases in the activity of PVN oxytocinergic projections to the VTA, NAc, and SN, and the subsequent effects on mesolimbic and nigrostriatal activity, drive s.c. OXYs prosocial

and antipsychotic-like effects, the PVN also has numerous other oxytocinergic projections to other brain areas. Therefore, s.c could also be enhancing OXY activity in other regions of the brain, which also contribute to the prosocial and antipsychotic-like effects of OXY.

6.2 Future work and limitations

To expand upon work in this thesis it would be of interest to firstly determine the phenotype of the neurons lost in the NAc and VTA following OXY-saporin injection, through immunohistochemistry. This would enable us to determine which neurons are critical in OXY enhancement of social behaviour. In addition, microdialysis or voltammetry studies to determine the neurochemical activity in the VTA during social interaction, and following s.c. OXY administration, would be of great interest to either add strength to or refute the aforementioned hypothesis.

An additional area to explore to enhance our understanding of s.c. OXYs effects upon social behaviour would be to examine specific aspects of social behaviours. Social interaction is a generalised model, incorporating numerous domains of social behaviour, such as social reward, social recognition, and social approach, and, in this thesis, social communication. Although social interaction has great strengths and can enable the identification of prosocial pharmacological substances, further experiments are needed to analyse specific aspects of social behaviour. We have hypothesised that in this thesis OXY is driving social interaction through increased social reward. Therefore, in addition to social interaction it would be of great interest to observe the effects of s.c. OXY in preclinical assays looking specifically at social reward, through social conditioned place preference (Calcagnetti & Schechter, 1992; Dölen *et al.*, 2013). By using assays that focus on one specific aspect of social behaviour we may learn more about s.c. OXYs mechanism of action. It may be that OXY is also enhancing the ability of the rodents to recognise each other as novel, also contributing to increased social interaction. Thus, determining the effects of s.c. OXY on both social reward and social recognition would be insightful, as s.c. OXY may enhance both social reward and social recognition through different mechanisms.

Although social interaction has great strengths in that: it provides a more naturalistic and complex social environment than assays looking at one specific domain, it measures behaviours that naturally occur in rodents, and actions are taken to reduce anxiety (such as low light and closely weight-matched conspecifics), this paradigm does not consider some additional important aspects of social behaviour. For example, despite care being taken to ensure rats were novel, and weight- and treatment-matched, this paradigm does not take into consideration social hierarchy, where evidence suggests the subordinate rat will sniff and explore the conspecific at a reduced frequency compared with the dominant rat (Wesson, 2013). Furthermore, it is unknown whether behaviours observed between two rodents following drug administration can be generalised to social behaviours within groups. However, these criticisms can be applied to the majority of tasks measuring social behaviours. The recent advancement of technologies such as radio-frequency identification (RFID) can allow us to overcome this (Mitchell et al., 2020; Peleh et al., 2019). RFID alongside video tracking enables automatic extensive monitoring of social behaviours in multiple rodents over a long period in their home cages, and provides a more ethologically relevant measure of social behaviour (Peleh et al., 2019).

It should be noted that while the findings in this thesis indicate a potential antipsychotic-like effect of s.c. OXY, the extrapolation of attenuating PCP-hyperactivity in rats to the multifaceted human disorder of schizophrenia is speculative. To further strengthen the research indicating an antipsychotic-like effect of OXY it would be of interest to determine whether OXY can also reverse the working memory and prepulse inhibition deficits produced by acute PCP (Bakshi *et al.*, 1994; Egerton *et al.*, 2005; Mansbach & Geyer, 1989), which are analogous to symptoms seen in patients with schizophrenia. Although we have shown in this thesis that both the OXTR and V1aR are involved in the antipsychotic-like effect of OXY, and that the mesolimbic system is unlikely to be involved, a lot remains unknown. It would be of great interest to determine the brain regions involved in OXY reversal of PCP-hyperactivity; this could be through microdialysis studies or the use of further OXY-

saporin micro-injections, followed by the identification of neurons lost in brain regions such as the SN. In addition, whilst we have robustly shown s.c. OXY can enhance social interaction between two healthy rats of the same sex, it would be of significant interest to determine whether this dose of OXY can also ameliorate the deficits seen in social interaction following chronic PCP, maternal separation, or maternal immune activation; all of which have been used as preclinical models for schizophrenia (Jones et al., 2011). Reversal of these social deficits would further strengthen the research supporting the use of OXY in the treatment of psychiatric disorders with social deficits.

Finally, there are a few caveats that should be discussed when considering the translational applications of this work to humans. Firstly, in contrast to humans, rodents use olfaction as their primary method of social perception, while humans and non-human primates primarily rely upon visual and auditory cues (Althammer et al., 2018). Moreover, although OXTR expression between rodents and primates is similar, such as high expression in the mesolimbic system, there are some substantial differences (Freeman & Young, 2016). In rodents OXTR expression is dense in olfactory processing regions, whereas in primates OXTR expression is dense in regions associated with visual processing (Freeman & Young, 2016; Grinevich et al., 2016). Therefore, the ability of OXY to enhance prosocial behaviours in rodents may not entirely represent the effects of OXY in other species. Secondly, this thesis only looked at acute OXY administration. Chronic OXY is likely to cause receptor desensitisation and downregulation (Conti et al., 2009; Huang et al., 2014). Depending on the receptor reserve and the rate at which desensitisation occurs, this may severely limit the clinical utility of OXY. This is an area of receptor pharmacology that would require in-depth research. It may be possible to develop bias agonists that preferentially activate G-protein signalling without recruiting β -arrestin to the receptor, preventing receptor desensitisation (Andresen, 2011; Rajagopal et al., 2010; Rankovic et al., 2016). For example, the bias OXTR-G α_q antagonist/OXTR-G α_i agonist atosiban is able to activate the $G\alpha_i$ -coupled OXTR without recruiting β arrestin to the receptor, therefore does not cause receptor desensitisation or internalisation (Busnelli et al., 2012). Finally, the rationale behind studying the neural mechanisms of OXY was its potential for use as an adjunctive therapy in psychiatric disorders with social deficits, such as schizophrenia. The primary mechanism of action that underlies antipsychotic efficacy is D₂ receptor antagonism in the mesolimbic system (Meltzer, 1991). However, evidence in this thesis and previously published work suggests OXY enhances social behaviours through increasing mesolimbic dopamine transmission; with some evidence suggesting D₂ receptor activation is necessary for the prosocial effects of OXY (Manduca *et al.*, 2016). Therefore, the interaction between antipsychotics and OXY should be explored in future studies, as their co-administration may have counteractive effects upon behaviour.

6.3 Conclusions

The findings from this thesis confirm s.c OXY can both enhance prosocial behaviour and attenuate PCP-induced hyperactivity in male Lister-hooded rats. We demonstrated OXTRs are responsible for OXYs prosocial effects in rats, and removal of OXTR expressing neurons in the NAc and VTA both prevent OXY enhancement of social behaviour. Accompanied with evidence from published works, this suggests s.c. OXY likely promotes social interaction through enhanced mesolimbic activity. However, mesolimbic dopamine and OXY are unlikely to be involved in the production of USVs during social interaction in rodents, due to the lack of treatment effects observed throughout this thesis. Whilst removal of OXTRs in the VTA and NAc prevented prosocial effects of OXY, they had no effect upon OXY attenuation of PCPinduced hyperactivity. Activity at the both V1aR and OXTR in other regions of the brain are thus likely to contribute to these antipsychotic-like effects of OXY. Future experiments are necessary to understand the neural mechanisms that modulate OXYs antipsychotic-like effect.

Overall, this work has significantly contributed to our understanding of OXYs neural mechanisms, as well as providing robust evidence peripheral OXY can modulate behaviour through central activity. The use of OXY to treat social deficits in psychiatric disorders remains promising, and further studies are necessary to determine whether

OXY can ameliorate social deficits in rodent models of psychiatric disorders, as well as determining interactions between OXY and antipsychotics.

References

Adan, R.A., Van Leeuwen, F.W., Sonnemans, M.A., Brouns, M., Hoffman, G., Verbalis, J.G. & Burbach, J.P. (1995) Rat oxytocin receptor in brain, pituitary, mammary gland, and uterus: Partial sequence and immunocytochemical localization. *Endocrinology*, **136**, 4022-4028.

Adler, C.M., Goldberg, T.E., Malhotra, A.K., Pickar, D. & Breier, A. (1998) Effects of ketamine on thought disorder, working memory, and semantic memory in healthy volunteers. *Biol Psychiatry*, **43**, 811-816.

Akerlund, M., Bossmar, T., Brouard, R., Kostrzewska, A., Laudanski, T., Lemancewicz, A., Serradeil-Le Gal, C. & Steinwall, M. (1999) Receptor binding of oxytocin and vasopressin antagonists and inhibitory effects on isolated myometrium from preterm and term pregnant women. *Br J Obstet Gynaecol*, **106**, 1047-1053.

Aleman, A., Lincoln, T.M., Bruggeman, R., Melle, I., Arends, J., Arango, C. & Knegtering, H. (2017) Treatment of negative symptoms: Where do we stand, and where do we go? *Schizophr Res*, **186**, 55-62.

Alexander, S.P., Christopoulos, A., Davenport, A.P., Kelly, E., Marrion, N.V., Peters, J.A., Faccenda, E., Harding, S.D., Pawson, A.J., Sharman, J.L., Southan, C. & Davies, J.A. (2017) The concise guide to pharmacology 2017/18: G protein-coupled receptors. *Br J Pharmacol*, **174 Suppl 1**, S17-s129.

Alexander, S.P.H., Christopoulos, A., Davenport, A.P., Kelly, E., Mathie, A., Peters, J.A., Veale, E.L., Armstrong, J.F., Faccenda, E., Harding, S.D., Pawson, A.J., Sharman, J.L., Southan, C. & Davies, J.A. (2019) The concise guide to pharmacology 2019/20: G protein-coupled receptors. *Br J Pharmacol*, **176 Suppl 1**, S21-s141.

Althammer, F., Jirikowski, G. & Grinevich, V. (2018) The oxytocin system of mice and men - similarities and discrepancies of oxytocinergic modulation in rodents and primates. *Peptides*, **109**, 1-8.

Amico, J.A., Rauk, P.N. & Cai, H.M. (2002) Estradiol and progesterone regulate oxytocin receptor binding and expression in human breast cancer cell lines. *Endocrine*, **18**, 79-84.

Andresen, B.T. (2011) A pharmacological primer of biased agonism. *Endocr Metab Immune Disord Drug Targets*, **11**, 92-98. Angioni, L., Cocco, C., Ferri, G.L., Argiolas, A., Melis, M.R. & Sanna, F. (2016) Involvement of nigral oxytocin in locomotor activity: A behavioral, immunohistochemical and lesion study in male rats. *Horm Behav*, **83**, 23-38.

Anstrom, K.K., Miczek, K.A. & Budygin, E.A. (2009) Increased phasic dopamine signaling in the mesolimbic pathway during social defeat in rats. *Neuroscience*, **161**, 3-12.

Assaf, M., Hyatt, C.J., Wong, C.G., Johnson, M.R., Schultz, R.T., Hendler, T. & Pearlson, G.D. (2013) Mentalizing and motivation neural function during social interactions in autism spectrum disorders. *Neuroimage Clin*, **3**, 321-331.

Assini, R., Sirotin, Y.B. & Laplagne, D.A. (2013) Rapid triggering of vocalizations following social interactions. *Curr Biol*, **23**, R996-r997.

Aubry, J.M., Schulz, M.F., Pagliusi, S., Schulz, P. & Kiss, J.Z. (1993) Coexpression of dopamine d2 and substance p (neurokinin-1) receptor messenger rnas by a subpopulation of cholinergic neurons in the rat striatum. *Neuroscience*, **53**, 417-424.

Augustine, G.J. (2001) How does calcium trigger neurotransmitter release? *Curr Opin Neurobiol*, **11**, 320-326.

Augustine, R.A., Ladyman, S.R., Bouwer, G.T., Alyousif, Y., Sapsford, T.J., Scott, V., Kokay, I.C., Grattan, D.R. & Brown, C.H. (2017) Prolactin regulation of oxytocin neurone activity in pregnancy and lactation. *J Physiol*, **595**, 3591-3605.

Badaut, J., Nehlig, A., Verbavatz, J., Stoeckel, M., Freund-Mercier, M.J. & Lasbennes, F. (2000) Hypervascularization in the magnocellular nuclei of the rat hypothalamus: Relationship with the distribution of aquaporin-4 and markers of energy metabolism. *J Neuroendocrinol*, **12**, 960-969.

Bagga, S., Seth, D. & Batra, J.K. (2003) The cytotoxic activity of ribosome-inactivating protein saporin-6 is attributed to its rrna n-glycosidase and internucleosomal DNA fragmentation activities. *J Biol Chem*, **278**, 4813-4820.

Bagur, R. & Hajnóczky, G. (2017) Intracellular ca(2+) sensing: Its role in calcium homeostasis and signaling. *Mol Cell*, **66**, 780-788.

Bailey, C.P., Llorente, J., Gabra, B.H., Smith, F.L., Dewey, W.L., Kelly, E. & Henderson, G. (2009) Role of protein kinase c and mu-opioid receptor (mopr) desensitization in tolerance to morphine in rat locus coeruleus neurons. *Eur J Neurosci*, **29**, 307-318.

Baimel, C., McGarry, L.M. & Carter, A.G. (2019) The projection targets of medium spiny neurons govern cocaine-evoked synaptic plasticity in the nucleus accumbens. *Cell Reports*, **28**, 2256-2263.e2253.

Bains, J.S. & Ferguson, A.V. (1999) Activation of n-methyl-d-aspartate receptors evokes calcium spikes in the dendrites of rat hypothalamic paraventricular nucleus neurons. *Neuroscience*, **90**, 885-891.

Bakshi, V.P., Swerdlow, N.R. & Geyer, M.A. (1994) Clozapine antagonizes phencyclidine-induced deficits in sensorimotor gating of the startle response. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, **271**, 787-794.

Bale, T.L., Dorsa, D.M. & Johnston, C.A. (1995) Oxytocin receptor mrna expression in the ventromedial hypothalamus during the estrous cycle. *J Neurosci*, **15**, 5058-5064.

Bales, K.L. & Perkeybile, A.M. (2012) Developmental experiences and the oxytocin receptor system. *Horm Behav*, **61**, 313-319.

Bales, K.L., Perkeybile, A.M., Conley, O.G., Lee, M.H., Guoynes, C.D., Downing, G.M., Yun, C.R., Solomon, M., Jacob, S. & Mendoza, S.P. (2013) Chronic intranasal oxytocin causes long-term impairments in partner preference formation in male prairie voles. *Biol Psychiatry*, **74**, 180-188.

Balu, D.T. (2016) The nmda receptor and schizophrenia: From pathophysiology to treatment. *Adv Pharmacol*, **76**, 351-382.

Bambini-Junior, V., Rodrigues, L., Behr, G.A., Moreira, J.C., Riesgo, R. & Gottfried, C. (2011) Animal model of autism induced by prenatal exposure to valproate: Behavioral changes and liver parameters. *Brain Res*, **1408**, 8-16.

Bamford, N.S. & Wang, W. (2019) Corticostriatal plasticity in the nucleus accumbens core. *J Neurosci Res*, **97**, 1559-1578.

Barberis, C., Mouillac, B. & Durroux, T. (1998) Structural bases of vasopressin/oxytocin receptor function. *J Endocrinol*, **156**, 223-229.

Barker, D.J., Root, D.H., Ma, S., Jha, S., Megehee, L., Pawlak, A.P. & West, M.O. (2010) Dose-dependent differences in short ultrasonic vocalizations emitted by rats during cocaine self-administration. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, **211**, 435-442.

Barlati, S., Minelli, A., Ceraso, A., Nibbio, G., Carvalho Silva, R., Deste, G., Turrina, C. & Vita, A. (2020) Social cognition in a research domain criteria perspective: A bridge between schizophrenia and autism spectra disorders. *Front Psychiatry*, **11**, 806.

Barraza, J.A. & Zak, P.J. (2009) Empathy toward strangers triggers oxytocin release and subsequent generosity. *Ann N Y Acad Sci*, **1167**, 182-189.

Bartz, J.A., Nitschke, J.P., Krol, S.A. & Tellier, P.P. (2019) Oxytocin selectively improves empathic accuracy: A replication in men and novel insights in women. *Biol Psychiatry Cogn Neurosci Neuroimaging*, **4**, 1042-1048.

Baskin, D.G., Kim, F., Gelling, R.W., Russell, B.J., Schwartz, M.W., Morton, G.J., Simhan, H.N., Moralejo, D.H. & Blevins, J.E. (2010) A new oxytocin-saporin cytotoxin for lesioning oxytocin-receptive neurons in the rat hindbrain *Endocrinology*, pp. 4207-4213.

Bast, T. & Feldon, J. (2003) Hippocampal modulation of sensorimotor processes. *Prog Neurobiol*, **70**, 319-345.

Baumgartner, T., Heinrichs, M., Vonlanthen, A., Fischbacher, U. & Fehr, E. (2008) Oxytocin shapes the neural circuitry of trust and trust adaptation in humans. *Neuron*, **58**, 639-650.

Beets, I., Janssen, T., Meelkop, E., Temmerman, L., Suetens, N., Rademakers, S., Jansen, G. & Schoofs, L. (2012) Vasopressin/oxytocin-related signaling regulates gustatory associative learning in c. Elegans. *Science*, **338**, 543-545.

Beier, K.T., Steinberg, E.E., DeLoach, K.E., Xie, S., Miyamichi, K., Schwarz, L., Gao, X.J., Kremer, E.J., Malenka, R.C. & Luo, L. (2015) Circuit architecture of vta dopamine neurons revealed by systematic input-output mapping. *Cell*, **162**, 622-634.

Benelli, A., Bertolini, A., Poggioli, R., Menozzi, B., Basaglia, R. & Arletti, R. (1995) Polymodal dose-response curve for oxytocin in the social recognition test. *Neuropeptides*, **28**, 251-255.

Bergan, J.F., Ben-Shaul, Y. & Dulac, C. (2014) Sex-specific processing of social cues in the medial amygdala. *Elife*, **3**, e02743.

Berrada, K., Plesnicher, C.L., Luo, X. & Thibonnier, M. (2000) Dynamic interaction of human vasopressin/oxytocin receptor subtypes with g protein-coupled receptor kinases and protein kinase c after agonist stimulation. *J Biol Chem*, **275**, 27229-27237.

Berridge, M.J. (1995) Calcium signalling and cell proliferation. *Bioessays*, **17**, 491-500.

Besag, F.M.C. & Vasey, M.J. (2019) Social cognition and psychopathology in childhood and adolescence. *Epilepsy Behav*, **100**, 106210.

Bichet D, Bouvier M, Chini B, Gimpl G, Guillon G, Kimura T, Knepper M, Lolait S, Manning M, Mouillac B, Serradeil-Le Gal C, Soloff M, Verbalis J G, Wheatley M & H., Z.H. (2017) Vasopressin and oxytocin receptors: Ot receptor. IUPHAR/BPS Guide to PHARMACOLOGY.

Bilderbeck, A.C., Penninx, B., Arango, C., van der Wee, N., Kahn, R., Winter-van Rossum, I., Hayen, A., Kas, M.J., Post, A. & Dawson, G.R. (2019) Overview of the clinical implementation of a study exploring social withdrawal in patients with schizophrenia and alzheimer's disease. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev*, **97**, 87-93.

Björklund, A. & Dunnett, S.B. (2007) Dopamine neuron systems in the brain: An update. *Trends Neurosci*, **30**, 194-202.

Blanchard, R.J., Blanchard, D.C., Agullana, R. & Weiss, S.M. (1991) Twenty-two khz alarm cries to presentation of a predator, by laboratory rats living in visible burrow systems. *Physiol Behav*, **50**, 967-972.

Blevins, J.E. & Baskin, D.G. (2015) Translational and therapeutic potential of oxytocin as an anti-obesity strategy: Insights from rodents, nonhuman primates and humans. *Physiol Behav*, **152**, 438-449.

Blouet, C., Jo, Y.-H., Li, X. & Schwartz, G.J. (2009) Mediobasal hypothalamic leucine sensing regulates food intake through activation of a hypothalamus–brainstem circuit. *Journal of Neuroscience*, **29**, 8302-8311.

Boccia, M.L., Goursaud, A.P., Bachevalier, J., Anderson, K.D. & Pedersen, C.A. (2007) Peripherally administered non-peptide oxytocin antagonist, I368,899, accumulates in limbic brain areas: A new pharmacological tool for the study of social motivation in non-human primates. *Horm Behav*, **52**, 344-351.

Book, A.A., Wiley, R.G. & Schweitzer, J.B. (1994) 192 igg-saporin: I. Specific lethality for cholinergic neurons in the basal forebrain of the rat. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol*, **53**, 95-102.

Boulay, D., Ho-Van, S., Bergis, O., Avenet, P. & Griebel, G. (2013) Phencyclidine decreases tickling-induced 50-khz ultrasound vocalizations in juvenile rats: A putative model of the negative symptoms of schizophrenia? *Behav Pharmacol*, **24**, 543-551.

Bowen, M.T. & McGregor, I.S. (2014) Oxytocin and vasopressin modulate the social response to threat: A preclinical study. *Int J Neuropsychopharmacol*, **17**, 1621-1633.

Bowie, C.R., Leung, W.W., Reichenberg, A., McClure, M.M., Patterson, T.L., Heaton, R.K. & Harvey, P.D. (2008) Predicting schizophrenia patients' real-world behavior with specific neuropsychological and functional capacity measures. *Biol Psychiatry*, **63**, 505-511.

Bratzu, J., Bharatiya, R., Manca, E., Cocco, C., Argiolas, A., Melis, M.R. & Sanna, F. (2019) Oxytocin induces penile erection and yawning when injected into the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis: A microdialysis and immunohistochemical study. *Behav Brain Res*, **375**, 112147.

Brischoux, F., Chakraborty, S., Brierley, D.I. & Ungless, M.A. (2009) Phasic excitation of dopamine neurons in ventral vta by noxious stimuli. *Proceedings of the national academy of sciences*, **106**, 4894-4899.

Browning, J.R., Browning, D.A., Maxwell, A.O., Dong, Y., Jansen, H.T., Panksepp, J. & Sorg, B.A. (2011) Positive affective vocalizations during cocaine and sucrose self-administration: A model for spontaneous drug desire in rats. *Neuropharmacology*, **61**, 268-275.

Brownstein, M.J., Russell, J.T. & Gainer, H. (1980) Synthesis, transport, and release of posterior pituitary hormones. *Science*, **207**, 373-378.

Brudzynski, S.M. (2015) Pharmacology of ultrasonic vocalizations in adult rats: Significance, call classification and neural substrate. *Curr Neuropharmacol*, **13**, 180-192.

Brudzynski, S.M. & Bihari, F. (1990) Ultrasonic vocalization in rats produced by cholinergic stimulation of the brain. *Neurosci Lett*, **109**, 222-226.

Brudzynski, S.M. & Chiu, E.M. (1995) Behavioural responses of laboratory rats to playback of 22 khz ultrasonic calls. *Physiol Behav*, **57**, 1039-1044.

Brudzynski, S.M. & Holland, G. (2005) Acoustic characteristics of air puff-induced 22-khz alarm calls in direct recordings. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev*, **29**, 1169-1180.

Buck, C.L., Malavar, J.C., George, O., Koob, G.F. & Vendruscolo, L.F. (2014) Anticipatory 50 khz ultrasonic vocalizations are associated with escalated alcohol intake in dependent rats. *Behav Brain Res*, **271**, 171-176.

Buijs, R.M., Hurtado-Alvarado, G. & Soto-Tinoco, E. (2021) Vasopressin: An output signal from the suprachiasmatic nucleus to prepare physiology and behaviour for the resting phase. *J Neuroendocrinol*, e12998.

Burgdorf, J., Knutson, B., Panksepp, J. & Ikemoto, S. (2001) Nucleus accumbens amphetamine microinjections unconditionally elicit 50-khz ultrasonic vocalizations in rats. *Behav Neurosci*, **115**, 940-944.

Burgdorf, J., Kroes, R.A., Moskal, J.R., Pfaus, J.G., Brudzynski, S.M. & Panksepp, J. (2008) Ultrasonic vocalizations of rats (rattus norvegicus) during mating, play, and aggression: Behavioral concomitants, relationship to reward, and self-administration of playback. *J Comp Psychol*, **122**, 357-367.

Burgdorf, J., Wood, P.L., Kroes, R.A., Moskal, J.R. & Panksepp, J. (2007) Neurobiology of 50-khz ultrasonic vocalizations in rats: Electrode mapping, lesion, and pharmacology studies. *Behav Brain Res*, **182**, 274-283.

Bürkner, P.C., Williams, D.R., Simmons, T.C. & Woolley, J.D. (2017) Intranasal oxytocin may improve high-level social cognition in schizophrenia, but not social cognition or neurocognition in general: A multilevel bayesian meta-analysis. *Schizophr Bull*, **43**, 1291-1303.

Busnelli, M. & Chini, B. (2018) Molecular basis of oxytocin receptor signalling in the brain: What we know and what we need to know. *Curr Top Behav Neurosci*, **35**, 3-29.

Busnelli, M., Sauliere, A., Manning, M., Bouvier, M., Gales, C. & Chini, B. (2012) Functional selective oxytocin-derived agonists discriminate between individual g protein family subtypes. *J Biol Chem*, **287**, 3617-3629.

Cachope, R., Mateo, Y., Mathur, B.N., Irving, J., Wang, H.L., Morales, M., Lovinger, D.M. & Cheer, J.F. (2012) Selective activation of cholinergic interneurons enhances accumbal phasic dopamine release: Setting the tone for reward processing. *Cell Rep*, **2**, 33-41.
Caers, J., Peymen, K., Suetens, N., Temmerman, L., Janssen, T., Schoofs, L. & Beets, I. (2014) Characterization of g protein-coupled receptors by a fluorescence-based calcium mobilization assay. *J Vis Exp*, e51516.

Calcagnetti, D.J. & Schechter, M.D. (1992) Place conditioning reveals the rewarding aspect of social interaction in juvenile rats. *Physiol Behav*, **51**, 667-672.

Calcagnoli, F., de Boer, S.F., Althaus, M., den Boer, J.A. & Koolhaas, J.M. (2013) Antiaggressive activity of central oxytocin in male rats. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, **229**, 639-651.

Calcagnoli, F., Kreutzmann, J.C., de Boer, S.F., Althaus, M. & Koolhaas, J.M. (2015a) Acute and repeated intranasal oxytocin administration exerts anti-aggressive and pro-affiliative effects in male rats. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, **51**, 112-121.

Calcagnoli, F., Stubbendorff, C., Meyer, N., de Boer, S.F., Althaus, M. & Koolhaas, J.M. (2015b) Oxytocin microinjected into the central amygdaloid nuclei exerts antiaggressive effects in male rats. *Neuropharmacology*, **90**, 74-81.

Caldwell, H.K. (2017) Oxytocin and vasopressin: Powerful regulators of social behavior. *Neuroscientist*, **23**, 517-528.

Caldwell, H.K., Lee, H.J., Macbeth, A.H. & Young, W.S., 3rd (2008) Vasopressin: Behavioral roles of an "original" neuropeptide. *Prog Neurobiol*, **84**, 1-24.

Caldwell, J.D., Walker, C.H., Pedersen, C.A., Baraka, A.S. & Mason, G.A. (1994) Estrogen increases affinity of oxytocin receptors in the medial preoptic areaanterior hypothalamus. *Peptides*, **15**, 1079-1084.

Calvino, B., Besson, J.M., Boehrer, A. & Depaulis, A. (1996) Ultrasonic vocalization (22-28 khz) in a model of chronic pain, the arthritic rat: Effects of analgesic drugs. *Neuroreport*, **7**, 581-584.

Camerino, C. (2009) Low sympathetic tone and obese phenotype in oxytocindeficient mice. *Obesity*, **17**, 980-984.

Carlsson, A., Waters, N., Holm-Waters, S., Tedroff, J., Nilsson, M. & Carlsson, M.L. (2001) Interactions between monoamines, glutamate, and gaba in schizophrenia: New evidence. *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol*, **41**, 237-260.

Carlsson, M. & Carlsson, A. (1989) The nmda antagonist mk-801 causes marked locomotor stimulation in monoamine-depleted mice. *J Neural Transm*, **75**, 221-226.

Carp, S.B., Rothwell, E.S., Bourdon, A., Freeman, S.M., Ferrer, E. & Bales, K.L. (2016) Development of a partner preference test that differentiates between established pair bonds and other relationships in socially monogamous titi monkeys (callicebus cupreus). *Am J Primatol*, **78**, 326-339.

Carson, D.S., Cornish, J.L., Guastella, A.J., Hunt, G.E. & McGregor, I.S. (2010a) Oxytocin decreases methamphetamine self-administration, methamphetamine hyperactivity, and relapse to methamphetamine-seeking behaviour in rats. *Neuropharmacology*, **58**, 38-43.

Carson, D.S., Hunt, G.E., Guastella, A.J., Barber, L., Cornish, J.L., Arnold, J.C., Boucher, A.A. & McGregor, I.S. (2010b) Systemically administered oxytocin decreases methamphetamine activation of the subthalamic nucleus and accumbens core and stimulates oxytocinergic neurons in the hypothalamus. *Addict Biol*, **15**, 448-463.

Charlton, S.J. & Vauquelin, G. (2010) Elusive equilibrium: The challenge of interpreting receptor pharmacology using calcium assays. *Br J Pharmacol*, **161**, 1250-1265.

Chen, P. & Hong, W. (2018) Neural circuit mechanisms of social behavior. *Neuron*, **98**, 16-30.

Cheng, C., Tsuneyama, K., Kominami, R., Shinohara, H., Sakurai, S., Yonekura, H., Watanabe, T., Takano, Y., Yamamoto, H. & Yamamoto, Y. (2005) Expression profiling of endogenous secretory receptor for advanced glycation end products in human organs. *Mod Pathol*, **18**, 1385-1396.

Chini, B., Mouillac, B., Ala, Y., Balestre, M.N., Trumpp-Kallmeyer, S., Hoflack, J., Elands, J., Hibert, M., Manning, M., Jard, S. & et al. (1995) Tyr115 is the key residue for determining agonist selectivity in the v1a vasopressin receptor. *Embo j*, **14**, 2176-2182.

Chisholm, K., Lin, A., Abu-Akel, A. & Wood, S.J. (2015) The association between autism and schizophrenia spectrum disorders: A review of eight alternate models of co-occurrence. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev*, **55**, 173-183.

Cho, M.M., DeVries, A.C., Williams, J.R. & Carter, C.S. (1999) The effects of oxytocin and vasopressin on partner preferences in male and female prairie voles (microtus ochrogaster). *Behav Neurosci*, **113**, 1071-1079.

Cohen, J. (1988) *Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences (2nd ed.)*. Routledge, New York.

Conti, F., Sertic, S., Reversi, A. & Chini, B. (2009) Intracellular trafficking of the human oxytocin receptor: Evidence of receptor recycling via a rab4/rab5 "short cycle". *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab*, **296**, E532-542.

Copland, J.A., Jeng, Y.J., Strakova, Z., Ives, K.L., Hellmich, M.R. & Soloff, M.S. (1999) Demonstration of functional oxytocin receptors in human breast hs578t cells and their up-regulation through a protein kinase c-dependent pathway. *Endocrinology*, **140**, 2258-2267.

Costa-e-Sousa, R.H., Pereira-Junior, P.P., Oliveira, P.F., Olivares, E.L., Werneck-de-Castro, J.P.S., Mello, D.B., Nascimento, J.H.M. & Campos-de-Carvalho, A.C. (2005) Cardiac effects of oxytocin: Is there a role for this peptide in cardiovascular homeostasis? *Regulatory Peptides*, **132**, 107-112.

Covington, H.E., 3rd & Miczek, K.A. (2003) Vocalizations during withdrawal from opiates and cocaine: Possible expressions of affective distress. *Eur J Pharmacol*, **467**, 1-13.

Coyle, J.T. (2012) Nmda receptor and schizophrenia: A brief history. *Schizophr Bull*, **38**, 920-926.

Crawley, J.N., Chen, T., Puri, A., Washburn, R., Sullivan, T.L., Hill, J.M., Young, N.B., Nadler, J.J., Moy, S.S., Young, L.J., Caldwell, H.K. & Young, W.S. (2007) Social approach behaviors in oxytocin knockout mice: Comparison of two independent lines tested in different laboratory environments. *Neuropeptides*, **41**, 145-163.

Crespi, B.J. (2001) The evolution of social behavior in microorganisms. *Trends Ecol Evol*, **16**, 178-183.

Dal Monte, O., Noble, P.L., Turchi, J., Cummins, A. & Averbeck, B.B. (2014) Csf and blood oxytocin concentration changes following intranasal delivery in macaque. *PLoS One*, **9**, e103677.

Dale, H.H. (1909) The action of extracts of the pituitary body. *Biochem J*, 4, 427-447.

de Esch, C.E., van den Berg, W.E., Buijsen, R.A., Jaafar, I.A., Nieuwenhuizen-Bakker, I.M., Gasparini, F., Kushner, S.A. & Willemsen, R. (2015) Fragile x mice have robust mglur5-dependent alterations of social behaviour in the automated tube test. *Neurobiol Dis*, **75**, 31-39.

Declerck, C.H., Boone, C. & Kiyonari, T. (2010) Oxytocin and cooperation under conditions of uncertainty: The modulating role of incentives and social information. *Horm Behav*, **57**, 368-374.

Declerck, C.H., Boone, C., Pauwels, L., Vogt, B. & Fehr, E. (2020) A registered replication study on oxytocin and trust. *Nat Hum Behav*, **4**, 646-655.

Dedic, N., Jones, P.G., Hopkins, S.C., Lew, R., Shao, L., Campbell, J.E., Spear, K.L., Large, T.H., Campbell, U.C., Hanania, T., Leahy, E. & Koblan, K.S. (2019) Sep-363856, a novel psychotropic agent with a unique, non-d(2) receptor mechanism of action. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, **371**, 1-14.

Del Arco, A., Segovia, G. & Mora, F. (2008) Blockade of nmda receptors in the prefrontal cortex increases dopamine and acetylcholine release in the nucleus accumbens and motor activity. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, **201**, 325-338.

Delaney, K.R. & Lin, J.-W. (2020) Calcium and neurotransmitter release *Els*, pp. 1-11.

DeVries, A.C., Young, W.S., 3rd & Nelson, R.J. (1997) Reduced aggressive behaviour in mice with targeted disruption of the oxytocin gene. *J Neuroendocrinol*, **9**, 363-368.

Dhakar, M.B., Rich, M.E., Reno, E.L., Lee, H.J. & Caldwell, H.K. (2012) Heightened aggressive behavior in mice with lifelong versus postweaning knockout of the oxytocin receptor. *Horm Behav*, **62**, 86-92.

Dixon, J.E., Osman, G., Morris, G.E., Markides, H., Rotherham, M., Bayoussef, Z., El Haj, A.J., Denning, C. & Shakesheff, K.M. (2016) Highly efficient delivery of functional cargoes by the synergistic effect of gag binding motifs and cell-penetrating peptides. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **113**, E291-299.

Dobi, A., Margolis, E.B., Wang, H.L., Harvey, B.K. & Morales, M. (2010) Glutamatergic and nonglutamatergic neurons of the ventral tegmental area establish local synaptic contacts with dopaminergic and nondopaminergic neurons. *J Neurosci*, **30**, 218-229. Dölen, G. (2015) Oxytocin: Parallel processing in the social brain? *J Neuroendocrinol*, **27**, 516-535.

Dolen, G., Darvishzadeh, A., Huang, K.W. & Malenka, R.C. (2013) Social reward requires coordinated activity of nucleus accumbens oxytocin and serotonin. *Nature*, **501**, 179-184.

Dölen, G., Darvishzadeh, A., Huang, K.W. & Malenka, R.C. (2013) Social reward requires coordinated activity of accumbens oxytocin and 5ht. *Nature*, **501**, 179-184.

Dolen, G. & Malenka, R.C. (2014) The emerging role of nucleus accumbens oxytocin in social cognition. *Biol Psychiatry*, **76**, 354-355.

Domes, G., Heinrichs, M., Gläscher, J., Büchel, C., Braus, D.F. & Herpertz, S.C. (2007) Oxytocin attenuates amygdala responses to emotional faces regardless of valence. *Biol Psychiatry*, **62**, 1187-1190.

Donaldson, Z.R. & Young, L.J. (2008) Oxytocin, vasopressin, and the neurogenetics of sociality. *Science*, **322**, 900-904.

Dou, H., Zou, L., Becker, B. & Lei, Y. (2021) Intranasal oxytocin decreases fear generalization in males, but does not modulate discrimination threshold. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, **238**, 677-689.

Du Vigneaud, V., Ressler, C. & Trippett, S. (1953) The sequence of amino acids in oxytocin, with a proposal for the structure of oxytocin. *J Biol Chem*, **205**, 949-957.

Duan, X. & Ju, G. (1998) The organization of chemically characterized afferents to the perivascular neuronal groups of the hypothalamic magnocellular neurosecretory system in the rat. *Brain Res Bull*, **46**, 409-415.

Dubois-Dauphin, M., Barberis, C. & de Bilbao, F. (1996) Vasopressin receptors in the mouse (mus musculus) brain: Sex-related expression in the medial preoptic area and hypothalamus. *Brain Res*, **743**, 32-39.

Dubois-Dauphin, M., Pevet, P., Barberis, C., Tribollet, E. & Dreifuss, J.J. (1992) Localization of binding sites for oxytocin in the brain of the golden hamster. *Neuroreport*, **3**, 797-800.

Dumais, K.M., Alonso, A.G., Immormino, M.A., Bredewold, R. & Veenema, A.H. (2016) Involvement of the oxytocin system in the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis

in the sex-specific regulation of social recognition. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, **64**, 79-88.

Dumais, K.M., Bredewold, R., Mayer, T.E. & Veenema, A.H. (2013) Sex differences in oxytocin receptor binding in forebrain regions: Correlations with social interest in brain region- and sex- specific ways. *Horm Behav*, **64**, 693-701.

Dumais, K.M. & Veenema, A.H. (2016) Vasopressin and oxytocin receptor systems in the brain: Sex differences and sex-specific regulation of social behavior. *Front Neuroendocrinol*, **40**, 1-23.

Edwards, N.J., Tejeda, H.A., Pignatelli, M., Zhang, S., McDevitt, R.A., Wu, J., Bass, C.E., Bettler, B., Morales, M. & Bonci, A. (2017) Circuit specificity in the inhibitory architecture of the vta regulates cocaine-induced behavior. *Nat Neurosci*, **20**, 438-448.

Egerton, A., Reid, L., McKerchar, C.E., Morris, B.J. & Pratt, J.A. (2005) Impairment in perceptual attentional set-shifting following pcp administration: A rodent model of set-shifting deficits in schizophrenia. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, **179**, 77-84.

Eliava, M., Melchior, M., Knobloch-Bollmann, H.S., Wahis, J., da Silva Gouveia, M., Tang, Y., Ciobanu, A.C., Triana Del Rio, R., Roth, L.C., Althammer, F., Chavant, V., Goumon, Y., Gruber, T., Petit-Demoulière, N., Busnelli, M., Chini, B., Tan, L.L., Mitre, M., Froemke, R.C., Chao, M.V., Giese, G., Sprengel, R., Kuner, R., Poisbeau, P., Seeburg, P.H., Stoop, R., Charlet, A. & Grinevich, V. (2016) A new population of parvocellular oxytocin neurons controlling magnocellular neuron activity and inflammatory pain processing. *Neuron*, **89**, 1291-1304.

Engelmann, M., Ebner, K., Wotjak, C.T. & Landgraf, R. (1998) Endogenous oxytocin is involved in short-term olfactory memory in female rats. *Behav Brain Res*, **90**, 89-94.

Engstrom, T., Bratholm, P., Vilhardt, H. & Christensen, N.J. (1998) Beta2adrenoceptor desensitization in non-pregnant estrogen-primed rat myometrium involves modulation of oxytocin receptor gene expression. *J Mol Endocrinol*, **20**, 261-270.

Ermisch, A., Rühle, H.J., Landgraf, R. & Hess, J. (1985) Blood-brain barrier and peptides. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab*, **5**, 350-357.

Fahrbach, S.E., Morrell, J.I. & Pfaff, D.W. (1984) Oxytocin induction of short-latency maternal behavior in nulliparous, estrogen-primed female rats. *Horm Behav*, **18**, 267-286.

Fahrbach, S.E., Morrell, J.I. & Pfaff, D.W. (1985) Possible role for endogenous oxytocin in estrogen-facilitated maternal behavior in rats. *Neuroendocrinology*, **40**, 526-532.

Fallon, J.H. & Moore, R.Y. (1978) Catecholamine innervation of the basal forebrain iv. Topography of the dopamine projection to the basal forebrain and neostriatum. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, **180**, 545-579.

Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Lang, A.G. & Buchner, A. (2007) G*power 3: A flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences. *Behav Res Methods*, **39**, 175-191.

Feifel, D. & Reza, T. (1999) Oxytocin modulates psychotomimetic-induced deficits in sensorimotor gating. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, **141**, 93-98.

Feifel, D., Shilling, P.D., Hillman, J., Maisel, M., Winfield, J. & Melendez, G. (2015) Peripherally administered oxytocin modulates latent inhibition in a manner consistent with antipsychotic drugs. *Behav Brain Res*, **278**, 424-428.

Felten, D.L., O'Banion, M.K. & Maida, M.S. (2016) Autonomic-hypothalamic-limbic systems. In Felten, D.L., O'Banion, M.K., Maida, M.S. (eds) *Netter's atlas of neuroscience (third edition)*. Elsevier, Philadelphia, pp. 421-461.

Ferguson, J.N., Aldag, J.M., Insel, T.R. & Young, L.J. (2001) Oxytocin in the medial amygdala is essential for social recognition in the mouse. *J Neurosci*, **21**, 8278-8285.

Ferguson, J.N., Young, L.J., Hearn, E.F., Matzuk, M.M., Insel, T.R. & Winslow, J.T. (2000) Social amnesia in mice lacking the oxytocin gene. *Nat Genet*, **25**, 284-288.

Fernandes, J.M., Cajão, R., Lopes, R., Jerónimo, R. & Barahona-Corrêa, J.B. (2018) Social cognition in schizophrenia and autism spectrum disorders: A systematic review and meta-analysis of direct comparisons. *Front Psychiatry*, **9**, 504.

Fernandez-Sotos, P., Navarro, E., Torio, I., Dompablo, M., Fernandez-Caballero, A. & Rodriguez-Jimenez, R. (2018) Pharmacological interventions in social cognition deficits: A systematic mapping review. *Psychiatry Res*, **270**, 57-67.

Fernández, M., Mollinedo-Gajate, I. & Peñagarikano, O. (2018) Neural circuits for social cognition: Implications for autism. *Neuroscience*, **370**, 148-162.

Ferretti, V., Maltese, F., Contarini, G., Nigro, M., Bonavia, A., Huang, H., Gigliucci, V., Morelli, G., Scheggia, D., Manago, F., Castellani, G., Lefevre, A., Cancedda, L., Chini, B., Grinevich, V. & Papaleo, F. (2019) Oxytocin signaling in the central amygdala modulates emotion discrimination in mice. *Curr Biol*, **29**, 1938-1953.e1936.

Fischer-Shofty, M., Levkovitz, Y. & Shamay-Tsoory, S.G. (2013) Oxytocin facilitates accurate perception of competition in men and kinship in women. *Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci*, **8**, 313-317.

Fisher, A.N., Brown, K., Davis, S.S., Parr, G.D. & Smith, D.A. (1987) The effect of molecular size on the nasal absorption of water-soluble compounds in the albino rat. *J Pharm Pharmacol*, **39**, 357-362.

Floresco, S.B. (2015) The nucleus accumbens: An interface between cognition, emotion, and action. *Annu Rev Psychol*, **66**, 25-52.

Fone, K.C. & Porkess, M.V. (2008) Behavioural and neurochemical effects of postweaning social isolation in rodents-relevance to developmental neuropsychiatric disorders. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev*, **32**, 1087-1102.

Francis, R.L. (1977) 22-khz calls by isolated rats. *Nature*, **265**, 236-238.

Freeman, S.M. & Young, L.J. (2016) Comparative perspectives on oxytocin and vasopressin receptor research in rodents and primates: Translational implications. *J Neuroendocrinol*, **28**.

Fu, X.W. & Brudzynski, S.M. (1994) High-frequency ultrasonic vocalization induced by intracerebral glutamate in rats. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav*, **49**, 835-841.

Fuchs, A.R., Periyasamy, S. & Soloff, M.S. (1983) Systemic and local regulation of oxytocin receptors in the rat uterus, and their functional significance. *Can J Biochem Cell Biol*, **61**, 615-624.

Fuchs, U., Leipnitz, C. & Lippert, T.H. (1989) The action of oxytocin on sperm motility. In vitro experiments with bull spermatozoa. *Clin Exp Obstet Gynecol*, **16**, 95-97.

Gamer, M., Zurowski, B. & Büchel, C. (2010) Different amygdala subregions mediate valence-related and attentional effects of oxytocin in humans. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **107**, 9400-9405.

Gantois, I., Pop, A.S., de Esch, C.E., Buijsen, R.A., Pooters, T., Gomez-Mancilla, B., Gasparini, F., Oostra, B.A., D'Hooge, R. & Willemsen, R. (2013) Chronic administration of afq056/mavoglurant restores social behaviour in fmr1 knockout mice. *Behav Brain Res*, **239**, 72-79.

Garner, J.P., Gaskill, B.N. & Pritchett-Corning, K.R. (2016) Two of a kind or a full house? Reproductive suppression and alloparenting in laboratory mice. *PLoS One*, **11**, e0154966.

Garrison, J.L., Macosko, E.Z., Bernstein, S., Pokala, N., Albrecht, D.R. & Bargmann, C.I. (2012) Oxytocin/vasopressin-related peptides have an ancient role in reproductive behavior. *Science*, **338**, 540-543.

Gerfen, C.R. & Surmeier, D.J. (2011) Modulation of striatal projection systems by dopamine. *Annu Rev Neurosci*, **34**, 441-466.

Gimpl, G. & Fahrenholz, F. (2001) The oxytocin receptor system: Structure, function, and regulation. *Physiol Rev*, **81**, 629-683.

Gleason, S.D. & Shannon, H.E. (1997) Blockade of phencyclidine-induced hyperlocomotion by olanzapine, clozapine and serotonin receptor subtype selective antagonists in mice. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, **129**, 79-84.

Goodman, O.B., Jr., Krupnick, J.G., Santini, F., Gurevich, V.V., Penn, R.B., Gagnon, A.W., Keen, J.H. & Benovic, J.L. (1996) Beta-arrestin acts as a clathrin adaptor in endocytosis of the beta2-adrenergic receptor. *Nature*, **383**, 447-450.

Goto, Y. & Grace, A.A. (2005) Dopaminergic modulation of limbic and cortical drive of nucleus accumbens in goal-directed behavior. *Nat Neurosci*, **8**, 805-812.

Grace, A.A. (1991) Phasic versus tonic dopamine release and the modulation of dopamine system responsivity: A hypothesis for the etiology of schizophrenia. *Neuroscience*, **41**, 1-24.

Grace, A.A. & Gomes, F.V. (2019) The circuitry of dopamine system regulation and its disruption in schizophrenia: Insights into treatment and prevention. *Schizophr Bull*, **45**, 148-157.

Gravati, M., Busnelli, M., Bulgheroni, E., Reversi, A., Spaiardi, P., Parenti, M., Toselli, M. & Chini, B. (2010) Dual modulation of inward rectifier potassium currents in olfactory neuronal cells by promiscuous g protein coupling of the oxytocin receptor. *J Neurochem*, **114**, 1424-1435.

Green, M.F., Horan, W.P. & Lee, J. (2015) Social cognition in schizophrenia. *Nat Rev Neurosci*, **16**, 620-631.

Greenberg, G.D., Steinman, M.Q., Doig, I.E., Hao, R. & Trainor, B.C. (2015) Effects of social defeat on dopamine neurons in the ventral tegmental area in male and female california mice. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, **42**, 3081-3094.

Greer, P.L. & Greenberg, M.E. (2008) From synapse to nucleus: Calcium-dependent gene transcription in the control of synapse development and function. *Neuron*, **59**, 846-860.

Grimmelikhuijzen, C.J. & Spencer, A.N. (1984) Fmrfamide immunoreactivity in the nervous system of the medusa polyorchis penicillatus. *J Comp Neurol*, **230**, 361-371.

Grinevich, V., Knobloch-Bollmann, H.S., Eliava, M., Busnelli, M. & Chini, B. (2016) Assembling the puzzle: Pathways of oxytocin signaling in the brain. *Biol Psychiatry*, **79**, 155-164.

Groenewegen, H.J. & Uylings, H.B. (2000) The prefrontal cortex and the integration of sensory, limbic and autonomic information. *Prog Brain Res*, **126**, 3-28.

Groppe, S.E., Gossen, A., Rademacher, L., Hahn, A., Westphal, L., Gründer, G. & Spreckelmeyer, K.N. (2013) Oxytocin influences processing of socially relevant cues in the ventral tegmental area of the human brain. *Biol Psychiatry*, **74**, 172-179.

Guastella, A.J., Einfeld, S.L., Gray, K.M., Rinehart, N.J., Tonge, B.J., Lambert, T.J. & Hickie, I.B. (2010) Intranasal oxytocin improves emotion recognition for youth with autism spectrum disorders. *Biol Psychiatry*, **67**, 692-694.

Guastella, A.J., Mitchell, P.B. & Dadds, M.R. (2008a) Oxytocin increases gaze to the eye region of human faces. *Biol Psychiatry*, **63**, 3-5.

Guastella, A.J., Mitchell, P.B. & Mathews, F. (2008b) Oxytocin enhances the encoding of positive social memories in humans. *Biol Psychiatry*, **64**, 256-258.

Gulevich, R., Kozhemyakina, R., Shikhevich, S., Konoshenko, M. & Herbeck, Y. (2019) Aggressive behavior and stress response after oxytocin administration in male norway rats selected for different attitudes to humans. *Physiol Behav*, **199**, 210-218. Gunaydin, L.A. & Deisseroth, K. (2014) Dopaminergic dynamics contributing to social behavior. *Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol*, **79**, 221-227.

Gunaydin, L.A., Grosenick, L., Finkelstein, J.C., Kauvar, I.V., Fenno, L.E., Adhikari, A., Lammel, S., Mirzabekov, J.J., Airan, R.D., Zalocusky, K.A., Tye, K.M., Anikeeva, P., Malenka, R.C. & Deisseroth, K. (2014) Natural neural projection dynamics underlying social behavior. *Cell*, **157**, 1535-1551.

Gur, R., Tendler, A. & Wagner, S. (2014) Long-term social recognition memory is mediated by oxytocin-dependent synaptic plasticity in the medial amygdala. *Biol Psychiatry*, **76**, 377-386.

Guthman, E.M. & Vera, J. (2016) A cellular mechanism for main and accessory olfactory integration at the medial amygdala. *Journal of Neuroscience*, **36**, 2083-2085.

Gyertyán, I., Kiss, B., Sághy, K., Laszy, J., Szabó, G., Szabados, T., Gémesi, L.I., Pásztor, G., Zájer-Balázs, M., Kapás, M., Csongor, E., Domány, G., Tihanyi, K. & Szombathelyi, Z. (2011) Cariprazine (rgh-188), a potent d3/d2 dopamine receptor partial agonist, binds to dopamine d3 receptors in vivo and shows antipsychotic-like and procognitive effects in rodents. *Neurochem Int*, **59**, 925-935.

Hackler, E.A., Byun, N.E., Jones, C.K., Williams, J.M., Baheza, R., Sengupta, S., Grier, M.D., Avison, M., Conn, P.J. & Gore, J.C. (2010) Selective potentiation of the metabotropic glutamate receptor subtype 2 blocks phencyclidine-induced hyperlocomotion and brain activation. *Neuroscience*, **168**, 209-218.

Halpern, M. & Martínez-Marcos, A. (2003) Structure and function of the vomeronasal system: An update. *Prog Neurobiol*, **70**, 245-318.

Hamed, A. & Kursa, M.B. (2020) Social deprivation substantially changes multistructural neurotransmitter signature of social interaction: Glutamate concentration in amygdala and vta as a key factor in social encounter-induced 50-khz ultrasonic vocalization. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol*, **37**, 82-99.

Hansen, H.H., Andreasen, J.T., Weikop, P., Mirza, N., Scheel-Krüger, J. & Mikkelsen, J.D. (2007) The neuronal kcnq channel opener retigabine inhibits locomotor activity and reduces forebrain excitatory responses to the psychostimulants cocaine, methylphenidate and phencyclidine. *Eur J Pharmacol*, **570**, 77-88.

Hansen, S., Bergvall, A.H. & Nyiredi, S. (1993) Interaction with pups enhances dopamine release in the ventral striatum of maternal rats: A microdialysis study. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav*, **45**, 673-676.

Hansson, A.C., Koopmann, A., Uhrig, S., Bühler, S., Domi, E., Kiessling, E., Ciccocioppo, R., Froemke, R.C., Grinevich, V., Kiefer, F., Sommer, W.H., Vollstädt-Klein, S. & Spanagel, R. (2018) Oxytocin reduces alcohol cue-reactivity in alcohol-dependent rats and humans. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, **43**, 1235-1246.

Hany, M., Rehman, B., Azhar, Y. & Chapman, J. (2021) Schizophrenia *Statpearls*. StatPearls Publishing

Treasure Island (FL).

Hasbi, A., Devost, D., Laporte, S.A. & Zingg, H.H. (2004) Real-time detection of interactions between the human oxytocin receptor and g protein-coupled receptor kinase-2. *Mol Endocrinol*, **18**, 1277-1286.

Hattori, T., Kanno, K., Nagasawa, M., Nishimori, K., Mogi, K. & Kikusui, T. (2015) Impairment of interstrain social recognition during territorial aggressive behavior in oxytocin receptor-null mice. *Neurosci Res*, **90**, 90-94.

Hicks, C., Jorgensen, W., Brown, C., Fardell, J., Koehbach, J., Gruber, C.W., Kassiou, M., Hunt, G.E. & McGregor, I.S. (2012) The nonpeptide oxytocin receptor agonist way 267,464: Receptor-binding profile, prosocial effects and distribution of c-fos expression in adolescent rats. *J Neuroendocrinol*, **24**, 1012-1029.

Hicks, C., Ramos, L., Reekie, T., Misagh, G.H., Narlawar, R., Kassiou, M. & McGregor, I.S. (2014) Body temperature and cardiac changes induced by peripherally administered oxytocin, vasopressin and the non-peptide oxytocin receptor agonist way 267,464: A biotelemetry study in rats. *Br J Pharmacol*, **171**, 2868-2887.

Hida, H., Mouri, A. & Noda, Y. (2013) Behavioral phenotypes in schizophrenic animal models with multiple combinations of genetic and environmental factors. *J Pharmacol Sci*, **121**, 185-191.

Hikida, T., Morita, M. & Macpherson, T. (2016) Neural mechanisms of the nucleus accumbens circuit in reward and aversive learning. *Neuroscience research*, **108**, 1-5.

Hodge, G.K. & Butcher, L.L. (1980) Pars compacta of the substantia nigra modulates motor activity but is not involved importantly in regulating food and water intake. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol*, **313**, 51-67.

Hori, M., Shimoju, R., Tokunaga, R., Ohkubo, M., Miyabe, S., Ohnishi, J., Murakami, K. & Kurosawa, M. (2013) Tickling increases dopamine release in the nucleus accumbens and 50 khz ultrasonic vocalizations in adolescent rats. *Neuroreport*, **24**, 241-245.

Hosp, J.A., Coenen, V.A., Rijntjes, M., Egger, K., Urbach, H., Weiller, C. & Reisert, M. (2019) Ventral tegmental area connections to motor and sensory cortical fields in humans. *Brain Struct Funct*, **224**, 2839-2855.

Hou, W., He, Z., Yang, Y., Yuan, W., Wang, L., Zhang, J., Zhang, X., Cai, W., Guo, Q. & Tai, F. (2020) The involvement of oxytocin in the effects of chronic social defeat stress on emotional behaviours in adult female mandarin voles. *Eur J Neurosci*, **52**, 2853-2872.

Howe, M.W. & Dombeck, D.A. (2016) Rapid signalling in distinct dopaminergic axons during locomotion and reward. *Nature*, **535**, 505-510.

Huang, H., Michetti, C., Busnelli, M., Managò, F., Sannino, S., Scheggia, D., Giancardo, L., Sona, D., Murino, V., Chini, B., Scattoni, M.L. & Papaleo, F. (2014) Chronic and acute intranasal oxytocin produce divergent social effects in mice. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, **39**, 1102-1114.

Hung, L.W., Neuner, S., Polepalli, J.S., Beier, K.T., Wright, M., Walsh, J.J., Lewis, E.M., Luo, L., Deisseroth, K., Dolen, G. & Malenka, R.C. (2017) Gating of social reward by oxytocin in the ventral tegmental area. *Science*, **357**, 1406-1411.

Hunt, G.E., McGregor, I.S., Cornish, J.L. & Callaghan, P.D. (2011) Mdma-induced cfos expression in oxytocin-containing neurons is blocked by pretreatment with the 5-ht-1a receptor antagonist way 100635. *Brain Res Bull*, **86**, 65-73.

Ikemoto, S. (2007) Dopamine reward circuitry: Two projection systems from the ventral midbrain to the nucleus accumbens-olfactory tubercle complex. *Brain Res Rev*, **56**, 27-78.

Ikemoto, S. & Panksepp, J. (1992) The effects of early social isolation on the motivation for social play in juvenile rats. *Dev Psychobiol*, **25**, 261-274.

Ingram, C.D., Ciobanu, R., Coculescu, I.L., Tanasescu, R., Coculescu, M. & Mihai, R. (1998) Vasopressin neurotransmission and the control of circadian rhythms in the suprachiasmatic nucleus. *Prog Brain Res*, **119**, 351-364.

Insel, T.R. (1997) A neurobiological basis of social attachment. *Am J Psychiatry*, **154**, 726-735.

Insel, T.R. & Shapiro, L.E. (1992) Oxytocin receptor distribution reflects social organization in monogamous and polygamous voles. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **89**, 5981-5985.

Insel, T.R., Wang, Z.X. & Ferris, C.F. (1994) Patterns of brain vasopressin receptor distribution associated with social organization in microtine rodents. *J Neurosci*, **14**, 5381-5392.

Insel, T.R. & Winslow, J.T. (1991) Central administration of oxytocin modulates the infant rat's response to social isolation. *Eur J Pharmacol*, **203**, 149-152.

Ito, Y., Kobayashi, T., Kimura, T., Matsuura, N., Wakasugi, E., Takeda, T., Shimano, T., Kubota, Y., Nobunaga, T., Makino, Y., Azuma, C., Saji, F. & Monden, M. (1996) Investigation of the oxytocin receptor expression in human breast cancer tissue using newly established monoclonal antibodies. *Endocrinology*, **137**, 773-779.

Ivell, R., Kimura, T., Muller, D., Augustin, K., Abend, N., Bathgate, R., Telgmann, R., Balvers, M., Tillmann, G. & Fuchs, A.R. (2001) The structure and regulation of the oxytocin receptor. *Exp Physiol*, **86**, 289-296.

Jaaskelainen, E., Juola, P., Hirvonen, N., McGrath, J.J., Saha, S., Isohanni, M., Veijola, J. & Miettunen, J. (2013) A systematic review and meta-analysis of recovery in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull*, **39**, 1296-1306.

Jacob, S., Brune, C.W., Carter, C.S., Leventhal, B.L., Lord, C. & Cook, E.H., Jr. (2007) Association of the oxytocin receptor gene (oxtr) in caucasian children and adolescents with autism. *Neurosci Lett*, **417**, 6-9.

Jankovic, J. (2008) Parkinson's disease: Clinical features and diagnosis. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*, **79**, 368-376.

Jarskog, L.F., Pedersen, C.A., Johnson, J.L., Hamer, R.M., Rau, S.W., Elliott, T. & Penn, D.L. (2017) A 12-week randomized controlled trial of twice-daily intranasal oxytocin for social cognitive deficits in people with schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res*, **185**, 88-95.

Jasper, J.R., Harrell, C.M., O'Brien, J.A. & Pettibone, D.J. (1995) Characterization of the human oxytocin receptor stably expressed in 293 human embryonic kidney cells. *Life Sci*, **57**, 2253-2261.

Javed, A. & Charles, A. (2018) The importance of social cognition in improving functional outcomes in schizophrenia. *Front Psychiatry*, **9**, 157.

Jentsch, J.D. & Roth, R.H. (1999) The neuropsychopharmacology of phencyclidine: From nmda receptor hypofunction to the dopamine hypothesis of schizophrenia. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, **20**, 201-225.

Jing, M.Y., Han, X., Zhao, T.Y., Wang, Z.Y., Lu, G.Y., Wu, N., Song, R. & Li, J. (2019) Reexamining the role of ventral tegmental area dopaminergic neurons in motor activity and reinforcement by chemogenetic and optogenetic manipulation in mice. *Metab Brain Dis*, **34**, 1421-1430.

Johnson, A.E., Audigier, S., Rossi, F., Jard, S., Tribollet, E. & Barberis, C. (1993) Localization and characterization of vasopressin binding sites in the rat brain using an iodinated linear avp antagonist. *Brain Res*, **622**, 9-16.

Jones, C.A., Watson, D.J. & Fone, K.C. (2011) Animal models of schizophrenia. *Br J Pharmacol*, **164**, 1162-1194.

Joushi, S., Esmaeilpour, K., Masoumi-Ardakani, Y., Esmaeili-Mahani, S. & Sheibani, V. (2021) Intranasal oxytocin administration facilitates the induction of long-term potentiation and promotes cognitive performance of maternally separated rats. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, **123**, 105044.

Jurek, B. & Neumann, I.D. (2018) The oxytocin receptor: From intracellular signaling to behavior. *Physiol Rev*, **98**, 1805-1908.

Kagawa, H., Seki, Y. & Okanoya, K. (2017) Affective valence of neurons in the vicinity of the rat amygdala: Single unit activity in response to a conditioned behavior and vocal sound playback. *Behav Brain Res*, **324**, 109-114.

Kalsbeek, A., Fliers, E., Hofman, M.A., Swaab, D.F. & Buijs, R.M. (2010) Vasopressin and the output of the hypothalamic biological clock. *J Neuroendocrinol*, **22**, 362-372.

Kaltwasser, M.T. (1990) Startle-inducing acoustic stimuli evoke ultrasonic vocalization in the rat. *Physiol Behav*, **48**, 13-17.

Kamei, N. & Takeda-Morishita, M. (2015) Brain delivery of insulin boosted by intranasal coadministration with cell-penetrating peptides. *Journal of Controlled Release*, **197**, 105-110.

Kanat, M., Heinrichs, M. & Domes, G. (2014) Oxytocin and the social brain: Neural mechanisms and perspectives in human research. *Brain Res*, **1580**, 160-171.

Kania, E., Roest, G., Vervliet, T., Parys, J.B. & Bultynck, G. (2017) Ip(3) receptormediated calcium signaling and its role in autophagy in cancer. *Front Oncol*, **7**, 140.

Keebaugh, A.C., Barrett, C.E., Laprairie, J.L., Jenkins, J.J. & Young, L.J. (2015) Rnai knockdown of oxytocin receptor in the nucleus accumbens inhibits social attachment and parental care in monogamous female prairie voles. *Soc Neurosci*, **10**, 561-570.

Keebaugh, A.C. & Young, L.J. (2011) Increasing oxytocin receptor expression in the nucleus accumbens of pre-pubertal female prairie voles enhances alloparental responsiveness and partner preference formation as adults. *Horm Behav*, **60**, 498-504.

Keech, B., Crowe, S. & Hocking, D.R. (2018) Intranasal oxytocin, social cognition and neurodevelopmental disorders: A meta-analysis. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, **87**, 9-19.

Keefe, K., Zigmond, M. & Abercrombie, E. (1993) In vivo regulation of extracellular dopamine in the neostriatum: Influence of impulse activity and local excitatory amino acids. *Journal of Neural Transmission/General Section JNT*, **91**, 223-240.

Kehr, J., Yoshitake, T., Ichinose, F., Yoshitake, S., Kiss, B., Gyertyán, I. & Adham, N. (2018) Effects of cariprazine on extracellular levels of glutamate, gaba, dopamine, noradrenaline and serotonin in the medial prefrontal cortex in the rat phencyclidine model of schizophrenia studied by microdialysis and simultaneous recordings of locomotor activity. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, **235**, 1593-1607.

Kelly, A.M. & Goodson, J.L. (2014) Hypothalamic oxytocin and vasopressin neurons exert sex-specific effects on pair bonding, gregariousness, and aggression in finches. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **111**, 6069-6074.

Kendrick, K.M. (2000) Oxytocin, motherhood and bonding. *Exp Physiol*, **85**, 111s-124s.

Kent, P., Awadia, A., Zhao, L., Ensan, D., Silva, D., Cayer, C., James, J.S., Anisman, H. & Merali, Z. (2016) Effects of intranasal and peripheral oxytocin or gastrin-releasing peptide administration on social interaction and corticosterone levels in rats. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, **64**, 123-130.

Keverne, E.B. (1999) The vomeronasal organ. Science, 286, 716-720.

Kim, S.H., MacIntyre, D.A., Hanyaloglu, A.C., Blanks, A.M., Thornton, S., Bennett, P.R. & Terzidou, V. (2016) The oxytocin receptor antagonist, atosiban, activates proinflammatory pathways in human amnion via g(αi) signalling. *Mol Cell Endocrinol*, **420**, 11-23.

Kimura, T., Tanizawa, O., Mori, K., Brownstein, M.J. & Okayama, H. (1992) Structure and expression of a human oxytocin receptor. *Nature*, **356**, 526-529.

King, C.E., Griffin, W.C., Luderman, L.N., Kates, M.M., McGinty, J.F. & Becker, H.C. (2017) Oxytocin reduces ethanol self-administration in mice. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, **41**, 955-964.

Kirsch, P., Esslinger, C., Chen, Q., Mier, D., Lis, S., Siddhanti, S., Gruppe, H., Mattay, V.S., Gallhofer, B. & Meyer-Lindenberg, A. (2005) Oxytocin modulates neural circuitry for social cognition and fear in humans. *J Neurosci*, **25**, 11489-11493.

Kiss, A. & Osacka, J. (2020) Effect of amisulpride, olanzapine, quetiapine, and aripiprazole single administration on c-fos expression in vasopressinergic and oxytocinergic neurons of the rat hypothalamic supraoptic nucleus. *Endocr Regul*, **54**, 77-84.

Klatt, J.D. & Goodson, J.L. (2013) Oxytocin-like receptors mediate pair bonding in a socially monogamous songbird. *Proc Biol Sci*, **280**, 20122396.

Klenerova, V., Krejci, I., Sida, P., Hlinak, Z. & Hynie, S. (2009) Oxytocin and carbetocin effects on spontaneous behavior of male rats: Modulation by oxytocin receptor antagonists. *Neuro Endocrinol Lett*, **30**, 335-342.

Knobloch, H.S., Charlet, A., Hoffmann, L.C., Eliava, M., Khrulev, S., Cetin, A.H., Osten, P., Schwarz, M.K., Seeburg, P.H., Stoop, R. & Grinevich, V. (2012) Evoked axonal oxytocin release in the central amygdala attenuates fear response. *Neuron*, **73**, 553-566.

Kohli, S., King, M.V., Williams, S., Edwards, A., Ballard, T.M., Steward, L.J., Alberati, D. & Fone, K.C.F. (2019) Oxytocin attenuates phencyclidine hyperactivity and increases social interaction and nucleus accumben dopamine release in rats. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, **44**, 295-305.

Kohtz, A.S., Lin, B., Smith, M.E. & Aston-Jones, G. (2018) Attenuated cocaine-seeking after oxytocin administration in male and female rats. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, **235**, 2051–2063.

Koolhaas, J.M., Coppens, C.M., de Boer, S.F., Buwalda, B., Meerlo, P. & Timmermans, P.J. (2013) The resident-intruder paradigm: A standardized test for aggression, violence and social stress. *J Vis Exp*, e4367.

Kopec, A.M., Smith, C.J., Ayre, N.R., Sweat, S.C. & Bilbo, S.D. (2018) Microglial dopamine receptor elimination defines sex-specific nucleus accumbens development and social behavior in adolescent rats. *Nat Commun*, **9**, 3769.

Kosfeld, M., Heinrichs, M., Zak, P.J., Fischbacher, U. & Fehr, E. (2005) Oxytocin increases trust in humans. *Nature*, **435**, 673-676.

Kota, S.K., Gayatri, K., Jammula, S., Kota, S.K., Krishna, S.V., Meher, L.K. & Modi, K.D. (2013) Endocrinology of parturition. *Indian J Endocrinol Metab*, **17**, 50-59.

Kovacs, G.L., Sarnyai, Z., Barbarczi, E., Szabo, G. & Telegdy, G. (1990) The role of oxytocin-dopamine interactions in cocaine-induced locomotor hyperactivity. *Neuropharmacology*, **29**, 365-368.

Krystal, J.H., Belger, A., D'Souza, D.C., Anand, A., Charney, D.S., Aghajanian, G.K. & Moghaddam, B. (1999) Therapeutic implications of the hyperglutamatergic effects of nmda antagonists. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, **21**, S143-S157.

Kucharska-Pietura, K. & Mortimer, A. (2013) Can antipsychotics improve social cognition in patients with schizophrenia? *CNS Drugs*, **27**, 335-343.

LaFollette, M.R., O'Haire, M.E., Cloutier, S., Blankenberger, W.B. & Gaskill, B.N. (2017) Rat tickling: A systematic review of applications, outcomes, and moderators. *PLoS One*, **12**, e0175320.

Lammel, S., Lim, B.K. & Malenka, R.C. (2014) Reward and aversion in a heterogeneous midbrain dopamine system. *Neuropharmacology*, **76 Pt B**, 351-359.

Land, H., Grez, M., Ruppert, S., Schmale, H., Rehbein, M., Richter, D. & Schütz, G. (1983) Deduced amino acid sequence from the bovine oxytocin–neurophysin i precursor cdna. *Nature*, **302**, 342-344.

Layek, B., Lipp, L. & Singh, J. (2015) Cell penetrating peptide conjugated chitosan for enhanced delivery of nucleic acid. *Int J Mol Sci*, **16**, 28912-28930.

Lazzari, V.M., Zimmermann-Peruzatto, J.M., Agnes, G., Becker, R.O., de Moura, A.C., Almeida, S., Guedes, R.P. & Giovenardi, M. (2019) Hippocampal gene expression patterns in oxytocin male knockout mice are related to impaired social interaction. *Behav Brain Res*, **364**, 464-468.

Le, J., Kou, J., Zhao, W., Fu, M., Zhang, Y., Becker, B. & Kendrick, K.M. (2020) Oxytocin facilitation of emotional empathy is associated with increased eye gaze toward the faces of individuals in emotional contexts. *Front Neurosci*, **14**, 803.

Lee, H.J., Caldwell, H.K., Macbeth, A.H., Tolu, S.G. & Young, W.S., 3rd (2008) A conditional knockout mouse line of the oxytocin receptor. *Endocrinology*, **149**, 3256-3263.

Lee, M.R., Rohn, M.C.H., Zanettini, C., Coggiano, M.A., Leggio, L. & Tanda, G. (2019a) Effect of systemically administered oxytocin on dose response for methylphenidate self-administration and mesolimbic dopamine levels. *Ann N Y Acad Sci*, **1455**, 173-184.

Lee, M.R., Schwandt, M.L., Sankar, V., Suchankova, P., Sun, H. & Leggio, L. (2017) Effect of alcohol use disorder on oxytocin peptide and receptor mrna expression in human brain: A post-mortem case-control study. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, **85**, 14-19.

Lee, S. & Lee, D.K. (2018) What is the proper way to apply the multiple comparison test? *Korean J Anesthesiol*, **71**, 353-360.

Lee, W., Hiura, L.C., Yang, E., Broekman, K.A., Ophir, A.G. & Curley, J.P. (2019b) Social status in mouse social hierarchies is associated with variation in oxytocin and vasopressin 1a receptor densities. *Horm Behav*, **114**, 104551.

Leerach, N., Harashima, A., Munesue, S., Kimura, K., Oshima, Y., Goto, H., Yamamoto, H., Higashida, H. & Yamamoto, Y. (2021) Glycation reaction and the role of the receptor for advanced glycation end-products in immunity and social behavior. *Glycoconj J*, **38**, 303-310.

Lei, K., Liu, Y., Smith, A.S., Lonstein, J.S. & Wang, Z. (2017) Effects of pair bonding on parental behavior and dopamine activity in the nucleus accumbens in male prairie voles. *Eur J Neurosci*, **46**, 2276-2284.

Leibowitz, S.F., Hammer, N.J. & Chang, K. (1981) Hypothalamic paraventricular nucleus lesions produce overeating and obesity in the rat. *Physiol Behav*, **27**, 1031-1040.

Leng, G. & Ludwig, M. (2008) Neurotransmitters and peptides: Whispered secrets and public announcements. *J Physiol*, **586**, 5625-5632.

Leng, G. & Ludwig, M. (2016) Intranasal oxytocin: Myths and delusions. *Biol Psychiatry*, **79**, 243-250.

Leng, G. & Sabatier, N. (2017) Oxytocin – the sweet hormone? *Trends in Endocrinology & Metabolism*, **28**, 365-376.

Leonzino, M., Busnelli, M., Antonucci, F., Verderio, C., Mazzanti, M. & Chini, B. (2016) The timing of the excitatory-to-inhibitory gaba switch is regulated by the oxytocin receptor via kcc2. *Cell Rep*, **15**, 96-103.

Li, K., Nakajima, M., Ibañez-Tallon, I. & Heintz, N. (2016) A cortical circuit for sexually dimorphic oxytocin-dependent anxiety behaviors. *Cell*, **167**, 60-72.e11.

Li, Z., Boules, M., Williams, K., Peris, J. & Richelson, E. (2010) The novel neurotensin analog nt69l blocks phencyclidine (pcp)-induced increases in locomotor activity and pcp-induced increases in monoamine and amino acids levels in the medial prefrontal cortex. *Brain Res*, **1311**, 28-36.

Li, Z., Chen, Z., Fan, G., Li, A., Yuan, J. & Xu, T. (2018) Cell-type-specific afferent innervation of the nucleus accumbens core and shell. *Front Neuroanat*, **12**, 84.

Liang, J.F. & Yang, V.C. (2005) Insulin-cell penetrating peptide hybrids with improved intestinal absorption efficiency. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, **335**, 734-738.

Lischke, A., Berger, C., Prehn, K., Heinrichs, M., Herpertz, S.C. & Domes, G. (2012) Intranasal oxytocin enhances emotion recognition from dynamic facial expressions and leaves eye-gaze unaffected. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, **37**, 475-481.

Liu, W., Pappas, G.D. & Carter, C.S. (2005) Oxytocin receptors in brain cortical regions are reduced in haploinsufficient (+/-) reeler mice. *Neurol Res*, **27**, 339-345.

Liu, Y. & Wang, Z.X. (2003) Nucleus accumbens oxytocin and dopamine interact to regulate pair bond formation in female prairie voles. *Neuroscience*, **121**, 537-544.

Lobo, M.K. (2009) Molecular profiling of striatonigral and striatopallidal medium spiny neurons past, present, and future. *Int Rev Neurobiol*, **89**, 1-35.

Lobo, M.K., Covington, H.E., 3rd, Chaudhury, D., Friedman, A.K., Sun, H., Damez-Werno, D., Dietz, D.M., Zaman, S., Koo, J.W., Kennedy, P.J., Mouzon, E., Mogri, M., Neve, R.L., Deisseroth, K., Han, M.H. & Nestler, E.J. (2010) Cell type-specific loss of bdnf signaling mimics optogenetic control of cocaine reward. *Science*, **330**, 385-390.

Lobo, M.K. & Nestler, E.J. (2011) The striatal balancing act in drug addiction: Distinct roles of direct and indirect pathway medium spiny neurons. *Front Neuroanat*, **5**, 41.

Loth, E., Poline, J.B., Thyreau, B., Jia, T., Tao, C., Lourdusamy, A., Stacey, D., Cattrell, A., Desrivieres, S., Ruggeri, B., Fritsch, V., Banaschewski, T., Barker, G.J., Bokde, A.L., Buchel, C., Carvalho, F.M., Conrod, P.J., Fauth-Buehler, M., Flor, H., Gallinat, J., Garavan, H., Heinz, A., Bruehl, R., Lawrence, C., Mann, K., Martinot, J.L., Nees, F., Paus, T., Pausova, Z., Poustka, L., Rietschel, M., Smolka, M., Struve, M., Feng, J. & Schumann, G. (2014) Oxytocin receptor genotype modulates ventral striatal activity to social cues and response to stressful life events. *Biol Psychiatry*, **76**, 367-376.

Love, T.M. (2014) Oxytocin, motivation and the role of dopamine. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav*, **119**, 49-60.

Ludwig, M. (1998) Dendritic release of vasopressin and oxytocin. *J Neuroendocrinol*, **10**, 881-895.

Ludwig, M., Apps, D., Menzies, J., Patel, J.C. & Rice, M.E. (2016) Dendritic release of neurotransmitters. *Compr Physiol*, **7**, 235-252.

Ludwig, M., Bull, P.M., Tobin, V.A., Sabatier, N., Landgraf, R., Dayanithi, G. & Leng, G. (2005) Regulation of activity-dependent dendritic vasopressin release from rat supraoptic neurones. *J Physiol*, **564**, 515-522.

Ludwig, M. & Leng, G. (2006) Dendritic peptide release and peptide-dependent behaviours. *Nat Rev Neurosci*, **7**, 126-136.

Ludwig, M., Sabatier, N., Bull, P.M., Landgraf, R., Dayanithi, G. & Leng, G. (2002) Intracellular calcium stores regulate activity-dependent neuropeptide release from dendrites. *Nature*, **418**, 85-89. Lukas, M., Bredewold, R., Neumann, I.D. & Veenema, A.H. (2010) Maternal separation interferes with developmental changes in brain vasopressin and oxytocin receptor binding in male rats. *Neuropharmacology*, **58**, 78-87.

Lukas, M., Toth, I., Reber, S.O., Slattery, D.A., Veenema, A.H. & Neumann, I.D. (2011) The neuropeptide oxytocin facilitates pro-social behavior and prevents social avoidance in rats and mice. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, **36**, 2159-2168.

Lukas, M., Toth, I., Veenema, A.H. & Neumann, I.D. (2013) Oxytocin mediates rodent social memory within the lateral septum and the medial amygdala depending on the relevance of the social stimulus: Male juvenile versus female adult conspecifics. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, **38**, 916-926.

Lukas, M. & Wohr, M. (2015) Endogenous vasopressin, innate anxiety, and the emission of pro-social 50-khz ultrasonic vocalizations during social play behavior in juvenile rats. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, **56**, 35-44.

Ma, S.T., Maier, E.Y., Ahrens, A.M., Schallert, T. & Duvauchelle, C.L. (2010) Repeated intravenous cocaine experience: Development and escalation of pre-drug anticipatory 50-khz ultrasonic vocalizations in rats. *Behav Brain Res*, **212**, 109-114.

Maccioni, P., Lorrai, I., Contini, A., Leite-Morris, K. & Colombo, G. (2018) Microinjection of baclofen and cgp7930 into the ventral tegmental area suppresses alcohol self-administration in alcohol-preferring rats. *Neuropharmacology*, **136**, 146-158.

MacFadyen, K., Loveless, R., DeLucca, B., Wardley, K., Deogan, S., Thomas, C. & Peris, J. (2016) Peripheral oxytocin administration reduces ethanol consumption in rats. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav*, **140**, 27-32.

Manduca, A., Campolongo, P., Palmery, M., Vanderschuren, L.J.M.J., Cuomo, V. & Trezza, V. (2014a) Social play behavior, ultrasonic vocalizations and their modulation by morphine and amphetamine in wistar and sprague-dawley rats. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, **231**, 1661-1673.

Manduca, A., Servadio, M., Campolongo, P., Palmery, M., Trabace, L., Vanderschuren, L.J., Cuomo, V. & Trezza, V. (2014b) Strain-and context-dependent effects of the anandamide hydrolysis inhibitor urb597 on social behavior in rats. *European Neuropsychopharmacology*, **24**, 1337-1348. Manduca, A., Servadio, M., Damsteegt, R., Campolongo, P., Vanderschuren, L.J. & Trezza, V. (2016) Dopaminergic neurotransmission in the nucleus accumbens modulates social play behavior in rats. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, **41**, 2215-2223.

Manning, M., Misicka, A., Olma, A., Bankowski, K., Stoev, S., Chini, B., Durroux, T., Mouillac, B., Corbani, M. & Guillon, G. (2012) Oxytocin and vasopressin agonists and antagonists as research tools and potential therapeutics. *J Neuroendocrinol*, **24**, 609-628.

Manning, M., Stoev, S., Chini, B., Durroux, T., Mouillac, B. & Guillon, G. (2008) Peptide and non-peptide agonists and antagonists for the vasopressin and oxytocin v1a, v1b, v2 and ot receptors: Research tools and potential therapeutic agents. *Prog Brain Res*, **170**, 473-512.

Mansbach, R.S. & Geyer, M.A. (1989) Effects of phencyclidine and phencyclidine biologs on sensorimotor gating in the rat. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, **2**, 299-308.

Marlin, B.J. & Froemke, R.C. (2017) Oxytocin modulation of neural circuits for social behavior. *Dev Neurobiol*, **77**, 169-189.

Marlin, B.J., Mitre, M., D'Amour J, A., Chao, M.V. & Froemke, R.C. (2015) Oxytocin enables maternal behaviour by balancing cortical inhibition. *Nature*, **520**, 499-504.

Marsh, A.A., Yu, H.H., Pine, D.S. & Blair, R.J. (2010) Oxytocin improves specific recognition of positive facial expressions. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, **209**, 225-232.

Martins, D., Paduraru, M. & Paloyelis, Y. (2021) Heterogeneity in response to repeated intranasal oxytocin in schizophrenia and autism spectrum disorders: A meta-analysis of variance. *Br J Pharmacol*.

Matsumoto, J., Nishimaru, H., Takamura, Y., Urakawa, S., Ono, T. & Nishijo, H. (2016) Amygdalar auditory neurons contribute to self-other distinction during ultrasonic social vocalization in rats. *Front Neurosci*, **10**, 399.

Maurel-Remy, S., Bervoets, K. & Millan, M.J. (1995) Blockade of phencyclidineinduced hyperlocomotion by clozapine and mdl 100,907 in rats reflects antagonism of 5-ht2a receptors. *Eur J Pharmacol*, **280**, R9-11.

McIntosh, A.L., Ballard, T.M., Steward, L.J., Moran, P.M. & Fone, K.C. (2013) The atypical antipsychotic risperidone reverses the recognition memory deficits induced by post-weaning social isolation in rats. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, **228**, 31-42.

McMartin, C., Hutchinson, L.E., Hyde, R. & Peters, G.E. (1987) Analysis of structural requirements for the absorption of drugs and macromolecules from the nasal cavity. *J Pharm Sci*, **76**, 535-540.

Meaney, M.J. & Stewart, J. (1981) A descriptive study of social development in the rat (rattus norvegicus). *Animal Behaviour*, **29**, 34-45.

Meisenberg, G. & Simmons, W.H. (1983) Minireview. Peptides and the blood-brain barrier. *Life Sci*, **32**, 2611-2623.

Melis, M.R. & Argiolas, A. (2011) Central control of penile erection: A re-visitation of the role of oxytocin and its interaction with dopamine and glutamic acid in male rats. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev*, **35**, 939-955.

Melis, M.R., Melis, T., Cocco, C., Succu, S., Sanna, F., Pillolla, G., Boi, A., Ferri, G.L. & Argiolas, A. (2007) Oxytocin injected into the ventral tegmental area induces penile erection and increases extracellular dopamine in the nucleus accumbens and paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus of male rats. *Eur J Neurosci*, **26**, 1026-1035.

Melis, M.R., Succu, S., Sanna, F., Boi, A. & Argiolas, A. (2009) Oxytocin injected into the ventral subiculum or the posteromedial cortical nucleus of the amygdala induces penile erection and increases extracellular dopamine levels in the nucleus accumbens of male rats. *Eur J Neurosci*, **30**, 1349-1357.

Meltzer, H.Y. (1991) The mechanism of action of novel antipsychotic drugs. *Schizophr Bull*, **17**, 263-287.

Mens, W.B., Witter, A. & van Wimersma Greidanus, T.B. (1983) Penetration of neurohypophyseal hormones from plasma into cerebrospinal fluid (csf): Half-times of disappearance of these neuropeptides from csf. *Brain Res*, **262**, 143-149.

Meyer-Lindenberg, A., Domes, G., Kirsch, P. & Heinrichs, M. (2011) Oxytocin and vasopressin in the human brain: Social neuropeptides for translational medicine. *Nat Rev Neurosci*, **12**, 524-538.

Mezey, E. & Kiss, J.Z. (1991) Coexpression of vasopressin and oxytocin in hypothalamic supraoptic neurons of lactating rats. *Endocrinology*, **129**, 1814-1820.

Mikolajczak, M., Gross, J.J., Lane, A., Corneille, O., de Timary, P. & Luminet, O. (2010) Oxytocin makes people trusting, not gullible. *Psychol Sci*, **21**, 1072-1074.

Millan, M.J. & Bales, K.L. (2013) Towards improved animal models for evaluating social cognition and its disruption in schizophrenia: The cntrics initiative. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev*, **37**, 2166-2180.

Millan, M.J., Brocco, M., Gobert, A., Joly, F., Bervoets, K., Rivet, J., Newman-Tancredi, A., Audinot, V. & Maurel, S. (1999) Contrasting mechanisms of action and sensitivity to antipsychotics of phencyclidine versus amphetamine: Importance of nucleus accumbens 5-ht2a sites for pcp-induced locomotion in the rat. *Eur J Neurosci*, **11**, 4419-4432.

Milligan, G. (1993) Regional distribution and quantitative measurement of the phosphoinositidase c-linked guanine nucleotide binding proteins $g1\alpha$ and $gq\alpha$ in rat brain. J Neurochem, **61**, 845-851.

Mines, M.A., Yuskaitis, C.J., King, M.K., Beurel, E. & Jope, R.S. (2010) Gsk3 influences social preference and anxiety-related behaviors during social interaction in a mouse model of fragile x syndrome and autism. *PLoS One*, **5**, e9706.

Mitchell, E.J., Brett, R.R., Armstrong, J.D., Sillito, R.R. & Pratt, J.A. (2020) Temporal dissociation of phencyclidine: Induced locomotor and social alterations in rats using an automated homecage monitoring system - implications for the 3rs and preclinical drug discovery. *J Psychopharmacol*, **34**, 709-715.

Mitre, M., Marlin, B.J., Schiavo, J.K., Morina, E., Norden, S.E., Hackett, T.A., Aoki, C.J., Chao, M.V. & Froemke, R.C. (2016) A distributed network for social cognition enriched for oxytocin receptors. *J Neurosci*, **36**, 2517-2535.

Mitre, M., Minder, J., Morina, E.X., Chao, M.V. & Froemke, R.C. (2018) Oxytocin modulation of neural circuits. *Curr Top Behav Neurosci*, **35**, 31-53.

Moaddab, M., Hyland, B.I. & Brown, C.H. (2015) Oxytocin excites nucleus accumbens shell neurons in vivo. *Molecular and Cellular Neuroscience*, **68**, 323-330.

Montag, C., Brockmann, E.M., Bayerl, M., Rujescu, D., Muller, D.J. & Gallinat, J. (2013) Oxytocin and oxytocin receptor gene polymorphisms and risk for schizophrenia: A case-control study. *World J Biol Psychiatry*, **14**, 500-508.

Moore, D.S., McCabe, G.P. & Craig, B.A. (2012) *Introduction to the practice of statistics, 7th edition*. Introduction to the Practice of Statistics, 7th Edition.

Morales, M. & Margolis, E.B. (2017) Ventral tegmental area: Cellular heterogeneity, connectivity and behaviour. *Nat Rev Neurosci*, **18**, 73-85.

Morales, M. & Root, D.H. (2014) Glutamate neurons within the midbrain dopamine regions. *Neuroscience*, **282**, 60-68.

Morrens, M., Hulstijn, W., Lewi, P.J., De Hert, M. & Sabbe, B.G. (2006) Stereotypy in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res*, **84**, 397-404.

Mullen, R.J., Buck, C.R. & Smith, A.M. (1992) Neun, a neuronal specific nuclear protein in vertebrates. *Development*, **116**, 201-211.

Mulvihill, K.G. & Brudzynski, S.M. (2019) Effect of microinjections of dopamine into the nucleus accumbens shell on emission of 50 khz usv: Comparison with effects of d-amphetamine. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav*, **176**, 23-32.

Munesue, S.I., Liang, M., Harashima, A., Zhong, J., Furuhara, K., Boitsova, E.B., Cherepanov, S.M., Gerasimenko, M., Yuhi, T., Yamamoto, Y. & Higashida, H. (2021) Transport of oxytocin to the brain after peripheral administration by membranebound or soluble forms of receptors for advanced glycation end-products. *J Neuroendocrinol*, **33**, e12963.

Murata, Y., Li, M.-Z. & Masuko, S. (2011) Developmental expression of oxytocin receptors in the neonatal medulla oblongata and pons. *Neurosci Lett*, **502**, 157-161.

Mutschler, N.H. & Miczek, K.A. (1998) Withdrawal from i.V. Cocaine "binges" in rats: Ultrasonic distress calls and startle. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, **135**, 161-168.

Myers, R. (1966) Injection of solutions into cerebral tissue: Relation between volume and diffusion. *Physiol Behav*, **1**, 171-174.

Nakajima, M., Görlich, A. & Heintz, N. (2014) Oxytocin modulates female sociosexual behavior through a specific class of prefrontal cortical interneurons. *Cell*, **159**, 295-305.

Nardou, R., Lewis, E.M., Rothhaas, R., Xu, R., Yang, A., Boyden, E. & Dölen, G. (2019) Oxytocin-dependent reopening of a social reward learning critical period with mdma. *Nature*, **569**, 116-120.

Nauta, W., Smith, G., Faull, R. & Domesick, V.B. (1978) Efferent connections and nigral afferents of the nucleus accumbens septi in the rat. *Neuroscience*, **3**, 385-401.

Negroni, M.P., Fiszman, G.L., Azar, M.E., Morgado, C.C., Espanol, A.J., Pelegrina, L.T., de la Torre, E. & Sales, M.E. (2010) Immunoglobulin g from breast cancer patients in stage i stimulates muscarinic acetylcholine receptors in mcf7 cells and induces proliferation. Participation of nitric oxide synthase-derived nitric oxide. *J Clin Immunol*, **30**, 474-484.

Nelson, E. & Panksepp, J. (1996) Oxytocin mediates acquisition of maternally associated odor preferences in preweanling rat pups. *Behav Neurosci*, **110**, 583-592.

Neumann, I.D., Maloumby, R., Beiderbeck, D.I., Lukas, M. & Landgraf, R. (2013) Increased brain and plasma oxytocin after nasal and peripheral administration in rats and mice. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, **38**, 1985-1993.

Newman, S.W. (1999) The medial extended amygdala in male reproductive behavior. A node in the mammalian social behavior network. *Ann N Y Acad Sci*, **877**, 242-257.

Nguyen, D., Fugariu, V., Erb, S. & Ito, R. (2018) Dissociable roles of the nucleus accumbens d1 and d2 receptors in regulating cue-elicited approach-avoidance conflict decision-making. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, **235**, 2233-2244.

NICE (2014) Psychosis and schizophrenia in adults: Prevention and management. Clinical guideline [cg178].

Nicolini, C. & Fahnestock, M. (2018) The valproic acid-induced rodent model of autism. *Exp Neurol*, **299**, 217-227.

Niesink, R.J. & van Ree, J.M. (1982) Short-term isolation increases social interactions of male rats: A parametric analysis. *Physiol Behav*, **29**, 819-825.

Noack, J., Murau, R. & Engelmann, M. (2015) Consequences of temporary inhibition of the medial amygdala on social recognition memory performance in mice. *Front Neurosci*, **9**, 152.

O'Connell, L.A. & Hofmann, H.A. (2011) The vertebrate mesolimbic reward system and social behavior network: A comparative synthesis. *J Comp Neurol*, **519**, 3599-3639.

O'Connell, L.A. & Hofmann, H.A. (2012) Evolution of a vertebrate social decisionmaking network. *Science*, **336**, 1154-1157. Oettl, L.L. & Kelsch, W. (2018) Oxytocin and olfaction. *Curr Top Behav Neurosci*, **35**, 55-75.

Oettl, L.L., Ravi, N., Schneider, M., Scheller, M.F., Schneider, P., Mitre, M., da Silva Gouveia, M., Froemke, R.C., Chao, M.V., Young, W.S., Meyer-Lindenberg, A., Grinevich, V., Shusterman, R. & Kelsch, W. (2016) Oxytocin enhances social recognition by modulating cortical control of early olfactory processing. *Neuron*, **90**, 609-621.

Olazábal, D.E. & Sandberg, N.Y. (2020) Variation in the density of oxytocin receptors in the brain as mechanism of adaptation to specific social and reproductive strategies. *Gen Comp Endocrinol*, **286**, 113337.

Olazabal, D.E. & Young, L.J. (2006) Oxytocin receptors in the nucleus accumbens facilitate "spontaneous" maternal behavior in adult female prairie voles. *Neuroscience*, **141**, 559-568.

Ostrowski, N.L., Lolait, S.J. & Young, W.S., 3rd (1994) Cellular localization of vasopressin v1a receptor messenger ribonucleic acid in adult male rat brain, pineal, and brain vasculature. *Endocrinology*, **135**, 1511-1528.

Otero-García, M., Agustín-Pavón, C., Lanuza, E. & Martínez-García, F. (2016) Distribution of oxytocin and co-localization with arginine vasopressin in the brain of mice. *Brain Structure and Function*, **221**, 3445-3473.

Ott, I. & Scott, J. (1910) The action of infundibulum upon mammary secretion. *Proc Soc Exp Biol*, **8**, 48-49.

Oya, K., Matsuda, Y., Matsunaga, S., Kishi, T. & Iwata, N. (2016) Efficacy and safety of oxytocin augmentation therapy for schizophrenia: An updated systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized, placebo-controlled trials. *European archives of psychiatry and clinical neuroscience*, **266**, 439-450.

Pagani, J.H., Zhao, M., Cui, Z., Williams Avram, S.K., Caruana, D.A., Dudek, S.M. & Young, W.S. (2015) Role of the vasopressin 1b receptor in rodent aggressive behavior and synaptic plasticity in hippocampal area ca2. *Mol Psychiatry*, **20**, 490-499.

Paloyelis, Y., Doyle, O.M., Zelaya, F.O., Maltezos, S., Williams, S.C., Fotopoulou, A. & Howard, M.A. (2016) A spatiotemporal profile of in vivo cerebral blood flow changes following intranasal oxytocin in humans. *Biol Psychiatry*, **79**, 693-705.

Panksepp, J. (2007) Neuroevolutionary sources of laughter and social joy: Modeling primal human laughter in laboratory rats. *Behav Brain Res*, **182**, 231-244.

Panksepp, J. & Burgdorf, J. (2000) 50-khz chirping (laughter?) in response to conditioned and unconditioned tickle-induced reward in rats: Effects of social housing and genetic variables. *Behav Brain Res*, **115**, 25-38.

Passoni, I., Leonzino, M., Gigliucci, V., Chini, B. & Busnelli, M. (2016) Carbetocin is a functional selective gq agonist that does not promote oxytocin receptor recycling after inducing beta-arrestin-independent internalisation. *J Neuroendocrinol*, **28**.

Patchev, V.K., Schlosser, S.F., Hassan, A.H.S. & Almeida, O.F.X. (1993) Oxytocin binding sites in rat limbic and hypothalamic structures: Site-specific modulation by adrenal and gonadal steroids. *Neuroscience*, **57**, 537-543.

Patel, D., Kas, M.J., Chattarji, S. & Buwalda, B. (2019) Rodent models of social stress and neuronal plasticity: Relevance to depressive-like disorders. *Behav Brain Res*, **369**, 111900.

Patel, L.N., Wang, J., Kim, K.-J., Borok, Z., Crandall, E.D. & Shen, W.-C. (2009) Conjugation with cationic cell-penetrating peptide increases pulmonary absorption of insulin. *Mol Pharm*, **6**, 492-503.

Patin, A. & Hurlemann, R. (2015) Social cognition. *Handb Exp Pharmacol*, **228**, 271-303.

Paxinos, G. & Watson, C. (2007) *The rat brain atlas in stereotaxic coordinates*. Elsevier Inc Oxford.

Pedersen, C.A. & Prange, A.J. (1979) Induction of maternal behavior in virgin rats after intracerebroventricular administration of oxytocin. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **76**, 6661-6665.

Pedersen, C.A., Vadlamudi, S.V., Boccia, M.L. & Amico, J.A. (2006) Maternal behavior deficits in nulliparous oxytocin knockout mice. *Genes Brain Behav*, **5**, 274-281.

Peleh, T., Bai, X., Kas, M.J.H. & Hengerer, B. (2019) Rfid-supported video tracking for automated analysis of social behaviour in groups of mice. *Journal of Neuroscience Methods*, **325**, 108323.

Peris, J., MacFadyen, K., Smith, J.A., de Kloet, A.D., Wang, L. & Krause, E.G. (2017) Oxytocin receptors are expressed on dopamine and glutamate neurons in the mouse ventral tegmental area that project to nucleus accumbens and other mesolimbic targets. *J Comp Neurol*, **525**, 1094-1108.

Peris, J., Steck, M.R. & Krause, E.G. (2020) Oxytocin treatment for alcoholism: Potential neurocircuitry targets. *Neuropharmacology*, **171**, 108091.

Perry, A.N., Carter, C.S. & Cushing, B.S. (2016) Chronic social isolation enhances reproduction in the monogamous prairie vole (microtus ochrogaster). *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, **68**, 20-28.

Perugini, M., Gallucci, M. & Costantini, G. (2018) A practical primer to power analysis for simple experimental designs. *International Review of Social Psychology*, **31**.

Petring, O. (1989) The effect of oxytocin on basal and pethidine-induced delayed gastric emptying. *British journal of clinical pharmacology*, **28**, 329-332.

Pobbe, R.L., Pearson, B.L., Defensor, E.B., Bolivar, V.J., Young, W.S., 3rd, Lee, H.J., Blanchard, D.C. & Blanchard, R.J. (2012) Oxytocin receptor knockout mice display deficits in the expression of autism-related behaviors. *Horm Behav*, **61**, 436-444.

Pont, J.N., McArdle, C.A. & López Bernal, A. (2012) Oxytocin-stimulated nfat transcriptional activation in human myometrial cells. *Mol Endocrinol*, **26**, 1743-1756.

Porcelli, S., Van Der Wee, N., van der Werff, S., Aghajani, M., Glennon, J.C., van Heukelum, S., Mogavero, F., Lobo, A., Olivera, F.J., Lobo, E., Posadas, M., Dukart, J., Kozak, R., Arce, E., Ikram, A., Vorstman, J., Bilderbeck, A., Saris, I., Kas, M.J. & Serretti, A. (2019) Social brain, social dysfunction and social withdrawal. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev*, **97**, 10-33.

Potasiewicz, A., Holuj, M., Litwa, E., Gzielo, K., Socha, L., Popik, P. & Nikiforuk, A. (2020) Social dysfunction in the neurodevelopmental model of schizophrenia in male and female rats: Behavioural and biochemical studies. *Neuropharmacology*, **170**, 108040.

Qi, J., Han, W.Y., Yang, J.Y., Wang, L.H., Dong, Y.X., Wang, F., Song, M. & Wu, C.F. (2012) Oxytocin regulates changes of extracellular glutamate and gaba levels induced by methamphetamine in the mouse brain. *Addict Biol*, **17**, 758-769.

Quintana, D.S. & Guastella, A.J. (2020) An allostatic theory of oxytocin. *Trends Cogn Sci*, **24**, 515-528.

Raam, T. (2020) Oxytocin-sensitive neurons in prefrontal cortex gate social recognition memory. *J Neurosci*, **40**, 1194-1196.

Radke, S., Volman, I., Kokal, I., Roelofs, K., de Bruijn, E.R.A. & Toni, I. (2017) Oxytocin reduces amygdala responses during threat approach. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, **79**, 160-166.

Rae, M., Duarte, M.L., Gomes, I., Camarini, R. & Devi, L.A. (2021) Oxytocin and vasopressin: Signalling, behavioural modulation and potential therapeutic effects. *Br J Pharmacol*.

Rajagopal, S., Rajagopal, K. & Lefkowitz, R.J. (2010) Teaching old receptors new tricks: Biasing seven-transmembrane receptors. *Nat Rev Drug Discov*, **9**, 373-386.

Ramos, L., Hicks, C., Caminer, A., Couto, K., Narlawar, R., Kassiou, M. & McGregor, I.S. (2016) Mdma ('ecstasy'), oxytocin and vasopressin modulate social preference in rats: A role for handling and oxytocin receptors. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav*, **150**-**151**, 115-123.

Ramos, L., Hicks, C., Kevin, R., Caminer, A., Narlawar, R., Kassiou, M. & McGregor, I.S. (2013) Acute prosocial effects of oxytocin and vasopressin when given alone or in combination with 3,4-methylenedioxymethamphetamine in rats: Involvement of the v1a receptor. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, **38**, 2249-2259.

Rankovic, Z., Brust, T.F. & Bohn, L.M. (2016) Biased agonism: An emerging paradigm in gpcr drug discovery. *Bioorg Med Chem Lett*, **26**, 241-250.

Reghunandanan, V. & Reghunandanan, R. (2006) Neurotransmitters of the suprachiasmatic nuclei. *J Circadian Rhythms*, **4**, 2.

Rehmani, S. & Dixon, J.E. (2018) Oral delivery of anti-diabetes therapeutics using cell penetrating and transcytosing peptide strategies. *Peptides*, **100**, 24-35.

Renaud, L.P. (2007) Vasopressin*. In Fink, G. (ed) *Encyclopedia of stress (second edition)*. Academic Press, New York, pp. 824-829.

Resendez, S.L., Dome, M., Gormley, G., Franco, D., Nevárez, N., Hamid, A.A. & Aragona, B.J. (2013) M-opioid receptors within subregions of the striatum mediate pair bond formation through parallel yet distinct reward mechanisms. *J Neurosci*, **33**, 9140-9149.

Resendez, S.L., Namboodiri, V.M.K., Otis, J.M., Eckman, L.E.H., Rodriguez-Romaguera, J., Ung, R.L., Basiri, M.L., Kosyk, O., Rossi, M.A., Dichter, G.S. & Stuber, G.D. (2020) Social stimuli induce activation of oxytocin neurons within the paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus to promote social behavior in male mice. *J Neurosci*, **40**, 2282-2295.

Richfield, E.K., Penney, J.B. & Young, A.B. (1989) Anatomical and affinity state comparisons between dopamine d1 and d2 receptors in the rat central nervous system. *Neuroscience*, **30**, 767-777.

Rimmele, U., Hediger, K., Heinrichs, M. & Klaver, P. (2009) Oxytocin makes a face in memory familiar. *J Neurosci*, **29**, 38-42.

Rimoldi, V., Reversi, A., Taverna, E., Rosa, P., Francolini, M., Cassoni, P., Parenti, M. & Chini, B. (2003) Oxytocin receptor elicits different egfr/mapk activation patterns depending on its localization in caveolin-1 enriched domains. *Oncogene*, **22**, 6054-6060.

Ring, R.H., Schechter, L.E., Leonard, S.K., Dwyer, J.M., Platt, B.J., Graf, R., Grauer, S., Pulicicchio, C., Resnick, L., Rahman, Z., Sukoff Rizzo, S.J., Luo, B., Beyer, C.E., Logue, S.F., Marquis, K.L., Hughes, Z.A. & Rosenzweig-Lipson, S. (2010) Receptor and behavioral pharmacology of way-267464, a non-peptide oxytocin receptor agonist. *Neuropharmacology*, **58**, 69-77.

Robert, V., Therreau, L., Davatolhagh, M.F., Bernardo-Garcia, F.J., Clements, K.N., Chevaleyre, V. & Piskorowski, R.A. (2020) The mechanisms shaping ca2 pyramidal neuron action potential bursting induced by muscarinic acetylcholine receptor activation. *J Gen Physiol*, **152**.

Roberts, D.L., Penn, D.L., Corrigan, P., Lipkovich, I., Kinon, B. & Black, R.A. (2010) Antipsychotic medication and social cue recognition in chronic schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Res*, **178**, 46-50.

Robinson, D.L., Heien, M.L. & Wightman, R.M. (2002) Frequency of dopamine concentration transients increases in dorsal and ventral striatum of male rats during introduction of conspecifics. *J Neurosci*, **22**, 10477-10486.

Robinson, D.L., Zitzman, D.L., Smith, K.J. & Spear, L.P. (2011) Fast dopamine release events in the nucleus accumbens of early adolescent rats. *Neuroscience*, **176**, 296-307.

Rose, J.P., Wu, C.K., Hsiao, C.D., Breslow, E. & Wang, B.C. (1996) Crystal structure of the neurophysin-oxytocin complex. *Nat Struct Biol*, **3**, 163-169.

Ross, H.E., Cole, C.D., Smith, Y., Neumann, I.D., Landgraf, R., Murphy, A.Z. & Young, L.J. (2009a) Characterization of the oxytocin system regulating affiliative behavior in female prairie voles. *Neuroscience*, **162**, 892-903.

Ross, H.E., Freeman, S.M., Spiegel, L.L., Ren, X., Terwilliger, E.F. & Young, L.J. (2009b) Variation in oxytocin receptor density in the nucleus accumbens has differential effects on affiliative behaviors in monogamous and polygamous voles. *J Neurosci*, **29**, 1312-1318.

Ross, H.E. & Young, L.J. (2009) Oxytocin and the neural mechanisms regulating social cognition and affiliative behavior. *Front Neuroendocrinol*, **30**, 534-547.

Roux, S., Lohof, A., Ben-Ari, Y., Poulain, B. & Bossu, J.L. (2018) Maturation of gabaergic transmission in cerebellar purkinje cells is sex dependent and altered in the valproate model of autism. *Front Cell Neurosci*, **12**, 232.

Rubin, L.H., Carter, C.S., Drogos, L., Pournajafi-Nazarloo, H., Sweeney, J.A. & Maki, P.M. (2010) Peripheral oxytocin is associated with reduced symptom severity in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res*, **124**, 13-21.

Sabatier, N., Caquineau, C., Dayanithi, G., Bull, P., Douglas, A.J., Guan, X.M., Jiang, M., Van der Ploeg, L. & Leng, G. (2003) Alpha-melanocyte-stimulating hormone stimulates oxytocin release from the dendrites of hypothalamic neurons while inhibiting oxytocin release from their terminals in the neurohypophysis. *J Neurosci*, **23**, 10351-10358.

Sabe, M., Zhao, N., Crippa, A., Strauss, G.P. & Kaiser, S. (2021) Intranasal oxytocin for negative symptoms of schizophrenia: Systematic review, meta-analysis and dose-response meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Int J Neuropsychopharmacol*.

Sala, M., Braida, D., Donzelli, A., Martucci, R., Busnelli, M., Bulgheroni, E., Rubino, T., Parolaro, D., Nishimori, K. & Chini, B. (2013) Mice heterozygous for the oxytocin receptor gene (oxtr(+/-)) show impaired social behaviour but not increased aggression or cognitive inflexibility: Evidence of a selective haploinsufficiency gene effect. *J Neuroendocrinol*, **25**, 107-118.

Sala, M., Braida, D., Lentini, D., Busnelli, M., Bulgheroni, E., Capurro, V., Finardi, A., Donzelli, A., Pattini, L., Rubino, T., Parolaro, D., Nishimori, K., Parenti, M. & Chini, B. (2011) Pharmacologic rescue of impaired cognitive flexibility, social deficits, increased aggression, and seizure susceptibility in oxytocin receptor null mice: A neurobehavioral model of autism. *Biol Psychiatry*, **69**, 875-882.

Sams-Dodd, F. (1995) Distinct effects of d-amphetamine and phencyclidine on the social behaviour of rats. *Behav Pharmacol*, **6**, 55-65.

Sams-Dodd, F. (1998) Effects of dopamine agonists and antagonists on pcp-induced stereotyped behaviour and social isolation in the rat social interaction test. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, **135**, 182-193.

Sams-Dodd, F. (1999) Phencyclidine in the social interaction test: An animal model of schizophrenia with face and predictive validity. *Rev Neurosci*, **10**, 59-90.

Samuelsen, C.L. & Meredith, M. (2011) Oxytocin antagonist disrupts male mouse medial amygdala response to chemical-communication signals. *Neuroscience*, **180**, 96-104.

Sanchez-Andrade, G. & Kendrick, K.M. (2009) The main olfactory system and social learning in mammals. *Behav Brain Res*, **200**, 323-335.

Sarnyai, Z. & Kovács, G.L. (2014) Oxytocin in learning and addiction: From early discoveries to the present. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav*, **119**, 3-9.

Sasayama, D., Hattori, K., Teraishi, T., Hori, H., Ota, M., Yoshida, S., Arima, K., Higuchi, T., Amano, N. & Kunugi, H. (2012) Negative correlation between cerebrospinal fluid oxytocin levels and negative symptoms of male patients with schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res*, **139**, 201-206.

Satake, H., Takuwa, K., Minakata, H. & Matsushima, O. (1999) Evidence for conservation of the vasopressin/oxytocin superfamily in annelida. *J Biol Chem*, **274**, 5605-5611.

Savaskan, E., Ehrhardt, R., Schulz, A., Walter, M. & Schächinger, H. (2008) Postlearning intranasal oxytocin modulates human memory for facial identity. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, **33**, 368-374. Scalia, F. & Winans, S.S. (1975) The differential projections of the olfactory bulb and accessory olfactory bulb in mammals. *J Comp Neurol*, **161**, 31-55.

Scardochio, T. & Clarke, P.B. (2013) Inhibition of 50-khz ultrasonic vocalizations by dopamine receptor subtype-selective agonists and antagonists in adult rats. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, **226**, 589-600.

Scardochio, T., Trujillo-Pisanty, I., Conover, K., Shizgal, P. & Clarke, P.B. (2015) The effects of electrical and optical stimulation of midbrain dopaminergic neurons on rat 50-khz ultrasonic vocalizations. *Front Behav Neurosci*, **9**, 331.

Schiffmann, A. & Gimpl, G. (2018) Sodium functions as a negative allosteric modulator of the oxytocin receptor. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)* - *Biomembranes*, **1860**, 1301-1308.

Schneider, C.A., Rasband, W.S. & Eliceiri, K.W. (2012) Nih image to imagej: 25 years of image analysis. *Nat Methods*, **9**, 671-675.

Schöneberg, T., Kostenis, E., Liu, J., Gudermann, T. & Wess, J. (1998) Molecular aspects of vasopressin receptor function. *Adv Exp Med Biol*, **449**, 347-358.

Schorscher-Petcu, A., Dupre, A. & Tribollet, E. (2009) Distribution of vasopressin and oxytocin binding sites in the brain and upper spinal cord of the common marmoset. *Neurosci Lett*, **461**, 217-222.

Shahrokh, D.K., Zhang, T.Y., Diorio, J., Gratton, A. & Meaney, M.J. (2010) Oxytocindopamine interactions mediate variations in maternal behavior in the rat. *Endocrinology*, **151**, 2276-2286.

Shamay-Tsoory, S.G. & Abu-Akel, A. (2016) The social salience hypothesis of oxytocin. *Biol Psychiatry*, **79**, 194-202.

Simola, N., Fenu, S., Costa, G., Pinna, A., Plumitallo, A. & Morelli, M. (2012) Pharmacological characterization of 50-khz ultrasonic vocalizations in rats: Comparison of the effects of different psychoactive drugs and relevance in druginduced reward. *Neuropharmacology*, **63**, 224-234.

Singh, P.J. & Hofer, M.A. (1978) Oxytocin reinstates maternal olfactory cues for nipple orientation and attachment in rat pups. *Physiol Behav*, **20**, 385-389.

Siviy, S.M., Crawford, C.A., Akopian, G. & Walsh, J.P. (2011) Dysfunctional play and dopamine physiology in the fischer 344 rat. *Behav Brain Res*, **220**, 294-304.

Smith, A.L., Freeman, S.M., Voll, R.J., Young, L.J. & Goodman, M.M. (2013a) Carbon-11 n-methyl alkylation of I-368,899 and in vivo pet imaging investigations for neural oxytocin receptors. *Bioorg Med Chem Lett*, **23**, 902-906.

Smith, C.J., Poehlmann, M.L., Li, S., Ratnaseelan, A.M., Bredewold, R. & Veenema, A.H. (2017a) Age and sex differences in oxytocin and vasopressin v1a receptor binding densities in the rat brain: Focus on the social decision-making network. *Brain Struct Funct*, **222**, 981-1006.

Smith, C.J.W., DiBenedictis, B.T. & Veenema, A.H. (2019) Comparing vasopressin and oxytocin fiber and receptor density patterns in the social behavior neural network: Implications for cross-system signaling. *Front Neuroendocrinol*, **53**, 100737.

Smith, C.J.W., Mogavero, J.N., Tulimieri, M.T. & Veenema, A.H. (2017b) Involvement of the oxytocin system in the nucleus accumbens in the regulation of juvenile social novelty-seeking behavior. *Horm Behav*, **93**, 94-98.

Smith, M.P., Ayad, V.J., Mundell, S.J., McArdle, C.A., Kelly, E. & Lopez Bernal, A. (2006) Internalization and desensitization of the oxytocin receptor is inhibited by dynamin and clathrin mutants in human embryonic kidney 293 cells. *Mol Endocrinol*, **20**, 379-388.

Smith, R.J., Lobo, M.K., Spencer, S. & Kalivas, P.W. (2013b) Cocaine-induced adaptations in d1 and d2 accumbens projection neurons (a dichotomy not necessarily synonymous with direct and indirect pathways). *Curr Opin Neurobiol*, **23**, 546-552.

Snijdewint, F.G., Van Leeuwen, F.W. & Boer, G.J. (1989) Ontogeny of vasopressin and oxytocin binding sites in the brain of wistar and brattleboro rats as demonstrated by lightmicroscopical autoradiography. *J Chem Neuroanat*, **2**, 3-17.

Soares-Cunha, C., Coimbra, B., David-Pereira, A., Borges, S., Pinto, L., Costa, P., Sousa, N. & Rodrigues, A.J. (2016a) Activation of d2 dopamine receptor-expressing neurons in the nucleus accumbens increases motivation. *Nat Commun*, **7**, 11829.

Soares-Cunha, C., Coimbra, B., Sousa, N. & Rodrigues, A.J. (2016b) Reappraising striatal d1-and d2-neurons in reward and aversion. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, **68**, 370-386.
Soares-Cunha, C., de Vasconcelos, N.A.P., Coimbra, B., Domingues, A.V., Silva, J.M., Loureiro-Campos, E., Gaspar, R., Sotiropoulos, I., Sousa, N. & Rodrigues, A.J. (2020) Nucleus accumbens medium spiny neurons subtypes signal both reward and aversion. *Mol Psychiatry*, **25**, 3241-3255.

Song, Z. & Albers, H.E. (2018) Cross-talk among oxytocin and arginine-vasopressin receptors: Relevance for basic and clinical studies of the brain and periphery. *Front Neuroendocrinol*, **51**, 14-24.

Song, Z., Borland, J.M., Larkin, T.E., O'Malley, M. & Albers, H.E. (2016) Activation of oxytocin receptors, but not arginine-vasopressin v1a receptors, in the ventral tegmental area of male syrian hamsters is essential for the reward-like properties of social interactions. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, **74**, 164-172.

Sotty, F., Damgaard, T., Montezinho, L.P., Mørk, A., Olsen, C.K., Bundgaard, C. & Husum, H. (2009) Antipsychotic-like effect of retigabine [n-(2-amino-4- (fluorobenzylamino)-phenyl)carbamic acid ester], a kcnq potassium channel opener, via modulation of mesolimbic dopaminergic neurotransmission. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, **328**, 951-962.

Sóvágó, J., Dupuis, D.S., Gulyás, B. & Hall, H. (2001) An overview on functional receptor autoradiography using [35s]gtpγs. *Brain Research Reviews*, **38**, 149-164.

Stoop, R. (2012) Neuromodulation by oxytocin and vasopressin. *Neuron*, **76**, 142-159.

Striepens, N., Kendrick, K.M., Maier, W. & Hurlemann, R. (2011) Prosocial effects of oxytocin and clinical evidence for its therapeutic potential. *Front Neuroendocrinol*, **32**, 426-450.

Sturgeon, R.D., Fessler, R.G. & Meltzer, H.Y. (1979) Behavioral rating scales for assessing phencyclidine-induced locomotor activity, stereotyped behavior and ataxia in rats. *Eur J Pharmacol*, **59**, 169-179.

Succu, S., Sanna, F., Cocco, C., Melis, T., Boi, A., Ferri, G.L., Argiolas, A. & Melis, M.R. (2008) Oxytocin induces penile erection when injected into the ventral tegmental area of male rats: Role of nitric oxide and cyclic gmp. *Eur J Neurosci*, **28**, 813-821.

Swalve, N., Mulholland, M.M., Schulz, T.D. & Li, M. (2016) Effects of the phencyclidine model of schizophrenia and nicotine on total and categorized ultrasonic vocalizations in rats. *Behav Pharmacol*, **27**, 321-330.

Tabbara, R.I. & Fletcher, P.J. (2019) Nicotine enhances responding for conditioned reinforcement via $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nicotinic acetylcholine receptors in the ventral tegmental area, but not the nucleus accumbens or the prefrontal cortex. *Neuropharmacology*, **148**, 68-76.

Taha, S.A., Nicola, S.M. & Fields, H.L. (2007) Cue-evoked encoding of movement planning and execution in the rat nucleus accumbens. *J Physiol*, **584**, 801-818.

Tahara, A., Tsukada, J., Tomura, Y., Wada, K., Kusayama, T., Ishii, N., Yatsu, T., Uchida, W. & Tanaka, A. (2000) Pharmacologic characterization of the oxytocin receptor in human uterine smooth muscle cells. *Br J Pharmacol*, **129**, 131-139.

Takahata, R. & Moghaddam, B. (2003) Activation of glutamate neurotransmission in the prefrontal cortex sustains the motoric and dopaminergic effects of phencyclidine. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, **28**, 1117-1124.

Takayanagi, Y., Yoshida, M., Bielsky, I.F., Ross, H.E., Kawamata, M., Onaka, T., Yanagisawa, T., Kimura, T., Matzuk, M.M., Young, L.J. & Nishimori, K. (2005) Pervasive social deficits, but normal parturition, in oxytocin receptor-deficient mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **102**, 16096-16101.

Tan, Y., Singhal, S.M., Harden, S.W., Cahill, K.M., Nguyen, D.M., Colon-Perez, L.M., Sahagian, T.J., Thinschmidt, J.S., de Kloet, A.D., Febo, M., Frazier, C.J. & Krause, E.G. (2019) Oxytocin receptors are expressed by glutamatergic prefrontal cortical neurons that selectively modulate social recognition. *J Neurosci*, **39**, 3249-3263.

Tang, Y., Chen, Z., Tao, H., Li, C., Zhang, X., Tang, A. & Liu, Y. (2014) Oxytocin activation of neurons in ventral tegmental area and interfascicular nucleus of mouse midbrain. *Neuropharmacology*, **77**, 277-284.

Taylor, S.R., Badurek, S., Dileone, R.J., Nashmi, R., Minichiello, L. & Picciotto, M.R. (2014) Gabaergic and glutamatergic efferents of the mouse ventral tegmental area. *J Comp Neurol*, **522**, 3308-3334.

Thackare, H., Nicholson, H.D. & Whittington, K. (2006) Oxytocin--its role in male reproduction and new potential therapeutic uses. *Hum Reprod Update*, **12**, 437-448.

Theodoridou, A., Rowe, A.C., Penton-Voak, I.S. & Rogers, P.J. (2009) Oxytocin and social perception: Oxytocin increases perceived facial trustworthiness and attractiveness. *Horm Behav*, **56**, 128-132.

Thiagarajan, L., Abu-Awwad, H.A.M. & Dixon, J.E. (2017) Osteogenic programming of human mesenchymal stem cells with highly efficient intracellular delivery of runx2. *Stem Cells Transl Med*, **6**, 2146-2159.

Thompson, B., Leonard, K.C. & Brudzynski, S.M. (2006) Amphetamine-induced 50 khz calls from rat nucleus accumbens: A quantitative mapping study and acoustic analysis. *Behav Brain Res*, **168**, 64-73.

Thompson, M.R., Callaghan, P.D., Hunt, G.E., Cornish, J.L. & McGregor, I.S. (2007) A role for oxytocin and 5-ht(1a) receptors in the prosocial effects of 3,4 methylenedioxymethamphetamine ("ecstasy"). *Neuroscience*, **146**, 509-514.

Tidey, J.W. & Miczek, K.A. (1996) Social defeat stress selectively alters mesocorticolimbic dopamine release: An in vivo microdialysis study. *Brain Res*, **721**, 140-149.

Tong, J., Huang, J., Luo, X., Chen, S., Cui, Y., An, H., Xiu, M., Tan, S., Wang, Z., Yuan, Y., Zhang, J., Yang, F., Li, C.R., Hong, L.E. & Tan, Y. (2019) Elevated serum anti-nmda receptor antibody levels in first-episode patients with schizophrenia. *Brain Behav Immun*, **81**, 213-219.

Tribollet, E., Audigier, S., Dubois-Dauphin, M. & Dreifuss, J.J. (1990) Gonadal steroids regulate oxytocin receptors but not vasopressin receptors in the brain of male and female rats. An autoradiographical study. *Brain Res*, **511**, 129-140.

Tribollet, E., Barberis, C., Jard, S., Dubois-Dauphin, M. & Dreifuss, J.J. (1988) Localization and pharmacological characterization of high affinity binding sites for vasopressin and oxytocin in the rat brain by light microscopic autoradiography. *Brain Res*, **442**, 105-118.

Tyzio, R., Cossart, R., Khalilov, I., Minlebaev, M., Hübner, C.A., Represa, A., Ben-Ari, Y. & Khazipov, R. (2006) Maternal oxytocin triggers a transient inhibitory switch in gaba signaling in the fetal brain during delivery. *Science*, **314**, 1788-1792.

Tyzio, R., Nardou, R., Ferrari, D.C., Tsintsadze, T., Shahrokhi, A., Eftekhari, S., Khalilov, I., Tsintsadze, V., Brouchoud, C., Chazal, G., Lemonnier, E., Lozovaya, N., Burnashev, N. & Ben-Ari, Y. (2014) Oxytocin-mediated gaba inhibition during delivery attenuates autism pathogenesis in rodent offspring. *Science*, **343**, 675-679.

Tzabazis, A., Mechanic, J., Miller, J., Klukinov, M., Pascual, C., Manering, N., Carson, D.S., Jacobs, A., Qiao, Y., Cuellar, J., Frey, W.H., Jacobs, D., Angst, M. & Yeomans,

D.C. (2015) Oxytocin receptor: Expression in the trigeminal nociceptive system and potential role in the treatment of headache disorders. *Cephalalgia*, **36**, 943-950.

Ukena, K., Iwakoshi-Ukena, E. & Hikosaka, A. (2008) Unique form and osmoregulatory function of a neurohypophysial hormone in a urochordate. *Endocrinology*, **149**, 5254-5261.

Vaccari, C., Lolait, S.J. & Ostrowski, N.L. (1998) Comparative distribution of vasopressin v1b and oxytocin receptor messenger ribonucleic acids in brain. *Endocrinology*, **139**, 5015-5033.

Van Kesteren, R.E., Smit, A.B., De Lange, R.P., Kits, K.S., Van Golen, F.A., Van Der Schors, R.C., De With, N.D., Burke, J.F. & Geraerts, W.P. (1995) Structural and functional evolution of the vasopressin/oxytocin superfamily: Vasopressin-related conopressin is the only member present in lymnaea, and is involved in the control of sexual behavior. *J Neurosci*, **15**, 5989-5998.

van Leengoed, E., Kerker, E. & Swanson, H.H. (1987) Inhibition of post-partum maternal behaviour in the rat by injecting an oxytocin antagonist into the cerebral ventricles. *J Endocrinol*, **112**, 275-282.

van Leeuwen, F.W., van Heerikhuize, J., van der Meulen, G. & Wolters, P. (1985) Light microscopic autoradiographic localization of [3h]oxytocin binding sites in the rat brain, pituitary and mammary gland. *Brain Res*, **359**, 320-325.

Verma, A. & Moghaddam, B. (1996) Nmda receptor antagonists impair prefrontal cortex function as assessed via spatial delayed alternation performance in rats: Modulation by dopamine. *J Neurosci*, **16**, 373-379.

Vetter, I. & Lewis, R.J. (2010) Characterization of endogenous calcium responses in neuronal cell lines. *Biochem Pharmacol*, **79**, 908-920.

Viero, C., Shibuya, I., Kitamura, N., Verkhratsky, A., Fujihara, H., Katoh, A., Ueta, Y., Zingg, H.H., Chvatal, A., Sykova, E. & Dayanithi, G. (2010) Review: Oxytocin: Crossing the bridge between basic science and pharmacotherapy. *CNS Neurosci Ther*, **16**, e138-156.

Wacker, D.W. & Ludwig, M. (2012) Vasopressin, oxytocin, and social odor recognition. *Horm Behav*, **61**, 259-265.

Walsh, M.J., Dodd, J.E. & Hautbergue, G.M. (2013) Ribosome-inactivating proteins: Potent poisons and molecular tools. *Virulence*, **4**, 774-784.

Walum, H., Waldman, I.D. & Young, L.J. (2016) Statistical and methodological considerations for the interpretation of intranasal oxytocin studies. *Biol Psychiatry*, **79**, 251-257.

Wang, L., Hou, W., He, Z., Yuan, W., Yang, J., Yang, Y., Jia, R., Zhu, Z., Zhou, Y. & Tai, F. (2018) Effects of chronic social defeat on social behaviors in adult female mandarin voles (microtus mandarinus): Involvement of the oxytocin system in the nucleus accumbens. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry*, **82**, 278-288.

Wang, S.C., Lin, C.C., Tzeng, N.S., Tung, C.S. & Liu, Y.P. (2019) Effects of oxytocin on prosocial behavior and the associated profiles of oxytocinergic and corticotropin-releasing hormone receptors in a rodent model of posttraumatic stress disorder. *J Biomed Sci*, **26**, 26.

Wang, Y., Xu, L., Pan, Y., Wang, Z. & Zhang, Z. (2013) Species differences in the immunoreactive expression of oxytocin, vasopressin, tyrosine hydroxylase and estrogen receptor alpha in the brain of mongolian gerbils (meriones unguiculatus) and chinese striped hamsters (cricetulus barabensis). *PLoS One*, **8**, e65807.

Warfvinge, K., Krause, D. & Edvinsson, L. (2020a) The distribution of oxytocin and the oxytocin receptor in rat brain: Relation to regions active in migraine. *The Journal of Headache and Pain*, **21**, 10.

Warfvinge, K., Krause, D.N., Maddahi, A., Grell, A.-S., Edvinsson, J.C.A., Haanes, K.A. & Edvinsson, L. (2020b) Oxytocin as a regulatory neuropeptide in the trigeminovascular system: Localization, expression and function of oxytocin and oxytocin receptors. *Cephalalgia*, **40**, 1283-1295.

Watabe-Uchida, M., Zhu, L., Ogawa, S.K., Vamanrao, A. & Uchida, N. (2012) Wholebrain mapping of direct inputs to midbrain dopamine neurons. *Neuron*, **74**, 858-873.

Watson, D.J., Marsden, C.A., Millan, M.J. & Fone, K.C. (2012) Blockade of dopamine d(3) but not d(2) receptors reverses the novel object discrimination impairment produced by post-weaning social isolation: Implications for schizophrenia and its treatment. *Int J Neuropsychopharmacol*, **15**, 471-484.

Watson, D.J.G., King, M.V., Gyertyan, I., Kiss, B., Adham, N. & Fone, K.C.F. (2016) The dopamine d(3)-preferring d(2)/d(3) dopamine receptor partial agonist, cariprazine, reverses behavioural changes in a rat neurodevelopmental model for schizophrenia. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol*, **26**, 208-224. Weber, R.A., Logan, C.N., Leong, K.C., Peris, J., Knackstedt, L. & Reichel, C.M. (2018) Regionally specific effects of oxytocin on reinstatement of cocaine seeking in male and female rats. *Int J Neuropsychopharmacol*, **21**, 677-686.

Weimer, M., Jiang, X., Ponta, O., Stanzel, S., Freyberger, A. & Kopp-Schneider, A. (2012) The impact of data transformations on concentration-response modeling. *Toxicol Lett*, **213**, 292-298.

Wesley, V.J., Hawtin, S.R., Howard, H.C. & Wheatley, M. (2002) Agonist-specific, high-affinity binding epitopes are contributed by an arginine in the n-terminus of the human oxytocin receptor. *Biochemistry*, **41**, 5086-5092.

Wettschureck, N., Moers, A., Hamalainen, T., Lemberger, T., Schütz, G. & Offermanns, S. (2004) Heterotrimeric g proteins of the gq/11 family are crucial for the induction of maternal behavior in mice. *Mol Cell Biol*, **24**, 8048-8054.

Wheatley, M., Hawtin, S.R. & Yarwood, N.J. (1998) Structure/function studies on receptors for vasopressin and oxytocin. *Adv Exp Med Biol*, **449**, 363-365.

Whitlock, M. & Schluter, D. (2015) The analysis of biological data.

Williams, A.V., Duque-Wilckens, N., Ramos-Maciel, S., Campi, K.L., Bhela, S.K., Xu, C.K., Jackson, K., Chini, B., Pesavento, P.A. & Trainor, B.C. (2020) Social approach and social vigilance are differentially regulated by oxytocin receptors in the nucleus accumbens. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, **45**, 1423-1430.

Williams, D.R. & Bürkner, P.-C. (2017) Effects of intranasal oxytocin on symptoms of schizophrenia: A multivariate bayesian meta-analysis. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, **75**, 141-151.

Williams, J.R., Insel, T.R., Harbaugh, C.R. & Carter, C.S. (1994a) Oxytocin administered centrally facilitates formation of a partner preference in female prairie voles (microtus ochrogaster). *J Neuroendocrinol*, **6**, 247-250.

Williams, P.D., Anderson, P.S., Ball, R.G., Bock, M.G., Carroll, L., Chiu, S.H., Clineschmidt, B.V., Culberson, J.C., Erb, J.M., Evans, B.E. & et al. (1994b) 1-((7,7dimethyl-2(s)-(2(s)-amino-4-(methylsulfonyl)butyramido)bicyclo [2.2.1]-heptan-1(s)yl)methyl)sulfonyl)-4-(2-methylphenyl)piperaz ine (I-368,899): An orally bioavailable, non-peptide oxytocin antagonist with potential utility for managing preterm labor. *J Med Chem*, **37**, 565-571. Williams, S.N. & Undieh, A.S. (2010) Brain-derived neurotrophic factor signaling modulates cocaine induction of reward-associated ultrasonic vocalization in rats. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, **332**, 463-468.

Willuhn, I., Tose, A., Wanat, M.J., Hart, A.S., Hollon, N.G., Phillips, P.E., Schwarting, R.K. & Wöhr, M. (2014) Phasic dopamine release in the nucleus accumbens in response to pro-social 50 khz ultrasonic vocalizations in rats. *J Neurosci*, **34**, 10616-10623.

Willuhn, I., Wanat, M.J., Clark, J.J. & Phillips, P.E. (2010) Dopamine signaling in the nucleus accumbens of animals self-administering drugs of abuse. *Curr Top Behav Neurosci*, **3**, 29-71.

Wilson, B., Terenzi, M. & Ingram, C. (2005) Differential excitatory responses to oxytocin in sub-divisions of the bed nuclei of the stria terminalis. *Neuropeptides*, **39**, 403-407.

Wilson, C.A. & Koenig, J.I. (2014) Social interaction and social withdrawal in rodents as readouts for investigating the negative symptoms of schizophrenia. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol*, **24**, 759-773.

Winslow, J.T., Hastings, N., Carter, C.S., Harbaugh, C.R. & Insel, T.R. (1993) A role for central vasopressin in pair bonding in monogamous prairie voles. *Nature*, **365**, 545-548.

Winslow, J.T., Hearn, E.F., Ferguson, J., Young, L.J., Matzuk, M.M. & Insel, T.R. (2000) Infant vocalization, adult aggression, and fear behavior of an oxytocin null mutant mouse. *Horm Behav*, **37**, 145-155.

Wöhr, M., Borta, A. & Schwarting, R.K. (2005) Overt behavior and ultrasonic vocalization in a fear conditioning paradigm: A dose-response study in the rat. *Neurobiol Learn Mem*, **84**, 228-240.

Wöhr, M., Engelhardt, K.A., Seffer, D., Sungur, A. & Schwarting, R.K. (2017) Acoustic communication in rats: Effects of social experiences on ultrasonic vocalizations as socio-affective signals. *Curr Top Behav Neurosci*, **30**, 67-89.

Wöhr, M. & Schwarting, R.K. (2009) Ultrasonic communication in rats: Effects of morphine and naloxone on vocal and behavioral responses to playback of 50-khz vocalizations. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav*, **94**, 285-295.

Wolfe, M., Wisniewska, H., Tariga, H., Ibanez, G., Collins, J.C., Wisniewski, K., Qi, S., Srinivasan, K., Hargrove, D. & Lindstrom, B.F. (2018) Selective and non-selective ot receptor agonists induce different locomotor behaviors in male rats via central ot receptors and peripheral v1a receptors. *Neuropeptides*, **70**, 64-75.

Wright, J.M., Dobosiewicz, M.R. & Clarke, P.B. (2013) The role of dopaminergic transmission through d1-like and d2-like receptors in amphetamine-induced rat ultrasonic vocalizations. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, **225**, 853-868.

Wu, S., Jia, M., Ruan, Y., Liu, J., Guo, Y., Shuang, M., Gong, X., Zhang, Y., Yang, X. & Zhang, D. (2005) Positive association of the oxytocin receptor gene (oxtr) with autism in the chinese han population. *Biol Psychiatry*, **58**, 74-77.

Xiao, L., Priest, M.F., Nasenbeny, J., Lu, T. & Kozorovitskiy, Y. (2017) Biased oxytocinergic modulation of midbrain dopamine systems. *Neuron*, **95**, 368-384.e365.

Xin, Q., Bai, B. & Liu, W. (2017) The analgesic effects of oxytocin in the peripheral and central nervous system. *Neurochem Int*, **103**, 57-64.

Yamamoto, Y. & Higashida, H. (2020) Rage regulates oxytocin transport into the brain. *Commun Biol*, **3**, 70.

Yamamoto, Y., Liang, M., Munesue, S., Deguchi, K., Harashima, A., Furuhara, K., Yuhi, T., Zhong, J., Akther, S., Goto, H., Eguchi, Y., Kitao, Y., Hori, O., Shiraishi, Y., Ozaki, N., Shimizu, Y., Kamide, T., Yoshikawa, A., Hayashi, Y., Nakada, M., Lopatina, O., Gerasimenko, M., Komleva, Y., Malinovskaya, N., Salmina, A.B., Asano, M., Nishimori, K., Shoelson, S.E., Yamamoto, H. & Higashida, H. (2019) Vascular rage transports oxytocin into the brain to elicit its maternal bonding behaviour in mice. *Commun Biol*, **2**, 76.

Yamamura, Y., Nakamura, S., Itoh, S., Hirano, T., Onogawa, T., Yamashita, T., Yamada, Y., Tsujimae, K., Aoyama, M., Kotosai, K., Ogawa, H., Yamashita, H., Kondo, K., Tominaga, M., Tsujimoto, G. & Mori, T. (1998) Opc-41061, a highly potent human vasopressin v2-receptor antagonist: Pharmacological profile and aquaretic effect by single and multiple oral dosing in rats. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, **287**, 860-867.

Yang, H., de Jong, J.W., Tak, Y., Peck, J., Bateup, H.S. & Lammel, S. (2018) Nucleus accumbens subnuclei regulate motivated behavior via direct inhibition and disinhibition of vta dopamine subpopulations. *Neuron*, **97**, 434-449.e434.

Yang, Y., Yu, H., Babygirija, R., Shi, B., Sun, W., Zheng, X. & Zheng, J. (2019) Intranasal administration of oxytocin attenuates stress responses following chronic complicated stress in rats. *J Neurogastroenterol Motil*, **25**, 611-622.

Yoshida, M., Takayanagi, Y., Inoue, K., Kimura, T., Young, L.J., Onaka, T. & Nishimori, K. (2009) Evidence that oxytocin exerts anxiolytic effects via oxytocin receptor expressed in serotonergic neurons in mice. *J Neurosci*, **29**, 2259-2271.

Young, L.J., Huot, B., Nilsen, R., Wang, Z. & Insel, T.R. (1996) Species differences in central oxytocin receptor gene expression: Comparative analysis of promoter sequences. *J Neuroendocrinol*, **8**, 777-783.

Young, L.J., Lim, M.M., Gingrich, B. & Insel, T.R. (2001) Cellular mechanisms of social attachment. *Horm Behav*, **40**, 133-138.

Young, L.J. & Wang, Z. (2004) The neurobiology of pair bonding. *Nat Neurosci*, **7**, 1048-1054.

Young, W.S., Li, J., Wersinger, S.R. & Palkovits, M. (2006) The vasopressin 1b receptor is prominent in the hippocampal area ca2 where it is unaffected by restraint stress or adrenalectomy. *Neuroscience*, **143**, 1031-1039.

Yu, C.J., Zhang, S.W. & Tai, F.D. (2016) Effects of nucleus accumbens oxytocin and its antagonist on social approach behavior. *Behav Pharmacol*, **27**, 672-680.

Yui, K., Goto, K., Ikemoto, S., Ishiguro, T., Angrist, B., Duncan, G.E., Sheitman, B.B., Lieberman, J.A., Bracha, S.H. & Ali, S.F. (1999) Neurobiological basis of relapse prediction in stimulant-induced psychosis and schizophrenia: The role of sensitization. *Mol Psychiatry*, **4**, 512-523.

Zahm, D.S. (2000) An integrative neuroanatomical perspective on some subcortical substrates of adaptive responding with emphasis on the nucleus accumbens. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev*, **24**, 85-105.

Zak, P.J., Kurzban, R. & Matzner, W.T. (2005) Oxytocin is associated with human trustworthiness. *Horm Behav*, **48**, 522-527.

Zhang, L., Huang, C.C., Dai, Y., Luo, Q., Ji, Y., Wang, K., Deng, S., Yu, J., Xu, M., Du, X., Tang, Y., Shen, C., Feng, J., Sahakian, B.J., Lin, C.P. & Li, F. (2020) Symptom improvement in children with autism spectrum disorder following bumetanide administration is associated with decreased gaba/glutamate ratios. *Transl Psychiatry*, **10**, 9. Zhao, D.-Q. & Ai, H.-B. (2011) Oxytocin and vasopressin involved in restraint waterimmersion stress mediated by oxytocin receptor and vasopressin 1b receptor in rat brain. *PLoS One*, **6**, e23362.

Zheng, W., Zhu, X.M., Zhang, Q.E., Yang, X.H., Cai, D.B., Li, L., Li, X.B., Ng, C.H., Ungvari, G.S., Ning, Y.P. & Xiang, Y.T. (2019) Adjunctive intranasal oxytocin for schizophrenia: A meta-analysis of randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trials. *Schizophr Res*, **206**, 13-20.

Zhou, L., Sun, W.L., Young, A.B., Lee, K., McGinty, J.F. & See, R.E. (2014) Oxytocin reduces cocaine seeking and reverses chronic cocaine-induced changes in glutamate receptor function. *Int J Neuropsychopharmacol*, **18**, 1-11.

Zingg, H.H. & Laporte, S.A. (2003) The oxytocin receptor. *Trends Endocrinol Metab*, **14**, 222-227.

Appendices

Appendix 1: Oxytocin receptor immunohistochemistry optimisation

A1.1 Introduction

Immunohistochemistry can allow receptor visualisation through exploiting specific antigen-antibody reactions. In this thesis it was hoped that by using an anti-OXTR primary antibody we could confirm the loss of OXTR expressing neurons following OXY-saporin injection to the NAc and VTA. The first successful publication reporting OXTR immunohistochemistry staining was Adan *et al.* (1995), using an OXTR antibody targeting the receptors third intracellular loop. However, since this paper there have been a surprising lack of publications using OXTR immunohistochemistry in rodents, given the popularity of OXY research. To the best of our knowledge the only papers published with successful OXTR immunohistochemistry staining in the rodent brain are detailed in Table A1.1. It is of interest Yoshida *et al.* (2009) tried five different commercially available antibodies and only detected OXTR staining in the hypothalamus. However, this staining was also present in OXTR knockout mice, highlighting the unreliability of OXTR antibodies.

Group	Animal	Primary OXTR antibody	Commercially available?
Adan <i>et al.</i> (1995)	Mouse	JV3850 (internally produced)	No
Liu <i>et al.</i> (2005)	Mouse	Monoclonal anti-OTR (Cosmo Biotechnology Inc., Japan)	Discontinued
Murata <i>et al.</i> (2011)	Rat	sc-810 (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, USA)	Discontinued
Zhao and Ai (2011)	Rat	anti-OTR (USCNLIFE Science, USA)	Discontinued
Tzabazis <i>et al.</i> (2015)	Rat	sc-810 (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, USA)	Discontinued
Mitre <i>et al.</i> (2016)	Mouse	Internally produced, targeting OXTR third intracellular loop	No
Warfvinge <i>et al.</i> (2020a) and Warfvinge <i>et al.</i> (2020b)	Rat	ab87312 (Abcam, UK) and aa43-129 (LifeSpan, Sweden)	Discontinued (ab87312) and ves (aa43-129)

Table A1.1: Studies published to date with successful OXTR immunohistochemistry in the rodent brain. All antibodies have since been discontinued or are not commercially available, except aa43-129 (LifeSpan, Sweden) used by Warfvinge *et al.* (2020a; 2020b).

The difficultly in gaining selective OXTR staining may be due to the high sequence homology between the OXTR and vasopressin receptors (Gimpl & Fahrenholz, 2001). Other techniques have since been employed to look at OXTR localisation and quantification in the brain, such as autoradiography and *in-situ* hybridisation (Bales & Perkeybile, 2012; Lukas *et al.*, 2010; Smith *et al.*, 2017a; Smith *et al.*, 2019). However, studies using *in-situ* hybridisation to map OXTR expression may be inaccurate, as the presence of OXTR mRNA does not necessarily correlate with the expression of the functioning OXTR protein. Due to the good spatial resolution and speed at which it can be performed, autoradiography has become the gold standard for studying OXTR expression; mapping expressing across ages and sexes (Smith *et al.*, 2017a; Smith *et al.*, 2019; Sóvágó *et al.*, 2001).

While OXTR immunohistochemistry has not been especially successful, many groups have successfully stained for OXY neurons in the rodent brain (Angioni *et al.*, 2016; Bratzu *et al.*, 2019; Hansson *et al.*, 2018; Kiss & Osacka, 2020). However, the presence of OXY neurons does not necessarily lead to OXTR expression, especially given the

evidence OXY can act promiscuously through the V1aR (Smith *et al.*, 2019). Furthermore, OXY can be transported through the brain by the CSF following paracrine release from magnocellular neurons (Jurek & Neumann, 2018; Ludwig & Leng, 2006). Therefore, areas without OXY fibres are likely to also express OXTRs. For the purpose of this thesis we were aiming to use OXTR immunohistochemistry to confirm the loss of OXTR expressing neurons in the VTA and NAc following OXYsaporin micro-injection. Evidence suggests in the VTA and NAc OXTRs are likely located post-synaptic to OXY nerve terminals, on dopaminergic neurons and MSNs (Williams *et al.*, 2020; Xiao *et al.*, 2017). Therefore, staining for OXY neurons would shed little insight to the neurons lost following OXY-saporin injection.

A1.2 Aims

Comparing post-mortem immunohistochemical staining of the OXTR in brain tissue can allow us to visualise changes in receptor expression following the injection of the OXTR targeting toxin OXY-saporin. Due to the lack of facilities available to perform autoradiography, we aimed to optimise a commercially available OXTR antibody for use in future experiments.

A1.3 Methods

A1.3.1 Tissue preparation

Brain tissue was prepared as described previously (Chapter 4.3.8). Uterine tissue was snap frozen upon removal from lactating female Lister-hooded rats 19-21 days post-parturition. Upon slicing 1.5cm sections of uterine tissue were encased in optimal cutting temperature compound (OCT) embedding matrix (VWR International Ltd, UK) and frozen until solid. Once frozen, slices were cut along the coronal plane at 60 µM

using a freezing microtome (Anglia Scientific, U.K.). Uterine tissue then followed the same protocol as brain tissue for the rest of the immunohistochemistry process.

A1.3.2 Standard immunohistochemistry protocol

The standard immunohistochemistry was as described in Chapter 4.3.9, with any changes detailed below. The primary anti-OXTR antibodies used to try and gain successful OXTR staining were PA5-19038 (ThermoFisher, UK), ab87312 (Abcam, UK), and ab217212 (Abcam, UK). All three antibodies are polyclonal and target the intracellular C-terminal tail of the OXTR. Both ab87312 (Abcam, UK) and PA5-19038 (ThermoFisher, UK) have been discontinued since the experiments performed in this appendix. The blocking serums and secondary antibodies used for each respective primary antibody are detailed in Table A1.2. Although the concentration of blocking serum varied between 1-5% for different optimisations, unless otherwise stated in the results section the concentration of blocking serum was 2%.

Primary	Blocking serum	Secondary	Notes
ab87312 (goat)	Donkey serum (Sigma Aldrich, UK)	Donkey anti-goat; Alexa Fluor 584 (Abcam, UK)	Donkey anti-goat; Alexa Fluor 568 was also trialled (Abcam, UK)
PA5-19038 (goat)	Donkey serum (Sigma Aldrich, UK)	Donkey anti-goat; Alexa Fluor 584 (Abcam, UK)	
ab217212 (rabbit)	Goat serum (Sigma Aldrich, UK)	Goat anti-rabbit; Alexa Fluor 568 (Abcam, UK)	Donkey Anti-Rabbit; Alexa Fluor 555 (Abcam, UK) with donkey serum blocking was also trialled

Table A1.2: Details of blocking serums and secondary antibodies used with each anti

 OXTR primary antibody trialled in this appendix.

A1.3.3 Antigen retrieval

Following the first PBS washes on day one, slices were incubated in 1mL citrate buffer (10mM, pH 6.0) for twenty minutes at 95°C. This was followed by an additional wash with PBS. The standard protocol was then resumed for the remainder of the experiment.

A1.3.4 Biotinylated and Avidin Secondary Antibodies

Day 1 was conducted as per the standard protocol. Following overnight incubation with the primary antibody slices were washed in D2 buffer three times for five minutes. The secondary antibody, either biotinylated horse anti-goat or goat anti-rabbit (Vector Laboratories, UK), dependent on the host species of the primary antibody, were prepared in D2 buffer at 1:500. Slices were incubated in the secondary antibody in the dark for one hour at room temperature. Slices were washed in D2 buffer three times for 5 minutes. The tertiary antibody, Texas Red (Vector Laboratories, UK) at 1:200, was prepared using D2 buffer. Slices were incubated in the tertiary antibody for one hour at room temperature in the dark. Following this slices were washed in D2 buffer for five minutes twice, and once with PBS. The standard protocol was then resumed for mounting and cover slipping.

A1.4 Results

A1.4.1 ThermoFisher OXTR antibody

The PA5-19038 antibody was selected due its selectivity for the rat OXTR, and its suitability for immunohistochemistry. Initial trials of the PA5-19038 antibody, at a concentration of 1:100, appeared to show successful staining in NAc. Images taken in the NAc also contain the anterior commissure; a white matter tract with no known

OXTR expression. The anterior commissure showed no OXTR staining and was comparable with control conditions. In the same slices staining was seen in the islands of Calleja (ICj); an area with known OXTR expression (Dubois-Dauphin *et al.*, 1992; Hunt *et al.*, 2011; Snijdewint *et al.*, 1989). No OXTR staining was seen in control conditions lacking the primary and secondary antibody; indicating successful staining (Figure A1.1).



Figure A1.1: OXTR staining in the NAc (A) and ICj (B), obtained using the anti-OXTR primary antibody PA5-19038 (ThermoFisher, UK). OXTR staining appeared in both the NAc and ICj and was devoid in the control conditions lacking the primary OXTR antibody. Scale bar denotes 100μ M in x10 images, and 50 μ M in x20 pictures.

Immunohistochemistry was also performed in the lateral hypothalamus and on uterine tissue, a positive control (Figure A1.2). Uterine tissue has dense OXTR expression on the plasma membrane of smooth muscles within the myometrium and endometrium layers of the uterus, with these receptors having a crucial role in parturition (Engstrom *et al.*, 1998). Successful OXTR staining was seen in the uterine tissue; consistent with OXTR localisation on the smooth muscle rings in the myometrium, detailed with white arrows in Figure A1.2B. In the uterus control conditions lacking the primary antibody some markings were still present in the red channel. However, these were also present within the green channel, indicating blood in the tissue and not non-specific staining. With the exception of the blood marks the control conditions were devoid of OXTR staining, as to be expected. However, despite gaining successful OXTR straining, the PA5-19038 primary antibody was discontinued before we could order enough for future experiments. Due to the high concentration of the primary antibody required to gain successful staining we did not have enough left to perform any future staining on experimental tissue.



Figure A1.2: OXTR staining in the lateral hypothalamus (A) and uterus (B and C), obtained using the anti-OXTR primary antibody PA5-19038 (ThermoFisher, UK). There was a high density of OXTR staining in the lateral hypothalamus (A), an area of high OXTR expression. Uterine tissue was used as a positive control, due to the dense expression of OXTRs. OXTR expression could be seen on the smooth muscle rings of the myometrium (B), which were not present in the control conditions lacking primary antibody. Some artefacts present in red channel in the no primary control; however, these were also present in the green channel (C). This indicates these artefacts are blood, and not non-specific OXTR staining. Images taken at x10 magnification, scale bar denotes $100 \,\mu$ M.

A1.4.2 Abcam OXTR antibodies

Due to the discontinuation of the PA5-19038 OXTR primary antibody, two other anti-OXTR antibodies were trialled. The antibodies were selected based upon their selectivity for the rat OXTR, and suitability for use in immunohistochemistry.

Initial trials using the Acbam OXTR antibodies (ab87312 and ab217212) at concentrations recommended from the datasheet (1:150 and 1:500 respectively) showed no staining in any brain region imaged (Figure A1.3). Care was taken to stain slices containing OXTR expressing regions, such as the NAc, hypothalamus, and amygdala.

Due to the lack of initial staining observed subsequent optimisations then trialled up to 16 different conditions, including: antigen retrieval, avidin-biotin secondary antibodies, removal of Triton-X100 from buffer, varying primary antibody concentrations, and using perfusion fixed tissue. A selection of representative images taken in the amygdala are shown in Figure A1.3, using the ab83712 primary antibody. No staining was seen in any images, in any brain regions, throughout any of the optimisations for either antibody. All artefacts seen in the red filter, where the OXTR was expected to be seen, were also visible in the green filter (not shown); suggesting these artefacts can be attributed to blood or tissue damage, and not OXTR staining. Therefore, it was concluded successful OXTR staining could not be achieved with either Abcam primary antibody.



Figure A1.3: Representative images taken at x20 magnification in the amygdala, following staining with the OXTR targeting primary antibody ab87312. Numerous optimisations were trialled including: antigen retrieval, using avidin-biotin detection and varying concentrations of the primary antibody and blocking serums. No staining was observed in any condition. Scale bar denotes 50 μ M.

A1.5 Discussion

Throughout the optimisation of the ThermoFisher OXTR antibody reagent controls were undertaken for each brain region, as well as the use of uterine tissue as a positive control. Control conditions lacking the primary antibody were undertaken in all brain regions imaged, with no staining was seen in any region. This confirmed the staining seen in experimental samples was not produced from our detection system, non-specific binding of the secondary antibody. When imaging an additional step was undertaken to check the background artefacts in the tissue. All images were also taken under a green filter. Artefacts showing in the green filter can be attributed to either blood or damage to the tissue, and not OXTR staining, enabling us to determine OXTR staining and tissue artefacts. Although no slices of brain tissue displayed any artefacts in the green channel for the ThermoFisher OXTR primary antibody, the uterine tissue had multiple artefacts. The use of rat uterine tissue enabled us to perform a tissue type control. Rat uterus is known to contain high levels of OXTRs, particularly during and following parturition. There was evidence of OXTR staining in the myometrial layer; an area known to express the OXTR (Fuchs et al., 1983; Ivell et al., 2001). This was taken as further confirmation the primary antibody was correctly binding and staining the OXTR. It was hoped an absorption control could have been undertaken as a further conformational step to ensure the binding was specific. This process incubates the antibody with the immunogen overnight, in this case the Cterminal RRLGETSASKKSN sequence. This incubation inactivates the antibody so when used no staining should be seen, unless binding is non-specific. However, it was not feasible to undertake this step as a further control due to the lack of a commercially available pre-absorbed antibody, and the lack of facilities needed to make the specified peptide.

Dense OXTR staining was seen in the NAc, while the anterior commissure, shown in the centre of the NAc, showed no OXTR staining. These findings are consistent with previous literature. While the NAc has high OXTR expression, the anterior commissure has not previously been shown the express the OXTR (Ross & Young, 2009; Smith *et al.*, 2017a; Vaccari *et al.*, 1998). The change in staining between these brain areas was marked and obvious, further supporting the notion our OXTR immunohistochemical staining was specific for the OXTR. Other regions in which we observed OXTR staining, such as the lateral hypothalamus, were also consistent with known OXTR localisation (Smith *et al.*, 2017b). However, the antibody was

discontinued before we could carry out staining on experimental tissue, therefore other primary antibodies were trialled.

No staining was seen across any brain region imaged with either Abcam anti-OXTR antibody. Despite numerous attempts at optimisation, including using biotinylated secondary antibodies, varying concentrations of blocking serum, and varying incubation times, no successful staining was seen. Therefore, it was concluded that neither Abcam primary antibody could be used to measure OXTR staining.

The difficulty in gaining successful OXTR staining is likely due to the high sequence homology between the OXY and vasopressin receptors (Gimpl & Fahrenholz, 2001). It is of interest Mitre et al. (2016) created four custom OXTR targeting primary antibodies, targeting various regions of the OXTR including: the N terminus, C terminus, and the third intracellular loop. The most successful staining came from one of the N terminal tail targeting primary antibodies, an area of the OXTR that contains a residue required for high affinity binding of OXY to its receptor (Gimpl & Fahrenholz, 2001; Wesley et al., 2002). Mitre et al. (2016) demonstrated successful staining in regions of the brain known to have high OXTR expression, as well as dense staining in the uterus. In addition, all staining was absent in OXTR knockout mice (Mitre et al., 2016). Therefore, the N terminus tail may be the best location in which to target OXTR antibodies. All three antibodies used in this thesis targeted the intracellular C-terminus tail of the OXTR, perhaps indicating why we could not gain successful staining with either Abcam OXTR antibody. At the time of writing there are no commercially available OXTR primary antibodies in the UK that target the Nterminus tail of the OXTR with suitability of immunohistochemistry in rat tissue.

Due to the fact it was not possible to get successful immunohistochemical OXTR staining, and we were wanting to determine neuronal loss, we decided to stain for NeuN; a neuronal nuclear antigen that can be used as a neuronal biomarker (Mullen *et al.*, 1992). One benefit of this is that it enabled us to quantify neuronal loss, which would not have been possible using if OXTR staining as it is not a nuclear stain

250

Appendix 2: LMA ANOVA outputs

Figure 3.3 Further Detail

Interaction	Sphericity Correction	Sum of Squares	Mean Square	F	р
Time	Greenhouse-Geisser	893248.72	259925.666	39.548	< .001
Time * ANTAGONIST	Greenhouse-Geisser	15688.505	4565.184	0.695	0.575
Time * OXYTOCIN	Greenhouse-Geisser	61755.282	17970.116	2.734	0.037
Time * PCP	Greenhouse-Geisser	311086.21	90522.704	13.773	< .001
Time * ANTAGONIST * OXYTOCIN	Greenhouse-Geisser	71319.731	20753.266	3.158	0.02
Time * ANTAGONIST * PCP	Greenhouse-Geisser	11480.497	3340.7	0.508	0.702
Time * OXYTOCIN * PCP	Greenhouse-Geisser	28619.569	8327.984	1.267	0.285
Time * ANTAGONIST * OXYTOCIN * PCP	Greenhouse-Geisser	65401.303	19031.068	2.896	0.029
Residuals	Greenhouse-Geisser	1.581e +6	6572.463		

Post Hoc Comparisons - Time * L,368,899 * OXY* PCP

		Mean Difference	SE	t	PTukey
x75, Saline, OXY, PCP	X75, Saline, Saline, PCP	-135.233	28.977	-4.667	0.016
x80, Saline, OXY, PCP	X80, Saline, Saline, PCP	-94.764	28.977	-4.747	0.011
x70, Saline, Saline, PCP	x70, Saline, Saline, Veh	160.4	28.204	7.176	< 0.001
x75, Saline, Saline, PCP	x75, Saline, Saline, Veh	214.3	28.204	7.598	< 0.001
x80, Saline, Saline, PCP	x80, Saline, Saline, Veh	224.4	28.204	7.425	< 0.001
x85, Saline, Saline, PCP	x85, Saline, Saline, Veh	181.6	28.204	6.439	< 0.001
x90, Saline, Saline, PCP	x90, Saline, Saline, Veh	159.7	28.204	5.662	< 0.001
X75, L368,899, OXY, PCP	x75, Saline, Saline, Veh	138.2	28.204	4.9	0.006
X80, L368,899, OXY, PCP	x80, Saline, Saline, Veh	151.2	28.204	5.631	< 0.001
X85, L368,899, OXY, PCP	x85, Saline, Saline, Veh	129.7	28.204	4.867	0.02
X90, L368,899, OXY, PCP	x90, Saline, Saline, Veh	128	28.204	4.428	0.038
X75, L368,899, Saline, PCP	x75, Saline, Saline, Veh	132.1	28.204	4.684	0.015

Table A2.1: ANOVA outputs from Figure 3.3. The time course of PCP-induced hyperactivity in the presence and absence of OXY and the selective OXTR antagonist L368-899: 4-way repeated measures ANOVA outputs.

Figure 3.4 Further Detail

Cases	Sum of Squares	Mean	F	p
ANTAGONIST	10468.844	10468.844	0.135	0.714
OXYTOCIN	270749.444	270749.444	3.491	0.066
PCP	3.719e +6	3.719e +6	47.957	< .001
ANTAGONIST & OXYTOCIN	400465.876	400465.876	5.164	0.026
ANTAGONIST * PCP	23400.939	23400.939	0.302	0.585
OXYTOCIN * PCP	85208.361	85208.361	1.099	0.298
ANTAGONIST * OXYTOCIN * PCP	301976.534	301976.534	3.894	0.050
Residuals	5.429e +6	77553.137		

Post Hoc Comparisons - ANTAGONIST * OXYTOCIN * PCP

		Mean Difference	SE	t	p tukey
L368899, OXY, PCP	Saline, OXY, PCP	210.156	127.954	1.642	0.723
	L368899, VEH, PCP	83.9	124.542	0.674	0.997
	Saline, VEH, PCP	-242	124.542	-1.94	0.527
	L368899, OXY, Saline	460.9	124.542	3.701	0.01
	Saline, OXY, Saline	491.267	127.954	3.839	0.006
	L368899, VEH, Saline	428	124.542	3.437	0.021
	Saline, VEH, Saline	420.6	124.542	3.377	0.025
Saline, OXY, PCP	L368899, VEH, PCP	-126.256	127.954	-0.99	0.975
	Saline, VEH, PCP	-452.156	127.954	-3.53	0.016
	L368899, OXY, Saline	250.744	127.954	1.96	0.516
	Saline, OXY, Saline	281.111	131.278	2.141	0.4
	L368899, VEH, Saline	217.844	127.954	1.703	0.686
	Saline, VEH, Saline	210.444	127.954	1.645	0.722
L368899, VEH, PCP	Saline, VEH, PCP	-325.9	124.542	-2.62	0.167
	L368899, OXY, Saline	377	124.542	3.027	0.064
	Saline, OXY, Saline	407.367	127.954	3.184	0.043
	L368899, VEH, Saline	344.1	124.542	2.763	0.122
	Saline, VEH, Saline	336.7	124.542	2.704	0.139
Saline, VEH, PCP	L368899, OXY, Saline	702.9	124.542	5.644	< .001
	Saline, OXY, Saline	733.267	127.954	5.731	< .001
	L368899, VEH, Saline	670	124.542	5.38	< .001
	Saline, VEH, Saline	662.6	124.542	5.32	< .001
L368899, OXY, Saline	Saline, OXY, Saline	30.367	127.954	0.237	1
	L368899, VEH, Saline	-32.9	124.542	-0.26	1
	Saline, VEH, Saline	-40.3	124.542	-0.32	1
Saline, OXY, Saline	L368899, VEH, Saline	-63.267	127.954	-0.49	1
	Saline, VEH, Saline	-70.667	127.954	-0.55	0.999
L368899, VEH, Saline	Saline, VEH, Saline	-7.4	124.542	-0.06	1

Table A2.2: ANOVA outputs from Figure 3.4. The total ambulation 20 minutes post-PCP administration in the presence and absence of the OXTR antagonist L-368,899: 3-way ANOVA outputs.

Figure 3.5 Further Detail

				_	
Cases	Sphericity Correction	Sum of Squares	Mean	F	p
TIME	Greenhouse-Geisser	846449.92	234922.87	34.907	< .001
TIME * ANTAGONIST	Greenhouse-Geisser	14497.989	4023.757	0.598	0.647
TIME * OXYTOCIN	Greenhouse-Geisser	34022.163	9442.477	1.403	0.237
TIME * PCP	Greenhouse-Geisser	273094.878	75794.48	11.262	< .001
TIME * ANTAGONIST * OXYTOCIN	Greenhouse-Geisser	102232.317	28373.455	4.216	0.004
TIME * ANTAGONIST * PCP	Greenhouse-Geisser	13904.41	3859.016	0.573	0.664
TIME * OXYTOCIN * PCP	Greenhouse-Geisser	23968.121	6652.088	0.988	0.409
TIME * ANTAGONIST * OXYTOCIN * PCP	Greenhouse-Geisser	68851.011	19108.841	2.839	0.03
Residuals	Greenhouse-Geisser	1.673e +6	6729.906		

Post Hoc Comparisons - Time * L,368,899 * OXY* PCP

	Mean Difference	SE	t	P _{Tukey}
X75, Saline, Saline, Veh	174	31.906	5.454	< 0.001
X80, Saline, Saline, Veh	139	31.906	4.357	0.045
X75, Saline, Saline, Veh	144.9	31.906	4.541	0.027
X70, Saline, Saline, Veh	160.4	31.906	5.027	0.004
X75, Saline, Saline, Veh	214.3	31.906	6.717	< 0.001
X80, Saline, Saline, Veh	224.4	31.906	6.563	< 0.001
X85, Saline, Saline, Veh	190	31.906	5.692	< 0.001
X90, Saline, Saline, Veh	159.7	31.906	4.852	0.004
	X75, Saline, Saline, Veh X80, Saline, Saline, Veh X75, Saline, Saline, Veh X70, Saline, Saline, Veh X75, Saline, Saline, Veh X80, Saline, Saline, Veh X85, Saline, Saline, Veh X90, Saline, Saline, Veh	Mean DifferenceX75, Saline, Saline, Veh174X80, Saline, Saline, Veh139X75, Saline, Saline, Veh144.9X70, Saline, Saline, Veh160.4X75, Saline, Saline, Veh214.3X80, Saline, Saline, Veh224.4X85, Saline, Saline, Veh190X90, Saline, Saline, Veh159.7	Mean Difference SE X75, Saline, Saline, Veh 174 31.906 X80, Saline, Saline, Veh 139 31.906 X75, Saline, Saline, Veh 144.9 31.906 X70, Saline, Saline, Veh 160.4 31.906 X75, Saline, Saline, Veh 214.3 31.906 X80, Saline, Saline, Veh 224.4 31.906 X85, Saline, Saline, Veh 190 31.906 X90, Saline, Saline, Veh 159.7 31.906	Mean DifferenceSEtX75, Saline, Saline, Veh17431.9065.454X80, Saline, Saline, Veh13931.9064.357X75, Saline, Saline, Veh144.931.9064.541X70, Saline, Saline, Veh160.431.9065.027X75, Saline, Saline, Veh214.331.9066.717X80, Saline, Saline, Veh224.431.9066.563X85, Saline, Saline, Veh19031.9065.692X90, Saline, Saline, Veh159.731.9064.852

Table A2.3: ANOVA outputs from Figure 3.5. The time course of PCP-induced hyperactivity in the presence and absence of OXY and the selective V1aR antagonist SR 49059: 4-way repeated measures ANOVA outputs.

Figure 3.6 Further Detail

Cases	Sum of Squares	Mean Square	F	Ρ
ANTAGONIST	84.225	84.225	8.467e -4	0.977
OXYTOCIN	250643.174	250643	2.52	0.117
PCP	4.194e +6	4.194e +	42.16	< .001
ANTAGONIST & OXYTOCIN	415771.345	415771	4.179	0.045
ANTAGONIST * PCP	384.969	384.969	0.004	0.951
OXYTOCIN * PCP	135063.353	135063	1.358	0.248
ANTAGONIST * OXYTOCIN * PCP	219296.1	219296	2.204	0.142
Residuals	6.864e +6	99479.1		

Post Hoc Comparisons - ANTAGONIST * OXYTOCIN

		Mean Difference	SE	t	p tukey
SR49059, OXY	Saline, OXY	145.061	103.812	1.397	0.505
	SR49059, VEH	32.9	101.115	0.325	0.988
	Saline, VEH	-116.35	101.115	-1.151	0.66
Saline, OXY	SR49059, VEH	-112.161	102.472	-1.095	0.694
	Saline, VEH	-261.411	102.472	-2.551	0.061
SR49059, VEH	Saline, VEH	-149.25	99.739	-1.496	0.445

Table A2.4: ANOVA outputs from Figure 3.6. The total ambulation 20 minutes post-PCP administration in the presence and absence of the V1aR antagonist SR 49059: 3way ANOVA outputs.

Figure 3.7 Further Detail

	Sum of Squares	DF	F	р
Interaction	458089	2	0.06563	0.9366
Antagonist	14219006	2	2.037	0.1403
OXY	7856904	1	2.251	0.1393

Table A2.5: ANOVA outputs from the analysis of the distance moved during social interaction following OXY and antagonist administration

Figure 4.2 Further Detail

Casas	Subarisity Correction	Sum of	Mean			
Cases	sphericity correction	Squares			Ч	
Time	Greenhouse-Geisser	2.055e +6	428853	76.366	< .001	
Time * SAPORIN	Greenhouse-Geisser	31673.294	6608.75	1.177	0.32	
Time * PCP	Greenhouse-Geisser	779880.552	162725	28.977	< .001	
Time * OXY	Greenhouse-Geisser	192191.557	40101.4	7.141	< .001	
Time * SAPORIN * PCP	Greenhouse-Geisser	20207.466	4216.36	0.751	0.581	
Time * SAPORIN * OXY	Greenhouse-Geisser	33483.434	6986.44	1.244	0.289	
Time * PCP * OXY	Greenhouse-Geisser	153245.975	31975.3	5.694	< .001	
Time * SAPORIN * PCP * OXY	Greenhouse-Geisser	23302.364	4862.12	0.866	0.501	
Residuals	Greenhouse-Geisser	1.884e+6	5615.74			

Post Hoc Comparisons - Time * OXY* PCP

		Mean Difference	SE	t	PTukey
x65, Saline, PCP	x65, Saline, Veh	183.156	21.39	8.563	< 0.001
x70, Saline, PCP	x70, Saline, Veh	223.467	21.39	10.807	< 0.001
x75, Saline, PCP	x75, Saline, Veh	208.089	21.39	9.728	< 0.001
x80, Saline, PCP	x80, Saline, Veh	137.417	21.39	6.424	< 0.001
x85, Saline, PCP	x85, Saline, Veh	95.856	21.39	4.481	< 0.001
x65, OXY, PCP	x65, Saline, PCP	-104.756	21.39	-4.897	< 0.001
x70, OXY, PCP	x70, Saline, PCP	-143.217	21.39	-6.696	< 0.001
x75, OXY, PCP	x75, Saline, PCP	-101.189	21.39	-4.731	< 0.001

Table A2.6: ANOVA outputs from Figure 4.2. Time course of PCP-induced hyperactivity in the presence and absence of OXY, in rats that had received NAc injections of either OXY-saporin or blank-saporin: 4-way repeated measures ANOVA outputs.

Figure 4.3 Further Detail

Cases	Sum of Squares	Mean Square	F	р
SAPORIN	5.42	5.42	1.233e -4	0.991
OXY	808502.162	808502.162	18.391	< .001
PCP	4.287e +6	4.287e +6	97.521	< .001
SAPORIN * OXY	2234.859	2234.859	0.051	0.822
SAPORIN * PCP	14011.351	14011.351	0.319	0.574
OXY * PCP	410986.956	410986.956	9.349	0.003
SAPORIN * OXY * PCP	2237.177	2237.177	0.051	0.822
Residuals	3.077e +6	43962.875		

Post Hoc Comparisons - OXY * PCP

		Mean Difference	SE	t	P tukey
OXY, PCP	SALINE, PCP	-349.161	67.219	-5.194	< .001
	OXY, VEH	324.056	67.219	4.821	< .001
	SALINE, VEH	265.55	66.305	4.005	< .001
SALINE, PCP	OXY, VEH	673.217	68.121	9.883	< .001
	SALINE, VEH	614.711	67.219	9.145	< .001
OXY, VEH	SALINE, VEH	-58.506	67.219	-0.87	0.82

Table A2.7: ANOVA outputs from Figure 4.3. The total ambulation 15 minutes post-PCP administration, following NAc injection of either blank-saporin (control) or OXYsaporin: 3-way ANOVA outputs.

Figure 5.2 Further Detail

Cases	Sphericity Correction	Sum of Squares	Mean Square	F	p
TIME	Greenhouse-Geisser	1.386e +6	334627	49.266	< .001
TIME * SAPORIN	Greenhouse-Geisser	26482.336	6395.35	0.942	0.443
TIME * PCP	Greenhouse-Geisser	650008.37	156974	23.111	< .001
TIME * OXY	Greenhouse-Geisser	83944.788	20272.2	2.985	0.018
TIME * SAPORIN * PCP	Greenhouse-Geisser	28607.49	6908.56	1.017	0.4
TIME * SAPORIN * OXY	Greenhouse-Geisser	9975.356	2409	0.355	0.847
TIME * PCP * OXY	Greenhouse-Geisser	68764.511	16606.3	2.445	0.045
TIME * SAPORIN * PCP * OXY	Greenhouse-Geisser	12786.566	3087.89	0.455	0.775
Residuals	Greenhouse-Geisser	1.856e +6	6792.22		

Post Hoc Comparisons - Time * OXY* PCP

		Mean Difference	SE	t	P _{Tukey}
x65, Saline, PCP	x65, Saline, Veh	134.5	22.936	5.864	<0.001
x70, Saline, PCP	x70, Saline, Veh	199.889	22.936	8.715	<0.001
x75, Saline, PCP	x75, Saline, Veh	179.611	22.936	7.931	<0.001
x80, Saline, PCP	x80, Saline, Veh	162.389	22.936	7.08	<0.001
x85, Saline, PCP	x85, Saline, Veh	104.778	22.936	4.568	0.003

Table A2.8: ANOVA outputs from Figure 5.2. Time course of PCP-induced hyperactivity in the presence and absence of OXY, in rats that had received VTA injections of either OXY-saporin or blank-saporin: 4-way repeated measures ANOVA outputs.

Figure 5.3 Further Detail

Casas	Sum of Sauaras	Mean	E.		
Cases	Sum of Squares	Square	· ·	р	
SAPORIN	1717.206	1717.206	0.039	0.845	
PCP	3.408e +6	3.408e +6	76.713	< .001	
OXY	429033.39	429033.39	9.657	0.003	
SAPORIN * PCP	47976.625	47976.625	1.08	0.303	
SAPORIN * OXY	42574.778	42574.778	0.958	0.331	
PCP * OXY	131300.513	131300.513	2.955	0.09	
SAPORIN * PCP * OXY	49536.738	49536.738	1.115	0.295	
Residuals	2.932e +6	44428.541			

Table A2.9: ANOVA outputs from Figure 5.3. Total ambulation for the first 15 minutes following PCP administration in rats that had received bilateral VTA injections of either OXY-saporin or blank-saporin: 3-way repeated measures ANOVA output.

Appendix 3: Professional Internship for PhD Students (PIP) Reflective Statement

NOTE TO EXAMINERS:

This statement is included as an appendix to the thesis in order that the thesis accurately captures the PhD training experienced by the candidate as a BBSRC Doctoral Training Partnership student.

The Professional Internship for PhD Students is a compulsory 3-month placement which must be undertaken by DTP students. It is usually centred on a specific project and must not be related to the PhD project. This reflective statement is designed to capture the skills development which has taken place during the student's placement and the impact on their career plans it has had.

Host: P1vital Ltd., Wallingford, Oxfordshire

Date: 6th January 2020 - 20th March 2020

Role: Support Scientist



P1vital Ltd. is a clinical contract research organisation that specialise in CNS experimental medicine, providing a range of services from data analysis and data management, to the design and implementation of multinational clinical trials. During my placement at P1vital Ltd. I was working within the Science Team, and primarily working on two ongoing projects, both of which were for pharmaceutical clients. One project involved the design and implementation of an online study to test cognition in the elderly; this was in preparation for a clinical trial to assess a potentially cognitive enhancing compound. The other project I was heavily involved

in was the development and deployment of a reward processing task for use in an international clinical trial of a treatment for depression.

During the design and planning of an online study to test cognition in the elderly I undertook the task of researching computerised cognitive memory tests. This research was required to inform us and help us make scientifically robust decisions about the timings and content of our own computerised memory task. This involved disseminating this research to other members of the company, and with those responsible for building the online task. Throughout this project I was involved in weekly teleconferences with the clients, finalising the inclusion and exclusion criteria, and building the website where the online study will be based.

The other project I was heavily involved in was the development and deployment of a reward processing task for a multinational clinical trial. During this project I was primarily involved in the testing of the software to ensure both the user interface and task outputs were accurately built to the required specifications. This involved analysing the data outputs of the task, as well as testing the user interface of the task in over 15 languages according to a set specification, and recording all findings. Another strand of this project I assisted with was the creation of an instruction manual for clinicians at all sites to use to assist with the use of our software, and hopefully ameliorate any difficulties that they may come across. This required an in depth understanding of the study protocol, the cognitive tasks used, and the software used to platform this study.

In addition to the two main projects I was involved in I also assisted with some business development projects. For example, the creation of slides to pitch to potential clients and investors about the battery of cognitive tasks P1vital Ltd. can provide, with published research supporting the use of these products in clinical research. I also assisted the review of a paper submitted to the Journal of Affective Disorders.

During my placement I learnt huge amount about the clinical research industry and the regulations that govern it. In the first week I undertook my Good Clinical Practice qualification, enabling me to work on the clinical projects. I also undertook a small amount of quality assurance work throughout my placement, which involved updating company Standard Operating Procedures to ensure they were still adhering to the latest rules and regulations, particularly following Brexit.

My placement exposed me to the clinical assessments and cognitive tasks used to both diagnose and assess medication effects upon neuropsychiatric disorders, such as schizophrenia. Having only previously worked in preclinical research, working in a clinical research environment enabled me to view some aspects of my PhD differently, and consider different areas of my project I had not previously thought about. I thoroughly enjoyed my placement, and it gave me real motivation to come back to Nottingham and continue with my research.

Throughout my placement I gained a lot of new skills and learnt so much about the pharmaceutical industry. I was exposed to all aspects of clinical research, from good clinical practice methods and the development of cognitive tests to use in clinical trials, to business development, marketing, and quality assurance. In addition, my placement helped me better understand the relevance of my PhD research to real-world applications. My placement with P1vital confirmed to me a career in clinical research is something I wish to pursue and has really enhanced my understanding of the pharmaceutical industry. I would like to thank the whole team at P1vital for such a wonderful, insightful placement and for being great colleagues to work alongside.